
 

 

p 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning and Transportation Committee 

 
Date: MONDAY, 1 DECEMBER 2014 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: LIVERY HALL - GUILDHALL 

  

Members: Deputy Michael Welbank 
(Chairman) 
Oliver Lodge (Deputy Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Deputy Ken Ayers 
Alex Bain-Stewart 
David Bradshaw 
Deputy John Chapman 
Dennis Cotgrove 
Revd Dr Martin Dudley 
Peter Dunphy 
Emma Edhem 
Alderman Peter Estlin 
Sophie Fernandes 
Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy Bill Fraser 
George Gillon 
Brian Harris 
Christopher Hayward 
 

Gregory Jones QC 
Deputy Henry Jones 
Deputy Keith Knowles, MBE 
Alderman Professor Michael Mainelli 
Paul Martinelli 
Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Sylvia Moys 
Graham Packham 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Alderman Neil Redcliffe 
Alderman Matthew Richardson 
Tom Sleigh 
Graeme Smith 
Angela Starling 
Patrick Streeter 
Deputy James Thomson 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Katie Odling 

tel. no.: 020 7332 3414 
katie.odling@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at 1PM  

 
N.B: Part of this meeting could be subject to audio video recording 

 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 11 November 2014. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
4. TOWN PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director relative to 

development and advertisement applications dealt with under delegated authority. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 9 - 18) 

 
5. VALID PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED BY DEPARTMENT OF THE BUILT 

ENVIRONMENT 
 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 19 - 22) 

 
6. REPORTS OF THE CITY PLANNING OFFICER RELATIVE TO PLANNING 

APPLICATIONS 
 
 a) 160 Aldersgate Street, EC1A 4DD   
 For Decision 

(Pages 23 - 236) 
 b) Farringdon East Crossrail Oversite Development   

 

 For Decision 
(Pages 237 - 354) 

 c) 6 Carmelite Street EC4Y 0BS   
 

 For Decision 
(Pages 355 - 386) 

 d) 14 - 17 Carthusian Street EC1M 6AD   
 

 For Decision 
(Pages 387 - 440) 

 
 e) Bevis Marks House 24 Bevis Marks EC3A 7JB   
 For Decision 

(Pages 441 - 488) 
 



 

3 
 

 f) 2 - 6 Cannon Street EC4M 6YH   
 

 For Decision 
(Pages 489 - 528) 

7. AMENDMENT TO THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 Joint report of the Director of the Built Environment and the Chief Planning Officer 

and Development Director. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 529 - 544) 

 
8. CITY OF LONDON LOCAL PLAN: ADOPTION 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment, being considered by the Policy and 

Resources Committee on 11 December 2014, and the Court of Common Council on 
15 January 2015. 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 545 - 570) 

 
9. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS - 2015/16 
 Joint report of the Chamberlain, Director of the Built Environment and Director of 

Culture, Heritage and Libraries. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 571 - 586) 

 
10. ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2013/14 AND UTILISATION OF 

ACCRUED SURPLUS ON HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES 
 Report of the Chamberlain, being received by the Finance Committee on 9th 

December 2014, the Court of Common Council on 15 January 2014 and the Streets 
and Walkways Sub Committee on 19th January 2015. 

 For Information 
 (Pages 587 - 590) 

 
11. CITY FUND SURPLUS HIGHWAY - BARTS SQUARE, EC1 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 591 - 596) 

 
12. RESOLUTION FROM THE POLICE COMMITTEE 
 The Police Committee requests that the Planning and Transportation Committee, 

during their consideration of the development application in relation to 21 Moorfields, 
gives consideration to including a planning condition such that any planning consent 
which may be granted is contingent upon the development providing sufficient CCTV 
coverage of the nearby entrances to the Barbican Highwalk on the grounds that this 
would have a significant benefit to public safety. 

 For Information and comment 
 (Pages 597 - 598) 

 
13. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 



 

 

15. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

  
Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 

 
16. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2014. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 599 - 600) 

 
17. DEBT ARREARS 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 601 - 608) 

 
18. DELEGATION OF ADDITIONAL POWERS TO LONDON COUNCILS TRANSPORT 

& ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE - DELIVERY OF THE PARKING ON PRIVATE 
LAND APPEALS SERVICE 

 Report of the Comptroller and City Solicitor, being considered by the Policy and 
Resources Committee on 11 December 2014. 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 609 - 612) 

 
19. FARRINGDON STREET BRIDGE - GATEWAY 7 FINAL 
 Report of the City Surveyor, being considered by the Projects Sub Committee under 

Urgency provisions. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 613 - 620) 

 
20. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 
21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 

Part 3 - Confidential Members Only Agenda 
 
 
22. CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES 

To agree the confidential minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2014. 
 

For Decision 
(separately circulated) 

 



, PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 11 November 2014  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Transportation Committee held at Livery 
Hall on Tuesday, 11 November 2014 at 11.00 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Michael Welbank (Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Alex Bain-Stewart 
David Bradshaw 
Deputy John Chapman 
Dennis Cotgrove 
Revd Dr Martin Dudley 
Peter Dunphy 
Emma Edhem 
Alderman Peter Estlin 
Sophie Fernandes 
Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy Bill Fraser 
 

George Gillon 
Alderman Professor Michael Mainelli 
Paul Martinelli 
Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Sylvia Moys 
Graham Packham 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Alderman Matthew Richardson 
Angela Starling 
Patrick Streeter 
Deputy James Thomson 
 

 
In Attendance 
 
 
Officers: 
Julie Mayer Town Clerk’s Department 

Deborah Cluett Comptroller’s and City Solicitors Department 

Philip Everett Director of the Built Environment 

Annie Hampson Department of the Built Environment 

Paul Beckett Department of the Built Environment 

Paul Monaghan Department of the Built Environment 

Iain Simmons Department of the Built Environment 

Martin Rodman Open Spaces Department 

Alan Rickwood City Police 

Alexander Williams City Police 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
At the start of the meeting, Members left the Livery Hall and went into the 
Guildhall Yard to observe 2 minutes’ silence in respect of Remembrance Day. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Oliver Lodge (Deputy Chairman); 
Brian Harris; Christopher Hayward; Gregory Jones QC; Deputy Henry Jones; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Deputy Keith Knowles; Alderman Neil Redcliffe; Tom Sleigh and Graham 
Smith. 
 
Before commencing the business on the agenda, Members were asked to 
stand in a minute’s silence to remember Mrs Dorothy Robinson who had 
recently passed away.  Mrs Robinson had been a Member of the Court since 
1989 and a serving Member of the Planning and Transportation Committee for 
many years.  
 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
Marianne Fredericks declared a general, non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
Item 12 (Public Car Parks – review of provision and asset management 
strategy) as she is a residential parking season ticket holder. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED –That: 
  

a) the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 14 October 
2014; and 

b) the minutes of the Streets and Walkways Sub Committee meetings held 
on 22 September and 20 October 2014 be noted. 

 
4. DELEGATED DECISIONS OF THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER AND 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director relative to development and advertisement applications 
dealt with under delegated authority since the previous meeting. 
 
In response to a question about retrospective planning applications, the Chief 
Planning Officer advised that these generally applied to temporary use.  
However, she agreed to investigate the circumstances and report back to 
Members.   
 

5. VALID APPLICATIONS LIST FOR COMMITTEE  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director which provided details of valid planning applications 
received by the department. 
 

6. CHANGES TO ENGLISH HERITAGE  
 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer in respect of 
changes to English Heritage.  Members noted that on 14 October 2014, the 
Government announced the separation of English Heritage into two 
organisations; English Heritage and Historic England, with effect from 1 April 
2015. 
 

Page 2



The Chairman advised that Members of the Planning and Transportation 
Committee would receive a training session on English Heritage following the 
next meeting of the Planning and Transport Committee, after lunch.   
 
RESOLVED, that: 
 
The Historic England Draft Corporate Plan (2015-18); ‘Valuing our Past, 
Enriching our Future’, be noted.  
 

7. REPORTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT  
 
7a) Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment in 
respect of the Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy.  Given that the 
Consultation Document was very large, a copy had been made available in the 
Members’ Reading Room and was available on line.  The Court of Common 
Council would also consider the report on 15 January 2015.  Members received 
a presentation on the Strategy at the start of the item. 
 
During the discussion and questions, the following matters were raised/noted: 
 

 The noise from South of the River was acknowledged and officers 
explained that, as this was such a flat area, noise tended to bounce and 
travelled further.  However, this issue and that of buskers, was under 
scrutiny by the Environmental Health team.  

 

 To avoid confusion, signage was being kept to a minimum and under 
constant review. 

 

 In respect of Queensbridge House, if there was no start on site by 
January, Members would receive a report on alternative options.   

 

 The Cycle Super Highway (which was the subject of an item of urgent 
business on this agenda) could enhance the walkway, if well designed. 

 

 It was possible to adjust vehicle capacity at White Lion Hill. 
 
RESOLVED, that: 
 
The revised Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy be adopted.  
 
7b)  Major Highway Works 
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of the Built Environment in 
respect of Major Highway Works.  In response to questions, Members noted 
that Planning Officers worked closely with Transport for London (TfL) to reduce 
the impact of road and bus route closures and would remain vigilant of unclear 
signage for diversions and alternative bus stops.  Social media was also being 
used to ensure that the information reached as wide an audience as possible. 

Page 3



 
Members felt strongly that local road networks were close to capacity and 
therefore non-essential traffic should be discouraged.  Whilst accepting this as 
a valid point, the Chairman reminded Members that this was outside the scope 
of the report.  However, officers advised that work was on-going with Transport 
for London (TfL) on the pollution levels from the Beech Street Tunnel and traffic 
surveys were also exploring the impact of freight and deliveries.  In addition, 
Crossrail would be a major focus for TfL and the Local  Implementation Plan.   
 
RESOLVED, that: 
 
The Major Highways Works report (2015/16) be noted. 
 
7c Street Works update 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of the Build Environment in 
respect of street works.   
 
RESOLVED, that:   
 
The Street Works Update be noted. 
 
7d) Highways Maintenance funding and effectiveness.   
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment in 
respect of Highway Maintenance: funding and effectiveness. 
 
During the discussion and questions on this item, the following matters were 
raised/noted: 
 

 In respect of pedestrian and motorist injuries, the Department of the Built 
Environment worked closely with the Chamberlain’s Department in 
tracking and monitoring insurance claims.   This work informed the new 
inspection regimes.  Members noted that the number of motoring claims 
was higher than that for pedestrians but the numbers for both were 
manageable.   

 

 All enforcement penalties were in line with the statutory rate as 
prescribed in the Streets and Walkways Act. 

 

 It was accepted that the gulleys at Holborn Viaduct often flooded, due to 
the loading of heavy vehicles on the highway at Police checkpoints but 
the lessons learnt would  be applied to future projects.   

 

 In response to a question as to whether cafes or other commercial users 
should contribute to the upkeep of the pavements, the Chairman of the 
Licensing Committee advised that the City of London Corporation could 
not make a profit from pavement use but if the pavements were not 
maintained in a satisfactory condition, then the premises’ license would 
be at risk.  The Chairman suggested that a report be presented to both 

Page 4



the Planning and Transportation and Port Health Committees on the use 
of Walkways for commercial purposes.   

 
RESOLVED, that: 
No further savings be made from the highways maintenance budgets as part of 
the current review. 
 
Officers continue to monitor the highways through the various measures 
outlined in this report and bring a further report, on the highways’ condition and 
the resources needed to maintain it, in 12 months’ time.   
 
7 e) A Review of the Current Notification Policy 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Planning Officer and the 
Development Director in respect of the Current Notification Policy and whether 
to include commercial neighbours as part of the consultation process.   
 
RESOLVED, that: 
 
There be no change to the current policy on notification of commercial 
occupiers/owners but a review of the site notices. 
 

8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  

 In respect of a question about enforcement action following the recently 
imposed 20 mph limit in the City, Members noted that the Police had 
accepted the signage as compliant and enforcement action had doubled 
since the limit was introduced in July.  Ten sites were currently being 
monitored and the Planning and Transportation Committee would 
receive a report once the scheme had been in operation for 6 months. 

 

 Members noted that the Millennium Indicator would be back in operation 
by 14th November and the Chairman asked for a report at the next 
meeting.   

 

 In respect of enforcement action on ice cream vans, Members noted that 
enforcement action (i.e. seizure of the vans) was more effective than 
ever and could be taken by both Environmental Health and the Police. 

 

 Ian Hughes and his team were highly commended for their assistance in 
managing the crowds viewing the poppies at the Tower of London. 

 
9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  

The Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment in 
respect of the Cycle Superhighways and sought approval to the City’s formal 
response to the public consultation.   The report was before the Committee as 
an item of Urgent Business as there had been various extensions to the Mayor 
of London’s deadlines and, since the latest had been extended to 30th 
November, this had allowed the Committee to consider the item, rather than 

Page 5



deal with it under ‘urgency’ provision.  Members noted that the Chairman of 
Policy and Resources was content to sign the letter. 
 
During the discussion of this item, the following issues were raised/noted: 
 

 Members suggested that Paragraph 13 could either be clearer or 
removed altogether.  If it were to remain in, it should be very clear that 
the use of Castle Baynard Street was essential and it was also 
suggested that the paragraph state that that the City of London 
Corporation ‘might support’  ……. etc.   

 

 Officers assured Members that the letter made the City’s serious 
reservations very clear.   

 

 Members also felt that reservations about Ludgate Circus (para 3) could 
be stronger.  

 

 Members were concerned that the pavements at Tower Hill were already 
too narrow and this had come to light during the recent poppies display.   
Members suggested that this should also be taken into account in future 
highway schemes.   
 

 There should be reference to the behaviour of cyclists and their illegal 
use of footpaths.   
 

RESOLVED, that: 
 

1. The City support the future use of Castle Baynard Street for the E-W 
Cycle Superhighway on the condition that the N-S Cycle and E-W 
Superhighway proposals be agreed with the City, prior to 
implementation. 

 
2. The City’s response, as detailed in Annexe 2, be re-drafted in 

accordance with the wording and design suggestions set out above.  
 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
Item No     Para No  
 
12-14      3 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



11. MINUTES  
RESOLVED –That: 
  

The non-public minutes of the Streets and Walkways Sub Committee 
meetings held on 22 September and 20 October 2014 be noted. 

 
12. PUBLIC CAR PARKS - REVIEW OF CAR PARK PROVISION AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT STRATEGY  
Members considered a joint report of the City Surveyor and the Director of the 
Built Environment in respect of Public Car Parks – review of provision and 
asset management strategy. 
 

13. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no items of urgent business.  
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 1.15 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Katie Odling 
tel. no.: 020 7332 3414 
katie.odling@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

Committee: Date: Item no. 

Planning and Transportation 1st December 2014  

Subject: 

Delegated decisions of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director 

Public 

 
1.  Pursuant to the instructions of your Committee, I attach for your 

information a list detailing development and advertisement applications 
determined by the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director or 
those so authorised under their delegated powers since my report to 
the last meeting. 

2. Any questions of detail arising from these reports can be sent to 
plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk. 

 
DETAILS OF DECISIONS 
 

Registered 
Plan Number & 
Ward 

Address Proposal Date of 
Decision 
 

14/00228/PODC 
 
Aldgate  

Mitre Square, 
International House, 
Duke's Place, 11 
Mitre Street & 1 Mitre 
Square London 
EC3 
 
 

Submission of a full Draft 
Construction Method 
Statement pursuant to 
schedule 3 paragraph 16.3 
of the S106 agreement 
dated 27.06.2011. 

04.11.2014 
 

14/00903/MDC 
 
Aldgate  

Mitre Square, 
International House, 
Duke's Place, 11 
Mitre Street & 1 Mitre 
Square London 
EC3 
 
 

Details (in part) of a 
programme of 
archaeological work for area 
3 and foundations with piling 
configuration pursuant to 
conditions 2 and 3  of 
planning permission dated 
9th June 2014 (application 
no.13/01082/FULMAJ). 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00985/ADVT 
 
Aldgate  

Cutlers Court 115 
Houndsditch 
London 
EC3A 7BR 
 

Installation and display of 
one internally illuminated 
building name totem 
measuring 3.48m high, 
0.45m wide, situated at 
ground floor level. 

13.11.2014 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

mailto:plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

14/01098/ADVT 
 
Aldgate  

3 Cutler Street 
London 
E1 7DJ 
 
 

Installation of an externally 
illuminated projecting sign 
measuring 0.6m high by 
0.9m wide at a height of 
3.08m above ground. 

13.11.2014 
 

14/00895/LBC 
 
Aldersgate  

121 Thomas More 
House Barbican 
London 
EC2Y 8BU 

Internal alterations to 
remove partition wall 
between kitchen and dining 
room. 

06.11.2014 
 

13/00985/FULL 
 
Broad Street  

1 Angel Court And  
33 Throgmorton 
Street 
London 
EC2N 2BR 
 

Application under section 73 
of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to vary 
condition 44 of planning 
permission dated 15th 
March 2013 
(10/00889/FULMAJ) to 
incorporate minor material 
amendments for the 
redevelopment of 33 
Throgmorton Street and 1a-
1d Angel Court and 
extensive refurbishment of 
the 1 Angel Court for office 
(B1) and retail (A1, A2, A3) 
and minor alterations to 41 
Lothbury. (44,009sq.m GIA) 

17.11.2014 
 

14/00991/TCA 
 
Broad Street  

Drapers' Hall 
Throgmorton Avenue 
London 
EC2N 2DQ 
 

Works of pruning to six trees 
(4x Black Mulberry, 1x 
White Mulberry and 1x 
Magnolia). 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00909/FULL 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

6 Eastcheap London 
EC3M 1AE 
 
 

Replacement of shopfront 
roller shutter with automatic 
sliding glazed doors. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00996/ADVT 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

1 Lovat Lane London 
EC3R 8DT 
 
 

Installation of (i) one 
internally illuminated fascia 
sign measuring 0.45m high 
by 1.65m wide and 2.45m 
above ground level; (ii) one 
internally illuminated 
projecting sign measuring 
0.65m in diameter and 
3.02m above ground level; 
and (iii) one internally 
illuminated menu box 
measuring 0.80m high by 
0.34m wide and 1.06m 
above ground level. 

18.11.2014 
 

Page 10



 

14/00530/FULL 
 
Bishopsgate  

222 Bishopsgate 
London 
EC2M 4QD 

Installation of a roller shutter 
to the main entrance. 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00692/MDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

5 Broadgate London 
EC2M 2QS 
 
 

Details of all structures 
which form the boundary 
between the bus station and 
pedestrian footway pursuant 
to condition 35 of planning 
permission dated 29 July 
2011 (10/00904/FULEIA). 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00806/PODC 
 
Bishopsgate  

117, 119 & 121 
Bishopsgate, 
Alderman's House, 
34-37 Liverpool 
Street, 1 Alderman's 
Walk & Part of White 
Hart Court, London 
EC2  
 
 
 

Submission of Local 
Training Skills and Job 
Brokerage Strategy 
pursuant to schedule 3 
paragraph 4.1 and Local 
Procurement Strategy 
pursuant to paragraph 3.1 of 
Section 106 Agreement 
dated 23 June 2014, 
planning application 
reference 
13/01199/FULMAJ. 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00826/FULL 
 
Bishopsgate  

12 Widegate Street 
London 
E1 7HP 
 
 

Replacement of the ground 
floor restaurant windows 
and restaurant entrance 
doors. 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00827/ADVT 
 
Bishopsgate  

12 Widegate Street 
London 
E1 7HP 
 
 

Installation and display of 2 
externally illuminated fascia 
signs comprising individual 
letters measuring 0.297m 
(h) by 0.899m (w) at a 
height of 2.77m above 
ground. 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00872/FULL 
 
Bishopsgate  

55 Old Broad Street 
London 
EC2M 1RX 
 
 

Replacement shop front. 17.11.2014 
 

14/00873/ADVT 
 
Bishopsgate  

55 Old Broad Street 
London 
EC2M 1RX 
 
 

Installation of one externally 
illuminated projecting sign 
measuring 0.475m high by 
0.815m wide at a height of 
2.9m above ground and four 
back illuminated fascia 
signs, measuring 0.54m 
high by 2.7m, 4.1m, 1.8m 
and 4.2m wide respectively. 

18.11.2014 
 

Page 11



 

14/00961/MDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

5 Broadgate London 
EC2 
 
 

Details of a noise report 
pursuant to condition 3 of 
planning permission dated 
29 July 2011 
(10/00904/FULEIA). 

13.11.2014 
 

14/00965/MDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

Alderman's House 
117, 119, 121 
Bishopsgate 
34 - 37 Liverpool 
Street 
London 
EC2M 3TH 

Details of a programme of 
archaeological work (in part) 
for underpinning and 
propping and contiguous 
pile design (in part) pursuant 
to conditions 11 and 12 of 
planning permission dated 
23 June 2014 (application 
number 13/01199/FULMAJ). 

06.11.2014 
 

14/00953/FULL 
 
Bread Street  

St Paul's Cathedral 
School 2 New 
Change 
London 
EC4M 9AD 
 

Installation of stainless steel 
infill panel to boundary wall. 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00954/LBC 
 
Bread Street  

St Paul's Cathedral 
School 2 New 
Change 
London 
EC4M 9AD 
 

Installation of stainless steel 
infill panel to boundary wall. 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00082/MDC 
 
Bassishaw  

Land Bounded By 
London Wall, Wood 
Street, St. Alphage 
Gardens, Fore Street, 
Fore Street Avenue, 
Bassishaw Highwalk, 
Alban Gate Rotunda, 
Alban Highwalk, 
Moorfields Highwalk 
And Willoughby 
Highwalk, London 
EC2  
 
 
 

Details of temporary fire 
escapes from London Wall 
Car Park at ground floor 
level pursuant to condition 3 
(in part) of planning 
permission dated 30th June 
2014 (application reference: 
14/00259/FULL). 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00793/MDC 
 
Billingsgate  

Sugar Quay  Lower 
Thames Street 
London 
EC3R 6EA 
 

Details of the Riverside 
Walkway pursuant to 
condition 14 of planning 
permission 
12/01104/FULMAJ dated 
16/09/2013 

06.11.2014 
 

Page 12



 

14/00897/FULL 
 
Billingsgate  

30 - 40 Eastcheap 
London 
EC3M 2HP 
 
 

Installation of an ATM on 
the Eastcheap elevation. 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00928/ADVT 
 
Billingsgate  

30 Eastcheap London 
EC3M 1HD 
 
 

Installation and display of i) 
one halo illuminated fascia 
sign measuring 0.49m high 
by 1.57m wide at a height 
above ground of 4.2m, ii) 
one halo illuminated fascia 
sign measuring 0.49m high 
by 1.57m wide at a height 
above ground of 4.3m and 
iii) one halo illuminated 
fascia sign measuring 
0.49m high by 1.57m wide 
at a height above ground of 
4.71m. 

06.11.2014 
 

14/01010/NMA 
 
Billingsgate  

21-22 Lovat Lane 
London 
EC3R 8EB 
 
 

Non-Material Amendment 
under Section 96A of the 
Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to planning 
permission 11/00154/FULL 
dated 21st April 2011 to 
enable the partial 
implementation of the 
approved scheme at roof 
level. 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00922/DPAR 
 
Castle Baynard  

167 Fleet Street 
London 
EC4A 2EA 
 
 

Determination under Part 24 
of Schedule 2 of the Town 
and Country Planning 
(General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 
(as amended) as to whether 
prior approval is required for 
the installation of two 
replacement 
telecommunications 
antennae, one additional 
telecommunications 
antenna and the installation 
of two associated breakout 
boxes on the roof of the 
building. 

06.11.2014 
 

Page 13



 

14/00967/ADVT 
 
Castle Baynard  

Knightrider House 30 
Knightrider Street 
London 
EC4V 5JT 
 

Installation and display of 
two lettering only illuminated 
fascia signs measuring 
0.58m high by 1.3m wide at 
a height above ground of 
2.25m 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00625/FULL 
 
Cripplegate  

Frobisher Crescent 
Barbican 
London 
EC2 
 

Alteration to surface 
drainage and replacement 
doors. 

04.11.2014 
 

14/00918/LBC 
 
Cripplegate  

190 Andrewes House 
Barbican 
London 
EC2Y 8BA 
 

Installation of double glazed 
units into existing hardwood 
window frames. 

04.11.2014 
 

14/00989/FULL 
 
Cripplegate  

1 The Postern 
Barbican 
London 
EC2Y 8BJ 
 

Retention of use for 
physiotherapy clinic (D1) in 
lieu of residential use (C3). 

13.11.2014 
 

14/00851/LBC 
 
Cornhill  

26 Royal Exchange 
London 
EC3V 3LP 
 
 

Refurbishment and fit-out of 
the shop unit to include new 
floor finishes, suspended 
ceilings, new lightfittings, 
services, new ventilation 
grilles to the stallriser and 
re-instatement of high level 
glazing in the shopfront. 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00886/FULL 
 
Cornhill  

26 Royal Exchange 
London 
EC3V 3LP 
 
 

Installation of ventilation 
grilles to the stallriser and 
reinstatement of high level 
glazing in the shopfront. 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00789/MDC 
 
Candlewick  

1 King William Street 
London 
EC4N 8DH 
 
 

Details of the construction 
logistics plan pursuant to 
condition 3 of planning 
permission 
13/00366/FULMAJ dated 
1/10/2013 

06.11.2014 
 

14/00455/FULL 
 
Coleman Street  

Chartered 
Accountants Hall  
Moorgate Place 
London 
EC2R 6EA 
 

Removal of non-structural 
glazed facade and 
construction of new glazed 
enclosure to existing terrace 
at level 9 (North). 

18.11.2014 
 

Page 14



 

14/00935/FULL 
 
Coleman Street  

Salisbury House 
London Wall 
London 
EC2M 5QQ 
 

Removal of two windows 
and base walls. Installation 
of two new larger windows 
within the lightwell at ground 
and upper ground floor 
levels. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00936/LBC 
 
Coleman Street  

Salisbury House 
London Wall 
London 
EC2M 5QQ 
 

Removal of two windows 
and base walls. Installation 
of two new larger windows 
within a lightwell at ground 
and upper ground floor 
levels. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00801/FULL 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

41 Farringdon Street 
London 
EC4A 4AN 
 
 

Installation of 1 microcell 
antenna onto existing 
louvres within window 
opening. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00802/LBC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

41 Farringdon Street 
London 
EC4A 4AN 
 
 

Installation of 1 microcell 
antenna onto louvres within 
window openings. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00902/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 34-
38, 39-41, 45-47 & 
57B Little Britain & 
20, 25, 47, 48-50, 51-
53, 59, 60, 61, 61A & 
62 Bartholomew 
Close, London EC1 
 
 
 

Submission of an 
assessment of the potential 
for the use of renewable 
energy in the development 
pursuant to condition 23 of 
planning permission 
12/00256/FULEIA dated 
29th May 2013. 

04.11.2014 
 

14/00905/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 34-
38, 39-41, 45-47 & 
57B Little Britain, & 
20, 25, 47, 48-50, 51-
53, 59, 60, 61, 61A & 
62 Bartholomew 
Close London 
EC1 
 
 

Submission of details of the 
trees in Bartholomew Close 
and means of protection 
during demolition and 
construction pursuant to 
condition 5 of planning 
permission 
12/00256/FULEIA dated 
29th May 2013. 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00981/TCA 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Stationers Hall Ave 
Maria Lane 
London 
EC4M 7DD 
 

Works of pruning to a 
London Plane Tree. 

13.11.2014 
 

Page 15



 

14/00880/LBC 
 
Farringdon 
Without  

10 Furnival Street 
London 
EC4A 1AB 
 
 

Internal alterations 
comprising installation of 
partition walls, formation of 
new doorways in existing 
walls, and upgrading of 
services. 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00994/TCA 
 
Farringdon 
Without  

St Bartholomew's 
Hospital West 
Smithfield 
London 
EC1A 7BE 
 

Works of pruning to a 
London Plane Tree. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00883/ADVT 
 
Langbourn  

153 Fenchurch Street 
London 
EC3M 6BB 
 
 

Installation of (i) one non-
illuminated fascia sign 
measuring 0.21m wide x 
1.90m wide situated at a 
height of 3.3m above 
ground and (ii) one 
externally illuminated 
projecting sign measuring 
0.6m high x 0.6m wide 
situated at a height of 3.3m 
above ground. 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00925/LBC 
 
Langbourn  

3 Castle Court 
London 
EC3V 9DL 
 
 

Internal alterations at 2nd 
floor level to form ancillary 
manager's accommodation. 

11.11.2014 
 

14/00790/FULL 
 
Langbourn  

153 Fenchurch Street 
London 
EC3M 6BB 
 
 

Installation of a new 
shopfront. 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00738/FULL 
 
Queenhithe  

Flat 10 Norfolk House 
Trig Lane 
London 
EC4V 3QQ 

Installation of two roof 
mounted air conditioning 
condenser units. 

13.11.2014 
 

08/00824/FULM
AJ 
 
Tower  

76 - 86 Fenchurch 
Street, 1 - 7 
Northumberland Alley 
& 1 & 1a Carlisle 
Avenue London 
EC3N 2ES 
 
 

Demolition of existing 
buildings and 
redevelopment of a building 
ranging from 9 to 15 storeys 
(plus ground and mezzanine 
floors) to comprise retail (A1 
- A3), office (B1) and 
ancillary space, including 14 
car parking spaces, 49 
motorcycle spaces and 137 
bicycle spaces, with vehicle 
access from Carlisle 
Avenue. 

11.11.2014 
 

Page 16



 

13/00843/MDC 
 
Tower  

10 Trinity Square 
London 
EC3N 4AJ 
 
 

Details of refuse storage 
and collection facilities; the 
appearance and location of 
plant, ventilation, air-
conditioning, ductwork 
louvres and enclosures; and 
the provision of motorcycle 
parking pursuant to 
conditions 5, 10(h), and 26 
of planning permission 
(application no. 
11/00317/FULMAJ) dated 
29th March 2012 and 
condition 3(h) of listed 
building consent (application 
no. 13/00919/LBC) dated 
20th December 2013. 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00706/NMA 
 
Tower  

10 Trinity Square 
London 
EC3N 4AJ 
 
 

Non-Material Amendment 
under Section 96A of the 
Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to planning 
permission 
11/00317/FULMAJ dated 
29th March 2012 to enable 
additional excavation within 
the basement to provide 
increased floorspace. 

18.11.2014 
 

14/00882/MDC 
 
Tower  

10 Trinity Square 
London 
EC3N 4AJ 
 
 

Details of particulars and 
materials of the proposed 
pavilions pursuant to 
condition 10(a) (in part) of 
planning permission 
11/00317/FULMAJ dated 
29/03/2014 and condition 
3(a) (in part) of planning 
permission 11/00318/LBC 
dated 29/03/2014. 
 
 

30.10.2014 
 

14/00888/FULL 
 
Tower  

Pinnacle House 23 - 
26 St Dunstan's Hill 
London 
EC3R 8HL 
 

Change of use of first floor 
from Class B1 (offices) to a 
flexible use for either Class 
B1 (offices), or Class D1 
(Non-residential institutions) 
(148sq.m.). 

13.11.2014 
 

14/00916/LBC 
 
Tower  

27 Great Tower 
Street London 
EC3R 5AQ 
 
 

Internal alterations to 
remove partitions and 
relocate bar counter. 

18.11.2014 
 

Page 17



 

14/00942/MDC 
 
Tower  

28 Great Tower 
Street London 
EC3R 5AT 
 
 

Submission of a 
Construction Environmental 
Management Plan including 
a Construction Logistics 
Plan pursuant to Conditions 
4 and 5 of planning 
application 13/00360/FULL 
dated 27.02.2014. 

13.11.2014 
 

14/00575/MDC 
 
Vintry  

19 - 20 Garlick Hill 
And 4 Skinners Lane 
London 
EC4V 2AL 
 

Submission of details of a 
programme of 
archaeological work, 
foundations and piling 
configuration pursuant to 
conditions 3 and 4 of 
planning permission dated 
29 August 2013 (app no 
13/00647/FULL). 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00576/MDC 
 
Vintry  

19 - 20 Garlick Hill 
And 4 Skinners Lane 
London 
EC4V 2AL 
 

Submission of details of a 
programme of 
archaeological work, 
foundations and piling 
configuration pursuant to 
conditions 3 and 4 of 
planning permission dated 
10/04/2014 (Application 
number 14/00139/FULL). 

28.10.2014 
 

14/00839/MDC 
 
Walbrook  

27 - 32 Poultry 
London 
EC2R 8AJ 
 
 

Submission of 
Deconstruction and 
Construction Logistics Plans 
pursuant to Conditions 2 
and 3 of planning 
permission 13/01036/FULL 
dated 03.06.2014. 

04.11.2014 
 

14/01030/MDC 
 
Walbrook  

27 - 35 Poultry 
London 
EC2R 8AJ 
 
 

Submission of details of 
acoustic measures to 
mitigate the impact of 
existing Central and 
Northern line tunnels/trains 
upon the hotel pursuant 
condition 7 of planning 
permission dated 
03.06.2014 
(13/01036/FULMAJ). 

06.11.2014 
 
 

 

Page 18



 

Committee: Date: Item no. 

Planning and Transportation 1st December 2014  

Subject: 

Valid planning applications received by Department of the Built Environment 

Public 

 

1.  Pursuant to the instructions of your Committee, I attach for your information a list 
detailing development applications received by the Department of the Built 
Environment since my report to the last meeting. 

2. Any questions of detail arising from these reports can be sent to 
plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk. 

 
DETAILS OF VALID APPLICATIONS 

 

Application 
Number & Ward 

Address Proposal Date of 
Validation 

14/01085/FULL 
Aldersgate 

Health Centre, 3 
White Lyon Court, 
Barbican, London, 
EC2Y 8EA,  

Change of use of existing ground 
floor D1 unit at 3 White Lyon 
Court to a temporary marketing 
suite (sui generis) for a period of 
three years in connection with the 
proposed development at 2 Fann 
Street, including provision of new 
entrance door, bays and canopy 
to the west facade and internal 
works to accommodate a 'show' 
apartment and meeting rooms. 

03/11/2014 

14/01033/FULL 
Aldgate 

Cutlers Exchange, 
123 Houndsditch, 
London, EC3A 7BU,  

Installation of a new shopfront. 30/10/2014 

14/01050/FULL 
Bishopsgate 

Sun Street Square, 
London, EC2,  

Installation of a public artwork 
'chromorotation' comprising of a 
20m totemic structure with 40 
stainless steel, illuminated light 
boxes, removal of an existing tree 
and other associated alterations. 

07/11/2014 

14/01056/FULL 
Broad Street 

46 New Broad Street, 
London, EC2M 1JH,  

Creation of a new external 
opening within the south-east 
elevation of the building, leading 
from the existing office space to 
the existing adjacent flat roof 
area. Installation of new double 
patio doors, decking to the 

27/10/2014 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

mailto:plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

existing flat roof finishes and the 
erection of balustrading to the 
existing parapet walls on two 
sides and to the roof edge at the 
adjacent light well, including 
perimeter bamboo screening 
panels. 

14/01084/FULL 
Broad Street 

111 Old Broad Street, 
London, EC2N 1AP,  

Installation of eleven new 
condenser units and one chiller 
unit behind louvred screening and 
mesh grating roof cover at roof 
level. 

18/11/2014 

14/01096/FULMAJ 
Candlewick 

24 King William 
Street, London, 
EC4R 9AJ,  

Refurbishment and alterations to 
the property, including conversion 
of eighth floor plant level and 
additional floor at ninth level for 
Class B1 offices; new plant within 
roof volume; extension of floor 
plates at ground to seventh floors; 
partial change of use on ground 
floor for flexible shop/cafe and 
restaurant uses (Class A1/A3) 
including associated shop front 
alterations; recladding to exterior 
elevations and replacement 
fenestration; alterations to main 
office entrance on King William 
Street; re-landscaping of rear 
ground floor terrace; the provision 
of basement cycle parking and 
other associated works. 

03/11/2014 

14/01071/FULL 
Cripplegate 

City of London 
School For Girls, St 
Giles' Terrace, 
Barbican, London, 
EC2Y 8BB 

Application under section 73 of 
the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to vary condition 6 
(approved drawings) of planning 
permission 13/01197/FULL dated 
10th February 2014 and as 
amended by planning permission 
14/00627/FULL dated 1st October 
2014, to enable the plant 
enclosure to be increased in size. 

03/11/2014 

14/01018/FULL 
Cripplegate 

Cromwell Tower, 
Barbican, London, ,  

Installation of replacement railings 
and additional handrail to steps. 

06/11/2014 

14/01011/FULL 
Dowgate 

Cannon Green 
Building, 27 Bush 
Lane, London, EC4R 
0AN,  

Refurbishment of Bush Tower 
including: change of use from 
office (Class B1) to restaurant 
(Class A3) at part ground floor 
level; change of use from ancillary 
office (Class B1) to gym (Class 
D2) at part basement level 2; 
provision of ancillary cycle 
parking and additional cycle 

03/11/2014 

Page 20



 

parking storage; external 
alterations including replacement 
fenestration, new entrance portal 
and extensions to the north and 
west elevations; pergola at the 
eastern boundary, extension of a 
bridge link connecting to Thames 
Tower, landscaping of existing 
external terrace, additional plant 
equipment at roof level and other 
incidental works. 

14/01054/FULL 
Farringdon Within 

Fleet Building, 40 
Shoe Lane, , 70 
Farringdon Street, 
Plumtree Court,, 42 
Shoe Lane, 12 
Plumtree Court &, 57 
Farringdon Street, 
London, EC4A 4AP 

Application under Section 73 for 
minor material amendments to 
planning permission 
13/01221/FULL dated 10/03/2014 
for the installation of a secant pile 
wall and associate works. 

23/10/2014 

14/01114/FULL 
Farringdon Within 

32 Farringdon Street, 
London, EC4A 4HJ,  

Replacement of windows to all 
elevations. 

10/11/2014 

14/01037/FULL 
Farringdon Without 

53 Fleet Street, 
London, EC4Y 1BE,  

Change of Use of part retail use 
(A1) at ground and basement 
level and existing offices (B1) at 
1st to 5th floor level to create 5 
residential apartments including a 
roof terrace and new 33sq.m GIA 
infill at rear of building. 

21/10/2014 

14/01067/FULL 
Farringdon Without 

Mitre House, 45 Fleet 
Street, London, EC4Y 
1BP 

Installation of a new timber 
framed shopfront to provide level 
access to the existing retail unit 
and remodelled entrance to Mitre 
House. Change of use of part of 
the existing ground floor retail unit 
(Class A1) to office use (Class 
B1) to enable construction of new 
entrance lobby to link staircase/lift 
lobby to new Fleet Street 
entrance. 

27/10/2014 

14/00583/FULL 
Farringdon Without 

166 Clifford's Inn, 
Fetter Lane, London, 
EC4A 1BY,  

Alterations to the existing 9th floor 
flat including (i) insertion of a 
window on the south elevation (ii) 
erection of replacement glazed 
roof terrace balustrading to the 
north, west and south perimeter 
(iii) installation of two air 
conditioning units to the roof 
terrace area. 

30/10/2014 

14/01090/FULL 
Farringdon Without 

2 Hosier Lane, 
London, EC1A 2AL 

Insertion of 15 new window 
openings in the south facing 
courtyard elevation. 

03/11/2014 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 1 December 2014 

Subject: 
160 Aldersgate Street London EC1A 4DD   
Refurbishment and extension of the existing office building including (i) the 
construction of an additional storey (incorporating plant) (ii) reconstruction of the 
facade on Aldersgate Street (iii) provision of retail floorspace (Class A1) at ground 
floor level (84sq.m.) (iv) provision of roof terraces at 7th and 8th floor levels (v) 
installation of an additional access point at the rear of the building, and (vi) 
associated internal and external alterations (total increase in floorspace 
1,913sq.m.). 

Ward: Farringdon Within Public                 For Decision 

Registered No: 14/00878/FULMAJ Registered on: 3 September 2014 

Conservation Area: No         Listed Building: No 

Summary 
Planning permission is sought for the refurbishment and extension of the existing 
office building, including the replacement of the Aldersgate Street facade, the 
replacement of the existing rooftop plant storey with a new office storey and the 
construction of an additional storey incorporating plant. The refurbished building 
would provide 24,048sq.m (GIA) of Grade A office accommodation with a ground 
floor retail unit to Aldersgate Street and a new rear pedestrian office entrance to Half 
Moon Court. 
110 Objections have been received. The objections relate to the increase in the 
height of the building and its impact on the skyline and the potential impact of the 
development on residential amenity including loss of daylight and sunlight, 
excessive light spillage, a loss of privacy from overlooking and increased noise and 
disturbance from the proposed roof terraces, retail unit, rooftop plant, rear access 
and construction works. 
The design of the proposed refurbished building is considered to be a substantial 
improvement on its existing appearance and would relate more satisfactorily to the 
immediate townscape and the setting of the adjacent Smithfield Conservation Area 
and listed Barbican Estate. The applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the 
building has been designed to safeguard daylight and sunlight, mitigate light spillage 
and overlooking and reduce the plant noise emitted from the site. The applicant has 
agreed to conditions relating to the use of the proposed roof terraces and retail unit 
that would help to ensure that the amenity of surrounding residential properties is 
sufficiently protected. 
The proposed refurbishment would support the City of London's business function 
and is in substantial compliance with relevant development plan policies. The 
proposal is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions, a CIL payment and a 
Section 106 agreement being entered into to cover matters set out in the report. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6a



Recommendation 
(a) Planning permission be granted for the above proposal in accordance with the 
details set out in the attached scheduled, subject to Planning Obligations and other 
agreements being entered into as set out in the body of this report, the decision 
notice not to be issued until such obligations have been executed; 
(b) That your Officers be instructed to negotiate and execute obligations in respect 
of those matters set out in "Planning Obligations" under Section 106 and any 
necessary agreements under Section 278 of the Highway Act 1980. 

 

Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Site 
1. The site is located on the west side of Aldersgate Street, to the north of 

the Aldersgate Street and London Wall rotunda. The existing building 
was designed by Seifert Architects in the late 1980s in a Post-Modern 
style. It comprises ground plus seven storeys of office accommodation 
with an additional rooftop plant enclosure (Class B1) (22,251sq.m GIA). 
There is a seven storey basement car park beneath the building which 
is not part of the current application.  

2. The Aldersgate Street elevation of the building is clad in polished pink 
and grey stone with a section of redundant highwalk at first floor level 
and a series of projecting stone ‘mitres’ between second and seventh 
floors. At street level the building incorporates the ramped car park and 
inset office entrances with metal grilles to the office windows in 
between.  

3. The rear elevation facing Half Moon Court and Bartholomew Close is 
clad in brick with a prominent lift/stair tower rising above the parapet 
line by one additional storey. The building has a mansard roof and 
plant storey clad in grey sheet metal incorporating dormer windows to 
the office floor.  

4. The west side of Aldersgate Street is characterised by substantial office 
buildings, including the converted residential apartments of London 
House, which are predominantly between seven and nine storeys in 
height and of brick or stone with a clear rhythm of columns and 
openings. They form a distinct element between the historic streets of 
the Smithfield Conservation Area to the west and the 20th century 
Barbican buildings to the east.  

5. To the south, 200 Aldersgate Street is a departure in terms of scale 
and design, rising to 21 storeys in a stepped form, and does not relate 
to the general character of Aldersgate Street or the surrounding area.  

Proposal 
6. The proposal is for the refurbishment and extension of the existing 

office building, including:  

· the replacement of the Aldersgate Street facade with a new 
cladding system and office entrance;  

· the retention and refurbishment of the west and part north and 
south facades; 

· the creation of an additional pedestrian access point at the rear 
of the building at Half Moon Court; 

· the replacement of the existing roof top plant storey with a full 
width set back office storey and the construction of an additional 
storey incorporating new plant and a glazed atrium roof; 

· the provision of a new ground floor retail unit at Aldersgate 
Street (84sq.m GIA);  

· the creation of roof terraces at 7th and 8th floor levels; 

Page 27



· upgraded office space including the extension and 
reconfiguration of the central office atrium, an enlarged office 
reception, the incorporation of the redundant city walkway, and 
provision of bicycle parking and associated facilities. 

7. The proposed increase in office floorspace is 1,835sq.m (GIA), which 
would provide a total of 24,048sq.m (GIA) of refurbished office 
accommodation. Public realm improvements are proposed as part of 
the refurbishment works, the details of which would secured by 
condition, and the implementation of which would be secured through 
an agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. 

Consultations 
6. The application has been advertised on site and in the local press. The 

residential premises of London House, 28 Bartholomew Close, 30 
Bartholomew Close, Ironmongers Hall, Mountjoy House, Thomas More 
House, Seddon House, Lauderdale Tower, Newbury House, 1 – 3 
Newbury Street, and 39-40 Bartholomew Close have been individually 
consulted. 

7. The applicant has carried out their own public consultation prior to and 
following the submission of the application. A public exhibition and a 
total of six meetings were held separately with the Barbican 
Association and local residents groups prior to submission, and a 
further 3 meetings have been held with the Barbican Association, 
Spencer Heights residents and representatives from London House 
following submission.  

8. Transport for London (TfL) has advised that the proposed increase in 
floorspace would be unlikely to cause significant traffic impact to the 
local road network. TfL has requested that a travel plan, delivery and 
servicing plan and construction management and logistics plans be 
secured through a section 106 agreement or by condition, which is 
proposed.  

9. The views of other City of London departments have been taken into 
account in the preparation of this development scheme and in this 
report. Some detailed matters remain to be dealt with by conditions. 

10. 110 objections have been received from local residents and residents’ 
groups. The objections are summarised below: 

· The increase in the height of the building will make it noticeably 
higher than neighbouring buildings destroying the harmony and 
uniformity of the rooflines and sets a precedent for further 
additions to adjoining buildings in the future; 

· The change from a mansard roof to a vertical elevation is 
unsympathetic to the existing established building lines;  

· The increase in height and bulk at roof level will result in a loss 
of daylight and sunlight enjoyed by nearby residential properties 
and public spaces; 

Page 28



· The increase in window area, particularly at roof level, will result 
in light spillage and a loss of privacy from overlooking;  

· The building will lose its characteristic appearance that is 
inspired by the shape of a bishop’s mitre; 

· The development will prevent the future implementation of a 
high walk bridge across Aldersgate Street; 

· The rear access at Half Moon Court will increase footfall, and 
noise and disturbance for the nearby residents and occupiers; 

· The proposed plant will create further noise for adjoining 
residential properties;  

· The proposed terraces would have a detrimental impact on 
residential amenity; 

· The proposed retail unit could have a detrimental impact on 
residential amenity; 

· There will be noise and disruption caused by the demolition and 
construction works. 

11. One letter of support has been received from the prospective tenants of 
the proposed refurbished office accommodation. 

Policies 
12. The development plan consists of the London Plan, the saved policies of 

the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and the Core Strategy. The 
London Plan, UDP and Core Strategy policies that are most relevant to 
the consideration of this proposal are set out in Appendix A to this report. 

13. The City of London Local Plan was published in December 2013 and 
was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for examination by 
a Planning Inspector. The Inspector’s report on the Local Plan was 
issued on 12th November 2014. The Inspector found that the Local Plan 
was sound and he did not make any recommendations for material 
modifications. The Inspector’s report is before you today. 

14. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (para 216) states that 
“decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to…the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced the preparation, the greater the weight that may be given)”. It 
is intended that the Local Plan will be adopted by the Common Council 
on 15th January 2015. Upon adoption the Local Plan will supersede the 
Core Strategy and UDP. 

15. There is relevant City of London and GLA supplementary planning 
guidance in respect of Planning Obligations and Sustainable Design and 
Construction. 

16. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Chapter 12 of the NPPF sets out key policy 
considerations for applications relating to designated and non-
designated heritage assets. Other relevant guidance is provided by 

Page 29



English Heritage including the documents Conservation Principles, and 
The Setting of Heritage Assets. Building in Context (EH/CABE) and the 
PPS5 Practice Guide in respect of the setting of heritage assets. 

Considerations 
16. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform:- 

· To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far 
as they are material to the application and to any other material 
considerations. (Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 

· To determine the application in accordance with the 
development plan unless other material considerations indicate 
otherwise. (Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

· In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990). 

17. In respect of sustainable development the NPPF states at paragraph 
14 that ‘at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development which should be seen as a golden thread 
running through both plan-making and decision taking… for decision 
taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with 
the development plan without delay..’. 

18. The principal issues to be considered in the determination of this 
planning application are: 

· The extent to which the proposals comply with the relevant 
policies of the London Plan, Core Strategy and saved policies of 
the UDP; 

· The extent to which the proposals comply with Government 
policy advice (NPPF); 

· The impact of the proposal on the significance of designated and 
non-designated heritage assets and the setting of listed 
buildings; 

· The appropriateness of the bulk, massing and design of the 
proposals in the context of the local area and local views; 

· The provision of high quality office accommodation; 

· The removal of the redundant highwalk at 1st floor level; 

· The impact of the proposal on residential amenity and 
specifically:  

a) The impact of the proposals on the daylight and sunlight 
enjoyed by neighbouring properties and amenity spaces; 

Page 30



b) The potential for light spillage and overlooking as a result 
of the proposed development; 

c) The impact of the proposed rear entrance, retail unit and 
roof terraces; 

d) The noise impact of the proposed plant; 
e) The potential impact of the refurbishment works. 

Bulk, Massing and Design 
19. The proposed external alterations would comprise the modification and 

re-cladding of the Aldersgate Street facade; the replacement of the 
plant storey with a full width set-back office storey; the addition of a full 
width set-back plant storey and glazed atrium roof; the removal of the 
top section of the brick stair tower on the rear of the building; and the 
formation of a new roof section with different treatments to front and 
rear. The overall height of the building would increase 2.6m above its 
existing highest point.  

20. The Aldersgate Street elevation would be modified to lower the existing 
parapet line, stepping back the sixth storey from its current plane, and 
providing a new seventh storey. A roof terrace would be created behind 
the new parapet line. The ground and first floors would be opened up to 
provide a new recessed office entrance and retail unit and window 
openings, divided by double height stone columns. The alterations to 
the lower part of the building would activate the street frontage for 
pedestrians.  

21. A new eastern elevation would be applied to the retained structural 
frame, comprising a limestone frame with deep brick window reveals 
and window openings arranged in alternate alignments to each floor, 
creating a faceted appearance. The brick of the window reveals would 
be pale in colour to harmonise with the limestone and provide an 
appropriate level of solidity, whilst the glazing would incorporate an 
opaque lower section to reduce light spillage and minimise the visibility 
of office clutter and activity from the street. Between the 3rd and 6th 
floors the outer elements of the new facade would project by 
approximately 800mm, maintaining the current projection of the original 
‘mitre’ features.  

22. The redundant highwalk at 1st floor level would be incorporated into the 
building as additional office floorspace, as it is no longer required by 
the City of London for the creation of a highwalk bridge across 
Aldersgate Street to and from the Barbican. 

23. The upper two storeys would be glazed with regular stone fins 
designed to provide a solid appearance, particularly when viewed 
obliquely. The fins would incorporate a discreet break at the level of the 
internal floor plate to provide a horizontal division and mitigate the 
visual impact of the height of the upper section of the building.  

24. The windows, brick reveals, and stone fins to the upper floors would be 
set at an angle to direct light from the building in a south-easterly 
direction away from the Barbican residential blocks, as well as provide 

Page 31



a more solid appearance to the building when viewed obliquely from 
the north-east.  

25. Minor alterations would be made to the western Bartholomew Close/ 
Half Moon Court elevation. The brick stair tower, which currently forms 
a dominant and unsightly element to the building when viewed from 
Smithfield Conservation Area, would be reduced in height to the level 
of the parapet, with windows inserted to its blank elevation. The 
parapet embellishments would be removed and the brickwork made 
good. The existing windows would be replaced with new high 
performance units that would improve thermal efficiency and enhance 
the appearance of the building.  

26. A new rear entrance would be incorporated with glazed doors and 
enlarged window openings to either side. The alley to the rear of the 
building is currently dark and uninviting and the increase in illumination 
and activity would provide a localised enhancement that will further 
relate the building to forthcoming developments in the immediate area.  

27. A more restrained treatment would be used for the west elevation of 
the two new office floors in order to provide an appropriate backdrop to 
the adjacent conservation area and relate more closely to the retained 
facade. The additional storeys would each step back from the south 
and west and be clad in brick. Full height windows and doors would be 
aligned with the windows below, whilst providing access to two roof 
terraces enclosed by balustrades. The treatment of the west elevation 
would be carried around the north and south flank walls where it would 
meet the stone fins of the east elevation.  

28. The new plant storey would be enclosed by metal louvered sides and a 
metal grille to its roof, with a glazed roof to the atrium at the building’s 
centre. Green roofs would be incorporated to the front and rear of the 
plant room at eighth storey level.  

Views 
29. The proposed development would not impact on any Local View 

Management Framework (LVMF) protected vistas and is not within the 
St Paul’s Heights Policy area.  

30. A range of local views have been considered in assessing the 
proposed development, including those from the Barbican Estate, 
Bartholomew Close, Cloth Fair, Charterhouse Square, Aldersgate 
Street and Long Lane.  

31. The refurbished and extended building would maintain the scale and 
prominence of the existing building in local views. The additional height 
would amount to the replacement of the existing plant storey with a full 
set-back office storey and the addition of a new plant storey.  

32. The east elevation of the building would be highly visible in views from 
Thomas More Highwalk beside Thomas More House and Mountjoy 
House. The proposed additional height of the building would be 
appreciable from this location although the setback of the upper two 

Page 32



storeys would mitigate its impact, whilst the new plant storey would not 
be visible in this view.  

33. The existing building is visible in local views from Bartholomew Close, 
Cloth Street and Kinghorn Street. The increase in the height of the 
building resulting from the additional storey and plant storey would be 
mitigated by the setbacks and the general improvement of its 
appearance, particularly the reduced height of the prominent brick stair 
tower. There would be a marginal increase in the visibility of the 
building from the north side of the church of St Bartholomew the Great 
on Cloth Fair, where it would it would be seen in the context of a varied 
roofscape and would not detract from the setting of the church.  

34. From the junction of Aldersgate Street and Beech Street, as well as 
John Trundle Highwalk, the building would be seen in oblique views. 
The upper floors of the building would continue to be visible above the 
main section of the building, in the foreground of 200 Aldersgate Street, 
with the additional height and new vertical profile making them more 
prominent. From this general location the projection of the facade 
between 3rd and 6th floors would be most apparent, although it would 
largely maintain the existing projection of the mitre features, and the 
majority of its extent would comprise deep window reveals.  

35. The building would continue to be hidden from view in Charterhouse 
Square, while its visibility from Charterhouse Street / Lindsay Street 
would be restricted by the forthcoming Crossrail station over-site 
development, which is also before you today.  

Heritage Assets 
36. Consideration should be given to the setting of the following designated 

heritage assets: 

· Smithfield Conservation Area 

· The Barbican Estate – Grade II listed. 

· The Barbican registered landscape – Grade II* listed.  
37. There are no non-designated heritage assets of relevance to this 

application.  
38. The significance of each asset has been assessed in accordance with 

English Heritage’s methodology for assessing “significance” as set out 
in ‘Conservation Principles Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable 
Management of the Historic Environment”.  

39. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, paragraph 132 of the 
NPPF states that “…great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or 
destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting…any 
harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification.”  

40. The existing building forms a prominent edge to the eastern part of the 
Smithfield Conservation Area, where it marks a change in scale from 

Page 33



the domestic scale buildings around Bartholomew Close and the larger 
post-war buildings to the east. The additional storey would be visible in 
local views and would have a marginal impact on the setting of the 
conservation area, although the reduction in height of the stair tower 
and associated facade alterations would provide a slight enhancement 
to the area.  

41. The south-western corner of the Barbican Estate is directly opposite 
the site on Aldersgate Street. John Wesley Highwalk and the stair turret 
are closest to the site, where the disused highwalk within 160 
Aldersgate Street was originally intended to connect with a bridge over 
the road. The nearest residential Barbican block is situated some 
distance to the east, with its diagonal alignment avoiding any direct 
relationship with the building. It is considered that the proposed 
extended building would not have any further detrimental impact on the 
listed Estate and Registered Landscape than the existing building, 
whilst the improved design would provide a slight enhancement to its 
setting.  

42. The existing building is not considered to be of architectural merit and 
does not make a positive contribution to local area. Its refurbishment, 
alteration and extension would not cause harm to the setting of 
heritage assets and is considered to be acceptable. 

43. The design of the proposed refurbished building would be a substantial 
improvement on its existing appearance. It would relate more 
satisfactorily to the immediate townscape and the setting of Smithfield 
Conservation Area, whilst providing a minor enhancement to the setting 
of the Barbican Estate.  

Daylight and Sunlight 
44. The impact of the increase in height and bulk at roof level on the 

daylight and sunlight received by surrounding residential properties, 
and the play area adjacent to Seddon House have been assessed. The 
Daylight and Sunlight Report submitted with the application 
demonstrates that as a result of the proposed development all windows 
within the surrounding residential properties would meet the Building 
Research Establishment (BRE) good practice guidelines for site layout 
planning for daylight and sunlight.  

45. In addition, the Light Pollution and Amenity Report submitted during the 
application process demonstrate that the proposals would result in no 
change to the sunlight condition to the play area adjacent to Seddon 
House.  

Light Spillage and Overlooking 
46. Whilst the proposed refurbished Aldersgate Street facade and roof 

extension have been designed to allow increased daylight to the office 
accommodation the design includes features to minimise the potential 
for light spillage or overlooking from the building.  

47. The orientation of the windows on Aldersgate Street has been angled 
to the south east, and the glazing is visually screened from the 

Page 34



Barbican Estate by the solidity of the adjacent masonry panels that 
project forward and face north east. The series of vertical masonry fins 
to the upper two floors would shield the proposed glazing, mitigating 
light spillage and directing views away from the Barbican Estate.  

48. The extent of the glazing has been reduced by the inclusion of an 
opaque spandrel panel to the lower portion of the office glazing, which 
would reduce light spillage and hide clutter which can accumulate at 
floor level within an office building. In addition, all light fittings would be 
activated by zonal motion sensors, and would automatically switch off 
when a particular zone is not occupied.  

49. A quantitative light spillage report has been submitted with the 
application that assesses the light spillage which would result from the 
proposed additional storey and new facade treatment. The report 
demonstrates that there would be an additional 2 - 3 lux cast by the top 
floor of the proposed development to facades of the surrounding 
residential buildings, which is likely to be imperceptible to the human 
eye, indicating that the amenity of neighbouring properties would be 
maintained in this regard. 

Rear Access 
50. The proposed rear access to the building would be for pedestrians 

only. The original scheme proposed access to cycle storage. This was 
relocated to Aldersgate Street for submission following concerns raised 
by residents.  

51. A review of pedestrian movements to the rear access has been 
undertaken by the applicant’s transport consultants. It estimates that, 
taking account of the arrival of Crossrail at Farringdon, there would be 
approximately up to 115 people arriving at the rear entrance in the AM 
peak and around 90 people leaving during the PM peak hour with the 
majority of arrivals and departures via the main entrance on Aldersgate 
Street. Spread over an hour this level of pedestrian movement is 
considered to be low and would not have a material impact on the 
footways and streets to the rear of the site. 

Roof Terraces 
52. Three roof terraces are proposed at 7th and 8th floor levels: one 

terrace at 7th floor level on Aldersgate Street, and a terrace on each of 
the rear elevation setbacks at 7th and 8th floor levels.  

53. The 7th floor roof terrace to Aldersgate Street is considered to be 
sufficiently shallow and distant from residential properties in the 
Barbican so as to not have a detrimental impact on their amenity. The 
landscaping of the rear terraces has been designed to prevent 
overlooking of the adjacent residential properties at London House by 
the inclusion of a low level planting zone along the southern part of the 
terrace return, which would act as a buffer.  

54. The applicant has confirmed that they would accept restrictions on the 
hours of the use of the terraces. Conditions have been included to 
restrict the use of the terraces from 08:00 to 21:00 Monday to 

Page 35



Saturday, with no use on Sundays or Bank Holidays, and to permit the 
8th floor roof terrace to be used until 22:00 on five occasions during the 
months of May to September, provided that residents would be 
informed of such occasions two weeks in advance. A condition is 
included requiring that no amplified or other music shall be played on 
the roof terraces. 

55. The design of the terraces and the restrictions on use and the playing 
of music will help to ensure that the amenity of the surrounding 
residential properties is sufficiently protected. 

Retail Unit  
56. The proposed retail unit on Aldersgate Street has been amended to 

allow A1 use only in response to residents’ concerns. The applicant 
has also agreed to the inclusion of a condition restricting the hours of 
operation from 07:00 until 21:00. 

Noise Impact of Plant 
57. The refurbishment proposals include the replacement of all the existing 

office plant and equipment on the building and the removal of the 
existing third floor kitchen extract vents adjacent to the rear of London 
House. The proposed new plant at roof level would be screened from 
view and acoustically attenuated to minimise noise.  

58. The noise assessment submitted with the application demonstrates 
that the cumulative noise levels from the proposed new plant (both at 
roof, ground and ground floor mezzanine levels) would achieve at least 
10dB below the minimum background level at the nearest sensitive 
receptors.  

59. Given the noise sensitivity of the surrounding area and in response to 
concerns raised by residents with regards to plant noise, further 
environmental noise survey work has been undertaken during the 
application process. The additional survey work has concluded that the 
net effect of the proposed refurbishment works on the nearest 
residential properties would be a significant reduction in the plant noise 
levels emitted from the site.  

60. A condition has been included requiring the noise level from any plant 
and associated ducting to be maintained at 10dB (A) or more below the 
minimum background level at the nearest sensitive receptors. 

Mitigating the impact of construction works 
61. Conditions have been included requiring the submission of details of a 

scheme for the protection of nearby residents and commercial 
occupiers from noise, dust and other environmental effects during 
demolition and construction. The scheme would be required to adhere 
to the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection’s Code of 
Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites. 

Servicing and Parking 
62. Servicing for the refurbished office and new retail unit would be 

undertaken off-street within the existing dedicated service yard, 

Page 36



accessed from Aldersgate Street. The service yard can accommodate 
vehicles up to the size of large refuse vehicles, allowing them to enter 
and exit in forward gear. The servicing times would be restricted by 
condition to between 07:00 and 23:00. 

63. The proposed development would in itself be car free, with the 
exception of one disabled parking space. A total of 302 cycle parking 
spaces would be provided together with associated ancillary changing 
and showering facilities at a standard that exceeds the City of London’s 
emerging cycle parking standards and current adopted London Plan 
standards. 

Sustainability and Energy 
64. The proposed refurbishment of the building provides the opportunity to 

improve its energy performance over the Building Regulations 2010 
compliant baseline. Passive design measures, such as an energy 
efficient building envelope, energy efficient lighting and controls and 
specification of energy efficient plant would be incorporated and are 
estimated to achieve 18% carbon emissions savings over the Building 
Regulations 2010 compliant baseline scheme. 

65. The development would be connected into the Citigen district heating 
network which would amount to further carbon emissions savings of 
23%. The BREEAM pre-assessment rating for the building has an 
“excellent” rating.  

66. A large green roof of 450sq.m would be provided along with planted 
terraces. The green roof would improve the thermal mass of the roof, 
reduce overheating and contribute to rainwater attenuation and 
biodiversity. Rainwater and grey water harvesting would further 
contribute to water attenuation and reduce the water demand of the 
building. A condition has been included requesting details of how these 
measures would be incorporated in to the refurbishment of the building. 

Provision of high quality office accommodation 
67. London’s status as a world city is founded to a substantial degree on its 

concentration of international service activities and, most noticeably, by 
the clustering of financial and business services in the City of London. 

68. The importance that is attached to the maintenance and enhancement 
of the City’s role as one of the world’s leading financial and business 
centres is reflected in the policies of the London Plan and Core 
Strategy, particularly policies 4.2 and CS1. 

69. The refurbished building would provide Grade A office accommodation 
to meet the demands of the City’s commercial occupiers. The proposed 
development would provide a 1,835sq.m (GIA) increase in office 
floorspace, which would help to facilitate the extensive refurbishment of 
the existing building. 

70. The development would support London’s business function in 
accordance with development plan policies. 

 

Page 37



 
Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
71. Under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 an 

agreement or planning obligation can be made between parties, usually 
the developer and the local authority, or a unilateral undertaking can be 
submitted by a prospective developer: 

· restricting the development or use of land in any specified way; 

· requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on 
or under or over the land; 

· requiring the land to be used in any specified way; or 

· requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a 
specified date or dates or periodically. 

72. Planning obligation arrangements were modified by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended (‘the CIL 
Regulations’). The Regulations introduce statutory restrictions on the 
use of planning obligations to clarify their proper purpose, and make 
provision for planning obligations to work alongside any Community 
Infrastructure Levy (‘CIL’) arrangements which local planning 
authorities may elect to adopt. 

73. Regulation 122 states that it is unlawful for a planning obligation to 
constitute a reason to grant planning permission when determining a 
planning application if the obligation does not meet all the following 
tests: 

· necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; 

· directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development 

74. Regulation 123 states that a planning obligation may not constitute a 
reason to grant planning permission to the extent that it provides 
funding for infrastructure included in the regulations “Regulation 123” 
list as the type of infrastructure on what CIL will be spent on. 

75. The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) stated that 
planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. The policy 
repeated the tests set out above and states that where planning 
obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities 
should take account of changes in market conditions over time and, 
wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned 
development being stalled. (NPPF paragraphs 203-206). 

Mayor of London Policies 
Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
76. London Plan Policy 8.3 requires the Mayoral CIL to be paid by 

developers to help fund strategically important infrastructure, initially 

Page 38



focussing on Crossrail until 2019. The Mayor has set a charge of Ј50 
per sq.m and this applies to all development over 100sq.m (GIA) 
except social housing, education related development, health related 
development and development for charities for charitable purposes.  

Mayoral Planning Obligations   
77. Since April 2010 the Mayor of London has sought contributions towards 

the cost of funding Crossrail through the negotiation of planning 
obligations in accordance with London Plan Policy 6.5. Mayoral 
planning obligations are payable by developers according to an 
indicative level of charges for specific uses set out in the Mayoral SPG 
(April 2013): offices (Ј140 per sq.m net gain in GIA floorspace), retail 
(Ј90) and hotels (Ј61) provided there is a net gain of 500sq.m.  

78. Developments that are liable for both Mayoral CIL and Mayoral 
planning obligations payments for Crossrail, the Mayor will not double 
charge. His approach is to treat Mayoral CIL payment as a credit 
towards Mayor planning obligation liability. Therefore the Mayoral 
planning obligation liability can be reduced by the Mayoral CIL.  

79. At the time of preparing this report the Mayoral CIL has been calculated 
to be Ј95,650. The full Mayoral planning obligation has been calculated 
to be Ј263,620. This would be reduced to Ј167,970 after deduction of 
the Mayoral CIL. It should be noted that these figures may be subject to 
change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at the point of 
payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative figures at this 
point. 

80. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 4% of 
the Mayoral CIL income as an administration fee; the remainder will be 
forwarded to the Mayor of London. The whole of the Mayoral planning 
obligation income received will be forwarded to the Mayor. However, 
the developer will also be liable to pay an additional Ј3,500 Mayoral 
planning obligation administration and monitoring charge to the City 
Corporation. The total contributions due in accordance with the Mayoral 
CIL and Mayoral planning obligation policies are summarised below:   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Liability in 
accordance with the 
Mayor of London’s 
policies 

Contribution  
£ 

Forwarded to 
the Mayor 

Retained by City 
Corporation 

Mayoral Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
payable 

95,650 91,824 3,826 

Mayoral planning 
obligation net liability* 

167,970 167,970 Nil 

Mayoral planning 
obligation 
administration and 
monitoring charge 

3,500 Nil 3,500 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
Mayor of London’s 
policies 

267,120 259,794 7,326 

*Net liability is on the basis of the CIL charge remaining as reported and 
could be subject to variation. 

City of London’s Planning Obligations SPG policy 
City Planning Obligations 
City CIL  
81. The City introduced its CIL on 1st July 2014 and will be chargeable in 

addition to the Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning obligations. CIL will 
be charged at a rate of Ј75 per sq.m for offices, Ј150 for Residential 
Riverside, Ј95 for Residential rest of the city and Ј75 for all other uses. 
At the time of preparing this report the City CIL has been calculated to 
be Ј143,475. It should be noted that these figures may be subject to 
change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at the point of 
payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative figures at this 
point. 

82. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 5% of 
the CIL income as an administration fee. The contributions collected 
will be used to fund the infrastructure required to meet the 
requirements of the City’s Development Plan.  

83. On 1st July 2014 the City’s Supplementary Planning Document on 
Planning Obligations was adopted. City Planning Obligations would be 
payable by developers in accordance with the Planning Obligations 
SPD.  

84. On new commercial developments where there is a net increase of 
500sq.m or more of Gross Internal Area. The policy seeks contributions 
towards Affordable Housing (Ј20 per sq.m), Local Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage (Ј3 per sq.m) and Carbon Offsetting (Ј46 per tonne of 

Page 40



carbon offset). The section 106 agreement would normally follow the 
agreement template available on the City of London website. 

85. In this case the proposed net increase in floorspace would be 
1913sq.m. On the basis of the figure indicated in the Supplementary 
Planning Document, the planning obligation figure would be Ј143,475. 
It is the City’s practice that all financial contributions should be index-
linked with reference to the appropriate index from the date of adoption 
of the 1st July 2014 to the date of permission.  

86. The applicant has agreed a breakdown which accords with the 
Supplementary Planning Document as follows: 

Liability in accordance 
with the City of 
London’s policies 

Contribution  
£ 

Available for 
Allocation 

£ 

Retained for 
Administration 

Charge £ 

City Community 
Infrastructure Levy  

143,475 91,824 3,826 

City Planning Obligation 
Affordable Housing 

38,260 37,877 382.60 

City Planning Obligation 
Local, Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage 

5,739 5,682 57.39 

City Planning Obligation 
Monitoring Charge (Non-
Financial) 

2,500 Nil 2,500 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

189,974 135,383 6,766 

87. I have set out below the details that I am recommending concerning the 
planning obligations. All of the proposals are considered to be 
necessary to make the application acceptable in planning terms, 
directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development and meet the above tests contained 
in the CIL Regulations and in government policy. I would also request 
that I be given delegated authority to continue to negotiate and agree 
the terms of the proposed obligations as necessary. 

Affordable Housing  
88. The Affordable Housing contribution will be used for the purpose of off-

site provision of affordable housing in suitable locations in or near to 
the City of London in accordance with the London Plan. The applicant 
will be required to pay this contribution on or before the implementation 
of the planning permission. 

 

Page 41



Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage 
89. The Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage contribution will be 

applied to the provision of training and skills initiatives, including job 
brokerage, in the City or City fringes. The Developer will be required to 
pay this contribution on or before the implementation of planning 
permission.  

Highway Reparation and other Highways obligations 
90. The cost of any reparation works required as a result of the 

development will be the responsibility of the Developer.  
91. If required, prior to implementation and based on the City’s standard 

draft, the developer will be obligated to enter into an agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to meet the cost of highway 
works that are necessary to meet the burden placed on the highway 
network by the development.  

Utility Connections 
92. The development will require connection to a range of utility 

infrastructure. Early engagement by the applicant about utilities 
infrastructure provision will allow for proper co-ordination and planning 
of all works required to install the utility infrastructure, particularly under 
public highway, so as to minimise disruption to highway users. A s106 
covenant will therefore require the submission of draft and final 
programmes for ordering and completing service connections from 
utility providers in order that the City's comments can be taken into 
account, and will require that all connections are carried out in 
accordance with the programme. Details of the utility connection 
requirements of the Development including all proposed service 
connections, communal entry chambers, the proposed service provider 
and the anticipated volume of units required for the Development will 
also be required. 

Method Statement, Plans and Audits 
Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) 
93. The applicant will be required to submit for approval details of the Local 

Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) in line with 
the aims of the City Corporation’s Employment Charter for 
Construction. This Charter aims to maximise job opportunities in the 
City for residents of the City fringes and offer employment and training 
opportunities to local people wishing to begin a career in construction. 
The Strategy will be submitted in two stages: one to be submitted prior 
to the First Preparatory Operation Date in respect of the Preparatory 
Operations; the second to be submitted prior to Implementation in 
respect of the Main Contract Works Package.  

94. The Economic Development Office is able to introduce the Developer 
or its Contractor and Sub-Contractors to local training providers and 
brokerage agencies to discuss their site-specific skills needs and to 
identify suitable local people to fill opportunities on site. The Developer 
is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development Office at the 

Page 42



earliest stage in the development process in order that the strategy can 
be submitted prior to commencement. 

Local Procurement 
95. The developer has agreed to submit for approval a Local Procurement 

Strategy prior to commencement of demolition. The Local Procurement 
Strategy shall include details of: initiatives to identify local procurement 
opportunities relating to the construction of the development; initiatives 
to reach a 10% target for local procurement, from small to medium 
sized enterprises in the City and City fringes; the timings and 
arrangements for the implementation of such initiatives; and suitable 
mechanisms for the monitoring of the effectiveness of such initiatives 
e.g. a local procurement tracker can be used to capture this 
information. 

96. The developer will be required at the 6 month stage, or half way 
through the project (whichever is earliest), to report to the City of 
London Corporation’s Economic Development Office on their 
performance against the 10% local procurement target. 

97. The Economic Development Officer is able to provide information and 
guidance to the Developer its Contractor and Sub-Contractors. The 
Developer is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development 
Officer at the earliest stage in the development process in order that 
the strategy can be submitted prior to implementation. 

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan  
98. The developer would be required to submit for approval a Delivery and 

Servicing Management Plan prior to occupation. In the event of any 
breach of the Management Plan, the developer will be required to 
resubmit a revised document, and should the developer default on this 
requirement, the City will be given the ability to provide a replacement 
plan. The operation of the Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 
will be subject to an annual review. 

Travel Plan 
99. The developer would be required to submit both interim and full Travel 

Plans prior to occupation and six months after occupation respectively. 
The obligations in relation to this shall apply for the life of the building 

Carbon Offsetting 
100. The London Plan sets a target for major developments to achieve an 

overall carbon dioxide emission reduction of 35% over Part L Building 
Regulations 2013, through the use of on-site renewable energy 
generation, in line with London Plan energy hierarchy. A detailed 
assessment will be required and if the assessment demonstrated that 
the target is not met on site the applicant will be required to meet the 
shortfall through cash in lieu contribution. The contribution will be 
secured through the section 106 agreement, at an initial cost of Ј60 per 
tonne of carbon to be offset, calculated over a 30 year period. The 
financial contribution for carbon off-setting will be required on 
commencement or prior to occupation.  

Page 43



Monitoring and Administrative Costs 
101. A 10 year repayment period would be required where by any 

unallocated sums would be returned to the developer 10 years after 
practical completion of the development. Some funds may be set aside 
for future maintenance purposes. 

102. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs incurred in the 
negotiation and execution of the legal agreement and the City Planning 
Officer’s administration costs in respect of the same. 1% of the total 
contribution (secured under the City’s SPG) will be allocated to the 
monitoring of the agreement. 

103. Separate additional administration and monitoring fees will be applied 
in relation to the Crossrail Contribution. 

Site Specific Mitigation 
104. The City Corporation will principally seek to mitigate the impact of 

development and provide necessary infrastructure through the use of 
CIL but, in some circumstances, it may be necessary additionally to 
seek site specific mitigation to ensure that a development is acceptable 
in planning terms. Other matters requiring mitigation are still yet to be 
fully scoped. 

Conclusion 
105. The proposed refurbished building would provide an increase in high 

quality office accommodation in accordance with development plan 
policies. 

106. The design of the proposed refurbished building would be a substantial 
improvement on the existing. It would relate more satisfactorily to the 
immediate townscape and the setting of the adjacent Smithfield 
Conservation Area and listed Barbican Estate. 

107. The applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the building has 
been designed to safeguard the amenities of nearby residential 
occupiers, and has agreed to the inclusion of conditions relating to the 
use of the building that would help to ensure that residential amenity is 
further protected. 

108. The proposal is in substantial compliance with relevant development 
plan policies, and is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions, 
a CIL payment and a Section 106 agreement being entered into to 
cover matters set out in the report. 

Page 44



Background Papers 
Internal 
Memo 15th September 2014   Terry Chown 
Memo   11th November 2014   Dawn Patel, Department of Markets and 
Consumer Protection 
 
External 
Letter   Undated   D.A. Rogers 
E-mail   18th September 2014   Dr. Neil Sanders 
E-mail   19th September 2014   Nick Grosse 
E-mail   20th September 2014   Mrs. Helen Barnes 
E-mail   22nd September 2014   Mr. Mark Baker 
E-mail   23rd September 2014   Professor Raymond P. Clark OBE 
Letter   23rd September 2014   Paul & Marie Lee 
E-mail   24th September 2014   Mr. Keith Jenkins 
E-mail   24th September 2014   Mr. Gareth Randell 
E-mail   25th September 2014   Mrs. Clare James 
E-mail   26th September 2014   Deborah Tompkinson 
Letter   29th September 2014   Dr. Garth Leder, Barbican Association 
E-mail   30th September 2014   Mr. Brian Johnson 
E-mail   30th September 2014   Mr. Russell Bell 
E-mail   1st October 2014   TC Chang and Jacqueline YC loh 
E-mail   1st October 2014   Lesley Thrift 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   John Fitzpatrick 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Krishna Kakad 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Tony Welsh 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Karen Young 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Edward Malden 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Jonathan Perks 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Julia Onslow-Cole 
Letter   2nd October 2014   Gail Elizabeth Evans 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Eloise Logan 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   A. Afshari and A Haigh 
E-mail   2nd October 2014   Dr. Folashade Okutubo 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Pak-Lim Wong, Transport for London 

Page 45



E-mail   3rd October 2014   Dr. Leslie Joffe 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Mr. Andrew Gallichan 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Karen Young 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Alpesh and Mina Lad 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Joseph Robinson 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Colm Whelan 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Michael Pearman and Sue-Wei Wong 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Mr. Paul Stanton 
E-mail   3rd October 2014   Mohan Subbiah 
Letter   3rd October 2014   J. C. Slaughter 
Letter   4th October 2014   Paul Tilley 
E-mail   4th October 2014   Eric Lai 
E-mail   5th October 2014   William Russell 
Letter   5th October 2014   David & Jeanette Webster 
E-mail   5th October 2014   Ian Bull 
E-mail   5th October 2014   Mr. Richard Cowan 
Letter   6th October 2014   G. Hewitson 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Lind Wright 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Mr. Allan Kerr 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Dr. Dilys Cowan 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Alderman Vincent Keaveny 
Letter   6th October 2014   Vincent and Edwina Power 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Diana B. Tyson 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Jonathan Dennis 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Jane Smth, Seddon House Group 
E-mail   6th October 2014   Dr. Muriel Cullen 
Letter   7th October 2014   Mrs. Averil Baldwin, Thomas More House Group 
Letter   7th October 2014   Paulin Pearson 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Mr. Harry Boucher 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Mrs. Caroline Pearce 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Dr. Peter Poore 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Alberto Garciga 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Jan & Phillippa Bors 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Veena Williams 
E-mail   7th October 2014   Salina Gilhotra & Nilesh Parmar 

Page 46



E-mail   7th October 2014   Jonathan Morton, London House Residents’ 
Association  
Letter   8th October 2014   Claire & Richard Ringrose 
Letter   8th October 2014   J. Freewell 
Letter   8th October 2014   Dr. P D Simmons 
E-mail   8th October 2014   Tom Morris 
E-mail   8th October 2014   Mr. Peter Jennings 
E-mail   8th October 2014   Mrs. Helen Bayliss 
E-mail   8th October 2014   Mrs. Sheila McIntosh 
E-mail   8th October 2014   Ross Everett 
E-mail   9th October 2014   Mr. Michael Callow 
Letter   9th October 2014   David Saunders 
E-mail   9th October 2014   Mr. & Mrs. David Reeves 
E-mail   9th October 2014   Jonathan Mendelow 
E-mail   9th October 2014   Annabel Gillings 
E-mail   9th October 2014   Dr. Simon Jones 
E-mail   9th October 2014   Mr. Richard Pavitt 
E-mail   10th October 2014   Mr. Tim Macer 
E-mail   10th October 2014   Mrs. Helen Clifford nee Hudson 
E-mail   10th October 2014   Mr. Paul Clifford 
E-mail   10th October 2014   Mrs. Vivien Fowle 
E-mail   11th October 2014   Professor John Lumley 
E-mail   11th October 2014   Lesley Craze 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Adam Cordery & Paula Johnson 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Ms. Jane Smith 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Dr. Robert Harris 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Dr. C Pardy 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Dr. Gianetta Corley 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Mary Bonar 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Kai Virtanen 
E-mail   12th October 2014   Diana Morgan Gray 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Ms. Kerryn Pannell 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Mr. Brian Parkes 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Mr. Henry Ritson 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Dr. Andrew Ormsby 

Page 47



E-mail   13th October 2014   Mr. Jonathan Dow 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Susan Weeks 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Rainer Pratl 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Maraget Urry 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Gillian Laidlaw 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Barbara Mchugh De Clare 
E-mail   13th October 2014   Satu Pikanen 
E-mail   13th October 2014   John Thirlwell 
Letter   14th October 2014   Robert B. Barker 
Letter   14th October 2014   Gillie Bexson 
E-mail   14th October 2014   Mr. Nigel Dixon 
E-mail   14th October 2014   Mr. John Weeks 
Letter   14th October 2014   Ann Holmes 
E-mail   14th October 2014   Ms. Caroline Reed 
E-mail   14th October 2014   Professor Richard Lynch 
E-mail   23rd October 2014   Richard Gaskell 
Letter   3rd November 2014   DLA Piper    
 
Application Documents 
Existing drawings: A1254 EX 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 
2007, 2008, 2009, 2015, 2101, 2102, 2103, 2104, 2201/1, 2202. 
Removal of fabric drawings: A1254 PA 1000, 1001, 1002, 1003, 1004, 1005, 
1006, 1007, 1008, 1009, 1011, 1012, 1013, 1014, 1020/1, 1021. 
Roof terrace usage drawing: A1254 GA 2012 
Sustainability Statement   July 2014   Waterman 
Daylight & Sunlight Report   8th July 2014   Waldrams 
Design and Access Statement   August 2014   Fletcher Priest Architects 
Transport Assessment   August 2014   TTP Consulting 
Draft Travel Plan   August 2014   TTP Consulting 
Draft Delivery and Servicing Plan   August 2014   TTP Consulting 
Air Quality Neutral Assessment   August 2014   Waterman 
Energy Statement   August 2014   Waterman 
Planning Statement   August 2014   DP9 
Statement of Community Involvement   August 2014   Four Communications 
Noise Impact Assessment   27th August 2014   Clarke Saunders Associates 

Page 48



Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment   September 2014   
Peter Stewart Consultancy 
Statement of Community Involvement – Interim Addendum Report   undated   
Four Communications 
Statement of Community Involvement – Addendum Report   2014   Four 
Communications 
Letter   22nd October 2014   Clarke Saunders Associates   
Response to resident concerns   23rd October 2014   Fletcher Priest 
Architects 
Light Pollution & Sunlight Amenity Report   3rd November 2014   Waldrams 
E-mail   3rd November 2014   DP9 
Environmental Noise Survey Proposals   3rd November 2014   Clarke 
Saunders Associates   
Letter   7th November 2014   DP9 
Letter   11th November 2014   DP9 
Memo   12th November 2014   Clarke Saunders Associates   

 

Page 49



Appendix A 
London Plan Policies 
Policy 2.10  Enhance and promote the unique international, national and 
London wide roles of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and as a strategically 
important, globally-oriented financial and business services centre. 
 
Policy 2.11  Ensure that developments proposals to increase office 
floorspace within CAZ include a mix of uses including housing, unless such a 
mix would demonstrably conflict with other policies in the plan. 
 
Policy 2.12  Identify, protect and enhance predominantly residential 
neighbourhoods within CAZ and develop sensitive mixed use policies to 
ensure that housing does not compromise CAZ strategic functions elsewhere 
in the zone. 
 
Policy 4.1  Promote and enable the continued development of a strong, 
sustainable and increasingly diverse economy; Support the distinctive and 
crucial contribution to London’s economic success made by central London 
and its specialist clusters of economic activity; Promote London as a suitable 
location for European and other international agencies and businesses. 
 
Policy 4.2  Support the management and mixed use development and 
redevelopment of office provision to improve London’s competitiveness and to 
address the wider objectives of this Plan, including enhancing its varied 
attractions for businesses of different types and sizes. 
 
Policy 4.3  Within the Central Activities Zone increases in office floorspace 
should provide for a mix of uses including housing, unless such a mix would 
demonstrably conflict with other policies in this plan. 
 
Policy 5.2  Development proposals should make the fullest contribution to 
minimising carbon dioxide emissions. 
 
Policy 5.3  Development proposals should demonstrate that sustainable 
design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction and 
operation. Major development proposals should meet the minimum standards 
outlined in supplementary planning guidance. 
 
Policy 5.6  Development proposals should evaluate the feasibility of 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) systems, and where a new CHP system is 
appropriate also examine opportunities to extend the system beyond the site 
boundary to adjacent sites. 
 
Policy 5.7  Major development proposals should provide a reduction in 
carbon dioxide emissions through the use of on-site renewable energy 
generation, where feasible. 
 
Policy 5.9  Reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect in London and 
encourage the design of places and spaces to avoid overheating and 

Page 50



excessive heat generation, and to reduce overheating due to the impacts of 
climate change and the urban heat island effect on an area wide basis. 
 
Policy 5.10  Promote and support urban greening, such as new planting in 
the public realm (including streets, squares and plazas) and multifunctional 
green infrastructure, to contribute to the adaptation to, and reduction of, the 
effects of climate change. 
 
Policy 5.11 Major development proposals should be designed to include 
roof, wall and site planting, especially green roofs and walls where feasible. 
 
Policy 5.13 Development should utilise sustainable urban drainage systems 
(SUDS) unless there are practical reasons for not doing so. 
 
Policy 6.3  Development proposals should ensure that impacts on transport 
capacity and the transport network are fully assessed. 
 
Policy 6.5  Contributions will be sought from developments likely to add to, 
or create, congestion on London’s rail network that Crossrail is intended to 
mitigate. 
 
Policy 6.9  Developments should provide secure, integrated and accessible 
cycle parking facilities and provide on-site changing facilities and showers for 
cyclists, facilitate the Cycle Super Highways and facilitate the central London 
cycle hire scheme. 
 
Policy 6.13  The maximum standards set out in Table 6.2 should be applied 
to planning applications. Developments must:  

ensure that 1 in 5 spaces (both active and passive) provide an 
electrical charging point to encourage the uptake of electric vehicles  
provide parking for disabled people in line with Table 6.2  
meet the minimum cycle parking standards set out in Table 6.3  
provide for the needs of businesses for delivery and servicing. 

 
Policy 7.2  All new development in London to achieve the highest standards 
of accessible and inclusive design. 
 
Policy 7.3  Creation of safe, secure and appropriately accessible 
environments. 
 
Policy 7.4  Development should have regard to the form, function, and 
structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of 
surrounding buildings. It should improve an area’s visual or physical 
connection with natural features. In areas of poor or ill-defined character, 
development should build on the positive elements that can contribute to 
establishing an enhanced character for the future function of the area. 
 
Policy 7.6  Buildings and structures should:  

a  be of the highest architectural quality 

Page 51



b  be of a proportion, composition, scale and orientation that enhances, 
activates and appropriately defines the public realm  

c  comprise details and materials that complement, not necessarily 
replicate, the local architectural character  

d  not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and 
buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, 
overshadowing, wind and microclimate. This is particularly important for 
tall buildings  

e  incorporate best practice in resource management and climate change 
mitigation and adaptation  

f  provide high quality indoor and outdoor spaces and integrate well with 
the surrounding streets and open spaces  

g  be adaptable to different activities and land uses, particularly at ground 
level  

h  meet the principles of inclusive design 
i optimise the potential of sites. 

 
Policy 7.7  Tall and large buildings should be part of a plan-led approach to 
changing or developing an area by the identification of appropriate, sensitive 
and inappropriate locations. Tall and large buildings should not have an 
unacceptably harmful impact on their surroundings. Applications for tall or 
large buildings should include an urban design analysis that demonstrates the 
proposal is part of a strategy that will meet the criteria set out in this policy. 
 
Policy 7.15  Minimise existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on, 
from, within, or in the vicinity of, development proposals and separate new 
noise sensitive development from major noise sources. 
 
 
 

Page 52



Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy Policies 
 
CS1 Provide additional  offices 

 
To ensure the City of London provides additional office development of 
the highest quality to meet demand from long term employment growth 
and strengthen the beneficial cluster of activities found in and near the 
City that contribute to London's role as the world's leading international 
financial and business centre. 

 
CS4 Seek planning contributions 

 
To manage the impact of development, seeking appropriate 
contributions having regard to the impact of the contributions on the 
viability of development. 

 
CS5 Meet challenges facing North of City 

 
To ensure that the City benefits from the substantial public transport 
improvements planned in the north of the City, realising the potential for 
rejuvenation and "eco design" to complement the sustainable transport 
infrastructure. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
 
 
 

Page 53



CS17 Minimising and managing waste 
 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
CS20 Improve retail facilities 

 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 
CS21 Protect and provide housing 

 
To protect existing housing and amenity and provide additional housing 
in the City, concentrated in or near existing residential communities, to 
meet the City's needs, securing suitable, accessible and affordable 
housing and supported housing. 

 
HOUS10 Respect residential privacy, etc. 

 
To require where practicable that the privacy, outlook and daylighting 
levels of residential accommodation is respected by the form of adjacent 
development. 

 
SHOP3 Seek increased retail facilities 

 
To seek, where appropriate, the provision of new or increased retail 
facilities, particularly where: 
 
i. existing retail shop facilities are being replaced on redevelopment in 
 accordance with policy SHOP 2; 
 
ii. the site is in or close to a shopping centre; 
 
iii.the site is close to a public transport interchange; 
 
iv.there is a riverside frontage. 

 
UTIL6 Provision for waste collection 

 
To require adequate provision within all developments for the storage, 
presentation for collection, and removal of waste, unless exceptional 
circumstances make it impractical; to encourage provision to allow for 
the separate storage of recyclable waste where appropriate. 

 
 
 

Page 54



TRANS21 Seek parking for disabled people 
 
To seek the provision and improvement of parking arrangements for 
disabled people. 

 
TRANS22 Require cycle parking 

 
To provide cycle parking facilities by: 
 
i. requiring the provision of private parking space for cycles in 
development schemes; 
 
ii. maintaining an adequate overall number of spaces for cycles in public 
off-street car parks; and 
 
iii.providing an adequate supply of cycle parking facilities on-street. 

 
ENV6 Design of alterations to buildings 

 
To ensure that all alterations or extensions to an existing building take 
account of its scale, proportions, architectural character, materials and 
setting. 

 
ENV28 Design of building services 

 
To ensure that building services are satisfactorily integrated into the 
architectural design of the building (with particular reference to its roof 
profile) and to resist installations which would adversely affect the 
character, appearance or amenities of the buildings or area concerned. 

 
ENV29 High standard of shopfront design 

 
To ensure that the provision of shopfronts is of a high standard of design 
and appearance and to resist inappropriate designs and alterations. 

 
ENV35 To protect daylight and sunlight 

 
To resist development which would reduce noticeably the daylight and 
sunlight available to nearby dwellings and open spaces to levels which 
would be contrary to the Building Research Establishment's guidelines. 

 

Page 55



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 14/00878/FULMAJ 
 
160 Aldersgate Street London EC1A 4DD 
 
Refurbishment and extension of the existing office building including (i) 
the construction of an additional storey (incorporating plant) (ii) 
reconstruction of the facade on Aldersgate Street (iii) provision of retail 
floorspace (Class A1) at ground floor level (84sq.m.) (iv) provision of 
roof terraces at 7th and 8th floor levels (v) installation of an additional 
access point at the rear of the building, and (vi) associated internal and 
external alterations (total increase in floorspace 1,913sq.m.). 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
demolition taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based on the 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for 
Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison set 
out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be submitted in 
respect of individual stages of the demolition process but no works in 
any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme of 
protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The demolition shall not be carried out other 
than in accordance with the approved scheme    

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15. 

 
 3 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
construction work taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based 
on the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of 
Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements 
for liaison set out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be 
submitted in respect of individual stages of the construction process but 

Page 56



no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the related 
scheme of protective works has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved scheme.   

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15.  

 
 4 Demolition works shall not begin until a Deconstruction Logistics Plan 

to manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site identifying 
efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken during site 
deconstruction of the existing buildings has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with 
Transport for London). The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved Deconstruction 
Logistics Plan or any approved amendments thereto as may be agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport 
for London).  

 REASON: To ensure that deconstruction works do not have an adverse 
impact on the transport network in accordance with London Plan Policy 
6.14. 

 
 5 Construction works shall not begin until a Construction Logistics Plan to 

manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site identifying 
efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken during site 
construction of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport 
for London). The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved Construction Logistics Plan or any 
approved amendments thereto as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport for London). 

 REASON: To ensure that construction works do not have an adverse 
impact on the transport network in accordance with London Plan Policy 
6.14. 

 
 6 The development shall incorporate such measures as are necessary 

within the site to resist structural damage arising from an attack with a 
road vehicle or road vehicle borne explosive device, details of which 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any works hereby permitted are begun.  

 REASON: To ensure that the premises are protected from road vehicle 
borne damage within the site in accordance with the following policy of 
the Core Strategy: CS3. 

 
 7 Before any construction works hereby permitted are begun details of 

rainwater harvesting and grey water recycling systems shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

Page 57



 REASON: To improve sustainability and reduce flood risk by reducing 
potable water demands and water run-off rates in accordance with the 
following policies of the Core Strategy CS15 and CS18 

 
 8 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) particulars and samples of the materials to be used on all external 
faces of the building including external ground and upper level 
surfaces;  

 (b) details of masonry, to include face bonding, pointing, and any 
expansion joints;  

 (c) details of the ground floor office entrances;  
 (d) details of windows and external doors;  
 (e) details of soffits, hand rails and balustrades;  
 (f) details of shopfronts;  
 (g) details of all alterations to the retained west elevation;  
 (h) details of junctions with adjoining premises;  
 (i) details of the integration of window cleaning equipment and the 

garaging thereof, plant, flues, fire escapes and other excrescences at 
roof level;  

 (j) details of all ground level surfaces including materials to be used. 
 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 

with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: CS10, 
CS12, ENV6, ENV28, ENV29. 

 
 9 Details of the position and size of the green roof(s), the type of planting 

and the contribution of the green roof(s) to biodiversity and rainwater 
attenuation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority before any works thereby affected are begun. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved 
details and maintained as approved for the life of the development 
unless otherwise approved by the local planning authority.  

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and provide a habitat that will encourage biodiversity in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS10, 
CS15, CS18, CS19. 

 
10 Before any new plant is used on the premises it shall be mounted in a 

way which will minimise transmission of structure borne sound, in 
accordance with a scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 

Page 58



11 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements, materials and 
construction methods to be used to avoid noise and/or odour 
penetration to the upper floors from the use of the kitchen and the duct 
shall terminate above roof level. The details approved must be 
implemented before the use of the kitchen takes place.   

 REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: 
CS15, CS21. 

 
12 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements including materials and 
construction method and all ducts must terminate above roof level. The 
details approved must be implemented before use of the kitchen takes 
place and shall be so maintained thereafter for the life of the building.  

 REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: 
CS15, CS21. 

 
13 (a) The rating noise level from any plant, together with any associated 

ducting shall be 10 dB (A) or more below the lowest LA90, 15min at the 
nearest noise sensitive premises.  

 (b) Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design 
requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 (c) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and 
replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance 
with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
14 All unbuilt surfaces shall be treated in accordance with a landscaping 

scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any such works are commenced. All hard 
and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details not later than the end of the first planting season 
following completion of the development. Trees and shrubs which die 
or are removed, uprooted or destroyed or become in the opinion of the 
Local Planning Authority seriously damaged or defective within 5 years 
of completion of the development shall be replaced with trees and 
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally approved, or such 
alternatives as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

Page 59



 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the 
following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: 
ENV 8, ENV 9, CS10, CS15, and CS19. 

 
15 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life 
of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan 
and Core Strategy: UTIL 6, CS10, CS17. 

 
16 The threshold of all vehicular access points shall be at the same level 

as the rear of the adjoining footway.  
 REASON: To maintain a level passage for pedestrians in accordance 

with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core 
Strategy: TRANS 15, ENV 8, CS10, CS16. 

 
17 No doors or gates shall open over the public highway.  
 REASON: In the interests of public safety 
 
18 The roof terraces on level 7 hereby permitted shall not be used or 

accessed between the hours of 21:00 on one day and 08:00 on the 
following day and not at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays, other 
than in the case of emergency.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
19 The roof terrace on level 8 hereby permitted shall not be used or 

accessed between the hours of 21:00 on one day and 08:00 on the 
following day or between the hours of 22:00 on one day and 08:00 on 
the following day on a maximum of 5 occasions per annum between 
May and September (inclusive), other than in the case of emergency. 
The roof terrace on level 8 shall not be used or accessed on each of 
these 5 occasions without prior notification of neighbouring residents by 
the building occupier at least 14 days in advance of each of these 5 
occasions. The roof terrace shall not be used or accessed at any time 
on Sundays or Bank Holidays, other than in the case of emergency.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
20 No amplified or other music shall be played on the roof terraces.  
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 

area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
21 The A1 use hereby permitted shall not be open to customers between 

the hours of 21:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day.  

Page 60



 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
22 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 

23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS16, CS21. 

 
23 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and 

maintained on the site throughout the life of the building sufficient to 
accommodate a minimum of one pedal cycle per 125sq.m. of 
floorspace (minimum 302 spaces). The cycle parking provided on the 
site must remain ancillary to the use of the building and must be 
available at all times throughout the life of the building for the sole use 
of the occupiers thereof and their visitors without charge to the 
individual end users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and that the 
cycle parking remains ancillary to the use of the building and to assist 
in reducing demand for public cycle parking in accordance with the 
following policies of the London Plan and the City of London Core 
Strategy and Unitary Development Plan: 6.9, CS16, TRANS22. 

 
24 Changing facilities and showers shall be provided adjacent to the 

bicycle parking areas and maintained throughout the life of the building 
for the use of occupiers of the building in accordance with the approved 
plans.  

 REASON: To make travel by bicycle more convenient in order to 
encourage greater use of bicycles by commuters in accordance with 
the following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS22. 

 
25 A post construction BREEAM assessment demonstrating that a target 

rating of 'Excellent' has been achieved (or such other target rating as 
the local planning authority may agree provided that it is satisfied all 
reasonable endeavours have been used to achieve an 'Excellent' 
rating) shall be submitted as soon as practicable after practical 
completion.  

 REASON: To demonstrate that carbon emissions have been minimised 
and that the development is sustainable in accordance with the 
following policy of the Core Strategy CS15. 

 
26 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission: Location Plan, Drawing Nos. 

Page 61



A1254PA2000, A1254PA2001, A1254PA2002, A1254PA2003, 
A1254PA2004, A1254PA2005, A1254PA2006, A1254PA2007, 
A1254PA2008, A1254PA2009, A1254PA2010, A1254PA2011, 
A1254PA2015, A1254PA2016, A1254PA2012, A1254PA2101, 
A1254PA2102, A1254PA2103, A1254PA2104, A1254PA2200, 
A1254PA2201.  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 The Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of Ј50 per 

sq.m on "chargeable development" and applies to all development over 
100sq.m (GIA) or which creates a new dwelling.  

   
 The City of London Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of 

Ј75 per sq.m for offices, Ј150 per sq.m for Riverside Residential, Ј95 
per sq.m for Rest of City Residential and Ј75 on all other uses on 
"chargeable development".   

   
 The Mayoral and City CIL charges will be recorded in the Register of 

Local Land Charges as a legal charge upon "chargeable development" 
when development commences. The Mayoral CIL payment will be 
passed to Transport for London to support Crossrail. The City CIL will 
be used to meet the infrastructure needs of the City.   

   
 Relevant persons, persons liable to pay and owners of the land will be 

sent a "Liability Notice" that will provide full details of the charges and 
to whom they have been charged or apportioned. Please submit to the 
City's Planning Obligations Officer an "Assumption of Liability" Notice 
(available from the Planning Portal website: 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil).   

   
 Prior to commencement of a "chargeable development" the developer 

is required to submit a "Notice of Commencement" to the City's 
Section106 Planning Obligations Officer. This Notice is available on the 
Planning Portal website. Failure to provide such information on the due 
date may incur both surcharges and penalty interest. 

 
 2 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   

Page 62



 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 
Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 3 The Directorate of the Built Environment should be consulted on the 

need for a projection licence for works involving the construction of any 
retaining wall, foundation, footing, balcony, cornice, canopy, string 
course, plinth, window cill, rainwater pipe, oil fuel inlet pipe or box, 
carriageway entrance, or any other projection beneath, over or into any 
public way (including any cleaning equipment overhanging any public 
footway or carriageway). You are advised that highway projection 
licenses do not authorise the licensee to trespass on someone else's 
land. In the case of projections extending above, into or below land not 
owned by the developer permission will also be required from the land 
owner. The City Surveyor must be consulted if the City of London 
Corporation is the land owner. In such cases please also contact the 
Corporate Property Officer, City Surveyor's Department. 

 
 4 Improvement or other works to the public highway shown on the 

submitted drawings require separate approval from the local highway 
authority and the planning permission hereby granted does not 
authorise these works. 

 
 5 The Department of the Built Environment (Highways and Streetworks 

Team) must be consulted on the following matters which require 
specific approval:  

   
 (a) Hoardings, scaffolding and their respective licences, temporary road 

closures and any other activity on the public highway in connection with 
the proposed building works. In this regard the City of London 
Corporation operates the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  

   
 (b) The incorporation of street lighting and/or walkway lighting into the 

new development. Section 53 of the City of London (Various Powers) 
Act 1900 allows the City to affix to the exterior of any building fronting 
any street within the City brackets, wires, pipes and apparatus as may 
be necessary or convenient for the public lighting of streets within the 
City. 

 
 6 The Markets and Consumer Protection Department (Environmental 

Health Team) must be consulted on the following matters:  
   
 (a) Approval for the installation of furnaces to buildings and the height 

of any chimneys. If the requirements under the legislation require any 
structures in excess of those shown on drawings for which planning 

Page 63



permission has already been granted, further planning approval will 
also be required.   

   
 (b) Installation of engine generators using fuel oil.  
   
 (c) The control of noise and other potential nuisances arising from the 

demolition and construction works on this site and compliance with the 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007; the 
Environmental Services Department should be informed of the name 
and address of the project manager and/or main contractor as soon as 
they are appointed.   

   
 Air Quality  
   
 (d) Compliance with the Clean Air Act 1993  
 Any furnace burning liquid or gaseous matter at a rate of 366.4 

kilowatts or more, and any furnace burning pulverised fuel or any solid 
matter at a rate of more than 45.4 kilograms or more an hour, requires 
chimney height approval. Use of such a furnace without chimney height 
approval is an offence. The calculated chimney height can conflict with 
requirements of planning control and further mitigation measures may 
need to be taken to allow installation of the plant.  

   
 Boilers and CHP plant  
 (e) The City is an Air Quality Management Area with high levels of 

nitrogen dioxide. All gas boilers should therefore meet a dry NOx 
emission rate of <40mg/kWh in accordance with the City of London Air 
Quality Strategy 2011.  

   
 (f) All gas Combined Heat and Power plant should be low NOX 

technology as detailed in the City of London Guidance for controlling 
emissions from CHP plant and in accordance with the City of London 
Air Quality Strategy 2011.  

   
 (g) When considering how to achieve, or work towards the 

achievement of, the renewable energy targets, the Markets and 
Consumer Protection Department would prefer developers not to 
consider installing a biomass burner as the City is an Air Quality 
Management Area for fine particles and nitrogen dioxide. Research 
indicates that the widespread use of these appliances has the potential 
to increase particulate levels in London to an unacceptable level. Until 
the Markets and Consumer Protection Department is satisfied that 
these appliances can be installed without causing a detriment to the 
local air quality they are discouraging their use. Biomass CHP may be 
acceptable providing sufficient abatement is fitted to the plant to reduce 
emissions to air.  

   
 (h) Developers are encouraged to install non-combustion renewable 

technology to work towards energy security and carbon reduction 
targets in preference to combustion based technology.  

Page 64



   
 Standby Generators  
 (i) Advice on a range of measures to achieve the best environmental 

option on the control of pollution from standby generators can be 
obtained from the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection.
  

 (j) There is a potential for standby generators to give out dark smoke 
on start-up and to cause noise nuisance. Guidance is available from 
the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection on measures to 
avoid this. 

 
 
 

Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 236



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 1 December 2014 

Subject: 
Land Bounded By Charterhouse Street, Lindsey Street, Long Lane And Hayne 
Street London EC1  
Ground plus five storey over site development at Farringdon East Station, 
comprising office (B1) (11,211sq.m) with associated cycle parking, servicing, 
storage and plant and use of void space within the station infrastructure fronting 
onto Lindsey Street, Charterhouse Square and Hayne Street for retail use (Use 
Classes A1-A5), (286sq.m) office entrance and servicing.  

Ward: Farringdon Within Public                 For Decision 

Registered No: 13/00605/FULEIA Registered on: 21 June 2013 

Conservation Area:     NO                       Listed Building: No 

Summary 
The proposal is for a ground plus five storey building as over site development 
(OSD) on the site of the Crossrail ticket hall permitted under Schedule 7 of the 
Crossrail act 2008. The building would provide 11,211sq.m. of office floor space 
(B1) and 286sq.m of retail space (A1-A5). The scheme is the subject of an E.I.A as 
required by the Crossrail Act.  
A number of objections to it have been raised. The principal grounds of objection 
are that the building would harm the setting of the listed Smithfield Market and 
Charterhouse Square, would create light spillage to Charterhouse Square and 
adjoining residential properties and affect the daylight and sunlight to some nearby 
properties. 
It is considered that less than substantial harm is caused to these important  the 
designated heritage assets (the conservation area and setting of listed buildings) 
and that on balance a scheme has been developed that is well designed and would 
ensure that the site Crossrail infrastructure would not remain exposed for an 
indefinite period. The proposed building is a high quality contemporary design 
whose appearance and facing materials makes clear references to its surroundings 
and would provide an appropriate marker for the new ticket hall. The uses would be 
appropriate for this part of Smithfield and the designated area of intensification. 
A number of matters are subject to conditions and clauses in the proposed S106 
mitigation measures for light spillage and vehicle management. 
On balance it is considered that the scheme provides a development which does not 
cause substantial harm to designated and non- designated heritage assets and that 
it provides public benefits which outweigh the less than substantial harm. 
 
 

Page 237

Agenda Item 6b



Recommendation 
(1) That planning permission be granted for the above proposal in accordance with 
the details set out in the attached schedule subject to: 
(a) the Mayor of London being given 14 days to decide whether to allow the 
Corporation to grant planning permission as recommended, or to direct refusal, or to 
determine the application himself (Article 5(1)(a) of the Town & Country Planning 
(Mayor of London) Order 2008); 
(b) planning obligations and other agreements being entered into under Section 106 
of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 278 of the Highway Act 1980 
in respect of those matters set out in the report, the decision notice not to be issued 
until the Section 106 obligations have been executed. 

Page 238



 

Page 239



 
 

Page 240



Site 
1. The site is bounded by Charterhouse Street, Lindsey Street, Long Lane 

and Hayne Street. The previous buildings on the application site at 
Farringdon East have been demolished to allow construction of the 
Crossrail works. The Crossrail works comprise the ticket hall, Barbican 
Link providing a passenger interchange between Crossrail and 
Barbican platforms, ventilation and an emergency escape core. 

Relevant Planning History 
2. Under the provisions of Schedule 7 to the Crossrail Act 2008, ‘Plans & 

Specifications’. Approval was granted on 17 November 2011 by the 
City for the construction of a new ticket hall station service structure 
and Barbican Station link bridge at Farringdon East. The new trains 
that are to be provided by Crossrail will be approximately 200m long, 
which will necessitate dual station entrances and two ticket halls at 
Farringdon. An additional Crossrail station, Farringdon West, will 
therefore be located at Cowcross Street approximately 300 metres to 
the west of the site, within the London Borough of Islington. 

3. The Crossrail and OSD works at Farringdon West are in Islington and 
fall outside the scope of this application. 

4. The previous buildings on the application site at Farringdon East have 
been demolished to allow construction of the Crossrail works. The 
Crossrail Schedule 7 works comprise the ticket hall, Barbican Link 
providing a passenger interchange between Crossrail and Barbican 
platforms, ventilation and an emergency escape core. 

5. The ticket hall structure would be part one and part three storeys high, 
occupying the southern end of the site at ground floor level fronting 
onto Long Lane and the southern ends of Lindsey Street and Hayne 
Street. The spaces within the void area not occupied by the Crossrail 
operational development would be available for the OSD. The Crossrail 
works at the application site are expected to be completed by July 
2018. 

6. Crossrail has an undertaking to submit a planning application for any 
replacement or further development taking place over the works site 
(the OSD). This is to optimise the development opportunities above 
and around the Crossrail infrastructure, where former buildings have 
been demolished, and to ensure that gaps in the townscape are 
repaired. 

7. Without the OSD, only the ticket hall the ventilation and emergency 
escape core which would provide would occupy the site. The existing 
solution offers no frame to the eastern edge of the market or the south 
west corner of Charterhouse Street. 

8. In instances where developers already had an interest in the sites, 
Crossrail has entered into ‘collaboration agreements’ to bring the OSD 
forward. Where no developer is in place (the non-collaboration sites), 
the Secretary of State has undertaken to submit a planning application 
itself within two years of start of works on site. The OSD would then be 

Page 241



marketed to a future developer with receipts going back into the 
Crossrail project. As no developer is in place, the Farringdon East OSD 
is a ‘non-collaboration site’ and Crossrail has submitted the application. 

Proposal 
9. The development would comprise a ground plus five storeys OSD at 

Farringdon East Station (OSD), would be a maximum of 30 meters 
above ground and is described as follows: 

Office (Use Class B1) with associated cycle parking, servicing, 
storage and plant and use of void spaces within the station 
infrastructure fronting onto Lindsey Street, Charterhouse Square and 
Hayne Street for retail use (Use Classes A1 – A5), office entrances 
and servicing. 

10. The proposals would provide 11,211 square metres of offices (B1) and 
286 square metres of retail space (A1-A5).45 cycle parking spaces 
would be provided at mezzanine level for the office occupier and 5 
cycle parking spaces would be provided within the retail units.  

11. There would be no basement accommodation as this would be entirely 
taken up by Crossrail. 

12. The ground floor would include an office entrance and lobby fronting 
Lindsey Street, a retail unit on the corner of Lindsey Street and 
Charterhouse Street and a small retail unit on the corner of 
Charterhouse Street and Hayne Street. These units would be 
separated by the Station emergency escape and ducts. The servicing 
for the offices would be provided by a vehicle service bay shared with 
the Crossrail Station previously approved under Schedule 7 of the 
Crossrail Act. As a result of the constraints imposed by the Crossrail 
Station the retail units would have to be serviced from the street.  

13. The building would be feature terracotta vertical framing coloured to 
one side which would signpost the station and provide a different 
appearance to each elevation dependant on the direction from which it 
is viewed. 

14. The application was submitted on the 21 June 2013 but has been held 
in abeyance pending discussions. 

Consultations 
City of London Consultations 
15. The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection raised concern that 

the entrance to the service area would be located opposite 3 Hayne 
Street that is in residential use. The position of the service area was 
permitted under the Crossrail Act and would be shared with the ticket 
hall. Conditions in respect of equipment noise, the ventilation of the 
catering units etc. have been requested and would be attached to the 
permission. 

16. The views of other City of London departments have been taken into 
account in the preparation of this redevelopment scheme and some 

Page 242



detailed matters remain to be dealt with under conditions and the 
Section 106 agreement.  

External Consultations 
17. A number of comments regarding the proposals have been received 

from external organisations or individuals. Responses to these 
representations are given within the Considerations section of this 
report. These are summarised below.  

18. Natural England considered that the development would have no 
significant impact on any statutory designated sites landscapes or 
species and would encourage the introduction of green infrastructure. A 
substantial area of the roof around the perimeter of the plant enclosure 
would be greened. They conclude that the development should 
complement and enhance local distinctiveness. 

19. English Heritage considers that the historic built environment in the 
area is of very high significance. They support the principle of 
developing above the Crossrail Station and agree that containing the 
necessary station vent shafts etc. within a well-designed new building 
is appropriate. However they note that the height of the new building 
would have an overbearing impact upon the setting of the grade II* 
listed Smithfield Market and reduce its dominance in this part of 
Smithfield in certain views. In this regard, they urge the City, when 
coming to a decision, to weigh harm against the public benefits of the 
development in accordance with paragraph 134 of the NPPF. 

20. The GLA in their Stage 1 Consultation Response considers that the 
principle of a mixed use office and retail over site development would 
be appropriate for this location in the Central Activities Zone and is 
strongly supported. They note that the proposed building would entirely 
fill the urban block, providing a small element of retail frontage at 
ground and office accommodation in the five storeys above, 
maximising the use of the site that would underused by the approved 
Crossrail infrastructure. 

21. They consider that the height of the proposed building corresponds to 
the adjacent buildings on Charterhouse Square and Hayne Street. 
While the proposed building would be larger in scale relative to some of 
its neighbours, it is considered that the single mass would sit 
comfortably in its surrounding context and provides a subtle silhouette. 
However they consider that a building of much larger in scale would be 
likely to be unacceptable. They consider that the views submitted by 
the applicant of the impact of the building on a number of local views, 
demonstrate that the proposed building would not significantly harm the 
setting of either of the Charterhouse Square Conservation Area or the 
Smithfield Conservation Area or the listed buildings in the vicinity.  

22. They consider that the design of the development responds 
appropriately to the surrounding heritage assets whilst creating an 
urban marker for the new Farringdon Crossrail Station. The resulting 
contemporary building is of a high architectural quality and responds 
well to the challenging context of the site. They suggest that further 

Page 243



consideration be given to the treatment of Hayne Street to address any 
possible antisocial behaviour and security issues that may arise. 

23. Their comments include those of Transport for London. 
24. The City Heritage Society considers the proposals to be imposing, 

would dominate the area with the massing and bulk of the proposed 
building compromising the setting of the market and does not appear to 
respond to its context in the Smithfield Area. Their main concern is the 
setting of the Smithfield Market building and the apparent lack of any 
relationship to this historic element of this area in the City. 

25. The London Borough of Islington state that as the site is adjacent to 
Charterhouse Square Conservation Area and other heritage assets 
they raise the following objections: The copper clad domes of the 
Smithfield Market should be ‘read’ against the open sky for them to be 
appreciated. They consider that this would only be possible if the 
proposed building were to be reduced by 2 storeys. They state that this 
would in addition ensure that the building would be less dominant in 
relation to the market buildings and would reduce its impact on 
Charterhouse Square. They support the proposed uses but raise 
concerns about the hours of operation of the retail units. 

26. They question Crossrail’s data and conclusions of the lorry movement 
forecasts both in the construction and operational stages. 

27. The Smithfield Tenants’ Association commented that they did not 
receive a letter during the first round of consultations. My records 
indicated that they were consulted but they appear not to have received 
the letter. They have since replied to the second round of consultations 
and their comments relate to the effects of construction on the 
operation of the market. Any permission would be subject to pre-
commencement conditions requiring the submission and approval of a 
construction method statement and logistics plan. The Tenants’ 
Association would be consulted on receipt of these documents.  

28. The Charterhouse set out their plans to embark on a scheme to open a 
museum and open the Square to the public in 2016. They are 
concerned that the proposed scale of the over-site development would 
threaten the plans by the Charterhouse to enhance the square. In 
particular they are concerned that the proposed massing is out of scale 
with its surroundings and suggest that it would benefit from 
‘fragmentation’ by lowering the North east Corner and deepening the 
facade and that the materials proposed for the facades would be out of 
keeping with those of the adjacent buildings.  

29. Their greatest concern is that light spillage from the windows would 
harm the meditative nature of Charterhouse Square and engulf the low 
level gas lighting that preserves its unique character. They are seeking 
assurances that should the development be granted permission the 
building management plan would incorporate mitigation measures to 
deal with light emission. 

30. They are concerned that vehicular activity associated with the 
development would put pedestrians using the narrow footpaths and 

Page 244



streets when visiting the Charterhouse complex at risk from vehicular 
activity associated with the development. 

31. They add that the potential use of the retail uses as licenced premises 
would add to the nuisance caused to residents and the mess left in 
Charterhouse Square which is left for the charity to clear up. 

32. Sutton’s Hospital is a charity that provides care and end of life support 
to over 40 gentlemen within the Charterhouse complex. They have 
raised the same issues and concerns as the Charterhouse.  

33. The Smithfield Trust strongly object to the proposals and feel that the 
design does not adequately address the future importance of the 
eastern ticket hall and the increase in pedestrian activity. They feel it is 
“ill-conceived” in terms of design layout and particularly the 
architectural design of the facade considering the many listed buildings 
in the vicinity. They consider it to be a “non-descript” modern office 
block that does not in any way relate to the historic character of the 
locality. They “categorically implore” the City to refuse the scheme and 
encourage the applicants to come back with a new design that would fit 
the historic character of the area and can be “recognised throughout 
the world”. 

34. Save Britain’s Heritage object to the bulk and scale of the proposal 
which is considered to cause substantial harm to the neighbouring 
conservation areas and to the setting of the Charterhouse. SAVE 
accepts that the site needs to be brought back into use but considers 
that there is no need for a building of the scale proposed. The 
introduction of retail uses to Charterhouse Square is also considered to 
be detrimental to the largely residential character of Charterhouse 
Square.      

35. A number of local residents have made comments listed below which 
reflect those set out above: 

a) Loss of light to their premises; 
b)  Loss of privacy; 
c) Enclosure of Hayne Street giving a canyon effect; 
d) Adverse effect on Charterhouse Square Garden; 
e) Height of building is out of context to those in the vicinity; 
f) Harm to the Smithfield Market building; 
g) Light spillage from the building would have an adverse effect on the 
Charterhouse Garden and cause a nuisance to residents; 
h) Poor design and inappropriate use of materials; 
i) The benefit of the increase in the provision of new office floor space 
is not sufficient to outweigh the other detrimental factors; 
j) Loss of views of the Market Buildings from Charterhouse Square; 
k) Loss of sunlight to the Square; 

Page 245



l) The North East corner should be reduced in height to maintain 
views of the market building; 
m) The retail use would create a nuisance and increase footfall 
through the Square; 
n) It is an inappropriate area for licenced premises; 
o) The building should be lower and designed for use by small 
businesses that characterise the area; 
p) Florin court Freehold Ltd and Florin Court Management Ltd have 
objected for similar reasons as those above and are set out in the 
attached copy of their letter. In addition they raise concern about the 
likely increase in HGV lorry movements in the area and the increase 
in noise, pollution that would be added to that caused by the market 
traffic. They feel that they would also present a safety issue for the 
elderly residents of the Charterhouse. 

Policy Context 
36. The development plan consists of the London Plan, the saved policies 

of the Unitary Development Plan and the Core Strategy. The London 
Plan, UDP and Core Strategy policies that are most relevant to the 
consideration of this case are set out in Appendix A to this report. 

37. The City of London Local Plan was published in December 2013 and 
was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for examination 
by a Planning Inspector. The Inspector’s report on the Local Plan was 
issued on 12th November 2014. The Inspector found that the Local 
Plan was sound and he did not make any recommendations for 
material modifications. The Inspector’s report is before you today. 

38. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (para 216) states that 
“decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to…the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced the preparation, the greater the weight that may be given)”. It 
is intended that the Local Plan will be adopted by the Common Council 
on 15th January 2015. Upon adoption the Local Plan will supersede the 
Core Strategy and UDP. 

39. The Draft Local Plan incorporates the Core Strategy which has been 
carried forward with limited alterations. These alterations include, 
“Protecting existing office accommodation where there are strong 
economic reasons why the loss of offices would be inappropriate 
(policy CS1 – Offices) and greater restriction on where additional 
housing should be located (policy CS21 Housing). It includes new 
policies for Development Management.  

40. There is relevant City of London and GLA supplementary planning 
guidance in respect of Planning Obligations, Sustainable Design and 
Construction, London Views Management Framework, Riverside 
Appraisal of the Thames Policy Area and the City Open Spaces 
Strategy 2008. 

Page 246



41. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 

Environmental Impact Assessment  
42. This application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES). 

This proposal would not normally require to be accompanied by an ES 
but is required to do so by the Crossrail Act. 

43. The Crossrail Statement (ERM 2005) assessed the construction and 
the structures required for the operation of the railway. However, 
Section 14 of the Crossrail Act 2008 provides that, where a building is 
demolished or substantially demolished for the purpose of the Crossrail 
works, any later planning application for the replacement development 
(for example an Over Site Development (OSD) over a Crossrail station) 
must be accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). 
This is irrespective of whether the development is defined as ‘EIA 
development under the EIA Regulations, on the basis that the 
replacement development forms part of the overall Crossrail project 
and in this sense, the Crossrail Act seeks to ensure that all the direct 
and indirect environmental effects of the development authorised by 
the Act are properly assessed at the appropriate stage. 

44. The ES is a means of drawing together, in a systematic way, an 
assessment of a project’s likely significant environmental effects. This 
is to ensure that the importance of the predicted effects and the scope 
for reducing them are properly understood by the public and the 
competent authority before it makes its decision. 

Considerations 
45. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform:- 

· to have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application and to any other material considerations. 
(Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 

· to determine the application in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. 
(Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004). 

· In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990); in this case the duty is to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings;  to have 
regard to the purpose of conserving biodiversity as required by 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006. 

46. In considering the planning application before you, account has to be 
taken of the environmental information including the Environmental 

Page 247



Statement, the statutory and policy framework, the documentation 
accompanying the application, and the views of both statutory and non-
statutory consultees. 

47. The Environmental Statement is available in the Members' Room, 
along with the application, drawings and the representations received 
in respect of the application. 

48. There are policies in the Development Plan which support the proposal 
and others which do not. It is necessary to assess all the policies and 
proposals in the plan and to come to a view as to whether in the light of 
the whole plan the proposal does or does not accord with it. 

49. The principal issues in considering this application are: 

· The extent to which the proposals comply with Government policy 
advice (NPPF). 

· The extent to which the proposals comply with the relevant policies 
of the London Plan, Core Strategy and the saved policies of the 
Unitary Development Plan. 

· The impact of the proposal on heritage assets. 

· The impact on the nearby buildings and spaces, including 
daylight/sunlight and amenity. 

· The effect of the Crossrail structures on the design and 
configuration of the building. 

Economic Development Issues 
Offices 
50. London’s status as a world city is founded to a substantial degree on its 

concentration of international service activities and, most noticeably, by 
the clustering of financial and business services in the City of London. 

51. The importance that is attached to the maintenance and enhancement 
of the City's role as one of the world's leading financial and business 
centres is reflected in the policies of the London Plan and Core 
Strategy, particularly policies 2.10 and CS1. 

52. The site is located within the North of the City, Key City Place area as 
identified in the Core Strategy and subject to Policy CS5. This 
recognises the impacts and benefits Crossrail have upon this part of 
the City and its potential to ‘lead the way as an ‘eco-design’ district 
within the City’, capitalising on its mixed use character and improved 
public transport. 

53. The London Plan identifies Farringdon/Smithfield as an Area of 
Intensification where opportunities should be taken to accommodate 
growth in employment and new homes, although the City considers 
that the majority of this growth should be accommodated in Camden 
and Islington, ‘with some growth within the wider northern and western 
areas of the City’. 

Page 248



54. The building would provide high quality office accommodation to meet 
the demands of the City’s commercial occupiers. The site would 
provide 11,211 sq. m of high quality office accommodation at part first 
and second floors and in complete floors at third, fourth and fifth floors. 
There is a relatively small entrance lobby at ground floor accessed from 
Lindsey Street. 

55. The applicants’ case for the amount and configuration of floor space is 
summarised below: 

· The Crossrail Scheme at Farringdon East proposes a new office 
building of 8,034sq.m net internal area. Commercially, the 
Farringdon area of the City is becoming more and more attractive 
to major occupiers with the Crossrail infrastructure and the 
technology media and telecommunications sector being the major 
drivers for this;   

· The OSD scheme would provide much needed new build space in 
this specific area; however, the configuration of the building is 
compromised at the lower levels by the Crossrail Station beneath. 

56. Major office occupiers seeking accommodation in Central London, and 
particularly the City, require efficiently configured and large floor plate 
offices, generally in the range of 929sq.m. to 1911sq.m. The average 
floor plate size for pre-lettings in the City over the past 10 years has 
been 11579sq.m. (and 1207sq.m for Central London). 

57. The lower floors of the proposed development are therefore at the 
lower end of the range required by modern office occupiers. 

58. The overall quantum of space should be sufficient to attract a pre-let. 
Any reduction in space would remove this as a likely option and 
therefore would increase risk and reduce the attractiveness of the 
opportunity to the development market. 

59. The compromised configuration is likely to reduce the rents achievable 
for the lower levels of the property; only the upper levels would be able 
to achieve the full market rent. The larger, more regular floor plates are 
required to ensure the overall let-ability and viability of the 
development.  

60. The presence of the station at ground and basement levels restricts the 
space available to accommodate lower value ‘back-office’, supporting 
functions and plant, which could potentially be displaced to upper 
levels, reducing the net office accommodation at upper levels which 
could result in discounted rents in these locations. 

61. The design of the OSD needs to minimise any adverse impact of the 
station operational activity on the office accommodation in order to 
maintain value. Potentially, a reduction in the height of the building 
could adversely impact occupier perceptions of the accommodation.  

62. This scheme is required to assist in the funding of the Crossrail 
scheme. 

63. A copy of the Commercial Supporting Statement is attached. 

Page 249



Retail 
64. 286sq.m of retail use (classes A1 to A5) would be provided in two units 

in the void spaces that would be left by the Crossrail accommodation 
on the north-east and north-west corners. This would be appropriate to 
this mixed use area in close proximity to the new ticket hall. 

65. Concerns were raised about the potential use of the retail units as 
licenced premises causing nuisance to residents and mess in 
Charterhouse Square. Nuisance issues would be addressed through 
conditions relating to hours of operation. 

66. SAVE have raised the issue of introducing retail uses onto the site. 
Two retail uses are proposed on the north east and west corners of the 
building. The larger unit would front onto Lindsey Street with only a 
short return onto Charterhouse Street, short of Charterhouse Square 
itself. The second retail unit is effectively a kiosk unit located on the 
corner of Charterhouse Street and Hayne Street. Although this unit 
would front onto the western end of the Square, it is considered unlikely 
that this unit would generate significant visual or noise nuisance or 
change to the character of the Square.  

Railway Infrastructure 
67. The ground area of Farringdon East site and the below ground levels 

will be largely occupied by railway infrastructure associated with the 
Crossrail Station. This imposes significant constraints on the site as 
only a part of the ground level area and no below ground level areas 
would be available for any over-site development building. 

68. In addition to the ticket hall, the station areas will accommodate 
escalators and an inclined lift leading down to a lower level 
intermediate concourse. A pair of escape stairs will provide emergency 
evacuation routes from the station which will exit on Charterhouse 
Street on the north side of the site. The ventilation requirements of the 
station include substantial draught relief ducts and very large forced 
ventilation extract fans. This equipment will be housed within a three 
storey high enclosure located on the eastern part of the site on Hayne 
Street. The proposed building on the site will have to accommodate the 
ticket hall, the extract fan structure and the other above ground railway 
related infrastructure within its overall envelope. 

Proposed Appearance 
69. Various height and massing options were considered for the site. 

These options took account of the need to accommodate a viable 
quantity of floorspace, the need to incorporate the railway associated 
infrastructure, to relate appropriately with the neighbouring and nearby 
listed buildings, and with the local townscape of the adjoining 
conservation areas. 

70. Various building forms with set-backs on the north and south sides and 
overall heights of up to eight storeys were investigated in early design 
studies. The final form of the building is a simple rectangular block six 
storeys in height. This height is noticeably tall in comparison to the 

Page 250



general pattern of development within the surrounding area but is only 
marginally higher than the neighbouring 23-28 Charterhouse Square, 
located immediately to the north. It is considered that due to its large 
size within the locality, the status of the building within the urban 
hierarchy would identify it as a marker for the Crossrail station.  

71. Entrances for the ticket hall not part of this application will be 
accommodated within the south east and south west corners of the site 
on Long Lane and the building has been designed to sympathetically 
accommodate it. The office entrance lobby would be located at ground 
floor level and entered from Lindsey Street. Due to the site constraints 
there is room for only the office entrance lobby at ground floor level, the 
remainder of the office floorspace would be located on the upper floors. 
The retail frontage would extend part way along Lindsey Street and 
Hayne Street. 

72. The draught relief ducts and forced ventilation extract fans, large 
ventilation outlets associated with the station and railway, and the 
building’s service entrance would be located on the Hayne Street 
frontage and integrated within the overall facade design. The building 
would be high in relation to the narrow width of Hayne Street at its 
southern end but the street opens up northwards as it bridges the wide 
railway cutting within which Barbican Station is located.  

73. The rationale for the overall appearance of the building to create a 
distinct order to the facades into a strong base, a clear body and a 
visually lighter top. This carefully scaled interpretation of the 
proportions of many of the surrounding Victorian buildings, along with 
the choice of facing materials seeks to integrate this large 
contemporary building into its surrounding context rather than to create 
a deliberately contrasting statement building. 

74. The strong base would allow the three key functions of the ground 
floor, the station entrance, the office lobby and the retail units to 
assume appropriate significance. The base would be slightly recessed 
back from the upper floors and would be distinguished by a greater 
degree of glazing which would help activate the facades at pavement 
level. The middle levels of the facade would accommodate the majority 
of the office floors. The uppermost storey will appear lighter than the 
lower levels and would help to reduce the monolithic height of the 
structure. 

75. The visual rhythm of the facade has also been designed to recall the 
vertical proportions of the surrounding buildings and fine grain of the 
surrounding streetscape. The window openings would narrow at each 
storey and as the elements become closer on each succeeding storey, 
they become finer. The cladding of the elevations on all but the upper 
floor would comprise a terracotta framework with windows inset within 
deep reveals. The vertical terracotta elements would feature coloured 
faience to the window reveals, on one side only, which would provide a 
different reading dependent on the direction that the building would be 
viewed from. The colours have been chosen to pick up references from 
the different context of each of the facades. The fifth, attic, floor would 

Page 251



be fully glazed with closely spaced external fritted glass structural fins 
maintaining the facade rhythm at the top of the building. The set-back 
plant room would be faced in standing seam copper cladding to relate 
to the market building opposite. Window frames, louvres and other 
metal elements would be given a bronze anodised finish. 

Design and Heritage Considerations 
76. The proposals need to take account of the policies of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (March 2012). Paragraph 129 of 
the NPPF states that local planning authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by a proposal (including the setting of any asset). The 
assessment of significance should be taken into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal. 

77. The development will not have a direct impact on any heritage asset. 
However, there are a large number of heritage assets in the 
surrounding area, the setting of which could be impacted by the 
proposals. 

Listing of Designated Heritage Assets Potentially Impacted by the Proposals  
78. Twenty three listed buildings have been identified as potentially 

impacted by the proposed development. These are: 

Name and Grade of Listing Street Name 

Master’s House, The Charterhouse 
Grade I 

Charterhouse Square 

The Charterhouse 
Grade I 

Charterhouse Square 

East building of Central Market 
Grade II* 

West Smithfield 

Railings/gates - New Church Hawe 
Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

Four lamp posts 
Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

Warden’s House, Gatehouse, St Bart’s College 
Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

Number 12A Charterhouse Square & walls and 
railings 
Grade II 

 

Six bollards on N and NW sides of the Square 
Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

Numbers 4 & 5 Charterhouse Square and 
attached railings 

Grade II 

 

89 Charterhouse Street 
Grade II 

 

74 & 75 Long Lane 
Grade II 

 

Smithfield Poultry Market 
Grade II 

Charterhouse St/Long Lane 

Page 252



Number 14 Charterhouse Square and attached 
railings 
Grade II 

 

Numbers 12-13 Charterhouse Square and 
attached railings 

Grade II 

 

Gates at NW corner leading into Charterhouse 
St 

Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

K2 telephone box on south side of Square 
Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

Fox and Anchor, 115 Charterhouse Street 
Grade II 

 

119 Charterhouse Street 
Grade II 

 

Florin Court, Charterhouse Square 
Grade II 

 

Barbican Estate 
Grade II 

 

Settled street surface 
Grade II 

Charterhouse Square 

67-77 Charterhouse Street 
Grade II 

 

79-83 Charterhouse Street 
Grade II 

 

 
79. There are three conservation areas in the vicinity of the site: the City of 

London’s Smithfield Conservation Area; the City of London’s 
Charterhouse Square Conservation Area, and the L.B. Islington’s 
Charterhouse Square Conservation Area.  

80. Charterhouse Square is a protected London Square. 
Assessment of the Impact of the Proposal on the Significance of the 
Designated Heritage Assets 
81. The significance of each of the above assets has been assessed in 

conformity with English Heritage’s methodologies set out in their 
documents; “The Setting of Heritage Assets (2011)” and “Conservation 
Principles Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable Management of 
the Historic Environment (2008)”. 

82. The results of the assessment of the proposals on the above heritage 
assets are summarised below. 

Charterhouse Square 
83. The proposed building will not be seen in conjunction with the listed 

buildings on the on the north and east sides of the Square. It will, 
however, be seen from within their setting, especially in the winter 
months and will contribute to the sense of enclosure experienced within 
the Square and will add to the variety of buildings which form its 
frontage. The masonry grid frame would re-establish the street edge 

Page 253



and enclosure at the Square’s south western corner, and the building 
would provide the locality with a new high quality building that relates 
positively to elements of its settings. 

Charterhouse Street – Eastern End 
84. The secluded character of Charterhouse Square and the active, 

commercial character of the market both contribute to the setting of the 
listed buildings in this locality and this small section of Charterhouse 
Street. The proposed building would be of a scale and materials and 
subtle colouration that will positively reinforce the character of the 
market space glimpsed from within this backstreet enclave of narrow 
fronted buildings. The coloured faience on the window reveals of the 
proposed buildings will reflect the historic use of tilework locally on 
commercial buildings such as the Fox and Anchor Public House. 

Charterhouse Street (west end) and Smithfield Market 
85. The proposed building will have a significant impact on the setting of 

the 1866 Smithfield Meat Market building, and on the character and 
appearance of the of the market complex overall. The proposed 
building would be substantially bigger in terms of site area than its 
immediate neighbour to the north 23-28 Charterhouse Square and 
significantly taller than the neighbouring Meat Market buildings to the 
west. The octagonal corner towers of the Market building with their 
copper domes would from many viewpoints be seen against a new 
backdrop of development. In some near and longer distance views, the 
towers would no longer be seen against clear sky or alternatively 
against a lesser amount of clear sky. 

86. The setting of the building’s corner towers and domes are of 
importance in terms of the character and the historic interest of the 
Market buildings, and are a key element of the character of the 
conservation areas. The corner towers identify the Market in longer 
views and emphasise the scale of the Market building in comparison to 
the surrounding buildings. The Market building’s towers form important 
skyline landmarks that are key elements of the character of all three 
conservation areas. The presence of the new building would visually 
diminish the prominence of the eastern towers and their domes. The 
new building would be a more prominent landmark forming the visual 
termination to the run of market buildings in many views from the west 
when compared to the buildings that formerly existed on the site. 

87. The repeating masonry grid design of the new building would 
complement the rhythm of the stone dressings on the east market 
buildings. The coloured faience will relate to colours found on the tiles 
used in the market and on other buildings in the locality, the varied 
colours of copper granite, brick and paintwork evident on buildings 
nearby. 

Long Lane 
88. The south elevation of the proposed building fronts Long Lane to the 

south west of numbers 74 and 75. Its presence would have no impact 
on the significance of these buildings. The yellows and oranges 

Page 254



selected for the window reveals on the Hayne Street elevation will 
relate to the brickwork which generally predominates in the locality and 
would introduce a brighter, contrasting, visual counter to the 
neighbouring dark brick office buildings on the north of Long Lane. 

Barbican Estate and Landscape  
89. The proposals would have a negligible impact on the setting of the 

Barbican and no impact on its significance. 
Smithfield Conservation Area 
90. Although the site is located outside of the boundary of the conservation 

area, the potential impact of the development would be significant in 
providing a new termination to the run of market buildings at the 
eastern end of the Market complex and a new landmark.  

Charterhouse Square Conservation Area – City of London & L.B. Islington, 
and  Charterhouse Square as a Protected London Square 
91. The proposed building would be located opposite the south west corner 

of the Square and will not be seen in conjunction with the listed 
buildings on the north and east sides, though it will be seen from within 
their settings. The building would re-establish the street edge and 
enclosure at the south west corner of the Square. The proposed 
building would be seen through tree foliage from within the Square and 
will be significantly more visible in winter. Some existing views of the 
Market building’s north eastern corner tower and dome would be lost or 
diminished in a limited area looking southwest along Charterhouse 
Square. As with the Smithfield conservation area, the proposed 
building would form a new local landmark and although located outside 
of the Charterhouse Square conservation area boundaries (City of 
London and L.B.Islington) would have an impact on views from within 
the conservation area boundary though the impact is considered to be 
less than harmful.  

Assessment Conclusions 
92. The proposals require careful consideration due to the sensitivity of the 

site’s location and the significance of the important heritage assets in 
the vicinity. 

93. The Smithfield Conservation Area is significant for its concentration of 
historic buildings and infrastructure relating to three long-established 
institutions:  the former Priory of St Bartholomew the Great; St 
Bartholomew’s Hospital and the Meat Markets. The Charterhouse has 
authoritatively been described as one of the most important 
monuments of London and the Charterhouse Square conservation 
areas (City of London and L.B. Islington) have its preservation and 
enhancement at heart. The impact of the proposals on the settings of 
the nearby listed buildings and any harm to their significance must be 
fully considered.  

94. When assessing the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, paragraph 132 of the 
NPPF states that “…great weight should be given to the asset’s 

Page 255



conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or 
destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting…any 
harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification.” 

95. Where a proposal would result in harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, it should be identified whether the harm is 
substantial or less than substantial. If the harm is substantial the 
proposed development should be considered in respect of paragraph 
133 of the NPPF and if the harm is less than substantial the 
development should be considered in respect of paragraph 134 of the 
NPPF. 

96. The Market building has considerable historical, aesthetical and 
communal significance. The Market building, served by railway lines 
below, was designed to be the primary wholesale meat market for 
London and was designed by the reputable Victorian architect and 
engineer Horace Jones, giving the building great historical value. The 
building is also of key aesthetic value for its highly decorative red brick 
and stone architecture and the way this succeeds in integrating its very 
large footprint into the surrounding townscape. It also possesses 
communal value for its role within the local meat trading community.  

97. The proposal would result in some harm to the setting of the Eastern 
Meat Market buildings and so to its aesthetic significance. The 
contribution made by the octagonal corner towers and copper clad 
domes to the local townscape and their presence within some local 
views would be diminished by the scale of the proposed building. 

98. The setting of the Charterhouse would be changed in nature to but not 
significantly harmed in that the views out from Charterhouse Square 
would be affected by the presence of a new building of a greater scale 
than most of the surrounding development. These views outwards 
would usually be seen in close relationship with 23-28 Charterhouse 
Street which is only marginally lower in height than the proposed 
building and which already closes the western side of Charterhouse 
Square. 

99. Overall, it is considered that the harm caused by the proposal is less 
than substantial and therefore the approach set out in paragraph 134 of 
the NPPF should be applied to this case. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF 
states that “any less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated asset should be outweighed by the public benefits of the 
proposal. Great weight should be afforded to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building and the setting of listed buildings or any 
special features of special architectural or historic interest which they 
possess”. 

Public Benefits of the Proposal 
100. There are three principal potential public benefits that the scheme 

offers to off-set the less than substantial harm that the proposals would 
cause to the setting of the Market buildings or the loss of some views 
from Charterhouse Square. These are: i) the detrimental impact on the 

Page 256



immediate townscape including the settings of the heritage assets 
listed above were no building to be constructed over the station site, ii) 
the provision of a new high quality building; and iii)  provision of high 
quality office space and retail in the Smithfield Area of Intensification. 

Townscape Benefit of a Building Concealing the Railway Infrastructure 
101. The applicant is of the view that due to the difficult nature of the site, 

the proposed quantum of floorspace on the site is required for the 
development to attract a letting of the building prior to construction. A 
reduction in floorspace would remove this as a likely option and 
therefore would increase risk and reduce the attractiveness of the 
opportunity to the development market. Were a building not to be 
constructed on the site, the unsightly partially exposed infrastructure 
and the perimeter hoardings around the parts of the site not occupied 
by the ticket hall would be in place for an undetermined period resulting 
in visual detrimental to the setting to the heritage assets outlined 
above.  

Provision of a New High Quality Building 
102. The building is a high quality contemporary design whose appearance 

and facing materials make clear references to its surroundings. It is 
acknowledged that the building is of a scale that is large for its context. 
However, it is considered by the applicant to be the minimum quantum 
of floorspace to provide surety that the development would take place 
and that the provision of the proposed building is preferable to the long 
term vacancy of the site. 

Provision of High Quality Floorspace in the Smithfield Area of Intensification.  
103. The economic benefits of the proposal are fully outlined in the 

Economic Development Issues section above. 
London View Management Framework 
104. The Mayor’s London View Management Framework (LVMF) is 

Supplementary Planning Guidance to the London Plan. The LVMF sets 
out the strategic context for the protection of identified landmarks. The 
development falls within the policy area for the geometrically protected 
view of St Paul’s Cathedral from Alexandra Palace but does not rise 
sufficiently high to have any impact on this long distance protected 
vista. 

Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing 
105. Policy CS21 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect residential amenity, 

and Policy HOUS10 of the UDP seeks to ensure that where practicable 
the privacy, outlook and daylighting levels of residential 
accommodation are respected by the form of adjacent development. 
Policy ENV35 of the UDP seeks to resist development which would 
noticeably reduce the daylight and sunlight available to nearby 
dwellings and open spaces to levels which would be contrary to the 
Building Research Establishment’s (BRE) guidelines. 

Page 257



106. A daylight and sunlight review has been carried out by Gordon Ingram 
Associates. The analysis has been undertaken for the proposed 
development and the neighbouring residential receptors by reference to 
the BRE Guidelines 2011. 

107. The following surrounding residential properties have been identified as 
receptors which may experience effects: 

· 3 Hayne Street; 

· Upper two floors of 13-17 Long Lane; 

· Upper floors of 71-72 Long Lane (known as the Old Red Cow Pub); 

· Upper floors of 74 Long Lane (known as 11 East Passage); 

· Upper floors of 75 Long Lane (known as 10 East Passage); and 

· Upper floors of 73 long Lane (known as 9 East Passage). 
3 Hayne Street 
108. The daylight and sunlight analysis as submitted originally identified 20 

windows. Since the application was submitted in 2013 submission, 
further internal layout information has been secured for this property. 
The information demonstrates that all five windows directly facing 
towards the site serve non habitable rooms and therefore are not 
considered to be material for a daylight and sunlight analysis and have 
thus been discounted. The revised study indicates that 13 out of the 15 
windows affected would comply with the BRE Guidelines in regards to 
daylight received. Two windows would be experience a significant loss. 
However these windows serve a kitchen with a large sky light and 
therefore the room would exceed the target average daylight factor 
which measures light available to the room.  

109. In regards to sunlight none of the windows within 3 Hayne Street meet 
the BRE Guidelines for winter and total sunlight one window would 
meet the BRE Guidelines. Two windows serving the kitchen space 
would experience 100% loss in in annual sunlight and no change in 
winter sunlight. However, these windows have low existing levels of 
sunlight (below the recommended BRE levels) and serve a kitchen, 
which compared to living rooms is considered to be less sensitive in 
regards to sunlight. 

110. The remaining window would experience a reduction in sunlight of 
36.8%, however, would retain an annual average probable sunlight 
hours of 24% which is marginally below the BRE target of 25%. This 
window has existing marginalised levels of sunlight would trigger a 
disproportionate percentage alteration resulting in a breach of the 
guidelines.  

13-17 Long Lane 
111. The results of the technical assessments for 13-17Long Lane indicate 

full BRE compliance in regards to daylight. In regards to sunlight 11 of 
the 12 windows assessed would meet the BRE criteria although one 
window will experience a 50% reduction in winter sunlight, although the 

Page 258



existing levels are low in which a relatively low reduction in light would 
result in a disproportionately high percentage change.  

71-72 Long Lane 
112. The predicted reduction in daylight to 9 out of 10 windows assessed 

would be minor significant adverse and the impact on the one 
remaining window would be moderate significant adverse. 

9 East Passage 
113. The results of the daylight analysis indicate that there would be 

compliance with BRE Guidelines in regards to daylight for three of the 
windows. One of the rooms would experience a minor reduction in the 
area of the room that would receive direct daylight. 

10 East Passage 
114. The results of the daylight analysis indicate that there would be 

compliance with BRE Guidelines in regards to daylight for all 8 
windows. One of the rooms would experience a moderate reduction in 
terms of the area of the room that would receive direct daylight. 

11 East Passage 
115. In terms of daylight of the 5 windows considered within this property 4 

would comply with the BRE Guidelines and one would experience a 
reduction of 30.55% which is considered to be a minor significant 
adverse reduction. However all of the rooms would retain a daylight 
distribution of at least 0.8 times their former value and therefore comply 
with the BRE Guidelines. 

116. The BRE guidelines acknowledge the percentage values can be 
misleading, particularly where baseline values are small. In these 
circumstances a small change in the quantum of light received could 
represent a high percentage change in the overall figure, implying that 
there would be a significant change in daylight or sunlight, whereas in 
reality the difference would be negligible. Furthermore, it should be 
taken into consideration that the BRE guidelines should be interpreted 
flexibly as they provide for suburban residential layouts and not dense 
inner city environments such as that occurring at the application site. 

117. The sunlight and daylight assessment   has been carried out for all the 
habitable rooms of nearby properties and the BRE Guidelines suggest 
that different targets may be used in special circumstances. For 
instance in and historic city centre a target of a VSC of 18% could be 
used as a value. All of the windows that do not comply with the 
guidelines would have a VSC greater than 18%.  

118. The closest area of open space is the Charterhouse Garden. The 
development would be far enough from the garden so as not to have 
an effect on the daylight and sunlight received by the open space. 

119. Concerns have been raised that light spillage from the building would 
have a detrimental effect on the meditative nature of Charterhouse 
Square and engulf the low level gas lighting that preserves its unique 

Page 259



character. Others raised the issue of light spillage affecting the amenity 
of local residents.  

120. A condition, requiring the submission of a lighting strategy prior to 
commencement on the site. The strategy to demonstrate that the use 
of directional and sensor lighting, appropriate screening or blinds and 
effective building management would limit any light spillage and protect 
the setting of Charterhouse Square is attached. 

121. The information in this section relates to an assessment of impacts on 
daylight and sunlight only and would not affect any owners claim for 
rights of light. 

Transport, Servicing & Parking 
122. The position and size of the servicing bay on Hayne Street, which 

would be shared by the Crossrail ticket hall, is largely dictated by the 
approval under Schedule 7 of the Crossrail Act. The loading bay would 
only accommodate smaller vehicles and as such a Delivery and 
Servicing Plan would need to be secured within a Section 106 
Agreement.  

123. There would be no car or motorcycle parking proposed. 75 cycle 
parking spaces would be provided and an increase in the number of 
showers would be preferred. However, the constraints imposed by the 
station accommodation means that space for these facilities is limited. 

124. There would be no changes to the extent of the public highway.  
125. Pedestrian activity around the site will increase with the opening of the 

ticket hall. Crossrail are committed to carrying out street enhancement 
and highways improvement around the site to improve facilities for 
pedestrians, cyclists and other users. They are currently discussing 
these proposals with officers from the street enhancement and 
highways teams.  

126. The refuse storage and collection facilities have been agreed with the 
City’s Waste and Amenity Planning Manager. 

127. L.B. Islington queried the lorry movement forecasts both in the 
construction and operational stages. These will be subject to further 
examination when a construction management plan and more detailed 
transport analysis information would be the subject of conditions. 

Street Enhancement 
128. The increase in both pedestrian and vehicular activity generated by the 

new station is acknowledged by Crossrail. This increased activity would 
be addressed by a programme of local street enhancement and 
highway works surrounding the site which is currently being developed 
by Crossrail and the City’s Environmental Enhancement Team. 

129. The issues concerning the safety of pedestrians using the narrow 
footpaths and streets, and potential anti-social behaviour on Hayne 
Street raised in the GLA’s comments will be considered as part of the 
above programme. 

Page 260



Access 
130. The City’s Access Officer welcomes the multi coloured facade and 

variation in colour palettes for each elevation. There would be no 
parking spaces for disabled users due to the restricted nature of the 
site and servicing area. 

Sustainability & Energy 
131. As part of the supporting documentation, the applicants have submitted 

a Sustainability Statement, including a BREEAM New Construction 
2011 (Offices) pre-assessment and an Energy Assessment.  

132. By utilizing passive design and energy efficiency measures, the 
development is estimated to achieve 10% carbon emissions savings 
over the Building Regulations 2010 compliant baseline scheme. The 
intention is to connect the development into the local district heating 
network Citigen. If hot and chilled water were not be available from 
Citigen, it is proposed to incorporate air source heat pumps. These 
would be supplemented by ground source heat pumps provided by 
Crossrail which would not be used in combination with Citigen as a 
combined cooling, heat and power system would negate the benefits of 
ground source heat pumps. 

133. The carbon emissions savings would be increased by the installation of 
photovoltaic panels with a size of 330sq.m laid flat on the roof. The 
submitted energy strategy demonstrates that the development has the 
potential to achieve a 39% carbon emission reduction over a Building 
Regulations compliant building. This would exceed the London Plan 
target of 25% which was applicable at the time of the submission of the 
application. Details of the final energy strategy to be adopted for the 
development have been requested by condition. 

134. The BREEAM pre-assessment rating for the building has an “excellent” 
rating and indicates no outstanding issues which should be addressed 
in the City context. 

135. The sustainability statement addresses climate change adaptation and 
sustainable design of the development, in particular energy efficiency, 
sustainable materials, conserving water resources, sustainable 
drainage, waste management, pollution, urban greening and 
biodiversity. A large green roof area of 500sq.m. would be provided to 
minimize solar gain and contribute to rainwater attenuation, biodiversity 
and visual amenity. The proposed range of climate change adaptation 
and sustainable design measures is considered to be acceptable, 
subject to further details to be considered under the conditions. 

Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
136. Under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 an 

agreement or planning obligation can be made between parties, usually 
the developer and the local authority, or a unilateral undertaking can be 
submitted by a prospective developer: 

· restricting the development or use of land in any specified way; 

Page 261



· requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on or 
under or over the land; 

· requiring the land to be used in any specified way; or 

· requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified 
date or dates or periodically. 

137. Planning obligation arrangements were modified by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended (‘the CIL 
Regulations’). The Regulations introduce statutory restrictions on the 
use of planning obligations to clarify their proper purpose, and make 
provision for planning obligations to work alongside any Community 
Infrastructure Levy (‘CIL’) arrangements which local planning 
authorities may elect to adopt. 

138. Regulation 122 states that it is unlawful for a planning obligation to 
constitute a reason to grant planning permission when determining a 
planning application if the obligation does not meet all the following 
tests: 

· necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

· directly related to the development; and 

· fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
139. Regulation 123 states that a planning obligation may not constitute a 

reason to grant planning permission to the extent that it provide funding 
for infrastructure included in the regulations “Regulation 123” list as the 
type of infrastructure on what CIL will be spent on. 

140. The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) stated that 
planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. The policy 
repeated the tests set out above and states that where planning 
obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities 
should take account of changes in market conditions over time and, 
wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned 
development being stalled. (NPPF paragraphs 203-206). 

Mayor of London Policies 
Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
141. London Plan Policy 8.3 requires the Mayoral CIL to be paid by 

developers to help fund strategically important infrastructure, initially 
focussing on Crossrail until 2019. The Mayor has set a charge of £50 
per sq.m and this applies to all development over 100sq.m (GIA) 
except social housing, education related development, health related 
development and development for charities for charitable purposes.  

Mayoral Planning Obligations   
142. Since April 2010 the Mayor of London has sought contributions towards 

the cost of funding Crossrail through the negotiation of planning 
obligations in accordance with London Plan Policy 6.5. Mayoral 
planning obligations are payable by developers according to an 

Page 262



indicative level of charges for specific uses set out in the Mayoral SPG 
(April 2013): offices (£140 per sq.m net gain in GIA floorspace), retail 
(£90) and hotels (£61) provided there is a net gain of 500sq.m.  

143. Developments liable for both Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning 
obligations payments for Crossrail would not be double charged. The 
Mayors approach is to treat CIL payment as a credit towards planning 
obligation. 

144. At the time of preparing this report the Mayoral CIL has been calculated 
to be £553,350. The full Mayoral planning obligation has been 
calculated to be £1,535,380. This would be reduced to £982.030 after 
deduction of the Mayoral CIL. It should be noted that these figures may 
be subject to change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at 
the point of payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative 
figures at this point. 

145. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 4% of 
the Mayoral CIL income as an administration fee; the remainder will be 
forwarded to the Mayor of London. The whole of the Mayoral planning 
obligation income received will be forwarded to the Mayor. However, 
the developer will also be liable to pay an additional £3,500 Mayoral 
planning obligation administration and monitoring charge to the City 
Corporation. The total contributions due in accordance with the Mayoral 
CIL and Mayoral planning obligation policies are summarised below:   

 
Liability in 
accordance 
with the Mayor 
of London’s 
policies 

Contribution 
£ 

Forwarded 
to the 
Mayor 

Retained by 
City 

Corporation 

Mayoral 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy payable 

553,350 531,216 22,134 

Mayoral 
planning 
obligation net 
liability* 

982,030 982,030 Nil 

Mayoral 
planning 
obligation 
administration 
and monitoring 
charge 

3,500 Nil 3,500 

Total liability in 
accordance 
with the Mayor 
of London’s 
policies 

1,538,880 1,513,246 25,634 

Page 263



*Net liability is on the basis of the CIL charge remaining as reported 
and could be subject to variation. 

 
City of London’s Planning Obligations SPG policy 
City Planning Obligations 
City CIL  
146. The City introduced its CIL on 1st July 2014 and will be chargeable in 

addition to the Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning obligations. CIL will 
be charged at a rate of £75 per sq.m for Offices, £150 for Residential 
Riverside, £95 for Residential rest of the city and £75 for all other uses. 
At the time of preparing this report the City CIL has been calculated to 
be £830,025. It should be noted that these figures may be subject to 
change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at the point of 
payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative figures at this 
point. 

147. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 5% of 
the CIL income as an administration fee. The contributions collected 
will be used to fund the infrastructure required to meet the 
requirements of the City’s Development Plan.  

City Planning Obligations 
148. On 1st July 2014 the City’s Supplementary Planning Document on 

Planning Obligations was adopted. City Planning Obligations would be 
payable by developers in accordance with the Planning Obligations 
SPD on new commercial developments where there is a net increase 
of 500sq.m or more of Gross Internal Area. The policy seeks 
contributions towards Affordable Housing (£20 per sq.m), Local 
Training, Skills and Job Brokerage (£3 per sq.m) and Carbon Offsetting 
(£46 per tonne of carbon offset). The section 106 agreement would 
normally follow the agreement template available on the City of London 
website. 

149. In this case the proposed net increase in floorspace would be 
11067sq.m. On the basis of the figure indicated in the Supplementary 
Planning Document, the planning obligation figure would be £254,541. 
It is the City’s practice to index-link all financial contributions with 
reference to the appropriate index from the 1st July 2014 to the date of 
permission.  

150. The planning obligation contributions would be allocated in accordance 
with the Supplementary Planning Document as follows: 

 

Liability in accordance 
with the City of 

London’s policies 

Contribution  
£ 

Available for 
Allocation 

£ 

Retained for 
Administration 

Charge £ 
City Community 
Infrastructure Levy  

830,025 531,216 22,134 

City Planning Obligation 
Affordable Housing 

221,340 219,127 2,213 

Page 264



City Planning Obligation 
Local, Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage 

33,201 32,869 332 

City Planning Obligation 
Monitoring costs 

1000 Nil 1000 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

1,085,566 783,212 25,679 

 
151. I have set out below the details that I am recommending concerning the 

planning obligations. All of the proposals are considered to be 
necessary to make the application acceptable in planning terms, 
directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development and meet the above tests contained 
in the CIL Regulations and in government policy. I would also request 
that I be given delegated authority to continue to negotiate and agree 
the terms of the proposed obligations as necessary. 

Affordable Housing  
152. The Affordable Housing contribution will be used for the purpose of off-

site provision of affordable housing in suitable locations in or near to 
the City of London in accordance with the London Plan. The applicant 
will be required to pay this contribution on or before the implementation 
of the planning permission. 

Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage 
153. The Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage contribution will be 

applied to the provision of training and skills initiatives, including job 
brokerage, in the City or City fringes. The Developer will be required to 
pay this contribution on or before the implementation of planning 
permission.  

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan  
154. The developer would be required to submit for approval a Delivery and 

Servicing Management Plan prior to occupation. In the event of any 
breach of the Management Plan, the developer will be required to 
resubmit a revised document, and should the developer default on this 
requirement, the City will be given the ability to provide a replacement 
plan. The operation of the Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 
will be subject to an annual review. 

Travel Plan 
155. The developer would be required to submit both interim and full Travel 

Plans prior to occupation and six months after occupation respectively. 
The obligations in relation to this shall apply for the life of the building 

Highway Reparation and other Highways obligations 
156. The cost of any reparation works required as a result of the 

development will be the responsibility of the Developer.  

Page 265



157. If required, prior to implementation and based on the City’s standard 
draft, the developer will be obligated to enter into an agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to meet the cost of highway 
works that are necessary to meet the burden placed on the highway 
network by the development.  

Utility Connections 
158. The development will require connection to a range of utility 

infrastructure. Early engagement by the applicant about utilities 
infrastructure provision will allow for proper co-ordination and planning 
of all works required to install the utility infrastructure, particularly under 
public highway, so as to minimise disruption to highway users. A s106 
covenant will therefore require the submission of draft and final 
programmes for ordering and completing service connections from 
utility providers in order that the City's comments can be taken into 
account, and will require that all connections are carried out in 
accordance with the programme. Details of the utility connection 
requirements of the Development including all proposed service 
connections, communal entry chambers, the proposed service provider 
and the anticipated volume of units required for the Development will 
also be required. 

Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) 
159. The applicant will be required to submit for approval details of the Local 

Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) in line with 
the aims of the City Corporation’s Employment Charter for 
Construction. This Charter aims to maximise job opportunities in the 
City for residents of the City fringes and offer employment and training 
opportunities to local people wishing to begin a career in construction. 
The Strategy will be submitted in two stages: one to be submitted prior 
to the First Preparatory Operation Date in respect of the Preparatory 
Operations; the second to be submitted prior to Implementation in 
respect of the Main Contract Works Package.  

160. The Economic Development Office is able to introduce the Developer 
or its Contractor and Sub-Contractors to local training providers and 
brokerage agencies to discuss their site-specific skills needs and to 
identify suitable local people to fill opportunities on site. The Developer 
is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development Office at the 
earliest stage in the development process in order that the strategy can 
be submitted prior to commencement. 

Local Procurement 
161. The developer has agreed to submit for approval a Local Procurement 

Strategy prior to commencement of demolition. The Local Procurement 
Strategy shall include details of: initiatives to identify local procurement 
opportunities relating to the construction of the development; initiatives 
to reach a 10% target for local procurement, from small to medium 
sized enterprises in the City and City fringes; the timings and 
arrangements for the implementation of such initiatives; and suitable 
mechanisms for the monitoring of the effectiveness of such initiatives 

Page 266



e.g. a local procurement tracker can be used to capture this 
information. 

162. The developer will be required at the 6 month stage, or half way 
through the project (whichever is earliest), to report to the City of 
London Corporation’s Economic Development Office on their 
performance against the 10% local procurement target. 

163. The Economic Development Officer is able to provide information and 
guidance to the Developer its Contractor and Sub-Contractors. The 
Developer is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development 
Officer at the earliest stage in the development process in order that 
the strategy can be submitted prior to implementation. 

Carbon Offsetting 
164. The London Plan sets a target for major developments to achieve an 

overall carbon dioxide emission reduction of 40% from 2013-2016, 
through the use of on-site renewable energy generation. A detailed 
assessment will be required by condition. If the assessment 
demonstrated that the target is not met on site the applicant will be 
required to meet the shortfall through aThe scheme is the subject of an 
E.I.A. is a conservation led scheme which retains and refurbishes the 
perimeter buildings around the site except to West Poultry Avenue and 
the Iron Mountain Building but removes the interiors of the General 
Market and Annex Market and redevelops them to provide new office 
floorspace. The perimeter buildings will be in retail use and new 
publically accessible private routes will be created through the sites. 

165. The scheme has been negotiated with English Heritage who is now 
supportive of it. 

166. A number of comments have been made in support of the scheme and 
a large number of objections to it have been raised. The principal 
grounds of objection are that the buildings in their entirety  contribute to 
the character of the Conservation Area and that the loss of the interior 
and roofscape would neither preserve or enhance the Conservation 
Area and would result in substantial harm to the undesignated heritage 
assets. 

167. It is considered that less than substantial harm is caused to these 
important non-designated heritage assets and to the designated 
heritage assets (the conservation area and setting of listed buildings) 
and that on balance a scheme has been developed that is well 
designed and secures a future for these buildings and provide uses 
which are appropriate to the site and the Conservation Area. 

168. A number of matters are subject to conditions and clauses in the 
proposed S106 including Crossrail access and site concerns. 

169. On balance it is considered that the scheme provides a development 
which does not cause substantial harm to designated and non- 
designated heritage assets and that it provides public benefits which 
outweigh the less than substantial harm. cash in lieu contribution. The 
contribution will be secured through the section 106 agreement, at an 

Page 267



initial cost of £60? per tonne of carbon to be offset, calculated over a 
30 year period. The financial contribution for carbon off-setting will be 
required on commencement or implementation of development.  

Monitoring and Administrative Costs 
170. A 10 year repayment period would be required where by any 

unallocated sums would be returned to the developer 10 years after 
practical completion of the development. Some funds may be set aside 
for future maintenance purposes.  

171. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs incurred in the 
negotiation and execution of the legal agreement and the City Planning 
Officer’s administration costs in respect of the same. 1% of the total 
contribution (secured under the City’s SPG) will be allocated to the 
monitoring of the agreement. 

172. Separate additional administration and monitoring fees will be applied 
in relation to the Crossrail Contribution. 

Site Specific Mitigation 
173. The City Corporation will principally seek to mitigate the impact of 

development and provide necessary infrastructure through the use of 
CIL but, in some circumstances, it may be necessary additionally to 
seek site specific mitigation to ensure that a development is acceptable 
in planning terms. Other matters requiring mitigation are still yet to be 
fully scoped. 

Conclusion 
174. The submission of the application for over site development is required 

by the Crossrail Act in order to repair the gap that would result from the 
construction of the Farringdon East Ticket Hall and to optimise the 
development opportunities above and around the Crossrail 
infrastructure. The proposed uses are appropriate to the mixed use 
nature of Smithfield and the London Plan’s designation of an Area of 
Intensification. 

175. The development would affect the settings of a number of heritage 
assets and is considered to cause less than substantial harm to the 
Eastern Meat Market building. 

176. The building whilst of a modern design incorporates features and 
materials that would successfully relate to is surroundings. 

177. The development would provide the benefit of ensuring that the site is 
developed and that the unsightly Crossrail infrastructure would not 
remain exposed for an indefinite period and would provide a high 
quality contemporary building that would provide a marker for the new 
Crossrail ticket hall.  

178. The building would result in the loss of light to some of the surrounding 
residential properties and these are considered to be significant for 71-
72 Long Lane but this would be uncharacteristic of a development in a 
dense urban environment. The most affected windows within 3 Hayne 

Page 268



Street serve non-habitable areas and a kitchen which is considered 
less sensitive to daylight and sunlight.  

179. The applicants have agreed to the addition of a condition requiring 
details of measures to mitigate the effects of any light spillage on 
surrounding properties and spaces.  

180. There are policies in the Development Plan which support the proposal 
and others which do not. It is necessary to assess all the policies and 
proposals in the plan and to come to a view as to whether in the light of 
the whole plan the proposal does or does not accord with it. For the 
reasons set out above the proposals are on balance would accord with 
the development plan.  

 
 
 

 

Page 269



Background papers 
 
Internal 
Memo dated  22.08.2013  Director of Markets and Consumer 
Protection 
 
External 
Letter dated  06.08.2013  English Heritage 
Email dated  15.08.2013  Sutton’s Hospital 
Letter dated  19.08.2013  London Borough of Islington 
Letter dated  22.08.2013  Transport for London 
Email dated  22.08.2013  Dr. Shanil Patel 
Letter dated  02.09.2013  Greater London Authority 
Letter dated  04.10.2013  City Heritage Society 
Email dated  24.10.2013  Michael Chambers 
Letter dated  16.09.2014  English Heritage 
Letter dated  22.09.2014  London Borough of Islington 
Email dated  29.08.2014  M. Fenning 
Email dated  15.09.2014  Richard Martin 
Letter dated  25.09.2014  Smithfield Market Tenants Association 
Email dated  25.09.2014  Mr. & Mrs. Allen & Deirdre Jones 
Email dated  25.09.2014  Michael Coombes 
Email dated  30.09.2014  Helen Burggraf 
Email dated  30.09.2014  P. Llewellyn 
Letter dated  01.10.2014  The Charterhouse 
Email dated  01.10.2014  John Cutts 
Email dated  01.10.2014  Tracy Tasker 
Letter dated  02.10.2014  Florin Crt. Freehold Ltd & Florin Crt. 
Management Ltd 
Email dated  02.10.2014  Kim Thomas 
Letter dated  06.10.2014  Save Britain’s Heritage 
Letter dated  06.10.2014  The Smithfield Trust 
 
Environmental Statement June 2013 
Appendix 2 – Townscape, Built Heritage and Visual Impact June 2013  
Environmental Statement Document Number: C136-SWN-x-xxx-M123-000xx  
Daylight and Sunlight Document Number: C136-SWN-T1-XST-M123-50003 
Outline Framework Servicing and Delivery Plan August 2014 
High Level Assessment of Disabled Parking Demand August 2014 
Design and Access Statement June2013 
Planning Statement June 2013 
Heritage Assessment Supplementary Methodology Note, Tavernor 
Consultancy, 10 November 2014 
Email, GVA Grimley (Georgina Church) 21 October 2014  
Email, Deloitte LLP (Robert Black) 14 November 2014 
 
  

Page 270



Appendix A 
London Plan Policies  
The London Plan policies which are most relevant to this application are set 
our below:  
Policy 2.10  Enhance and promote the unique international, national and 
London wide roles of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and as a strategically 
important, globally-oriented financial and business services centre. 
Policy 2.11  Ensure that developments proposals to increase office 
floorspace within CAZ include a mix of uses including housing, unless such a 
mix would demonstrably conflict with other policies in the plan. 
Policy 2.12  Identify, protect and enhance predominantly residential 
neighbourhoods within CAZ and develop sensitive mixed use policies to 
ensure that housing does not compromise CAZ strategic functions elsewhere 
in the zone. 
Policy 2.18  Protect, promote, expand and manage the extent and quality of 
and access to London’s network of green infrastructure. 
Policy 3.1  Protect and enhance facilities and services that meet the needs 
of particular groups and communities. 
Policy 3.2  New developments should be designed, constructed and 
managed in ways that improve health and promote healthy lifestyles to help to 
reduce health inequalities. 
Policy 3.11  Maximise affordable housing provision and seek an average of 
at least 13,200 more affordable homes per year in London over the term of 
the London Plan. 
Policy 3.16  Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure - additional 
and enhanced social infrastructure provision to meet the needs of a growing 
and diverse population. 
Policy 3.18 Support proposals that enhance school and educational facilities 
and resist loss of education facilities unless it can be demonstrated there is no 
ongoing or future demand. Encourage multiple use of education al facilities for 
community or recreational use. 
Policy 4.1  Promote and enable the continued development of a strong, 
sustainable and increasingly diverse economy; 

Support the distinctive and crucial contribution to London’s economic 
success made by central London and its specialist clusters of economic 
activity; 
Promote London as a suitable location for European and other 
international agencies and businesses. 

Policy 4.2  Support the management and mixed use development and 
redevelopment of office provision to improve London’s competitiveness and to 
address the wider objectives of this Plan, including enhancing its varied 
attractions for businesses of different types and sizes. 
 

Page 271



Policy 4.3  Within the Central Activities Zone increases in office floorspace 
should provide for a mix of uses including housing, unless such a mix would 
demonstrably conflict with other policies in this plan. 
Policy 4.5  Support London’s visitor economy and stimulate its growth, 
taking into account the needs of business as well as leisure visitors and 
seeking to improve the range and quality of provision. 
Policy 4.8  Support a successful, competitive and diverse retail sector which 
promotes sustainable access to the goods and services that Londoners need 
and the broader objectives of the spatial structure of this Plan, especially town 
centres. 
Policy 5.2  Development proposals should make the fullest contribution to 
minimising carbon dioxide emissions. 
Policy 5.3  Development proposals should demonstrate that sustainable 
design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction and 
operation. Major development proposals should meet the minimum standards 
outlined in supplementary planning guidance. 
Policy 5.6  Development proposals should evaluate the feasibility of 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) systems, and where a new CHP system is 
appropriate also examine opportunities to extend the system beyond the site 
boundary to adjacent sites. 
Policy 5.7  Major development proposals should provide a reduction in 
carbon dioxide emissions through the use of on-site renewable energy 
generation, where feasible. 
Policy 5.9  Reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect in London and 
encourage the design of places and spaces to avoid overheating and 
excessive heat generation, and to reduce overheating due to the impacts of 
climate change and the urban heat island effect on an area wide basis. 
Policy 5.10  Promote and support urban greening, such as new planting in 
the public realm (including streets, squares and plazas) and multifunctional 
green infrastructure, to contribute to the adaptation to, and reduction of, the 
effects of climate change. 
Policy 5.11 Major development proposals should be designed to include 
roof, wall and site planting, especially green roofs and walls where feasible. 
Policy 6.1  The Mayor will work with all relevant partners to encourage the 
closer integration of transport and development. 
Policy 6.3  Development proposals should ensure that impacts on transport 
capacity and the transport network are fully assessed. 
Policy 6.5  Contributions will be sought from developments likely to add to, 
or create, congestion on London’s rail network that Crossrail is intended to 
mitigate. 
Policy 6.9  Developments should provide secure, integrated and accessible 
cycle parking facilities and provide on-site changing facilities and showers for 
cyclists, facilitate the Cycle Super Highways and facilitate the central London 
cycle hire scheme. 

Page 272



 
Policy 6.13  The maximum standards set out in Table 6.2 should be applied 
to planning applications. Developments must:  

ensure that 1 in 5 spaces (both active and passive) provide an electrical 
charging point to encourage the uptake of electric vehicles  
provide parking for disabled people in line with Table 6.2  
meet the minimum cycle parking standards set out in Table 6.3  
provide for the needs of businesses for delivery and servicing. 

Policy 7.1  Development should be designed so that the layout, tenure, mix 
of uses interface with surrounding land will improve people’s access to social 
and community infrastructure (including green spaces), the Blue Ribbon 
Network, local shops, employment opportunities, commercial services and 
public transport. 
Policy 7.2  All new development in London to achieve the highest standards 
of accessible and inclusive design. 
Policy 7.3  Creation of safe, secure and appropriately accessible 
environments. 
Policy 7.4  Development should have regard to the form, function, and 
structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of 
surrounding buildings. It should improve an area’s visual or physical 
connection with natural features. In areas of poor or ill-defined character, 
development should build on the positive elements that can contribute to 
establishing an enhanced character for the future function of the area. 
Policy 7.6  Buildings and structures should:  
a. be of the highest architectural quality 
b. be of a proportion, composition, scale and orientation that enhances, 
activates and appropriately defines the public realm  
c. comprise details and materials that complement, not necessarily replicate, 
the local architectural character  
d. not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and 
buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, 
overshadowing, wind and microclimate. This is particularly important for tall 
buildings  
e. incorporate best practice in resource management and climate change 
mitigation and adaptation  
f. provide high quality indoor and outdoor spaces and integrate well with the 
surrounding streets and open spaces  
g. be adaptable to different activities and land uses, particularly at ground 
level  
h. meet the principles of inclusive design 
i. optimise the potential of sites. 

Page 273



 
Policy 7.7  Tall and large buildings should be part of a plan-led approach to 
changing or developing an area by the identification of appropriate, sensitive 
and inappropriate locations. Tall and large buildings should not have an 
unacceptably harmful impact on their surroundings. Applications for tall or 
large buildings should include an urban design analysis that demonstrates the 
proposal is part of a strategy that will meet the criteria set out in this policy. 
Policy 7.8  Development should identify, value, conserve, restore, re-use 
and incorporate heritage assets, conserve the significance of heritage assets 
and their settings and make provision for the protection of archaeological 
resources, landscapes and significant memorials. 
Policy 7.12  New development should not harm and where possible should 
make a positive contribution to the characteristics and composition of the 
strategic views and their landmark elements identified in the London View 
Management Framework. It should also, where possible, preserve viewers’ 
ability to recognise and to appreciate Strategically Important Landmarks in 
these views and, where appropriate, protect the silhouette of landmark 
elements of World Heritage Sites as seen from designated Viewing Places. 
Policy 7.13  Development proposals should contribute to the minimisation of 
potential physical risks, including those arising as a result of fire, flood and 
related hazards. 
Policy 7.14  Implement Air Quality and Transport strategies to achieve 
reductions in pollutant emissions and minimise public exposure to pollution. 
Policy 7.15  Minimise existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on, 
from, within, or in the vicinity of, development proposals and separate new 
noise sensitive development from major noise sources. 
Policy 7.18  Resist the loss of local protected open spaces unless equivalent 
or better quality provision is made within the local catchment area. 
Policy 7.19  Development proposals should, wherever possible, make a 
positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and 
management of biodiversity. 
 

Page 274



Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy Policies 
 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
CS13 Protect/enhance significant views 

 
To protect and enhance significant City and London views of important 
buildings, townscape and skylines, making a substantial contribution to 
protecting the overall heritage of the City's landmarks. 

 
UTIL6 Provision for waste collection 

 
To require adequate provision within all developments for the storage, 
presentation for collection, and removal of waste, unless exceptional 
circumstances make it impractical; to encourage provision to allow for 
the separate storage of recyclable waste where appropriate. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
CS17 Minimising and managing waste 

 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
CS1 Provide additional  offices 

 
To ensure the City of London provides additional office development of 
the highest quality to meet demand from long term employment growth 
and strengthen the beneficial cluster of activities found in and near the 
City that contribute to London's role as the world's leading international 
financial and business centre. 

 
 

Page 275



CS2 Facilitate utilities infrastructure 
 
To co-ordinate and facilitate infrastructure planning and delivery to 
ensure that the functioning and growth of the City's business, resident, 
student and visitor communities is not limited by provision of utilities and 
telecommunications infrastructure. 

 
CS13 Protect/enhance significant views 

 
To protect and enhance significant City and London views of important 
buildings, townscape and skylines, making a substantial contribution to 
protecting the overall heritage of the City's landmarks. 

 
CS2 Facilitate utilities infrastructure 

 
To co-ordinate and facilitate infrastructure planning and delivery to 
ensure that the functioning and growth of the City's business, resident, 
student and visitor communities is not limited by provision of utilities and 
telecommunications infrastructure. 

 
CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
CS4 Seek planning contributions 

 
To manage the impact of development, seeking appropriate 
contributions having regard to the impact of the contributions on the 
viability of development. 

 
CS5 Meet challenges facing North of City 

 
To ensure that the City benefits from the substantial public transport 
improvements planned in the north of the City, realising the potential for 
rejuvenation and "eco design" to complement the sustainable transport 
infrastructure. 

 
ECON6 Maintain character of Smithfield 

 
To ensure that development maintains or enhances the varied and 
special character of Smithfield by: 
 
i. normally requiring that development proposals for sites including 
existing non-B1 uses shall maintain the amount and proportion of 
 non-B1 uses on the site; 
 

Page 276



ii. seeking a proportion of non-B1 uses in development proposals 
for sites wholly in B1 (office) use; 
 
iii. seeking a variety of uses other than B1 to be located at street 
level. 
 
When assessing the suitability of sites for mixed uses the potential 
difficulties of accessing and servicing mixed uses on small sites will be 
taken into consideration. 

 
ENV28 Design of building services 

 
To ensure that building services are satisfactorily integrated into the 
architectural design of the building (with particular reference to its roof 
profile) and to resist installations which would adversely affect the 
character, appearance or amenities of the buildings or area concerned. 

 
ENV29 High standard of shopfront design 

 
To ensure that the provision of shopfronts is of a high standard of design 
and appearance and to resist inappropriate designs and alterations. 

 
ENV35 To protect daylight and sunlight 

 
To resist development which would reduce noticeably the daylight and 
sunlight available to nearby dwellings and open spaces to levels which 
would be contrary to the Building Research Establishment's guidelines. 

 
ENV8 Promote high quality open spaces 

 
To promote and ensure high standards in the layout, design, surface 
treatment and landscaping of open spaces and streets, and to seek the 
retention of existing surfaces and features which contribute positively to 
the character and appearance of the location and the City. 

 
IMP5 Separate uses to be self contained 

 
To require that individual uses within mixed developments are separate 
and self-contained. 

 
SHOP3 Seek increased retail facilities 

 
To seek, where appropriate, the provision of new or increased retail 
facilities, particularly where: 
 
i. existing retail shop facilities are being replaced on redevelopment in 
 accordance with policy SHOP 2; 
 
ii. the site is in or close to a shopping centre; 
 

Page 277



iii. the site is close to a public transport interchange; 
 
iv. there is a riverside frontage. 

 
TRANS15 Seek off-street servicing 

 
To seek, where appropriate, the provision of off-street servicing facilities 
in such a way as: 
 
i. to ensure that the location and design of vehicular access and 
servicing arrangements minimise the adverse effects on the adjoining 
highway and pay due regard to the environment and the convenience 
and safety of pedestrians; 
 
ii. to ensure that vehicular servicing and servicing access is avoided on 
or onto Tier 1-3 roads, except where a practical alternative cannot be 
provided; and 
 
iii. to enable vehicles to enter and leave premises in a forward direction. 

 
TRANS21 Seek parking for disabled people 

 
To seek the provision and improvement of parking arrangements for 
disabled people. 

 
UTIL6 Provision for waste collection 

 
To require adequate provision within all developments for the storage, 
presentation for collection, and removal of waste, unless exceptional 
circumstances make it impractical; to encourage provision to allow for 
the separate storage of recyclable waste where appropriate. 

 

Page 278



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 13/00605/FULEIA 
 
Land Bounded By Charterhouse Street, Lindsey Street, Long Lane And 
Hayne Street London 
 
Ground plus five storey over site development at Farringdon East 
Station, comprising office (B1) (11,211sq.m) with associated cycle 
parking, servicing, storage and plant and use of void space within the 
station infrastructure fronting onto Lindsey Street, Charterhouse Square 
and Hayne Street for retail use (Use Classes A1-A5), (286sq.m) office 
entrance and servicing.  
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of ten years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
construction work taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based 
on the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of 
Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements 
for liaison set out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be 
submitted in respect of individual stages of the construction process but 
no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the related 
scheme of protective works has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved scheme.   

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15.  

 
 3 Works shall not begin until a scheme for protecting nearby residents 

and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other environmental 
effects has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on the Department of 
Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for 
Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison set 
out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be submitted in 
respect of individual stages of the development process but no works in 
any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme of 
protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Page 279



Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried out 
other than in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of nearby residents and commercial 
occupiers in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15. 

 
 4 Construction works shall not begin until a Construction Logistics Plan to 

manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site identifying 
efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken during site 
construction of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport 
for London). The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved Construction Logistics Plan or any 
approved amendments thereto as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport for London)  

 REASON: To ensure that construction works do not have an adverse 
impact on the transport network in accordance with London Plan Policy 
6.14. 

 
 5 Before any works hereby permitted are begun a detailed assessment of 

the potential for the use of renewable energy in this development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The assessment must provide a full assessment of 
renewable energy technologies and identify any which will be 
incorporated into the development. The technologies identified as being 
incorporated into the development and approved under this condition 
shall be incorporated into the development and maintained as 
approved for the life of the development.  

 REASON: To ensure compliance with the following policy of the Core 
Strategy: CS15. 

 
 6 The development shall be designed to allow for the retro-fit of heat 

exchanger rooms to connect into a district heating network if this 
becomes available during the lifetime of the development.  

 REASON: To minimise carbon emissions by enabling the building to be 
connected to a district heating and cooling network if one becomes 
available during the life of the building in accordance with the following 
policy of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
 7 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life 
of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan 
and Core Strategy: UTIL 6, CS10, CS17. 

 
 8 Before any works thereby affected are begun, detailed elevations of the 

frontage(s) to the shop(s) must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and all development pursuant to this 

Page 280



permission shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance 
with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core 
Strategy: ENV6, ENV29, CS10. 

 
 9 A post construction BREEAM assessment demonstrating that a target 

rating of 'Excellent' has been achieved (or such other target rating as 
the local planning authority may agree provided that it is satisfied all 
reasonable endeavours have been used to achieve an 'Excellent' 
rating) shall be submitted as soon as practicable after practical 
completion.  

 REASON: To demonstrate that carbon emissions have been minimised 
and that the development is sustainable in accordance with the 
following policy of the Core Strategy CS15. 

 
10 Details of the position and size of the green roof, the type of planting 

and the contribution of the green roof to biodiversity and rainwater 
attenuation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority before any works thereby affected are begun. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved 
details and maintained as approved for the life of the development 
unless otherwise approved by the local planning authority.  

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and provide a habitat that will encourage biodiversity in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS10, 
CS15, CS18, CS19. 

 
11 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) particulars and samples of the materials to be used on all external 
faces of the building including external ground and upper level 
surfaces;  

 (b) details of the proposed new facade(s) including typical details of the 
fenestration and entrances;  

 (c) details of a typical bay of the development;  
 (d) details of faience including elevations, plans and cross-sections at 

scale 1:10 showing details of individual castings of the faience blocks, 
full details of colour, and details of jointing;  

 (e) details of ground floor elevations;  
 (f) details of the ground floor office entrance(s);  
 (g) details of the integration of railway associated infrastructure, 

equipment, entrances and exits, grills, vents or louvres, services, etc. 
located within the building’s exterior envelope;  

 (h) details of windows and upper floor glazing treatment;  
 (i) details of the entrance and internal treatment of the service yard;  
 (j) details of soffits, hand rails and balustrades;  

Page 281



 (k) details of the integration of window cleaning equipment and the 
garaging thereof, plant, flues, fire escapes and other excrescences at 
roof level;  

 (l) details of plant, ductwork, ventilation and air-conditioning to serve 
the [A1] [A3] [A4] [A5] use(s);  

 (m) details of all ground level surfaces including materials to be used; 
 (n) details of external surfaces within the site boundary including hard 

and soft landscaping;  
 (o) details of the means of reducing light spillage from the building to 

adjacent properties.  
 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 

with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: 

 
12 Prior to the occupation of any part of the building, the land between the 

existing building lines and the face of the proposed new building shall 
be brought up to street level, paved and drained in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall not be fenced or otherwise enclosed or obstructed. 
REASON: To ensure compliance with building lines and to ensure a 
satisfactory treatment at ground level in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: ENV 8, 
CS10, CS16. 

 
13 No doors or gates shall open over the public highway.  
 REASON: In the interests of public safety 
 
14 No part of the roof areas except those shown as roof terraces on the 

drawings hereby approved shall be used or accessed by occupiers of 
the building, other than in the case of emergency or for maintenance 
purposes.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
15 No live or recorded music that can be heard outside the premises shall 

be played.  
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 

area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
16 The (A3/A4) (use/premises) hereby permitted shall not be open to 

customers between the hours of (23:00) on one day and (07:00) on the 
following day.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 

Page 282



17 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 
23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS16, CS21. 

 
18 Unless otherwise approved by the Local Planning Authority the doors 

and windows to any bar or restaurant on the Hayne Street frontages 
shall be kept closed. The doors may be used only in an emergency or 
for maintenance purposes.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
19 Self-closing mechanisms must be fitted on the doors at Hayne Street 

frontage before the Class (A3/A4) use commences and shall be 
retained for the life of the premises. The doors must not be left open 
except in an emergency or for maintenance purposes.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
20 (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than 

the existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be 
determined at one metre from the nearest window or facade of the 
nearest premises.  

 The measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance 
with B.S. 4142. The background noise level shall be expressed as the 
lowest LA90 (10 minutes) during which plant is or may be in operation. 
Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design 
requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 (b) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and 
replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance 
with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
21 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements, materials and 
construction methods to be used to avoid noise and/or odour 

Page 283



penetration to the upper floors from the Class A use. The details 
approved must be implemented before the Class A use takes place. 
REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: 
CS15, CS21. 

 
22 Before any mechanical plant is used on the premises it shall be 

mounted in a way which will minimise transmission of structure borne 
sound or vibration to any other part of the building in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of commercial occupiers in 
the building in accordance following policy of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
23 No cooking shall take place within any Class A1, A3, A4 or A5 unit 

hereby approved until fume extract arrangements and ventilation have 
been installed to serve that unit in accordance with a scheme approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. Any works that would materially affect 
the external appearance of the building will require a separate planning 
permission.  

 REASON: In order to protect the amenity of the area in accordance 
with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS10, CS15, CS21. 

 
24 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and 

maintained on the site throughout the life of the building sufficient to 
accommodate a minimum of one pedal cycle per 250sq.m. of 
floorspace (minimum 75 spaces). The cycle parking provided on the 
site must remain ancillary to the use of the building and must be 
available at all times throughout the life of the building for the sole use 
of the occupiers thereof and their visitors without charge to the 
individual end users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and that the 
cycle parking remains ancillary to the use of the building and to assist 
in reducing demand for public cycle parking in accordance with the 
following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS22. 

 
25 Changing facilities and showers shall be provided adjacent to the 

bicycle parking areas and maintained throughout the life of the building 
for the use of occupiers of the building in accordance with the approved 
plans.  

 REASON: To make travel by bicycle more convenient in order to 
encourage greater use of bicycles by commuters in accordance with 
the following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS22. 

 
26 The approved loading and unloading areas shall be available at all 

times for use throughout the life of the building for the occupiers thereof 
and visitors thereto.  

 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory servicing facilities are maintained 
in accordance with the following policy of the Unitary Development 
Plan: TRANS15. 

Page 284



 
27 Provision shall be made for disabled people to obtain access to the 

building via the principal entrance without the need to negotiate steps 
and shall be maintained for the life of the building.  

 REASON: To ensure that disabled people are able to use the building 
in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: CS10 

 
28 The pass door shown adjacent to or near to the main entrance on the 

drawings hereby approved shall remain unlocked and available for use 
at all times when the adjacent revolving doors are unlocked.  

 REASON: In order to ensure that people with mobility disabilities are 
not discriminated against and to comply with the following policy of the 
Core Strategy: CS10. 

 
29 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission: DDA-M123-OD016-1-25200 
P01.1; DDA-M123-OD016-1-25201 P01.1; DDA-M123-OD016-1-25202 
P01.1; DDA-M123-OD016-1-25203 P01.1; DDA-M123-OD016-1-25000 
P03; DDA-M123-OD016-A-25000 P04; DDA-M123-OD016-B-25000 
P01.2; DDA-M123-OD016-C-25000 P01.2; DDA-M123-OD016-D-
25000 P01.2; DDA-M123-OD016-E-25000 P01.1; DDA-M123-OD016-
F-25000 P01.1; DDA-M123-OD016-G-25000 P01.2; DDB-M123-
OD016-Z-25000 P01.1; DDB-M123-OD016-Z-25002 P01.1; DDC-
M123-OD016-Z-25501 P01.1; DDC-M123-OD016-Z-25503 P01.1; 
DDC-M123-OD016-Z-25701 P01.1; DDC-M123-OD016-Z-25702 
P01.1; DDC-M123-OD016-Z-25703 P01.1; DDC-M123-OD016-Z-
25704 P01.1; DDD-M123-OD016-Z-25048 P01.1; DDD-M123-OD016-
Z-25049 P01.1; DDD-M123-OD016-Z-25050 P01.1; DDD-M123-
OD016-Z-25051 P01.1; DDD-M123-OD016-Z-25044 P01.1; DDD-
M123-OD016-Z-25045 P01.1; DDD-M123-OD016-Z-25046 P01.1; 
DDD-M123-OD016-Z-25047 P01.1;   

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 This permission must in no way be deemed to prejudice any rights of 

light which may be enjoyed by the adjoining owners or occupiers under 
Common Law. 

 
 2 The correct street number or number and name must be displayed 

prominently on the premises in accordance with regulations made 
under Section 12 of the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939. 
Names and numbers must be agreed with the Department of the Built 
Environment prior to their use including use for marketing. 

 

Page 285



 3 The Markets and Consumer Protection Department (Environmental 
Health Team) must be consulted on the following matters:  

    
 (a) Approval for the installation of furnaces to buildings and the height 

of any chimneys. If the requirements under the legislation require any 
structures in excess of those shown on drawings for which planning 
permission has already been granted, further planning approval will 
also be required.   

    
 (b) Installation of engine generators using fuel oil.  
    
 (c) The control of noise and other potential nuisances arising from the 

demolition and construction works on this site and compliance with the 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007; the 
Environmental Health Team should be informed of the name and 
address of the project manager and/or main contractor as soon as they 
are appointed.   

    
 (d) Alterations to the drainage and sanitary arrangements.   
    
 (e) The requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 

and the other relevant statutory enactments (including the Offices, 
Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963); in particular:   

   
 - the identification, encapsulation and removal of asbestos in 

accordance with a planned programme;  
 - provision for window cleaning (internal and external) to be carried out 

safely.  
    
 (f) The use of premises for the storage, handling, preparation or sale of 

food.   
    
 (g) Use of the premises for public entertainment.   
    
 (h) Approvals relating to the storage and collection of wastes.   
    
 (i) The detailed layout of public conveniences.   
    
 (j) Limitations which may be imposed on hours of work, noise and other 

environmental disturbance.  
    
 (k) The control of noise from plant and equipment;  
    
 (l) Methods of odour control. 
 
 4 The Markets and Consumer Protection Department must be consulted 

on the use of premises for the storage, handling, preparation or sale of 
food and associated extract arrangements, sound insulation 
arrangements, control of noise during construction, Health & Safety 
arrangements, flues and chimneys etc. 

Page 286



 
 5 You are advised to contact the Markets and Consumer Protection 

Department who will advise in respect of Food Hygiene and Safety, 
Health and Safety at Work, Environmental Impact and any other 
matters relevant to that department. Should the Markets and Consumer 
Protection Department require any external design alterations you 
should advise the Planning Department which will advise as to whether 
planning permission will be required for such works. 

 
 6 The Directorate of the Built Environment should be consulted on:  
   
 (a) Any intention to carry out works that would have an impact on a 

listed building.  
   
 (b) Servicing arrangements, which must be in accordance with the City 

of London Corporation's guide specifying "Standard Highway and 
Servicing Requirements for Development in the City of London".  

   
 (c) The need for a projection licence for works involving the 

construction of any retaining wall, foundation, footing, balcony, cornice, 
canopy, string course, plinth, window cill, rainwater pipe, oil fuel inlet 
pipe or box, carriageway entrance, or any other projection beneath, 
over or into any public way (including any cleaning equipment 
overhanging any public footway or carriageway). You are advised that 
highway projection licenses do not authorise the licensee to trespass 
on someone else's land. In the case of projections extending above, 
into or below land not owned by the developer permission will also be 
required from the land owner. The City Surveyor must be consulted if 
the City of London Corporation is the land owner. In such cases please 
also contact the Corporate Property Officer, City Surveyor's 
Department.  

   
 (d) Bridges over highways.  
   
 (e) Permanent Highway Stopping-Up Orders, dedication of land for 

highway purposes, declaration, diversion and stopping up of City and 
Riverside Walkways.  

   
 (f) Underground construction works within the vicinity of St. Paul's 

Cathedral as defined by the St. Paul's Cathedral Preservation Act 
1935.  

   
 (g) The display of any advertisement material on the premises which 

may be subject to the City of London Corporation's Byelaws. 
 
 7 This approval relates only to the details listed above and must not be 

construed as approval of any other details shown on the approved 
drawings. 

 

Page 287



 8 Prospective occupiers are advised that the property is located close to 
Smithfield Market which operates throughout the night. 

 
 9 The Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of £50 per 

sq.m on "chargeable development" and applies to all development over 
100sq.m (GIA) or which creates a new dwelling.  

   
 The City of London Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of 

£75 per sq.m for offices, £150 per sq.m for Riverside Residential, £95 
per sq.m for Rest of City Residential and £75 on all other uses on 
"chargeable development".   

   
 The Mayoral and City CIL charges will be recorded in the Register of 

Local Land Charges as a legal charge upon "chargeable development" 
when development commences. The Mayoral CIL payment will be 
passed to Transport for London to support Crossrail. The City CIL will 
be used to meet the infrastructure needs of the City.   

   
 Relevant persons, persons liable to pay and owners of the land will be 

sent a "Liability Notice" that will provide full details of the charges and 
to whom they have been charged or apportioned. Please submit to the 
City's Planning Obligations Officer an "Assumption of Liability" Notice 
(available from the Planning Portal website: 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil).   

   
 Prior to commencement of a "chargeable development" the developer 

is required to submit a "Notice of Commencement" to the City's 
Section106 Planning Obligations Officer. This Notice is available on the 
Planning Portal website. Failure to provide such information on the due 
date may incur both surcharges and penalty interest. 

 
10 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 

Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 

Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 1 December 2014 

Subject: 
Whitefriars House 6 Carmelite Street London EC4Y 0BS  
Installation of new accessible entrance doors and glazed surround on the Tallis 
Street elevation of the building in association with the public house (Use Class A4) 
(public house use approved under planning permission dated 11.04.2000, ref: 
5203N). 

Ward: Castle Baynard Public                 For Decision 

Registered No: 14/00998/FULL Registered on: 8 October 2014 

Conservation Area:     Whitefriars         Listed Building: No 

Summary 
 
Planning permission is sought for the installation of accessible entrance doors and 
glazed surround to the Tallis Street elevation of the building to serve the ground 
floor and basement level public house at 6 Carmelite Street. 
The proposal has attracted 10 objections from residents, which mainly relate to the 
public house use but also to the appearance of the proposed doors.  
The public house use benefits from planning permission and objections on grounds 
of use cannot therefore be taken in to account.  
The proposed doors would improve the accessibility of the premises. The design of 
the doors is considered to be acceptable to the appearance of the building and the 
Whitefriars Conservation Area and would not be detrimental to the setting of 
adjacent Grade 2 listed buildings. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That planning permission be granted for the proposal in accordance with the 
attached schedule. 
 

Page 355

Agenda Item 6c



 

Page 356



 
 
 
 

Site 
1. Whitefriars House, 6 Carmelite Street is a 19th century, five storey 

building located at the junction of Carmelite Street and Tallis Street, in 

Page 357



the Whitefriars Conservation Area. The building forms part of the 
perimeter block that faces Tallis Street, Carmelite Street, Tudor Street 
and Temple Avenue. 

2. The building is currently in office use (Use Class B1) on the upper 
floors with a vacant restaurant / public house (Use Class A3 / A4) area 
at ground floor and basement level. Access to the upper floors is from 
Carmelite Street. Access to the ground floor is from the corner of 
Carmelite Street and Tallis Street. 

3. To the south side of the site at 1-5 Tallis Street is the Grade 2 Listed 
Carmelite House; to the east of site at 4 – 5 Carmelite Street is the 
Grade 2 Listed former Guildhall School of Music. 

Relevant Planning History 
4. The present land use arrangement was approved, with conditions, on 

11th April 2000 as part of a redevelopment scheme for the perimeter 
block to provide offices (Use Class B1), 60 residential units (Use Class 
C3) and two wine bars / restaurants (Use Class A4 / A3) and car 
parking (registered plan No. 00-5203N). The vacant public house / 
restaurant area of Whitefriars House has not been occupied since the 
implementation of the permission. 

5. In the 2000 approved scheme the proposed entrance arrangement to 
the ground floor restaurant / bar area was from the historic stepped 
entrance at the corner of the premises and a new entrance from Tallis 
Street at the south west corner of the premises.  

6. However, the details approved pursuant to a condition of the 2000 
permission (registered plan No. 00-5203Q) did not include a door onto 
Tallis Street but approved fixed windows within the building’s four 
ground floor bays facing Tallis Street to light the ground floor and 
basement levels. This arrangement was implemented and is currently 
on the site. 

7. On 13th January 2005 planning permission was granted for the 
installation of new timber framed windows to the Tallis street elevation 
relating to the ground and basement unit (reference: 04/00691/FULL). 
The scheme was amended to make it acceptable by restricting the 
number of opening lights to two side casements in each window bay at 
ground floor level. The permission was not implemented. 

8. On 23rd July 2009 planning permission was granted for the change of 
use of the ground and basement level of the premises from restaurant 
and bar use to office use (reference: 09/00375/FULL). This permission 
was extended for a further three years on 9th August 2012 (reference: 
12/00594/FULL). The permission has not been implemented. 

9. In 2014 an application for alterations to the shopfront including a new 
accessible entrance to Tallis Street was submitted (reference: 
14/00552/FULL). The proposal included bi-folding windows to three of 
the ground floor bays to Tallis Street. The application attracted 10 
objections. The application was withdrawn. 

Page 358



Proposal 
10. The present proposal is for the installation of new accessible ground 

floor entrance doors and glazed surround within the south west bay on 
the Tallis Street elevation of the building in association with the public 
house (Use Class A4) approved under the planning permission dated 
11th April 2000. 

11. The proposed works would comprise outward opening glazed entrance 
doors, side lights, a double fanlight immediately above the entrance 
doors, with a full width fanlight above. All glazing would be within 
softwood frames to match the detail of the existing framing within the 
remaining ground floor bays. 

Consultations 
12. The application was advertised on site and in the local press. The 

residents of Temple House and Victoria House were individually 
consulted. 

13. The proposal was presented to the City of London Conservation Area 
Advisory Committee on 23rd October 2014. The Committee did not 
raise any objections. 

14. The City’s Access Advisor welcomes the proposed new entrance and 
associated internal platform lift as a significant improvement to the 
access arrangements to the premises.  

15. 10 objections have been received from local residents. The grounds of 
objection are summarised as: 

· The use of the premises as a public house would be detrimental 
to residential amenity in a designated residential area in terms of 
noise and disturbance, particularly at night, traffic and servicing 
including refuse collection. 

· The propose location of the entrance is inappropriate as it is 
adjacent to residential properties. 

· The proposed external alterations would be detrimental to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

· The proposals would increase the likelihood of people drinking 
and smoking in the street. 

· That there are plenty of other drinking and catering premises in 
the area; another one is not needed. 

Policies 
16. The development plan for the City of London currently comprises the 

Mayor’s London Plan 2011, the City of London Core Strategy 2011, 
and the 55 “saved” policies of the Unitary Development Plan 2002 
(UDP). 

17. The City of London Local Plan was published in December 2013 and 
was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for examination 

Page 359



by a Planning Inspector. The Inspector’s report on the Local Plan was 
issued on 12th November 2014. The Inspector found that the Local 
Plan was sound and he did not make any recommendations for 
material modifications. The Inspector’s report is before you today. 

18. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (para 216) states that 
“decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to…the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced the preparation, the greater the weight that may be given)”. It 
is intended that the Local Plan will be adopted by the Common Council 
on 15th January 2015. Upon adoption the Local Plan will supersede the 
Core Strategy and UDP. 

19. Chapter 12 of the NPPF sets out key policy considerations for 
applications relating to designated and non-designated heritage assets. 
Other relevant guidance is provided by English Heritage including the 
documents Conservation Principles and the Setting of Heritage Assets. 
Building in Context (EH/CABE) and the PPS5 Practice Guide in respect 
of the heritage assets. 

Considerations 
20. The Corporation in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform: 
21. To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 

material to the application and to any other material considerations. 
(Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990). 

22. To determine the application in accordance with the development plan 
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

23. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its settings, to have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. (S66(1) 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990). 

24. When considering the application special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
the conservation area (S72(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990). 

25. The main issues for consideration in this case are: 

· The authorized use of the premises. 

· The acceptability of the proposed alterations. 
The use 
26. At the time the April 2000 planning permission was granted, the 

definition of A3 Use in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987 included a restaurant, cafe, wine bar or public house. 

Page 360



27. This was altered in the 2005 amendment to the Use Classes Order, 
which introduced separate classifications for restaurants and cafes 
(Use Class A3), drinking establishments (Use Class A4) and hot food 
takeaways (Use Class A5). 

28. Although the application premises has never been occupied since the 
2000 permission was implemented, it can be used as a restaurant, bar 
or public house without the need for a further planning permission. 
Paragraph 22 of ODPM Circular 03/2005 states that:  

“...unless otherwise indicated a planning permission is interpreted 
on the basis of the Use Classes Order in force at the time that the 
consent was given. Therefore…, if an unimplemented consent for 
an A3 use was granted before 21 April 2005, it will continue to 
permit changes of use to all of the former uses permitted by the 
former A3, including drinking establishments and take-away uses.” 

29. Once the use is implemented it cannot change to another use class 
without the benefit of planning permission unless it would be permitted 
development. The use of the premises as a public house is authorized 
and the objections raised to its use cannot be taken into account. 

The accessible doors 
30. The proposed alterations to the western bay on Tallis Street provide a 

double door in the same location as a single door approved in the 2000 
redevelopment scheme, although not implemented in the approved 
details. 

31. The current ground floor window arrangements are not original to the 
building.  

32. The proposed accessible door facilitates access for people with 
disabilities into the premises by leading to a platform lift. The ground 
floor is 60cm above the external street level. 

33. The proposed doors and surround would be glazed in painted softwood 
frames similar in nature to the adjoining windows, which would remain 
as existing. 

34. The design of the proposed alterations is considered to be acceptable 
in the context of the building and conservation area and would not be 
detrimental to the setting of the adjoining listed buildings. 

Conclusion 
35. The proposed entrance provides access for disabled persons in a 

location where an entrance door has been previously approved. 
36. Whilst the expressed concerns of residents are acknowledged, the 

majority of them cannot be taken into account as the authorized use of 
these premises includes public house use (Class A4), which existed 
when the adjoining residential units were implemented. 

37. In the circumstances it is considered that the proposal complies with 
the Development Plan and that there are not planning grounds to 
refuse the application. 

Page 361



Background Papers 
Internal 
Memo   17th November 2014   Department of Markets and Consumer 
Protection 
External 
Application Documents: 
Design and Access Statement   7th October 2014   Darren Law Architecture 
 
Representations: 
E-mail  19th October 2014 Pat Wilson 
E-mail  19th October 2014 Mr Philip Lobb 
Letter  20th October 2014 James Honeyman 
E-mail  21st October 2014 Mr Rhodri Lewis 
Letter  21st October 2014 Graham Packham CC 
E-mail  21st October 2014 Bleddyn Rees 
E-mail  24th October 2014 Mr Shretan Dholakia 
E-mail  24th October 2014 Mr Ian Croxford QC 
E-mail  29th October 2014 Robert Coppage 
Letter  30th October 2014 Natalie Stopps 
Letter   3rd November 2014   City of London Conservation Area Advisory 
Committee 

Page 362



 

Appendix A 
London Plan Policies 
Policy 7.2  All new development in London to achieve the highest standards 
of accessible and inclusive design. 
 
Policy 7.3  Creation of safe, secure and appropriately accessible 
environments. 
Policy 7.8  Development should identify, value, conserve, restore, re-use 
and incorporate heritage assets, conserve the significance of heritage assets 
and their settings and make provision for the protection of archaeological 
resources, landscapes and significant memorials. 
 
 

Page 363



Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy Policies 
 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
CS21 Protect and provide housing 

 
To protect existing housing and amenity and provide additional housing 
in the City, concentrated in or near existing residential communities, to 
meet the City's needs, securing suitable, accessible and affordable 
housing and supported housing. 

 
ENV6 Design of alterations to buildings 

 
To ensure that all alterations or extensions to an existing building take 
account of its scale, proportions, architectural character, materials and 
setting. 

 
ENV29 High standard of shopfront design 

 
To ensure that the provision of shopfronts is of a high standard of design 
and appearance and to resist inappropriate designs and alterations. 

 

Page 364



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 14/00998/FULL 
 
Whitefriars House 6 Carmelite Street London 
 
Installation of new accessible entrance doors and glazed surround on 
the Tallis Street elevation of the building in association with the public 
house (Use Class A4) (public house use approved under planning 
permission dated 11.04.2000, ref: 5203N). 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) details of windows and external joinery;  
 (b) details of the finish to the new entrance reveals;  
 (c) details of the opening and closing mechanism to the new entrance 

doors.  
 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 

with the detail of the proposed development, to ensure that the 
development will be accessible for people with disabilities and to 
ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the 
following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: 
ENV6, ENV29, CS10, CS12. 

 
 3 The entrance doors hereby approved shall be used for ingress and 

egress only and shall not be used to service the premises or for refuse 
collection purposes.  

 REASON: In order to protect residential amenities in accordance with 
the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
 4 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission: Location Plan, Drawing Nos. 
1135-12-010G, 1135-14-013B, 1135-14-031.  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Page 365



 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 

Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 

Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 386



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 1 December 2014 

Subject: 
14-17 Carthusian Street London EC1M 6AD   
Application under S.73A of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 to remove 
condition 6 of the planning permission dated 15.11.2010 (Application Number 
10/00816/FULL) restricting the late opening hours to a temporary period. 

Ward: Farringdon Within Public                 For Decision 

Registered No: 12/01099/FULL Registered on: 19 November 2012 

Conservation Area:     Charterhouse 
Square             

Listed Building: No 

Summary 
 
Following the expiry of the permission Ref: 10/00816/FULL granting an 18 month 
temporary permission for extended hours of operation of the licensed premises, 
permission is now sought which would permit the extended hours of operation to 
continue on a permanent basis.  
Should consent be granted this would allow the premises to operate until 1.30am 
from Friday to Saturday without having to revert to closing at mid-night in 
accordance with the terms of the original permission Ref: 05/00347/FULL. 
The application has been held in abeyance at the applicant's request and pending 
the outcome of a separate application Ref: 14/00121/CLEUD, which sought to 
establish the lawful use of the premises as a bar (A4) in accordance with the terms 
of the original flexible consent which permitted restaurant (A3) and bar (A4) uses. 
Recommendation 
I recommend that planning permission for the variation of condition be granted in 
accordance with the attached schedule. 
 

Page 387

Agenda Item 6d



 

Page 388



 

Page 389



Site 
1. The application site (formerly Neo Pizzeria and latterly Neo Cocktail 

Bar) is located mid terrace on the south side of Carthusian Street 
between Carthusian Square, a private gated square to the West and 
the junction with Aldersgate Street, a local distributor road, to the east. 
It is well served by public transport and is a short distance from 
Barbican Underground Station on Aldersgate Street. 

2. Neo comprises a licensed restaurant and bar premises located at 
basement level accessed from Carthusian Street. The building in which 
it is located is five storeys in height and has a frontage on to Carthusian 
Street with a return frontage on to Aldersgate Street. It incorporates a 
mix of uses including ground floor bookmakers, shop and offices, with 
residential accommodation comprising 14 flats at first to fifth floor 
levels. Further residential premises adjoin to the West. 

3. The area immediately surrounding the application site contains a 
similar mix of uses. On the north side of Carthusian Street, directly 
opposite the application site and within the jurisdiction of the London 
Borough of Islington, there are other A3 and A4 uses, including the 
Sutton Arms public house which is licensed to 1.00am on Friday and 
Saturday, and Erebuni Restaurant which is licensed to 2.00am Friday 
and Saturday.  

Relevant Planning History 
4. Planning permission Ref: 05/00347/FULL was granted on 15th 

November 2005 for the change of use of part ground floor and part 
basement from offices (Use Class B1) to a restaurant (Use Class A3) 
or a public house (Use Class A4). Condition No. 10 restricted the hours 
of opening to between 11am and midnight. 

5. Planning permission Ref: 10/00816/FULL was subsequently granted in 
accordance with Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 to vary condition No 10 of 05/00347/FULL to extend the hours of 
operation on a Friday and Saturday from midnight until 1.30am in 
accordance with condition 6 as set out below: 
‘The extension to the opening hours proposed in condition no 10 shall 
be discontinued and revert back to its former wording on or before 14 
November 2012. REASON: to ensure that the impact of the proposal 
on residential amenity can be assessed in accordance with the 
following policy of the City of London Core Strategy: CS15, CS21’. 

6. The current application was submitted on the 14 November 2012 for 
removal of condition 6 of Ref: 10/00816/FULL on the grounds that the 
premises had been in operation for the permitted extended hours of 
opening and there had been no formal noise or disturbance complaints 
against the operator during this time period and consequently the 
reason for granting permission on a temporary basis had been satisfied 
and the extended hours of operation should continue. 

Page 390



7. A Certificate of lawful use Ref: 14/00121/CLEUD was granted on 
26.06.2014 in respect of the use of the premises as an existing A4 
(Wine Bar) rather than an A3 (Restaurant) in recognition of planning 
permission Ref: 05/00347/FULL granted on 15 November 2005 for the 
'change of use of part ground floor and part basement from offices (Use 
Class B1) to restaurant (Use Class A3) or public house (Uses Class 
A4).' In this case the submitted evidence satisfactorily demonstrated 
that the use of the unit had been for the purposes of a wine bar falling 
within Class A4 of The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
(Amendment) Order 2005, in compliance with the planning permission 
granted 15 November 2005, and was therefore considered to be lawful. 

Proposal 
8. Permission is sought under S.73A of the Town & Country Planning Act 

1990 to remove condition 6 of the planning permission dated 
15.11.2010 (Application Number 10/00816/FULL), which allowed the 
premises to operate with extended hours for a temporary period. 
Consequently instead of meeting the requirement of Condition 6 to 
revert to its former times opening, specifically: 
Monday to Sunday:   11am – midnight 

The premises would operate: 
Sunday to Thursday:  11am – midnight 
Friday to Saturday:              11am – 01.30am 

Policies 
9. The development plan consists of the London Plan, the retained 

policies of the City of London Unitary Development Plan and the LDF 
Core Strategy. 

10. The City of London Local Plan was published in December 2013 and 
was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for examination 
by a Planning Inspector. The Inspector’s report on the Local Plan was 
issued on 12th November 2014. The Inspector found that the Local 
Plan was sound and he did not make any recommendations for 
material modifications. The Inspector’s report is before you today. 

11. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (para 216) states that 
“decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to…the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced the preparation, the greater the weight that may be given)”. It 
is intended that the Local Plan will be adopted by the Common Council 
on 15th January 2015. Upon adoption the Local Plan will supersede the 
Core Strategy and UDP. 

Consultations 
12. The London Borough of Islington has raised no objection to the 

proposal. 

Page 391



13. The London Borough of Camden has raised no objections to the 
proposal. 

14. The City of London Police Authority was consulted and has confirmed 
that as far as crime and disorder is concerned they have no issues with 
the premises.  

15. The City of London Police have written in support of the application 
advising that Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) patrols are regularly 
conducted in this area to reduce any form of ASB caused by human 
traffic in this area. The Police confirm that the operation and 
management of the restaurant is commendable and that they have not 
had to visit the premises as a result of any form of disturbance. 

16. The Department of Markets and Consumer Protection advised initially 
that although no official complaints had been recorded during the 
period the premises had been in operation, the proposed change of 
opening hours had the potential to give rise to increased disturbance 
from noise and possible noise nuisance.  

17. The Department of Markets and Consumer Protection have since 
provided a summary of complaints received during the course of 18 
months ending 8th October 2014. Of these 3 were unsubstantiated, 2 
have been addressed through improved ‘door’ management (in 
accordance with the approved ‘Management Plan’) and 4 complaints 
related to waste collection and are therefore not specific to this 
application, as waste collection matters are controlled by Condition 5 of 
10/00816/FULL. Accordingly the nature of the complaints, were 
deemed to be insufficient to warrant special monitoring of the premises. 

18. Objections have been raised by a number of local residents to the 
application for continuation of the late opening hours.  

19. The objections allude primarily to the noise and disruption arising when 
clientele leave the premises and from minicab/taxi movements. The 
potential for crime and public disorder has also been raised and 
concerns have been expressed that premises staff are unable to 
control clients that congregate in the street once they have left the 
building. It is felt that a further late-night opening venue would 
exacerbate the intensification of night-time economy destinations in 
Carthusian Street to the detriment of residential amenity. 

20. There has also been objection to amplified noise emanating directly 
from the premises and affecting resident’s sleeping, particularly in 
respect of the flat immediately above the noise source. This is not 
material to the application as noise at source is subject to a separate 
condition and can be effectively enforced. 

21. There has been a degree of confusion amongst residents to the status 
of the premises following reference in earlier applications to it being a 
restaurant (pizzeria) rather than a bar. This was subsequently clarified 
following issue of a Certificate of Lawful Use for the premises as a bar 
in 2014. Notwithstanding description of the premises as a nightclub (a 
sui-generis classification) within the context of certain representations, 
the lawful use of the premises is as a bar and not a nightclub. 

Page 392



22. Additional concerns have been expressed regarding noise arising from 
early morning refuse collection and the filling of refuse containers 
during unsocial hours. 

Human Rights Act 
23. Under Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998, the Local Planning 

Authority must ensure that, as a "public authority", it does not act in a 
way which is incompatible with a "Convention right", i.e. a right set out 
in the European Convention on Human Rights, such incompatible 
action being unlawful. 

24. Article 8 of the European Convention states that everyone has the right 
to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence. Article 1 of Protocol 1 provides that every natural and 
legal person (including corporate bodies) is entitled to peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions. 

25. These are not absolute but qualified rights which must be balanced 
against the broader interests of society as a whole including its 
economic well-being, and against the rights and freedoms of others.  

26. The balance for the City to weigh is between any private convention 
rights which may be infringed on the one hand and the public interest 
including the interests of the economic well-being of the country in the 
proposed redevelopment and the right of the applicant to seek to 
develop on the other. 

Considerations 
27. The City Corporation, in determining planning applications has the 

following main statutory duties to perform: - 
a) To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application and to any other material considerations. 
(Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990) 
b) To determine the application in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. (Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

28. In determining an application to vary a condition the local authority is 
only able to consider the issues that are material to the condition in 
question. The condition to be varied was imposed on the original 
planning permission to ensure that the amenities of the adjoining 
premises and noise sensitive receptors in the area were protected from 
unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance. The purpose of the 
temporary consent for a period of 18 months was to establish whether 
during this period sufficient evidence was available to either allow the 
extension of hours to continue or to be curtailed.  

29. Although Circular 11/95 Use of Planning Conditions, which pertained at 
the time planning permission was originally granted, has been 
supplanted by the Planning Practice Guidance Suite and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. However the 
main thrust of the circular, particularly in respect of modifying 

Page 393



conditions once planning permission has been granted and non-
repetition of temporary consents, remain in place. 

30. The main issue for consideration in this case is the effect varying the 
condition to allow the premises to operate until 01.30 Friday to 
Saturday would have on the amenity of nearby residents and occupiers 
in terms of noise and disturbance. In accordance with guidance, the 
City Corporation is only able to consider the impact of these extended 
hours of operation and shall be informed by the evidence gained during 
the period of temporary consent. 

Neighbour Representations 
31. 21 letters of objection have been received from local residents; the 

objections have a common theme which is that the extension of 
opening hours would create additional noise and disturbance in the 
locality. 

Effect of the Proposal on Local Amenity 
32. There is a concentration of residential units both above the premises 

and around Charterhouse Square to the west. John Trundle Court, part 
of the Barbican lies to the east of the premises beyond Aldersgate 
Street and there are residential properties opposite the premises.  

33. The residential properties in the locality are subject to relatively high 
existing ambient noise levels resulting from the heavy good vehicles 
travelling to and from Smithfield Market. The Market is open every day 
from 03.00 and deliveries occur throughout the night. 

34. The application premises are located in the basement of an existing 
building and are accessed via a set of double doors approximately 20m 
from the junction of Carthusian Street and Aldersgate Street. There are 
commercial properties at ground floor level between the basement and 
the residential uses on the upper floors of the building, providing a 
noise barrier between the basement and the upper floors.  

35. Potential disturbance to the occupiers of adjoining curtilages might 
arise from live or recorded music emanating from the premises. This is 
controlled irrespective of the hours of operation by Condition No 4 of 
05/00347/FULL which states: ‘No live or recorded music that can be 
heard outside of the premises shall be played.  
REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21’. 

36. A Noise Impact Assessment was submitted in respect of the original 
planning application Ref: 05/00347/FULL which concluded that during 
the night time period there would be no perceptible change in noise 
level due to the proposed opening hours. The report set out the 
potential impact of the extended hours on the locality and concluded 
that the proposed opening hours would not materially alter the 
amenities currently enjoyed by the nearest noise sensitive premises. 
An up-dated noise assessment has been submitted that addresses 
noise implications as a result of the lawful change of use. The report 

Page 394



concludes that any increase would be barely perceptible and that no 
further mitigation measures are required.  

37. No noise or disturbance complaints were lodged with The Department 
of Markets and Consumer Protection for the 18 month period prior to 
the application being made for temporary extension of the hours of 
operation Ref: 10/00347/FULL and permission for the extended 
opening hours was therefore granted on a temporary basis. 
Subsequent complaints have been limited and managed through the 
auspices of the Management Strategy. 

38. The City of London Police have written in support of the application 
advising that Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) patrols are regularly 
conducted in this area to reduce any form of ASB caused by human 
traffic in this area. The Police confirm that the operation and 
management of the site is commendable and have not had to visit the 
premises as a result of any form of disturbance. 

39. Neo is located in an area of mixed uses, including other licensed 
premises, which, when taken together, generate a certain level of street 
activity.  

40. Although not a planning matter, the original premises licence granted in 
October 2009 was granted a variation in January 2011 permitting an 
extension for all licensable activities to 01.00am Fridays and Saturday’s 
closing at 01.30am. At this meeting it was noted that the public house 
in Carthusian Street and the restaurant/bar opposite No. 14-17 had a 
licence to open beyond these times. The Planning Department were 
represented at the hearing and advised in respect of the planning 
conditions. Environmental Health Officers did not raise objections to the 
variation of opening hours. 

41. Concerns regarding noise and disturbance associated with early 
morning refuse handling and collection are not material to this 
application and can be satisfactorily addressed through enforcement of 
the separate planning condition imposed for this purpose. 

Additional Mitigation 
42. In accordance with the provisions of Condition 7 of 10/00816/FULL and 

in order to respond to the concerns raised by local residents, the 
applicant was required to operate the premises in accordance with a 
Management Scheme. The premises have been operating in 
accordance with the approved Management Scheme which has 
addressed in particular late night discharge of customers. 

43. As part of this current proposal the Management Scheme has been 
updated to enhance entrance door management, off premises client 
supervision and dispersal, particularly related to promoting a quiet night 
time street environment, and protocol for taxi-cabs visiting the 
premises. 

 

 

Page 395



Conclusion 
44. In this case there is no clear evidence that the extension to the opening 

hours proposed has or would result in additional noise or disturbance 
harmful to the amenity of residents in the locality that would be directly 
attributable to the premises. The grant of permission for an 18 month 
temporary period has enabled monitoring to take place and data to be 
collated.  

45. In accordance with Planning Guidance the issue of further temporary 
consents should be avoided and given that there is a Management 
Scheme in place that provides a satisfactory level of mitigation in 
respect of public amenity, the proposal is deemed acceptable. 

Page 396



Background Papers 
Internal  
Letter 05.11.2012  City of London Police  
Email 08.10.2014  City of London Police 
Memo 05.12.2012  Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 
Memo 08.10.2014  Department of Markets and Consumer Protection  
External  
Email 03.12.2012 Ms Virginia Rounding 
Email 04.12.2012 Mr Adam Machin 
Email 04.12.2012 Mr Paul Wong 
Email 04.12.2012 Mrs Mary Tapissier 
Email 04.12.2012 Mr Marco Branco 
Email 04.12.2012 Mrs Clare James 
Email 04.12.2012 Mrs Debra Marber 
Email 04.12.2012 Mrs Kirstin Kaszubowska 
Letter 05.12.2012 Julia Hodgkin 
Email 05.12.2012     Ms Scarlett Roux 
Email 06.12.2012 Mr Garth Hall 
Email 07.12.2014 Mr Adam Machin  
Email 07.12.2012 Mr & Mrs Allen and Deidre Jones 
Email 07.12.2012 Ms Beverley Heath 
Email 07.12.2012 Marco Branco  
Email 07.12.2012 Mary Tapissier  
Letter 07.12.2012 Helen Burggraf (with attachments) 
Email 08.12.2012 Paul Wong  
Email 10.12.2012 Dr Jeffrey Lake 
Email 10.12.2012 Mrs Caroline Lloyd 
Email 13.12.2012 Mrs Josephine Pletts 
 
Premises Management Scheme 2012 
Premises Management Scheme (Updated) 2014 
Design Access and Planning Statement – 19.11.2012 
Acoustic/Noise Report (Updated) 2014 

Page 397



Appendix A 
London Plan Policies  
Policy 2.10  Enhance and promote the unique international, national and 
London wide roles of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and as a strategically 
important, globally-oriented financial and business services centre. 
Policy 4.1  Promote and enable the continued development of a strong, 
sustainable and increasingly diverse economy; 
Support the distinctive and crucial contribution to London’s economic success 
made by central London and its specialist clusters of economic activity; 
Promote London as a suitable location for European and other international 
agencies and businesses. 
Policy 4.5  Support London’s visitor economy and stimulate its growth, 
taking into account the needs of business as well as leisure visitors and 
seeking to improve the range and quality of provision. 
Policy 4.6  Support the continued success of London’s diverse range of 
arts, cultural, professional sporting and entertainment enterprises and the 
cultural, social and economic benefits that they offer to its residents, workers 
and visitors. 
Policy 4.7  Support a strong, partnership approach to assessing need and 
bringing forward capacity for retail, commercial, culture and leisure 
development in town centres. 
Policy 7.15  Minimise existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on, 
from, within, or in the vicinity of, development proposals and separate new 
noise sensitive development from major noise sources. 
 

Page 398



Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy Policies 
 
CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
CS5 Meet challenges facing North of City 

 
To ensure that the City benefits from the substantial public transport 
improvements planned in the north of the City, realising the potential for 
rejuvenation and "eco design" to complement the sustainable transport 
infrastructure. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
CS21 Protect and provide housing 

 
To protect existing housing and amenity and provide additional housing 
in the City, concentrated in or near existing residential communities, to 
meet the City's needs, securing suitable, accessible and affordable 
housing and supported housing. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS17 Minimising and managing waste 

 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
ENV6 Design of alterations to buildings 

 
To ensure that all alterations or extensions to an existing building take 
account of its scale, proportions, architectural character, materials and 
setting. 

 

Page 399



UTIL6 Provision for waste collection 
 
To require adequate provision within all developments for the storage, 
presentation for collection, and removal of waste, unless exceptional 
circumstances make it impractical; to encourage provision to allow for 
the separate storage of recyclable waste where appropriate. 

 

Page 400



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 12/01099/FULL 
 
14-17 Carthusian Street London EC1M 6AD 
 
Application under S.73A of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 to 
remove condition 6 of the planning permission dated 15.11.2010 
(Application Number 10/00816/FULL) restricting the late opening hours 
to a temporary period. 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The use hereby permitted shall not be open to customers except 

between the hours of 11.00am - 12.00pm (midnight) Sunday to 
Thursday and 11.00am to 1.30am Friday to Saturday  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15; CS21. 

 
 2 All new work and work in making good shall match the existing 

adjacent work with regard to the methods used and to materials, 
colour, texture and profile, unless shown otherwise on the drawings or 
other documentation hereby approved or required by any condition(s) 
attached to this consent.  

 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance 
with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core 
Strategy: ENV6, CS10. 

 
 3 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life 
of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan 
and Core Strategy: UTIL 6, CS10, and CS17. 

 
 4 No live or recorded music that can be heard outside the premises shall 

be played.  
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 

area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
 5 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 

23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 

Page 401



unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS21. 

 
 6 The operation of the premises between 12.00pm midnight and 1.30am, 

shall at all times accord with the provisions and undertakings of the 
approved 'Management Scheme' as amended October 2014. Should 
there at any time be a material change in circumstances affecting 
compliance with the Management Scheme, the proprietor of the 
premises shall submit a revised Management Scheme to the Local 
Planning Authority for their subsequent approval and the premises shall 
thereafter only operate in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
the approved revised Management Plan. The Management Plan shall 
at all times address the following:  

I. The duties of the staff employed at the premises to patrol the 
external perimeter of the premises in order to discourage, noise, 
disturbance and anti-social behaviour;  

II.  A smoking control scheme relating to the supervision and 
control of any smoking patrons outside the premises during the 
hours that the premises are open to the public;  

III.  A dispersal scheme relating to the dispersal of patrons leaving 
the premises after 12.00pm (midnight);  

IV.  A taxi licensed private hire scheme:  
· To encourage patrons and staff to use licensed taxies, licensed 

private hire vehicles when leaving the premises;  
·  To encourage patrons to make advanced bookings for such 

taxies, licensed private hire vehicles from within the premise  
·  Which details the licensed private hire firm nominated by the 

operator of the premises to pick up at a point agreed by the 
local planning authority;  

V. The circumstances and time periods, which trigger the need for 
a review of the management scheme.  

 REASON: To ensure the good management of the venue to protect 
residential amenity and to ensure compliance with the following policy 
of the City of London Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
 7 Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority the 

level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than the 
existing background level by at least 10 LpA. Noise levels shall be 
determined at one metre from the window of the nearest noise 
sensitive premises. The measurements and assessments shall be 
made in accordance with B.S. 4142. The background noise level shall 
be expressed as the lowest LA90 (10 minutes) during which plant is or 
may be in operation.   

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

Page 402



 
 8 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission: Location plan, AJMG/ALD/06 
Rev A, AJMG/ALD/01, AMJG/ALD/07 Rev A,AJMG/ALD/02 5491/111 
Rev G. DACC0348-RI  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 

Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 

Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 440



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 1 December 2014 

Subject: 
Bevis Marks House 24 Bevis Marks London EC3A 7JB  
The demolition of the existing buildings and construction of 2 basement levels and 
ground plus 16 storey building (89m AOD) comprising office (Class B1) use 
[35,658sq.m GEA] and retail (Class A1/A3) uses [758sq.m GEA] with associated 
servicing and plant facilities. [Total 36,416sq.m GEA]. 

Ward: Aldgate Public                 For Decision 

Registered No: 14/00433/FULMAJ Registered on: 17 July 2014 

Conservation Area:     No             Listed Building: No 

Summary 
 
Planning permission is sought for the construction of a 20 storey building (two 
basements, ground floor, 16 upper floors and one double height roof plant level) for 
office and retail use. The highest part of the building would be 89m AOD (84.98m 
AGL). 
The new development would provide an additional 24,339sq.m (GEA) of office 
(Class B1) floorspace (35,658sq.m total) and an additional 31sq.m (GEA)  of retail 
floorspace (Class A1 and A3) (758sq.m total) at ground floor level. The existing 
retail space at basement level (451sq.m GEA) which is principally storage, would be 
lost. 
The proposed development would provide a significant increase in flexible office 
accommodation and retail space on this site, which will assist in meeting the needs 
of the financial and business services of the City. 
The scale of the building would be in character with the area, would not be 
detrimental to the setting of nearby listed buildings and conservation areas or views 
from the Tower of London. 
The proposals support the strategic objectives of the City of London and would 
support the economic policies of the London Plan, Core Strategy and Local Plan. 
 
Recommendation 
(a) Planning permission be GRANTED for the above proposal in accordance with 
the details set out in the attached schedule subject to planning obligations and other 
agreements being entered into in respect of those matters set out in the report, the 
decision not to be issued until such obligations have been executed; 
(b) That your officers be instructed to negotiate and execute obligations in respect of 
those matters set out in the report under Section 106. 

Page 441

Agenda Item 6e



 

Page 442



 

Page 443



Site 
1. The site is located within the ‘foothills’ of the City’s eastern cluster of tall 

buildings and is part of a street block bounded by Houndsditch to the 
northeast, Bevis Marks to the southwest, Goring Street to the northwest 
and Stoney Lane to the southeast. 

2. The existing site is occupied by four buildings arranged around a service 
courtyard: 

Bevis Marks House, 24 Bevis Marks – rebuilt in the mid-1980s 
retaining a section of a 1920s facade forming a feature corner at the 
junction of Bevis Marks and Goring Street. The building provides 
8,283sq.m of office space spread over 6 storeys and 270sq.m of retail 
at ground floor level. 
19 Bevis Marks, 21-22 Bevis Marks and 38-41Houndsditch – These 
three buildings are all of five storeys and provide a total of 3,036sq.m 
of office space and 939sq.m of retail. 
Total floorspace: 11,319sq.m of office; 1209sq.m retail. 

3. The grade I listed Bevis Marks, Spanish and Portuguese Synagogue is 
located to the south west of the site in the courtyard to the rear of 14 
Bevis Marks. 

Proposal 
4. It is proposed to construct a new building for office and retail use. The 

building would comprise two basements, ground floor, 16 upper floors 
and one double height roof plant level. The highest part of the building 
would be 89m AOD (84.98m AGL). 

5. The proposed floorspace of the building is 36,416sq.m of which 
35,658sq.m would be office (Class B1) and 758sq.m retail (Class A1 or 
A3). [All floorspace figures GEA] 

6. The main entrance and reception would be located on the north-west 
corner at the junction Bevis Marks and Goring Street. The retail units 
would be sited along the full length of the Houndsditch elevation and 
adjoining the main entrance lobby along Bevis Marks. Servicing would be 
at ground level with access from Goring Street. 

Consultations 
7. The views of other City of London departments have been taken into 

account in considering the redevelopment scheme. Some detailed 
matters remain to be dealt with through conditions and the provision of 
an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

8. The planning application was publicised in the press and on site. 
Individual letters were sent to all the residential occupants of the 
Middlesex Street Estate (Petticoat Square and Petticoat Tower). 
One objection was received from a resident of Petticoat Tower. The 
objector stated: 

Page 444



“The proposed facade is inappropriate - using strong verticals in orange. 
We were told this matched the red brick of buildings nearby - to which I 
strongly disagree. Modern synthetic materials cannot be matched 
against old brick. It will be an eyesore both at street level and from the 
Middlesex St Estate, in particular from Petticoat Tower, on the side 
immediately opposite the site. The surrounding buildings are all in tones 
of grey while this building will be a mammoth orange block, out of scale 
with the surrounding buildings. There is presently a beautiful corner 
entrance on Bevis Marks. Could this not have been retained?” 

The full comments are attached to this report. 
The applicant is aware that the Computer Generated Images (CGIs) 
submitted in support of the application reflected a “garish orange tone” 
but that the actual material would be more similar to the brown of rusted 
steel. 

Policies 
9. The development plan consists of the London Plan, the saved policies of 

the Unitary Development Plan and the Core strategy. The London Plan, 
UDP and Core Strategy policies that are most relevant to the 
consideration of this case are set out in Appendix A to this report. 

10. The City of London Local Plan was published in December 2013 and 
was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for examination by 
a Planning Inspector. The Inspector’s report on the Local Plan was 
issued on 12th November 2014. The Inspector found that the Local Plan 
was sound and he did not make any recommendations for material 
modifications. The Inspector’s report is before you today. 

11. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (para 216) states that 
“decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to…the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced the preparation, the greater the weight that may be given)”. It 
is intended that the Local Plan will be adopted by the Common Council 
on 15th January 2015. Upon adoption the Local Plan will supersede the 
Core Strategy and UDP.  

12. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 

Considerations 
Introduction 
13. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform: 

· To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far 
as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations (Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 

· To determine the application in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise 

Page 445



(Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004); 

· For development which affects a listed building or its setting, to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990) and; 

· Paragraph 131 of the NPPF advises, “In determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 

heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent 
with their conservation; 

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets 
can make to sustainable communities including their 
economic vitality; and 

c) the desirability of new development making a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness.” 

14. The NPPF states at paragraph 14 that “at the heart of the NPPF is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development which should be seen 
as a golden thread running through both plan-making and decision-
taking ….. For decision-taking this means: approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay...” It 
further states at Paragraph 2 that: 

“Planning Law requires that applications for planning permission must 
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise”. 

15. It states at paragraph 7 that sustainable development has an economic, 
social and environmental role. 

16. In considering the planning application before you, account has to be 
taken of the statutory and policy framework, the documentation 
accompanying the application, and views of both statutory and non-
statutory consultees. 

17. The principal issues in considering this application are: 

· The extent to which the proposals comply with Government 
policy advice (NPPF). 

· The extent to which the proposals comply with the relevant 
policies of the London Plan, Core Strategy and the saved policies 
of the Unitary Development Plan and the emerging Local Plan. 

· The impact of the proposal on heritage assets. 

· The impact on the nearby buildings and spaces, including 
daylight/sunlight and amenity. 

 
 

Page 446



 
Economic Development Issues 
18. London’s status as a world city is founded to a substantial degree on its 

concentration of international service activities and, most noticeably, by 
the clustering of financial and business services in the City of London. 

19. The importance that is attached to the maintenance and enhancement of 
the City's role as one of the world's leading financial and business 
centres is reflected in the policies of the Core Strategy and the London 
Plan, particularly policies CS1 and 2.10. 

20. Policy CS1 seeks to increase office floorspace, particularly ‘encouraging 
the assembly and development of large sites, where appropriate, to meet 
the accommodation needs of the City’s biggest occupiers’. 

21. The current buildings provide 11,319sq.m (GEA)/7,717sq.m (NIA) of 
office accommodation. 

22. The proposed building would provide 35,658sq.m (GEA)/24,275sq.m 
(NIA) of high quality office accommodation to meet the demands of the 
City’s commercial occupiers and, using the London Plan’s assumed 
density of 1 person per 16sq.m (NIA) the number of office workers in the 
new building could be 1,517 compared with 482 in the existing buildings. 

Retail Uses 
23. The existing buildings on the site contain 1,209sq.m (GEA) of mixed 

retail floorspace at both basement and street level. 
24. The new development would provide a total of 758sq.m (GEA) retail 

floorspace (Class A1 and A3) in the form of 6 flexible units of various 
sizes. 

25. Bevis Marks House is not within a Principal Shopping Centre, or 
identified as being on a Retail Link in the emerging Local Plan. Loss of 
retail floorspace has to be considered against Core Strategy policy 
CS20, saved UDP policies SHOP2 and SHOP3 and the emerging Local 
Plan, policy DM20.3. These policies seek to resist the loss of existing 
retail floorspace and seek replacement of existing floorspace on 
redevelopment, primarily at pedestrian level. The proposed development 
would remove the basement retail floorspace from the site but retain and 
improve the ground floor retail space and the retail frontage onto both 
Houndsditch and Bevis Marks. 

26. Although there would be a reduction in total retail floorspace (444sq.m 
GEA), the retention of the street level floorspace and frontage would 
mean that there would be no adverse impact on the retail offer. 

Servicing and Parking 
27. The waste storage and collection facilities have been agreed with the 

Waste and Amenity Planning Manager. 
28. An off-street service yard is provided from Goring Street to service the 

whole building. Service vehicles will be restricted to a maximum length of 
8m and the site would be able to accommodate one such vehicle and 

Page 447



one 6m vehicle within the service yard. The total number of service 
vehicles expected to visit the site per day would be approximately 61 for 
all vehicles types. 

29. The service area would be able to accommodate all vehicles servicing 
the development but a servicing management plan will need to be 
approved to ensure that deliveries are spread throughout the day to 
avoid peaks when the service yard would otherwise become congested. 

30. Other than the provision of a single disabled accessible parking space 
within the service yard, the development provides no car or motorcycle 
parking which accords with policy. 

31. The site is identified as being located in an area with a Public Transport 
Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 6b. This is the highest level of 
accessibility and rated as “Excellent”. There are seven London 
Underground stations and three National Rail stations within 960m 
walking distance. Docklands Light Railway services are available from 
Tower Gateway and Bank stations approximately 660m and 810m from 
the site respectively. There are 26 bus stops within 640m walking 
distance of the site providing access to 25 bus routes. 

32. The application includes a Travel Plan Framework. However, interim and 
full Travel Plans will be required (prior to occupation and within six 
months of first occupation respectively) to ensure that the tenants are 
promoting and encouraging sustainable travel methods. This would be 
secured through the S106 agreement. 

33. 287 double stack cycle parking spaces would be provided at basement 
level together with the required level of shower and changing facilities. 
The cycle parking provision would meet the cycle parking standards in 
the Draft Local Plan of 1 space per 125sq.m of floorspace (GEA) and 
exceed the London Plan Revised Early Minor Alterations (REMA) of 1 
space per 150sq.m of floorspace (238 spaces). 

Design, Bulk & Massing  
34. The site is located to the north of the Eastern Cluster and, with the 

exception of the partially retained facade of the 1920s Bevis Marks 
House, is of post-war construction. 

35. The objector has sought the retention of the 1920s facade within the new 
development. The retained facade, a stone corner turret, does not make 
a significant contribution to the local townscape, which is dominated by 
an eclectic mix of post war buildings. In its current form and setting, 
Bevis Marks House is not considered to be a heritage asset and it would 
not be readily incorporated into a larger building. 

36. The scheme demolishes the existing buildings and provides a tall 
building of 20 storeys (two basements, ground, 16 upper storeys and one 
double height plant level) on the site. The proposed building would be 
part of the “lower tier” of tall buildings which form the “foot hills” of the 
eastern cluster and would complement the emerging cluster of tall 
buildings in scale and composition. 

Page 448



37. At 60-70 St Mary Axe (the street block to the north-west) a tower of 
105m (AOD) was approved in 2012 but construction has not yet 
commenced. To the west, at 6 Bevis Marks, a large office development 
was recently completed with a maximum height of 87.8m. Buildings to 
the east and north-east of the site are lower. 

38. The proposed building has been designed to mediate between the 
heights of neighbouring buildings and would complement the shapes and 
profiles of taller neighbours. 

39. The detailed design intention is for the building to be perceived as a 
stack of related objects, emphasised by horizontal openings for terraces. 
The building would terminate with a distinctive roofscape combining plant 
rooms and a function space with uninterrupted south-east views under 
angled metal and glass roofs. 

40. The design is expressed as a textured facade comprising external 
vertical shading fins with alternating orientations on each stack (four 
floors on average). The fins would be installed on the vertical mullions of 
the glass curtain walls and would give the appearance of solidity when 
viewed obliquely while maximising daylight ingress and openness. The 
fins would have a colour finish that resonates with the warmer tones of 
the brick buildings in the area, by using self-finished patinated metal 
cladding for the fins. Details of the intensity, colour, tone and finish of the 
fins are reserved by condition. 

41. To enable active retail frontages, the fins would not extend down to the 
ground but would reveal the glazed curtain walls of the retail elevations. 
The fins would rise above mezzanine level at the corner of Bevis Marks 
and Goring Street to emphasise the visual impact of the office entrance. 

42. Fins have been omitted from the south-east facade to preserve views 
towards the river. 

43. The neighbouring building to the south-east is much lower and with 
recessed street facades. These recessed facades would result in areas 
of exposed party wall which it is proposed to clad with pre-cast concrete 
panels. In Bevis Marks, the visible area of party wall would reach to 
ground level. 

44. The proposed building’s scale and character would contribute to the 
dynamism and hierarchy of scale in the City. 

The Setting of Listed Buildings 
45. In the immediate vicinity are the grade I listed Bevis Marks Synagogue is 

located in a courtyard behind newer buildings that define the plot 
opposite the site. Further afield is the grade II listed Holland House in 
Bury Street, a 1916 office building with an impressive faience facade, 
and the Grade II listed Baltic Exchange and the grade II* listed Sir John 
Cass Foundation School. The submitted views have been assessed with 
regard to the potential impact of the proposed development on these 
listed buildings and the proposal is not considered to harm the setting of 
any listed buildings in the area. 

 

Page 449



The Setting of Conservation Areas 
46. There are two City conservation areas nearby: Bishopsgate 

Conservation Area is situated to the north and north-west of the site and 
St. Helen’s Place Conservation Area to the south-west. The impact on 
the setting of, and views from, these conservation areas would be limited 
to glimpses of the top of the building, often in conjunction with other 
existing and proposed tall buildings in the vicinity, above the roofline of 
existing buildings.  

47. The proposal will therefore not cause additional harm to the character 
and appearance of these conservation areas. 

48. The site is within the area which has been identified as suitable for high 
buildings in the UDP. It is close to other high buildings and would form 
part of the eastern cluster. 

London Views Management Framework 
49. The London View Management Framework (LVMF) provides a London 

wide policy framework to protect and manage strategically important 
views of London and its major landmarks. The most relevant views in 
determining the application are Townscape View 25 from The Queen’s 
Walk to Tower of London and River Prospect 10, the view north-west 
from Tower Bridge. 

50. The top of the proposed building would be visible between the completed 
6 Bevis Marks and the proposed 60-70 St Mary Axe and the historic 
tower of 10 Trinity Square (former Port of London Authority building) from 
the three assessment points at The Queen’s Walk (25A.1, A.2 and A.3). 
The views demonstrate that the building would lie comfortably within the 
foot hills of the Eastern Cluster, and would be seen with a small step 
down from the buildings to the west that reinforces the emerging skyline 
of the cluster.  

51. In the River Prospect view from the north Bastion of Tower Bridge, the 
White Tower and the trees along the river bank and within the Tower 
would conceal the proposal.  

52. The Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan requires 
views from the Inner Ward to be carefully considered to ensure that it 
[further development] preserves or enhances the quality of the view and 
perceptions of the character of the Inner Ward. The proposal would not 
be visible from within the boundaries of the Tower of London. 

St. Paul’s and Monument Views 
53. The proposed building would not be visible in the views from the Golden 

Gallery of St. Paul’s Cathedral or the viewing gallery of the Monument as 
it would be behind existing tall buildings of the eastern cluster. 

Local Views 
54. The local views most affected by the proposals are the street views from 

the west and east along Houndsditch and Bevis Marks. The silhouette of 
the building would not be visible in its entirety in these views. Instead the 

Page 450



horizontal stacking of the 4-storey elements would be prominent, 
breaking down the scale of the elevations and providing visual interest. 

55. The longer views from Duke’s Place in the south-east and Bishopsgate 
in the north-west would give glimpses of the angled top of the building, 
often in conjunction with existing and proposed tall buildings in the 
vicinity. These views are not considered to be detrimentally affected by 
the proposal. 

56. In conjunction with other approved tall buildings in the vicinity the scale 
and design of the proposed building would provide a transition to the 
lower tier of City buildings. 

Wind 
57. The applicants have carried out a desk top study that indicates that the 

wind microclimate at ground level around the site would have wind 
conditions suitable for standing/entrance use or better during the worst 
season (winter) while all the thoroughfares around the site would be 
suitable for leisure walking. 

Daylight and Sunlight 
58. Loss of daylight and outlook is a material planning consideration. Policy 

ENV 35 of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) seeks “To resist 
development which would reduce noticeably the daylight and sunlight 
available to nearby dwellings and open spaces to levels which would be 
contrary to the Building Research Establishment’s guidelines”. 

59. A report has been submitted analysing the effect of the proposal on 
daylight and sunlight to residential units at Petticoat Tower. This analysis 
has been carried out in accordance with the Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) guidelines “Site Layout Planning for Daylight and 
Sunlight”. The guidelines are advisory rather than mandatory and need 
to be interpreted flexibly, taking into account other factors which might 
also affect the site. 
Petticoat Tower 

60. Petticoat Tower is a residential block located 150m to the northeast of 
the site.  

Daylight 
61. The proposed scheme would have a negligible impact on residential 

amenity with all the residential units assessed complying with the BRE 
recommendations for daylight utilising Vertical Sky Component (VSC). 

62. When considering VSC the guidance states that if a reduction is below 
the minimum recommended figure and the reduction is greater than 20% 
of the existing figure, the difference in daylight (or sunlight) would be 
noticeable. 

63. The windows worst affected by the proposals (Podium level to 2nd floor) 
would receive a minimum of 91% of their existing daylight with those 
windows above 2nd floor level receiving 97% or more. 
 

Page 451



Sunlight 
64. All rooms within Petticoat Tower would comply with the BRE 

requirements for sunlight in Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) 
terms. 

65. As with VSC, when considering APSH the guidance states that if a 
reduction is below the minimum recommended figure and the reduction 
is greater than 20% of the existing figure, the difference in sunlight would 
be noticeable. 

66. Those windows worst affected by the proposals would receive a 
minimum of 97% of their existing sunlight levels (summer) and 91% 
(winter). 
Amenity Space 

67. The BRE guidance on sunlight to a garden or amenity area suggests for 
it to be adequately sunlit throughout the year no more than 40%, and 
preferably no more than 25%, should be in permanent shade on 21st 
March. 

68. The amenity space of the Petticoat Tower Podium would receive 98% of 
its existing sunlight levels on 21st March. The new development would 
not cause any permanent overshadowing. 

69. The supporting information provided by the daylighting consultants 
indicates that on March 21st the sunlight penetration to the open space 
of Jubilee Gardens would be similar in both the existing and proposed 
scenarios with a “de minimis” effect on the amenity of the area. 
Other Properties 

70. There are no other residential premises where daylight or sunlight would 
be affected by this proposal. 

Cleaning 
71. External cleaning and maintenance of the facades would be carried out 

via a building maintenance unit that would be ‘parked’ within the sloped 
roof of the building when not in use. A counterweighted telescopic boom 
would extend, allowing a suspended cradle to access all parts of the 
building perimeter. 

Sustainability & Energy 
72. As part of the supporting documentation, the applicants have submitted a 

Sustainability Statement, including a BREEAM New Construction 2011 
(Offices) pre-assessment and an Energy Statement. The redevelopment 
of the site provides the opportunity to improve energy performance over 
the Building Regulations 2010 compliant baseline. The following passive 
design measures would be incorporated:  

· An energy efficient building envelope; 

· vertical facade elements designed to provide solar shading; 

· improved air tightness of the building envelope; 

Page 452



· energy efficient lighting and controls, maximising natural daylight; 

· specification of energy efficient plant. 

73. By utilising passive design and energy efficiency measures, the 
development is estimated to achieve 24.5% carbon emissions savings 
over the Building Regulations 2010 compliant baseline scheme.  

74. The connection of the development into a district heating network is 
currently not possible but the opportunity for a future connection would 
be provided. 

75. The incorporation of a site wide Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 
system is not considered to be feasible for this development. 

76. An assessment of the incorporation of low carbon and renewable energy 
technologies concludes that an installation of photovoltaic modules 
250sq.m in area on the south facing facade could provide further carbon 
emissions savings of 0.5 - 1%. Other technologies are not considered to 
be feasible due to the highly constrained nature of the site. 

77. The submitted energy strategy demonstrates that the development has 
the potential to achieve a 25% carbon emission reduction over a Building 
Regulations compliant building. This would result in a shortfall of 15 % 
carbon emissions savings in relation to the London Plan target of 40%, 
and offset payments may be required if evidence cannot be provided to 
demonstrate that this building cannot meet the target on site. 

78. The BREEAM pre-assessment rating for the building has an “excellent” 
rating and indicates no outstanding issues which should be addressed. 

79. The sustainability statement contains the intent to incorporate 
sustainable drainage systems such as a rainwater harvesting system 
and rain water storage within the basement which would act as an 
attenuation tank to reduce the water run-off rate from the development 
together  with retention of some of the collected rain water within the tank 
to allow for re-use. In addition, the statement addresses energy 
efficiency, sustainable materials, conserving water resources, waste 
management, pollution, urban greening and biodiversity. The proposed 
range of climate change adaptation and sustainable design measures is 
considered to be acceptable, subject to further details to be considered 
under the conditions. 

Demolition and Construction  
80. The Demolition and Construction Method Statement for the scheme will 

be required by condition. 
Archaeology 
81. The site is in an area of significant archaeological potential due to its 

location over the line of the Roman and medieval London wall and ditch. 
An archaeological assessment and interim evaluation report have been 
submitted with the application. A section of London wall adjacent to the 
western corner of the site is a scheduled ancient monument. 

Page 453



82. The archaeological assessment sets out the previous records of 
archaeological work on the site and it is considered that construction of 
the existing basements of Bevis Marks House and 19 Bevis Marks has 
removed any surviving remains of the Roman wall. Subsequent work on 
the site included lowering the basement had a further impact. The 
archaeological evaluation carried out concluded that due to the depth of 
the existing basement slab the Roman wall and medieval ditch do not 
survive in this area. There is some potential for survival of archaeological 
remains below 20-22 Bevis Marks and 39-41 Houndsditch. 

83. The archaeological assessment and evaluation conclude that remains of 
the Roman and medieval wall, which is a significant archaeological 
feature, does not survive. 

84. The proposed development would remove all surviving remains on the 
site. This is regarded as acceptable subject to proper archaeological 
recording and foundation design. 

Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
85. Under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 an 

agreement or planning obligation can be made between parties, usually 
the developer and the local authority, or a unilateral undertaking can be 
submitted by a prospective developer: 

· restricting the development or use of land in any specified way; 

· requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on 
or under or over the land; 

· requiring the land to be used in any specified way; or 

· requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified 
date or dates or periodically. 

86. Planning obligation arrangements were modified by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended (‘the CIL 
Regulations’). The Regulations introduce statutory restrictions on the use 
of planning obligations to clarify their proper purpose, and make 
provision for planning obligations to work alongside any Community 
Infrastructure Levy (‘CIL’) arrangements which local planning authorities 
may elect to adopt. 

87. Regulation 122 states that it is unlawful for a planning obligation to 
constitute a reason to grant planning permission when determining a 
planning application if the obligation does not meet all the following tests: 

· necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; 

· directly related to the development; and 

· fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development 

88. The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) stated that 
planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. The policy 

Page 454



repeated the tests set out above and states that where planning 
obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should 
take account of changes in market conditions over time and, wherever 
appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being 
stalled. (NPPF paragraphs 203-206). 

Mayor of London Policies 
Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
89. London Plan Policy 8.3 requires the Mayoral CIL to be paid by 

developers to help fund strategically important infrastructure, initially 
focussing on Crossrail until 2019. The Mayor has set a charge of £50 per 
sq.m and this applies to all development over 100sq.m (GIA) except 
social housing, education related development, health related 
development and development for charities for charitable purposes.  

Mayoral Planning Obligations   
90. Since April 2010 the Mayor of London has sought contributions towards 

the cost of funding Crossrail through the negotiation of planning 
obligations in accordance with London Plan Policy 6.5. Mayoral planning 
obligations are payable by developers according to an indicative level of 
charges for specific uses set out in the Mayoral SPG (April 2013): offices 
(£140 per sq.m net gain in GIA floorspace), retail (£90) and hotels (£61) 
provided there is a net gain of 500sq.m. 

91. Developments that are liable for both Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning 
obligations payments for Crossrail, the Mayor will not double charge. His 
approach is to treat Mayoral CIL payment as a credit towards Mayor 
planning obligation liability. Therefore the Mayoral planning obligation 
liability can be reduced by the Mayoral CIL. 

92. At the time of preparing this report the Mayoral CIL has been calculated 
to be £1,121,550. The full Mayoral planning obligation has been 
calculated to be £3,159,140. This would be reduced to £2,037,590 after 
deduction of the Mayoral CIL. It should be noted that these figures may 
be subject to change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at the 
point of payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative figures 
at this point. 

93. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 4% of the 
Mayoral CIL income as an administration fee; the remainder will be 
forwarded to the Mayor of London. The whole of the Mayoral planning 
obligation income received will be forwarded to the Mayor. However, the 
developer will also be liable to pay an additional £3,500 Mayoral planning 
obligation administration and monitoring charge to the City Corporation. 
The total contributions due in accordance with the Mayoral CIL and 
Mayoral planning obligation policies are summarised below:  

 
Liability in 
accordance with the 
Mayor of London’s 
policies 

Contribution 
£ 

Forwarded 
to the 
Mayor 

Retained by 
City 

Corporation 

Page 455



Mayoral Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
payable 

1,121,550 1,076,688 44,862 

Mayoral planning 
obligation net liability* 

2,037,590 2,037,590 Nil 

Mayoral planning 
obligation 
administration and 
monitoring charge 

3,500 Nil 3,500 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
Mayor of London’s 
policies 

3,162,640 3,114,278 
 

48,362 

*Net liability is on the basis of the CIL charge remaining as reported 
and could be subject to variation. 

 
City of London’s Planning Obligations SPG policy 

 
City Planning Obligations 

 
City CIL  

94. The City introduced its CIL on 1st July 2014 and will be chargeable in 
addition to the Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning obligations. CIL will be 
charged at a rate of £75 per sq.m for Offices, £150 for Residential 
Riverside, £95 for Residential rest of the city and £75 for all other uses. 
At the time of preparing this report the City CIL has been calculated to be 
£1,682,325. It should be noted that these figures may be subject to 
change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at the point of 
payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative figures at this 
point. 

95. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 5% of the 
CIL income as an administration fee. The contributions collected will be 
used to fund the infrastructure required to meet the requirements of the 
City’s Development Plan. 

96. On 1st July 2014 the City’s Supplementary Planning Document on 
Planning Obligations was adopted. City Planning Obligations would be 
payable by developers in accordance with the Planning Obligations SPD 
on new commercial developments where there is a net increase of 
500sq.m or more of Gross Internal Area. The policy seeks contributions 
towards Affordable Housing (£20 per sq.m), Local Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage (£3 per sq.m) and Carbon Offsetting (£46 per tonne of 
carbon offset). 

97. In this case the proposed net increase in floorspace would be 
22,431sq.m. On the basis of the figure indicated in the Supplementary 
Planning Document, the planning obligation figure would be £515,913. It 
is the City’s practice that all financial contributions should be index-linked 

Page 456



with reference to the appropriate index from the date of adoption of the 
SPD to the date of permission. 

98. The applicant has agreed a breakdown which accords with the 
Supplementary Planning Document as follows: 
 

Liability in accordance 
with the City of 

London’s policies 

Contribution  
£ 

Available for 
Allocation 

£ 

Retained for 
Monitoring 
Charge £ 

City Community 
Infrastructure Levy  

1,682,325 1,598,209 84,116 

City Planning Obligation 
Affordable Housing 

448,620 444,134 4,486 

City Planning Obligation 
Local, Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage 

67,293 66,620 673 

Non-Financial Planning 
Obligation Monitoring 
Charge 

2,500 Nil 2,500 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

2,200,738 2,108,963 91,775 

 
99. I have set out below the details that I am recommending concerning the 

planning obligations. All of the proposals are considered to be necessary 
to make the application acceptable in planning terms, directly related to 
the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development and meet the above tests contained in the CIL 
Regulations and in government policy. I would also request that I be 
given delegated authority to continue to negotiate and agree the terms of 
the proposed obligations as necessary. 
Affordable Housing 

100. The Affordable Housing contribution will be used for the purpose of off-
site provision of affordable housing in suitable locations in or near to the 
City of London in accordance with the London Plan. The applicant will be 
required to pay this contribution on or before the implementation of the 
planning permission. 
Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage 

101. The Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage contribution will be applied 
to the provision of training and skills initiatives, including job brokerage, 
in the City or City fringes. The Developer will be required to pay this 
contribution on or before the implementation of planning permission. 
Highway Reparation and other Highways obligations 

102. The cost of any reparation works required as a result of the development 
will be the responsibility of the Developer. 

Page 457



103. If required, prior to implementation and based on the City’s standard 
draft, the developer will be obligated to enter into an agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to meet the cost of highway works 
that are necessary to meet the burden placed on the highway network by 
the development. 
Utility Connections 

104. The development will require connection to a range of utility 
infrastructure. Early engagement by the applicant about utilities 
infrastructure provision will allow for proper co-ordination and planning of 
all works required to install the utility infrastructure, particularly under 
public highway, so as to minimise disruption to highway users. A s106 
covenant will therefore require the submission of draft and final 
programmes for ordering and completing service connections from utility 
providers in order that the City's comments can be taken into account, 
and will require that all connections are carried out in accordance with 
the programme. Details of the utility connection requirements of the 
Development including all proposed service connections, communal 
entry chambers, the proposed service provider and the anticipated 
volume of units required for the Development will also be required. 
Method Statement, Plans and Audits 
 
Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 

105. The developer would be required to submit for approval a Delivery and 
Servicing Management Plan prior to occupation. In the event of any 
breach of the Management Plan, the developer will be required to 
resubmit a revised document, and should the developer default on this 
requirement, the City will be given the ability to provide a replacement 
plan. The operation of the Delivery and Servicing Management Plan will 
be subject to an annual review. 
Travel Plan 

106. The developer would be required to submit both interim and full Travel 
Plans prior to occupation and six months after occupation respectively. 
The obligations in relation to this shall apply for the life of the building. 
Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage 

107. The Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage contribution will be applied 
to the provision of training and skills initiatives, including job brokerage, 
in the City or City fringes. The Developer will be required to pay this 
contribution on or before the implementation of planning permission. 
Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) 

108. The applicant will be required to submit for approval details of the Local 
Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) in line with 
the aims of the City Corporation’s Employment Charter for Construction 
as outlined in the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document. This Charter aims to maximise job opportunities in the City 
for residents of the City fringes and offer employment and training 
opportunities to local people wishing to begin a career in construction. 

Page 458



The Strategy will be submitted in two stages: one to be submitted prior to 
the First Preparatory Operation Date in respect of the Preparatory 
Operations; the second to be submitted prior to Implementation in 
respect of the Main Contract Works Package. 

109. The Economic Development Office is able to introduce the Developer or 
its Contractor and Sub-Contractors to local training providers and 
brokerage agencies to discuss their site-specific skills needs and to 
identify suitable local people to fill opportunities on site. The Developer is 
encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development Office at the 
earliest stage in the development process in order that the strategy can 
be submitted prior to commencement. 
Local Procurement 

110. The developer has agreed to submit for approval a Local Procurement 
Strategy prior to commencement of demolition. The Local Procurement 
Strategy shall include details of: initiatives to identify local procurement 
opportunities relating to the construction of the development; initiatives to 
reach a 10% target for local procurement, from small to medium sized 
enterprises in the City and City fringes; the timings and arrangements for 
the implementation of such initiatives; and suitable mechanisms for the 
monitoring of the effectiveness of such initiatives e.g. a local 
procurement tracker can be used to capture this information, in 
accordance with the Local Procurement Charter. 

111. The developer will be required every 6 months and a final report no later 
than 6 months after occupation, to report to the City of London 
Corporation’s Economic Development Office on their performance 
against the 10% local procurement target. 

112. The Economic Development Officer is able to provide information and 
guidance to the Developer its Contractor and Sub-Contractors. The 
Developer is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development 
Officer at the earliest stage in the development process in order that the 
strategy can be submitted prior to implementation 
Carbon Offsetting 

113. The London Plan sets a target for major developments to achieve an 
overall carbon dioxide emission reduction of 35% over Part L Building 
Regulations 2013, through the use of on-site renewable energy 
generation, in line with London Plan energy hierarchy. A detailed 
assessment will be required and if the assessment demonstrated that the 
target is not met on site the applicant will be required to meet the 
shortfall through a cash in lieu contribution. The contribution will be 
secured through the section 106 agreement, at an initial cost of £60 per 
tonne of carbon to be offset, calculated over a 30 year period. The 
financial contribution for carbon off-setting will be required on 
commencement or prior to occupation. 
 
 
 
 

Page 459



Monitoring and Administrative Costs 
114. A 10 year repayment period would be required where by any unallocated 

sums would be returned to the developer 10 years after practical 
completion of the development. 

115. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs incurred in the 
negotiation and execution of the legal agreement and the City Planning 
Officer’s administration costs in respect of the same. 1% of the total 
contribution (secured under the City’s SPG) will be allocated to the 
monitoring of the agreement. 

116. Separate additional administration and monitoring fees will be applied in 
relation to the Crossrail Contribution. 
Site Specific Mitigation 

117. The City Corporation will principally seek to mitigate the impact of 
development and provide necessary infrastructure through the use of CIL 
but, in some circumstances, it may be necessary additionally to seek site 
specific mitigation to ensure that a development is acceptable in planning 
terms. Other matters requiring mitigation are still yet to be fully scoped.  

Conclusion 
118. The proposal supports the City’s strategic objective to promote the City 

as the leading international financial and business centre. 
119. The scheme provides an employment led, mixed use development which 

supports the economic policies of the London Plan and UDP and 
provides an increase in high quality floorspace suitable for a major 
occupiers and/or other users and support accommodation in this part of 
the City. 

120. The scheme’s reliance on public transport meets the transport policies in 
the London Plan and UDP. This will have the benefits of maintaining the 
strength of the City cluster in economic terms and by making effective 
and efficient use of the infrastructure necessary to sustain such 
concentrations of development. 

121. The proposed building would sit within the “foothills” of the eastern 
cluster. The detailed facade treatment and materials would distinguish 
this building from other tall buildings in the vicinity. 

122. This development would not detract from the City’s conservation areas, 
listed buildings or be detrimental to the setting of the Tower of London 
World Heritage Site. 

123. The proposal, due to its height and form would provide a distinctive 
building which would integrate with its context in street level views and is 
a well thought through and rigorous design with a high degree of 
detailing in its elevational treatment and passive energy measures. 

124. The proposal is in compliance with the provisions of the Development 
Plan. 

Page 460



125. After considering and balancing all of the above circumstances, I 
recommend planning permission be granted as set out in the 
Recommendation and Schedule. 

Page 461



Background Papers 
Internal 
Email  23.07.2014 Open Spaces Department 
Memo  05.08.2014 City of London Markets and Consumer Protection, 
Pollution Team 
 
External 
Letter  23.07.2014 English Heritage 
Email  29.07.2014 Environment Agency 
Email  29.07.2014 Ms. Vicky Stewart 
Email  04.08.2014 Thames Water 
Letter  12.08.2014 LB Tower Hamlets 
Email  13.08.2014 Historic Royal Palaces 
Letter  28.03.2013 City of Westminster 
Letter  09.09.2014 LB Islington 
 
Application Documents 
Design and Access Statement by KPF rec’d 06.05.2014 

Noise Impact Assessment by ARUP rec’d 06.05.2014 

Historic Environment Assessment by Museum of London Archaeology rec’d 

06.05.2014 

Daylight and Sunlight Report by Deloitte rec’d 06.05.2014 

Energy Statement by ARUP rec’d 06.05.2014 

Sustainability Statement and BREEAM Pre-Assessment by ARUP rec’d 

06.05.2014 

Addendum to Design and Access Statement (Views Assessment) by KPF 

rec’d 04.09.2014 

Addendum to Design and Access Statement (Local Views) by KPF rec’d 

05.09.2014 

Addendum to Design and Access Statement (3 x Photomontages) by KPF 

rec’d 09.09.2014 

Addendum to Design and Access Statement by KPF rec’d 01.10.2014 

Archaeological Evaluation: Interim Report by Museum of London Archaeology 

rec’d 13.10.2014 

Page 462



Pedestrian Level Wind Microclimate Assessment Desktop Study by RWDI 

rec’d 22.10.2014 

Addendum to Daylight and Sunlight Report by Deloitte rec’d 24.10.2014 

Drawings nos: A-29, A-30, A-31, A-32, A-33, A-34, A-35, A-36, A-49, A-50, A-

51 and A-52.

Page 463



Appendix A 

London Plan Policies 
The London Plan is part of the development plan for the City. As such the 
London Plan is a material consideration to which the City of London 
Corporation must have regard in exercising its development control powers.  
The London Plan policies which are most relevant to this application are set 
out below: 
Policy 2.10 Enhance and promote the unique international, national and 
London wide roles of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and as a strategically 
important, globally-oriented financial and business services centre. 
Policy 2.11 Ensure that developments proposals to increase office floorspace 
within CAZ include a mix of uses including housing, unless such a mix would 
demonstrably conflict with other policies in the plan. 
Policy 4.2 Support the management and mixed use development and 
redevelopment of office provision to improve London’s competitiveness and to 
address the wider objectives of this Plan, including enhancing its varied 
attractions for businesses of different types and sizes. 
Policy 4.3 Within the Central Activities Zone increases in office floorspace 
should provide for a mix of uses including housing, unless such a mix would 
demonstrably conflict with other policies in this plan. 
Policy 5.2 Development proposals should make the fullest contribution to 
minimising carbon dioxide emissions. 
Policy 5.3 Development proposals should demonstrate that sustainable 
design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction and 
operation. Major development proposals should meet the minimum standards 
outlined in supplementary planning guidance 
Policy 5.7 Major development proposals should provide a reduction in carbon 
dioxide emissions through the use of on-site renewable energy generation, 
where feasible. 
Policy 6.3 Development proposals should ensure that impacts on transport 
capacity and the transport network are fully assessed. 
Policy 6.5 Contributions will be sought from developments likely to add to, or 
create, congestion on London’s rail network that Crossrail is intended to 
mitigate. 
Policy 6.9 Developments should provide secure, integrated and accessible 
cycle parking facilities and provide on-site changing facilities and showers for 
cyclists, facilitate the Cycle Super Highways and facilitate the central London 
cycle hire scheme. 
Policy 7.6 Buildings and structures should:  
(a) Be of the highest architectural quality; 
(b) Be of a proportion, composition, scale and orientation that enhances, 

activates and appropriately defines the public realm;  

Page 464



(c) Comprise details and materials that complement, not necessarily 
replicate, the local architectural character;  

(d) Not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and 
buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, 
overshadowing, wind and microclimate. This is particularly important for 
tall buildings;  

(e) Incorporate best practice in resource management and climate change 
mitigation and adaptation;  

(f)  Provide high quality indoor and outdoor spaces and integrate well with the 
surrounding streets and open spaces;  

(g) Be adaptable to different activities and land uses, particularly at ground 
level;  

(h) Meet the principles of inclusive design; 
(i) Optimise the potential of sites. 

Policy 7.7 Tall and large buildings should be part of a plan-led approach to 
changing or developing an area by the identification of appropriate, sensitive 
and inappropriate locations. Tall and large buildings should not have an 
unacceptably harmful impact on their surroundings. Applications for tall or 
large buildings should include an urban design analysis that demonstrates the 
proposal is part of a strategy that will meet the criteria set out in this policy. 
Policy 7.8 Development should identify, value, conserve, restore, re-use and 
incorporate heritage assets, conserve the significance of heritage assets and 
their settings and make provision for the protection of archaeological 
resources, landscapes and significant memorials. 
Policy 7.12 New development should not harm and where possible should 
make a positive contribution to the characteristics and composition of the 
strategic views and their landmark elements identified in the London View 
Management Framework. It should also, where possible, preserve viewers' 
ability to recognise and to appreciate Strategically Important Landmarks in 
these views and, where appropriate, protect the silhouette of landmark 
elements of World Heritage Sites as seen from designated Viewing Places. 
Policy 7.13 Development proposals should contribute to the minimisation of 
potential physical risks, including those arising as a result of fire, flood and 
related hazards. 
Policy 7.14 Implement Air Quality and Transport strategies to achieve 
reductions in pollutant emissions and minimise public exposure to pollution. 
 

Page 465



Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy Policies 
 
ARC1 Archaeology - evaluation and impact 

 
To require planning applications which involve excavation or 
groundworks on sites of archaeological potential to be accompanied by 
an archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site including the 
impact of the proposed development. 

 
ARC2 To preserve archaeological remains 

 
To require development proposals to preserve in situ, protect and 
safeguard important ancient monuments and important archaeological 
remains and their settings, and where appropriate, to require the 
permanent public display and/or interpretation of the monument or 
remains. 

 
ARC3 Recording of archaeological remains 

 
To ensure the proper investigation, recording of sites, and publication of 
the results, by an approved organisation as an integral part of a 
development programme where a development incorporates 
archaeological remains or where it is considered that preservation in situ 
is not appropriate. 

 
ENV8 Promote high quality open spaces 

 
To promote and ensure high standards in the layout, design, surface 
treatment and landscaping of open spaces and streets, and to seek the 
retention of existing surfaces and features which contribute positively to 
the character and appearance of the location and the City. 

 
ENV28 Design of building services 

 
To ensure that building services are satisfactorily integrated into the 
architectural design of the building (with particular reference to its roof 
profile) and to resist installations which would adversely affect the 
character, appearance or amenities of the buildings or area concerned. 

 
ENV35 To protect daylight and sunlight 

 
To resist development which would reduce noticeably the daylight and 
sunlight available to nearby dwellings and open spaces to levels which 
would be contrary to the Building Research Establishment's guidelines. 

 
HOUS10 Respect residential privacy, etc 

 
To require where practicable that the privacy, outlook and daylighting 
levels of residential accommodation is respected by the form of adjacent 
development. 

Page 466



 
IMP5 Separate uses to be self contained 

 
To require that individual uses within mixed developments are separate 
and self-contained. 

 
SHOP2 Seek replacement of retail uses 

 
To seek the replacement of retail uses in development schemes and to 
ensure that such replacements are primarily at the pedestrian level. 

 
SHOP3 Seek increased retail facilities 

 
To seek, where appropriate, the provision of new or increased retail 
facilities, particularly where: 
 
i. existing retail shop facilities are being replaced on redevelopment in 
 accordance with policy SHOP 2; 
 
ii. the site is in or close to a shopping centre; 
 
iii. the site is close to a public transport interchange; 
 
iv. there is a riverside frontage. 

 
SHOP4 Variety in size of retail units 

 
To encourage retail uses in any new development scheme to provide a 
variety of unit sizes compatible with the character of the area in which 
they are situated and to encourage large retail units in suitable areas. 

 
TRANS15 Seek off-street servicing 

 
To seek, where appropriate, the provision of off-street servicing facilities 
in such a way as: 
 
i. to ensure that the location and design of vehicular access and 
servicing arrangements minimise the adverse effects on the adjoining 
highway and pay due regard to the environment and the convenience 
and safety of pedestrians; 
 
ii. to ensure that vehicular servicing and servicing access is avoided on 
or onto Tier 1-3 roads, except where a practical alternative cannot be 
provided; and 
 
iii. to enable vehicles to enter and leave premises in a forward direction. 

 
 
 
 

Page 467



TRANS18 Resist non-residential parking 
 
To resist the provision of private non-residential parking in excess of the 
current planning standards. 

 
TRANS21 Seek parking for disabled people 

 
To seek the provision and improvement of parking arrangements for 
disabled people. 

 
TRANS22 Require cycle parking 

 
To provide cycle parking facilities by: 
 
i. requiring the provision of private parking space for cycles in 
development schemes; 
 
ii. maintaining an adequate overall number of spaces for cycles in public 
off-street car parks; and 
 
iii. providing an adequate supply of cycle parking facilities on-street. 

 
TRANS23 Require parking for motorcycles 

 
To provide parking facilities for motorcycles by: 
 
i. requiring the provision of private parking spaces for motorcycles in 
development schemes; 
 
ii. maintaining an adequate overall number of spaces for motorcycles in 
public off-street car parks and; 
 
iii. seeking to maintain on-street motorcycle parking at current levels, 
pending the approval of the Local Implementation Plan. 

 
UTIL6 Provision for waste collection 

 
To require adequate provision within all developments for the storage, 
presentation for collection, and removal of waste, unless exceptional 
circumstances make it impractical; to encourage provision to allow for 
the separate storage of recyclable waste where appropriate. 

 
CS1 Provide additional offices 

 
To ensure the City of London provides additional office development of 
the highest quality to meet demand from long term employment growth 
and strengthen the beneficial cluster of activities found in and near the 
City that contribute to London's role as the world's leading international 
financial and business centre. 

 

Page 468



CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 
 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
CS13 Protect/enhance significant views 

 
To protect and enhance significant City and London views of important 
buildings, townscape and skylines, making a substantial contribution to 
protecting the overall heritage of the City's landmarks. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
CS17 Minimising and managing waste 

 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
CS18 Minimise flood risk 

 
To ensure that the City remains at low risk from all types of flooding. 

 

Page 469



CS20 Improve retail facilities 
 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 
CS21 Protect and provide housing 

 
To protect existing housing and amenity and provide additional housing 
in the City, concentrated in or near existing residential communities, to 
meet the City's needs, securing suitable, accessible and affordable 
housing and supported housing. 

 

Page 470



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 14/00433/FULMAJ 
 
Bevis Marks House 24 Bevis Marks London 
 
The demolition of the existing buildings and construction of 2 basement 
levels and ground plus 16 storey building (89m AOD) comprising office 
(Class B1) use [35,658sq.m GEA] and retail (Class A1/A3) uses [758sq.m 
GEA] with associated servicing and plant facilities. [Total 36,416sq.m 
GEA]. 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of five years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 Before the development hereby permitted is begun a detailed site 

investigation shall be carried out to establish if the site is contaminated 
and to determine the potential for pollution of the water environment. In 
the event that site contamination is found it must be reported in writing 
to the Local Planning Authority within five working days and an 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance 
with the requirements of DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
Where remediation is necessary a detailed remediation scheme to 
bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and 
to the natural and historical environment must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority the remediation 
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to 
the intended use of the land after remediation. Following completion of 
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be submitted to and approved in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with the following policy the Core Strategy: CS15 . 

 

Page 471



 3 Before the development hereby permitted is begun, impact studies of 
the existing water supply infrastructure must be submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the local planning authority (in consultation with 
Thames Water). The studies should determine the magnitude of any 
new additional capacity required in the system and a suitable 
connection point.  

 REASON: To ensure that the water supply infrastructure has sufficient 
capacity to cope with the additional demand. 

 
 4 Details of facilities and methods to accommodate construction vehicles 

and deliveries during demolition and the construction of the building 
hereby approved are to be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing prior to the commencement of work and no 
demolition or construction shall be carried out other than in accordance 
with the approved details and methods.  

 REASON: To ensure that the obstruction of the local highway network 
by construction vehicles is minimised in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
 5 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
demolition taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based on the 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for 
Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison set 
out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be submitted in 
respect of individual stages of the demolition process but no works in 
any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme of 
protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The demolition shall not be carried out other 
than in accordance with the approved scheme    

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15. 

 
 6 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
construction work taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based 
on the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of 
Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements 
for liaison set out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be 
submitted in respect of individual stages of the construction process but 
no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the related 
scheme of protective works has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved scheme.   

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 

Page 472



network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15.  

 
 7 Before any piling or construction of basements is commenced a 

scheme for the provision of sewer vents within the building shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority the 
agreed scheme for the provision of sewer vents shall be implemented 
and brought into operation before the development is occupied and 
shall be so maintained for the life of the building.  

 REASON: To vent sewerage odour from (or substantially from) the 
development hereby permitted and mitigate any adverse air pollution or 
environmental conditions in order to protect the amenity of the area in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
 8 The development shall incorporate such measures as are necessary 

within the site to resist structural damage arising from an attack with a 
road vehicle or road vehicle borne explosive device, details of which 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any works hereby permitted are begun.  

 REASON: To ensure that the premises are protected from road vehicle 
borne damage within the site in accordance with the following policy of 
the Core Strategy: CS3. 

 
 9 No works except demolition to basement slab level shall take place 

until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work to be carried out in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include all on site 
work, including details of any temporary works which may have an 
impact on the archaeology of the site and all off site work such as the 
analysis, publication and archiving of the results. All works shall be 
carried out and completed as approved, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to allow an opportunity for investigations to be made 
in an area where remains of archaeological interest are understood to 
exist in accordance with the following policies of the Unitary 
Development Plan: ARC2, ARC3 

 
10 No works except demolition to basement slab level shall take place 

before details of the foundations and piling configuration, to include a 
detailed design and method statement, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such details to 
show the preservation of surviving archaeological remains which are to 
remain in situ.  

 REASON: To ensure the preservation of archaeological remains 
following archaeological investigation in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan: ARC2, ARC3. 

 

Page 473



11 No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement 
(detailing the type of piling to be undertaken and methodology by which 
such piling will be carried out, including measures to prevent and 
minimise the potential for damage to subsurface water or sewerage 
infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the relevant water or sewerage undertaker. Any piling must be 
undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method 
statement.  

 REASON: The proposed works will be in close proximity to 
underground water and sewerage utility infrastructure. Piling has the 
potential to impact on local underground water and sewerage utility 
infrastructure. 

 
12 Before any construction works hereby permitted are begun details of 

rainwater collection, harvesting and grey water recycling systems shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
REASON: To improve sustainability and reduce flood risk by reducing 
potable water demands and water run-off rates in accordance with the 
following policies of the Core Strategy CS15 and CS18. 

 
13 Before any construction works hereby permitted are begun details of 

the installation of photovoltaic panels, as indicated on the drawings 
hereby approved,  shall be submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority and shall be maintained as approved for the life of 
the development.   

 REASON: To minimise carbon emissions and provide a sustainable 
development in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS10, CS15. 

 
14 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) particulars and samples of the materials to be used on all external 
faces of the building including external ground and upper level 
surfaces;  

 (b) details of the proposed new facade(s);  
 (c) large scale (1:5) details of the "Shading Fins" to the south, north 

and west elevations to include details of the colour, tone, intensity and 
finish, method and location of fixings, drainage and the impact of the 
detailed design on the potential for the generation of resonant noise 
and vibration;  

 (d) details of ground floor elevations including entrances;  
 (e) details of soffits, hand rails and balustrades;  
 (f) details of junctions with adjoining premises;  
 (g) details of the integration of window cleaning equipment and the 

garaging thereof, plant, flues, fire escapes and other excrescences at 
roof level  

Page 474



 (h) details of external surfaces within the site boundary including hard 
and soft landscaping;  

 (i) measures to be taken during the period of demolition and 
construction for the protection of the trees to be retained and details of 
any pruning of the trees;  

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: ENV28, 
CS10, CS12, CS15. 

 
15 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life 
of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan 
and Core Strategy: UTIL 6, CS10, CS17. 

 
16 The development shall be designed to allow for the retro-fit of heat 

exchanger rooms to connect into a district heating network if this 
becomes available during the lifetime of the development.  

 REASON: To minimise carbon emissions by enabling the building to be 
connected to a district heating and cooling network if one becomes 
available during the life of the building in accordance with the following 
policy of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
17 A post construction BREEAM assessment demonstrating that a target 

rating of 'Excellent' has been achieved (or such other target rating as 
the local planning authority may agree provided that it is satisfied all 
reasonable endeavours have been used to achieve an 'Excellent' 
rating) shall be submitted as soon as practicable after practical 
completion.  

 REASON: To demonstrate that carbon emissions have been minimised 
and that the development is sustainable in accordance with the 
following policy of the Core Strategy CS15. 

 
18 (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than 

the existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be 
determined at one metre from the nearest window or facade of the 
nearest premises.  

 The measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance 
with B.S. 4142. The background noise level shall be expressed as the 
lowest LA90 (10 minutes) during which plant is or may be in operation. 
Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design 
requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Page 475



 (b) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and 
replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance 
with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
19 The 'Life Safety Generator' shall be used solely on brief intermittent 

and exceptional occasions when required in response to a life 
threatening emergency and for the testing necessary to meet that 
purpose and shall not be used at any other time.  At all times the 
generator shall be operated to minimise its noise impact and a log of its 
use shall be maintained and be available for inspection by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that the generator, which does not meet City of 
London noise standards, is used only in response to a life threatening 
emergency situation. 

 
20 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements, materials and 
construction methods to be used to avoid noise and/or odour 
penetration to the upper floors from the Class A use. The details 
approved must be implemented before the Class A use takes place. 
REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: 
CS15, CS21. 

 
21 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements including materials and 
construction method. The details approved must be implemented 
before the Class A use takes place and shall be so maintained 
thereafter for the life of the building.  

 REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
area in accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: 
CS15, CS21.  

  
22 Before any mechanical plant is used on the premises it shall be 

mounted in a way which will minimise transmission of structure borne 
sound or vibration to any other part of the building in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of commercial occupiers in 
the building in accordance following policy of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
 
 
 

Page 476



23 The Class A1/A3 uses hereby permitted shall not be open to customers 
between the hours of 23:30 on one day and 07:00 on the following day. 
REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Core 
Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
24 In respect of the Class A1 and/or Class A3 units, no live or recorded 

music shall be played that can be heard outside the premises or within 
any other premises in the building.   

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area in general in accordance with the following policy of the Core 
Strategy: CS15. 

 
25 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 

23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS16, CS21. 

 
26 Except as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

the loading and unloading areas must remain ancillary to the use of the 
building and shall be available at all times for that purpose for the 
occupiers thereof and visitors thereto.  

 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory servicing is maintained in 
accordance with the following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: 
TRANS15. 

 
27 Goods, including fuel, delivered or collected by vehicles arriving at or 

departing from the building shall not be accepted or dispatched unless 
the vehicles are unloaded or loaded within the curtilage of the building. 
REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS21. 

 
28 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and 

maintained on the site throughout the life of the building sufficient to 
accommodate a minimum of 287 pedal cycles. The cycle parking 
provided on the site must be available at all times throughout the life of 
the building for the sole use of the occupiers thereof and their visitors 
without charge to the individual end users of the parking.   

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and to assist 
in reducing demand for public cycle parking in accordance with 
Transport for London guidance. 

 

Page 477



 
29 The changing facilities and showers adjacent to the bicycle parking 

areas and indicated on approved drawing A-099 Rev. A, shall be 
provided and maintained throughout the life of the building for the use 
of occupiers of the building.  

 REASON: To make travel by bicycle more convenient in order to 
encourage greater use of bicycles by commuters in accordance with 
the following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS22. 

 
30 The pass door shown adjacent to or near to the main entrance on the 

drawings hereby approved shall remain unlocked and available for use 
at all times when the adjacent revolving doors are unlocked.  

 REASON: In order to ensure that people with mobility disabilities are 
not discriminated against and to comply with the following policy of the 
Core Strategy: CS10. 

 
31 A clear unobstructed headroom of 5m must be maintained for the life of 

the buildings in the refuse skip collection area and a clear unobstructed 
headroom of 4.5m must be provided and maintained in all other areas 
(including access ways) to be used for loading and unloading.  

 REASON: To ensure satisfactory servicing facilities in accordance with 
the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS15, 
UTIL6. 

 
32 The threshold of all vehicular access points shall be at the same level 

as the rear of the adjoining footway.  
 REASON: To maintain a level passage for pedestrians in accordance 

with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core 
Strategy: TRANS 15, ENV 8, CS10, CS16. 

 
33 Prior to the occupation of any part of the building, the land between the 

existing building lines and the face of the proposed new building shall 
be brought up to street level, paved and drained in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall not be fenced or otherwise enclosed or obstructed. 
REASON: To ensure compliance with building lines and to ensure a 
satisfactory treatment at ground level in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: ENV 8, 
CS10, CS16. 

 
34 No doors or gates shall open over the public highway.  
 REASON: In the interests of public safety 
 
35 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission:  

 Drawing nos: A-010, A-011, A-098, A-099 Rev. B, A-100, A- 101, A-
102, A-104, A-105, A-108, A-109, A-112, A-113, A-115, A-116, A-150, 
A-200, A-201, A-202, A-203, A-204, A-205 Rev. A, A-206, A-301.  

 Documents:  

Page 478



 Written Scheme of Investigation for an Archaeological Evaluation, 
Museum of London Archaeology, July 2014 rec'd 22.07.2014  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 

Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 2 This permission must in no way be deemed to prejudice any rights of 

light which may be enjoyed by the adjoining owners or occupiers under 
Common Law. 

 
 3 Access for people with disabilities is a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications. The City of London Corporation 
has published design standards giving advice on access for people 
with disabilities and setting out the minimum standards it expects to 
see adopted in the City buildings. These can be obtained from the 
City's Access Adviser, City Planning Officer and District Surveyor. 
Further advice on improving access for people with disabilities can be 
obtained from the City's Access Adviser. Your attention is drawn to the 
Disability Discrimination provisions of the Equality Act 2010 to ensure 
that disabled people are not significantly disadvantaged.  

   
 Service providers, etc., should make "reasonable adjustments" to 

facilitate access to their premises and the City asks all applicants for 
planning permission to ensure that physical barriers to access 
premises are minimised in any works carried out. 

 
 4 The correct street number or number and name must be displayed 

prominently on the premises in accordance with regulations made 
under Section 12 of the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939.  
Names and numbers must be agreed with the Department of the Built 
Environment prior to their use including use for marketing. 

Page 479



 
 5 The Directorate of the Built Environment must be consulted on the 

following matters which require specific approval:  
 (a) The need for a projection licence for works involving the 

construction of any retaining wall, foundation, footing, balcony, cornice, 
canopy, string course, plinth, window cill, rainwater pipe, oil fuel inlet 
pipe or box, carriageway entrance, or any other projection beneath, 
over or into any public way (including any cleaning equipment 
overhanging any public footway or carriageway). You are advised that 
highway projection licenses do not authorise the licensee to trespass 
on someone else's land. In the case of projections extending above, 
into or below land not owned by the developer permission will also be 
required from the land owner. The City Surveyor must be consulted if 
the City of London Corporation is the land owner. In such cases please 
also contact the Corporate Property Officer, City Surveyor's 
Department.  

 (b) Permanent Highway Stopping-Up Orders, dedication of land for 
highway purposes, declaration, diversion and stopping up of City and 
Riverside Walkways.  

 (c) Hoardings, scaffolding and their respective licences, temporary road 
closures and any other activity on the public highway in connection with 
the proposed building works.  In this regard the City of London 
Corporation operates the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  

 (d) The incorporation of street lighting and/or walkway lighting into the 
new development.  Section 53 of the City of London (Various Powers) 
Act 1900 allows the City to affix to the exterior of any building fronting 
any street within the City brackets, wires, pipes and apparatus as may 
be necessary or convenient for the public lighting of streets within the 
City.  

 (e) Connections to the local sewerage and surface water system.  
 (f) Carriageway crossovers.   
 (g) Means of escape and constructional details under the Building 

Regulations and London Building Acts (District Surveyor).  
 (h) The display of any advertisement material on the premises which 

may be subject to the City of London Corporation's Byelaws. 
 
 6 The enabling of archaeological work to meet the requirements of 

conditions 9 and 10 is the responsibility of the developer and should be 
regarded as an integral part of the development programme in 
accordance with the policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core 
Strategy. This would include on site facilities, funding, fieldwork, post 
excavation analysis and reporting and publication of the work in 
accordance with recognised guidelines and codes of practice. This is to 
ensure adequate "preservation by record" of the archaeological 
resource affected by the proposed development. 

 
 7 The Markets and Consumer Protection Department (Environmental 

Health Team) must be consulted on the following matters:   
 (a) Approval for the installation of furnaces to buildings and the height 

of any chimneys.  If the requirements under the legislation require any 

Page 480



structures in excess of those shown on drawings for which planning 
permission has already been granted, further planning approval will 
also be required.    

 (b) Installation of engine generators using fuel oil.   
 (c) The control of noise and other potential nuisances arising from the 

demolition and construction works on this site and compliance with the 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007; the 
Environmental Health Team should be informed of the name and 
address of the project manager and/or main contractor as soon as they 
are appointed.     

 (d) Alterations to the drainage and sanitary arrangements.     
 (e) The requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 

and the other relevant statutory enactments (including the Offices, 
Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963); in particular:   

 - the identification, encapsulation and removal of asbestos in 
accordance with a planned programme;  

 - provision for window cleaning (internal and external) to be carried out 
safely.   

 (f) The use of premises for the storage, handling, preparation or sale of 
food.     

 (g) Use of the premises for public entertainment.     
 (h) Approvals relating to the storage and collection of wastes.    
 (i) Limitations which may be imposed on hours of work, noise and other 

environmental disturbance.   
 (j) The control of noise from plant and equipment;   
 (k) Methods of odour control. 
 
 8 The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection (Environmental 

Health Team) advises that:  
   
 Noise and Dust  
   
 (a) The construction/project management company concerned with the 

development must contact the Department of Markets and Consumer 
Protection and provide a working document detailing steps they 
propose to take to minimise noise and air pollution for the duration of 
the works at least 28 days prior to commencement of the work.  
Restrictions on working hours will normally be enforced following 
discussions with relevant parties to establish hours of work for noisy 
operations.  

   
 (b) Demolition and construction work shall be carried out in accordance 

with the City of London Code of Practice for Deconstruction and 
Construction. The code details good site practice so as to minimise 
disturbance to nearby residents and commercial occupiers from noise, 
dust etc. The code can be accessed through the City of London 
internet site, www.cityoflondon.gov.uk, via the a-z index under Pollution 
Control-City in the section referring to noise, and is also available from 
the Markets and Consumer Protection Department.  

   

Page 481



 (c) Failure to notify the Markets and Consumer Protection Department 
of the start of the works or to provide the working documents will result 
in the service of a notice under section 60 of the Control of Pollution 
Act l974 (which will dictate the permitted hours of work including noisy 
operations) and under Section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 
l990 relating to the control of dust and other air borne particles. The 
restrictions on working hours will normally be enforced following 
discussions with relevant parties to establish hours of work for noisy 
operations.  

   
 Air Quality  
   
 (d) Compliance with the Clean Air Act 1993  
   
 Any furnace burning liquid or gaseous matter at a rate of 366.4 

kilowatts or more, and any furnace burning pulverised fuel or any solid 
matter at a rate of more than 45.4 kilograms or more an hour, requires 
chimney height approval.  Use of such a furnace without chimney 
height approval is an offence. The calculated chimney height can 
conflict with requirements of planning control and further mitigation 
measures may need to be taken to allow installation of the plant.  

   
 Boilers and CHP plant  
   
 (e) The City is an Air Quality Management Area with high levels of 

nitrogen dioxide. All gas boilers should therefore meet a dry NOx 
emission rate of <40mg/kWh in accordance with the City of London Air 
Quality Strategy 2011.  

   
 (f) All gas Combined Heat and Power plant should be low NOX 

technology as detailed in the City of London Guidance for controlling 
emissions from CHP plant and in accordance with the City of London 
Air Quality Strategy 2011.  

   
 (g) When considering how to achieve, or work towards the 

achievement of, the renewable energy targets, the Markets and 
Consumer Protection Department would prefer developers not to 
consider installing a biomass burner as the City is an Air Quality 
Management Area for fine particles and nitrogen dioxide. Research 
indicates that the widespread use of these appliances has the potential 
to increase particulate levels in London to an unacceptable level. Until 
the Markets and Consumer Protection Department is satisfied that 
these appliances can be installed without causing a detriment to the 
local air quality they are discouraging their use. Biomass CHP may be 
acceptable providing sufficient abatement is fitted to the plant to reduce 
emissions to air.  

   
 (h) Developers are encouraged to install non-combustion renewable 

technology to work towards energy security and carbon reduction 
targets in preference to combustion based technology.  

Page 482



   
 Standby Generators  
   
 (i) Advice on a range of measures to achieve the best environmental 

option on the control of pollution from standby generators can be 
obtained from the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection.
   

 (j) There is a potential for standby generators to give out dark smoke 
on start up and to cause noise nuisance. Guidance is available from 
the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection on measures to 
avoid this.  

   
 Cooling Towers  
   
 (k) Wet cooling towers are recommended rather than dry systems due 

to the energy efficiency of wet systems.  
   
 Food Hygiene and Safety  
   
 (l) Further information should be provided regarding the internal layout 

of the proposed food/catering units showing proposals for 
staff/customer toilet facilities, ventilation arrangements and layout of 
kitchen areas.  

   
 (m) If cooking is to be proposed within the food/catering units a 

satisfactory system of ventilation will be required. This must satisfy the 
following conditions:  

   
 Adequate access to ventilation fans, equipment and ductwork should 

be provided to permit routine cleaning and maintenance;  
   
 The flue should terminate at roof level in a location which will not give 

rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or adjacent buildings. 
It cannot be assumed that ductwork will be permitted on the exterior of 
the building;  

   
 Additional methods of odour control may also be required. These must 

be submitted to the Markets and Consumer Protection Department for 
comment prior to installation;  

   
 Ventilation systems for extracting and dispersing any emissions and 

cooking smells to the external air must be discharged at roof level and 
designed, installed, operated and maintained in accordance with 
manufacturer's specification in order to prevent such smells and 
emissions adversely affecting neighbours. 

 
 9 The investigation and risk assessment referred to in condition 2 

"Contaminated Land" must be completed in accordance with a scheme 
to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, 
whether or not it originates on the site. The contents of the scheme 

Page 483



must be submitted to and approved in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced. The written report must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings must 
include:   

 (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;   
 (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:   
 - human health,   
 - property (existing or proposed) including buildings, open spaces, 

service lines and pipes,   
 - adjoining land,   
 - groundwaters and surface waters,   
 - ecological systems,   
 - archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred 

option(s).   
 This investigation and risk assessment must be conducted in 

accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

 
10 Thames Water advises:  
   
 (1) The developer is advised to contact Thames Water Development 

Services (0845 850 2777) to discuss the details of the piling method 
statement required by a condition of this planning permission.  

   
 (2) Where a developer proposes to discharge groundwater into a public 

sewer, a groundwater discharge permit will be required.  Groundwater 
discharges typically result from construction site dewatering, deep 
excavations, basement infiltration, borehole installation, testing, and 
site remediation.  Groundwater permit enquiries should be directed to 
Thames Water, Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 8507 
4890 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk.  
Application forms should be completed on line via 
www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality.  Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under 
the provision of the Water Industry Act 1991.  

   
 (3) It is the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for 

surface water drainage to ground, water courses or suitable sewer.  It 
is recommended that the applicant should ensure that storm flows are 
attenuated or regulated into the receiving public network through on or 
off site storage.  When it is proposed to connect to a combined public 
sewer, the site drainage should be separate, and combined at the final 
manhole nearest the boundary.  Connections are not permitted for the 
removal of Ground Water.  Where the developer proposes to discharge 
to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer 
Services will be required.  They can be contacted on 0845 850 2777. 
  

Page 484



   
 (4) Thames Water recommends the installation of a properly 

maintained fat trap on all catering establishments.  We further 
recommend, in line with best practice for the disposal of Fats, Oils and 
Grease, the collection of waste oil by a contractor, particularly to 
recycle for the production of bio diesel.  Failure to implement these 
recommendations may result in this and other properties suffering 
blocked drains, sewage flooding and pollution to local watercourses.  
Further information on the above is available in a leaflet 'Best 
Management Practices for Catering Establishments' which can be 
requested by telephoning 01923 898 188.  

   
 (5) The developer should incorporate with their proposals, protection to 

the property by installing for example, a non-return valve or other 
suitable device to avoid the risk of backflow at a later date, on the 
assumption that the sewerage network may surcharge to ground level 
during storm conditions.  

   
 (6) Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum 

pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute 
at the point where it leaves Thames Water's pipes.  The developer 
should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the 
proposed development.  

   
 (7) A Trade Effluent Consent will be required for any Effluent discharge 

other than a 'Domestic Discharge'. Any discharge without this consent 
is illegal and may result in prosecution. (Domestic usage for example 
includes - toilets, showers, washbasins, baths and canteens). Typical 
Trade Effluent processes include: - Laundrette/Laundry, PCB 
manufacture, photographic/printing, food preparation, abattoir, farm 
wastes, vehicle washing, metal plating/finishing, cattle market wash 
down, chemical manufacture, treated cooling water and any other 
process which produces contaminated water. Pre-treatment, separate 
metering, sampling access etc, may be required before the Company 
can give its consent. Applications should be made to Waste Water 
Quality, Crossness STW, Belvedere Road, Abbeywood, London. SE2 
9AQ. Telephone: 020 3577 9200.  

   
 (8) Thames Water would recommend that petrol/oil interceptors be 

fitted in all car parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the 
effective use of petrol/oil interceptors could result in oil-polluted 
discharges entering local watercourses.  

   
 (9) The development covers a large area, currently served by 

combined sewers. Impact will depend upon proposed points of 
connection. Overall flows to combined sewers should not exceed 
historic flows and this may often be achievable by agreed surface water 
retention. 

 

Page 485



11 The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection states that any 
building proposal that will include catering facilities will be required to 
be constructed with adequate grease traps to the satisfaction of the 
Sewerage Undertaker, Thames Water Utilities Ltd, or their contractors. 

 
12 The Crime Prevention Design Advisor for the City of London Police 

should be consulted with regard to guidance on all aspects of security, 
means of crime prevention in new development and on current crime 
trends. 

 
 

Page 486



Page 487



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 488



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 1 December 2014 

Subject: 
2 - 6 Cannon Street London EC4M 6YH   
The demolition of the existing building and construction of a new office building 
(Class B1) comprising 7 storeys plus basement and associated hard and soft 
landscaping, roof top plant, accessible terrace, access and servicing, ancillary cycle 
parking and other associated works. 

Ward: Bread Street Public                 For Decision 

Registered No: 14/00780/FULMAJ Registered on: 1 August 2014 

Conservation Area:     NO                       Listed Building: No 

Summary 
 
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing building and 
construction of a new office building (Class B1) comprising 7 storeys plus basement 
and associated hard and soft landscaping, roof top plant, accessible terrace, access 
and servicing, ancillary cycle parking and other associated works. The new building 
would provide 13, 550sq.m of floorspace for office (Class B1) use. The proposed 
building would provide an increase in good quality office, in accordance with 
development plan policies. The design of the proposed building would relate 
satisfactorily to the general townscape. The proposals are considered not to have a 
detrimental impact on the setting of the Cathedral and nearby listed buildings and 
the local view of St. Nicholas Cole Abbey. The proposed development would extend 
over land (246sq.m) which is currently used as open space classified as public 
highway to the west of the building. To mitigate the loss of this area caused by the 
encroachment of the building into it, works are proposed to improve the open space 
on site and to the off-site public realm. It is concluded that the proposal is 
acceptable subject to conditions, a CIL payment and a Section 106 agreement 
being entered into to cover the matters set out in the report and if not as set out will 
be brought back to your Committee. 
Recommendation 
I recommend that: 
(a) Planning permission be granted for the development referred to above in 
accordance with the details set out on the attached schedule subject to planning 
obligations and other agreements being entered into in respect of those matters set 
out in the report, the decision notice not to be issued until such obligations have 
been executed and any necessary agreements and stopping up of the highway 
under Section 278 of the Highway Act 1980. In the event any necessary consents or 
agreements are not forthcoming then the matter will be referred back to the 
Planning and Transportation for consideration. 

Page 489

Agenda Item 6f



Page 490



 
 

Page 491



Site 
1. 2-6 Cannon Street is located directly south east of St Paul’s 

Cathedral and is bounded by Cannon street to the north, Old Change 
Court and Distaff Lane, to the south and east. The site is not 
located within a Conservation Area but the northern boundary of the 
application site lies close to St Paul’s Cathedral Conservation Area. 

2. The building currently known as Scandinavian House was constructed 
between 1958-59 and is used as offices, with retail space (A3) on the 
ground floor providing 11,600sq.m. (GIA) of offices and 623sq.m (GIA) 
of retail space (Class A3) totaling 12,223sq.m. The building consists of 
7 floors above ground and 2 floors below ground. The Site provides 
approximately 10 car parking spaces within the basement and access 
for these vehicles is from Distaff Lane. An area of public highway 
adjacent to the building forms an open space containing lawn areas, 
trees and planting with a seating area. 

3. Scandinavian House formed part of the post-war reconstruction 
scheme for the area immediately south and east of the Cathedral that 
had been heavily bombed during the war. In the reconstruction plan, 
Scandinavian House and two other office blocks were ranged around 
the perimeter of a wide pedestrian precinct below which 
accommodation was provided for car parking. The two blocks to the 
south and west of the piazza were demolished when the neighboring 1 
Carter Lane was constructed in the late 1990s. As part of this scheme, 
a large portion of the raised piazza was dropped to the Distaff Lane 
level, leaving the residual area of open space to the west of 
Scandinavian House. A bar/restaurant building was constructed on the 
eastern side of the remaining high level piazza area.  

4. There are a number of listed buildings located within the vicinity of the 
Site including St Paul’s Cathedral, the church of St Nicholas Cole 
Abbey (Grade I) off Distaff Street located 18m to the south; The 
College of Arms (Grade I) off Queen Victoria Street located 100m to 
the south west and Bracken House (Grade II*) located 10m to the east 
of Distaff Street. 

5. The site lies within the St Paul’s Heights Policy area which protects 
views of St Paul’s Cathedral, the existing building does not in all 
respects comply with the maximum height specified within the 
guidelines. Currently there is an important local view of the tower of St 
Nicholas Cole Abbey across from St Paul’s Cathedral and Carter Lane. 

Proposal 
6. Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing building 

and for the construction of a new office building (Class B1) comprising 7 
storeys plus basement and associated hard and soft landscaping, roof 
top plant, accessible terrace, access and servicing, ancillary cycle 
parking and other associated works.  

7. The new building would provide 13, 550sq.m of floorspace for office 
(Class B1) use. 

Page 492



Consultations 
8. The Views of other City of London departments have been taken into 

account in the preparation of this redevelopment scheme and some 
matters remain to be dealt with under conditions and any relevant 
agreements.   

9. Conditions are included that cover protection from excess noise and 
other disturbance during redevelopment. 

10. English Heritage has considered the effect of the proposal on the setting 
of listed buildings and does not wish to comment. They say that the 
application should be determined in accordance with national and local 
policy guidance and on the basis of the City’s specialist conservation 
advice. 

11. Thames Water has no objections and requests that informatives are 
added. These are included on the schedule.  

Policies 
12. The development plan consists of the London Plan, the saved 

policies of the Unitary Development Plan, Core Strategy and 
Emerging Local Plan. The London Plan, UDP and Core Strategy 
policies that are most relevant to the consideration of this case are 
set out in Appendix A to this report. 

13. The City of London Local Plan was published in December 2013 and 
was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for examination 
by a Planning Inspector. The Inspector’s report on the Local Plan was 
issued on 12th November 2014. The Inspector found that the Local 
Plan was sound and he did not make any recommendations for 
material modifications. The Inspector’s report is before you today. 

14. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). NPPF paragraph 216 states that “decision-takers 
may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according 
to…the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced the preparation, the greater the weight that may be given)”. 
It is intended that the Local Plan will be adopted by the Common 
Council on 15th January 2015. Upon adoption the Local Plan will 
supersede the Core Strategy and UDP. There is relevant City of 
London and GLA supplementary planning guidance in respect of 
Planning Obligations and Sustainable Design and Construction. 

15. Chapter 12 of the NPPF sets out key policy considerations for 
applications relating to designated and non-designated heritage 
assets. Other relevant guidance is provided by English Heritage 
including the documents Conservation Principles, and The Setting of 
Heritage Assets. Building in Context (EH/CABE) and the PPS5 
Practice Guide in respect of the setting of heritage assets. 

 
 
 

Page 493



Considerations 
16. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform main statutory duties to 
perform:- 

• To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application and to any other material 
considerations. (Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 

• To determine the application in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. 
(Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004). 

• In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990). 

• To pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of any Conservation Area 
[S 72(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990]. 

Economic Development Issues 
17. London’s status as a world city is founded to a substantial degree on 

its concentration of international service activities and, most 
noticeably, by the clustering of financial and business services in the 
City of London. 

18. The importance that is attached to the maintenance and 
enhancement of the City's role as one of the world's leading financial 
and business centres is reflected in the policies of the London Plan 
and Core Strategy, particularly policies 4.2 and CS1. 

19. The building would provide high quality flexible office accommodation 
to meet the demands of the City’s commercial occupiers and a 16% 
increase in office space over that currently existing on the site. 

20. This development would support London’s business function in 
accordance with the development plan policies. 

Retail 
21. The proposal results in a loss of 623sq.m of retail floorspace. The 

building is located outside of the retail hierarchy as identified in the 
Core Strategy 2011 and published Local Plan 2013 and does not 
form part of a Principal Shopping Centre, Local Shopping Centre or 
retail link. Its re-provision in these circumstances is not required by 
planning policy. There is a significant provision of high quality retail 
uses in the Cheapside and Fleet Street Principal Shopping Centres 
closeby.  

Page 494



 
 
Design, Bulk/Massing/Design 
22. The building has been designed to relate positively to its context in a 

manner that differs from the approach taken by the existing building 
on the site. Scandinavian House is built on an “L” shaped plan 
whereas the current proposals would expand the plan-form into a 
near triangular form. The proposed building would have its primary 
frontage to Cannon Street, an elevation to Distaff Lane and the 
western elevation would face onto a new public garden and New 
Change Court. 

23. The separate treatment of the elevations around the proposed 
development would be bound together by the use of the two principal 
materials, stone and glass. Cumbrian Red Lazonby sandstone would 
be used to clad an overall structural frame which would be articulated 
by deep window openings of various sizes dependent on location. 
Bronze anodised aluminium would be used for window frames and 
other metalwork. 

24. The proposed stone framework has been developed to respond to 
the changing context around the site. This comprises; the diagonal 
view between the Cathedral and Nicolas Cole Abbey across the new 
garden, the need for a dignified northern elevation that would form 
part of the setting of the Cathedral and which forms a strong 
relationship with Bracken House and 1 Carter Lane, a functional yet 
considered elevation to Distaff Lane, and an appropriate backdrop to 
views of St Nicolas Cole Abbey and the Cathedral when seen from 
the south. 

25. Red sandstone has been considered in favour of Portland stone for 
the building to harmonise with the neighbouring buildings to the east 
and west, and to enhance the quality of the view looking south 
eastwards past the building to the tower of St Nicolas Cole Abbey, 
and north westwards towards the dome of the Cathedral. The red 
sandstone would allow the building to blend more easily into the 
foreground so enabling these Portland stone landmarks to retain their 
dominance and status within these views.  

26. The northern facade of the building, and its east and west returns, 
would have a classic “palazzo” character, well ordered with a clear 
base, middle and top and a strong symmetrical frame of deeply 
profiled stone as it addresses Cannon Street. The entrance lobby 
would be located off-centre, at the corner of Distaff Lane and Cannon 
Street. 

27. The southwest facade forming the eastern edge of the new garden is 
formed from three volumes, each stepping down in response to the 
falling ground levels towards the southern corner of the garden. The 
stone framed volumes would be expressed as double height storeys 
with windows slightly inclined inwards to assist in shading the office 
interiors. The south facade facing Nicolas Cole Abbey would have a 

Page 495



similar appearance but glazing within the stone frame would be 
mounted vertically to provide the setting of the church with a calm 
background. 

28. The east facade facing Bracken House would be visually divided into 
three discrete elements to reduce its bulk and to respond to the 
internal functions of the building and to moderate the downward 
gradient of the street. The northern volume turns the corner from 
Cannon Street and is articulated in a similar manner to the Cannon 
Street frontage. The middle section would incorporate solid panels 
within the stone framework adjacent to the stair and lift cores as well 
as metal louvres for mechanical ventilation and a service bay. This 
central section of the facade has been articulated as a transitional 
bay between the north and the southern element which itself 
compliments the south facing elevation to Distaff Lane. 

29. The roof of the building would be visible from the viewing galleries of 
St Paul’s Cathedral and has been designed as a fifth elevation. The 
roof would include an accessible roof terrace with planting and 
seating to the south, while the northern unoccupied part of the roof 
would be planted as a green roof. 

Heritage Assets 
30. Although the site does not lie within a conservation area, it is located 

on the southern boundary of St Paul’s Cathedral Conservation Area, 
which adjoins the northern boundary of the site. The building would 
make a positive contribution to the setting of the conservation area 
and the Cathedral itself due to the complimentary nature of its facing 
materials, proportions, and its relationship with neighbouring 
developments to the east and west. 

31. There are no listed buildings on the site but there are many in the 
close vicinity. These include, Bracken House (Grade II*), a Police Call 
Box at the corner of Friday Street/Queen Victoria Street (Grade II), 
The Church of St Nicolas Cole Abbey (Grade I), St Paul’s Cathedral 
(Grade I), Railings to Churchyard of St Paul’s Cathedral (Grade I), 
Footings of the destroyed Cloister and Chapter House of St Paul’s 
Cathedral (Grade II*), the tower of the former church of St Augustine 
(Grade I), St Paul’s Cathedral Choir School (Grade II*), the tower of 
the former Church of St Mary Somerset (Grade I), the Horn Tavern, 
Knightrider Street, a K6 Telephone Kiosk on the western side of the 
tower of St Augustine, the College of Arms (Grade I), and the Church 
of St Benet, Paul’s Wharf (Grade I). 

32. It is considered that the proposals would relate appropriately to the 
above listed buildings and that here would be no adverse impact on 
the setting of any of the above heritage assets. 

Townscape and Local Views 
33. The building is designed to have a contextual relationship to its wider 

surroundings whilst maintaining a clear identity of its own. The 
massing, materials and form of the proposed building have been 
carefully considered to ensure that, with the related improvements to 

Page 496



its local surroundings, the overall scheme represents a clear 
enhancement to the immediate locality. 

34. Particular attention has been paid to the following: The building’s role 
in contributing to the immediate setting of St Paul’s Cathedral and 
longer distance townscape views of the Cathedral from the south, 
enhancing views from the viewing galleries of the Cathedral, 
maintaining an appropriately dignified building to compliment the 
“procession” of existing buildings along the south side of Cannon 
Street, conserving and enhancing the view of St Nicolas Cole Abbey 
tower from the north and providing an appropriate backdrop to the 
church from the south, the provision of a smaller but much enhanced 
public open space immediately to the west of the building and a 
complimentary programme of townscape enhancements in the 
immediate locality to mitigate the reduction of the open space 
adjacent to the building, an improvement to the environment of the 
east/west section of Distaff Lane through the introduction of additional 
greenery, and the physical separation of the public open space from 
the bar on the western side of the open space. 

35. The applicants have undertaken a comprehensive series of verified 
visual montages that demonstrate the above points and clearly 
illustrate how the building would successfully integrate itself into the 
surrounding townscape. 

St. Paul’s Heights and London Views Management Framework 
36. The building falls within the St Paul’s Heights policy area (SPH). The 

constraints imposed by the SPH grid result in a range of height 
limitations across the site. The roof has been tailored to these 
constraints and although there are a number of minor breaches a 
rational roof form has been achieved resulting in and improved 
position compared to the existing  and complies with the height 
limitations imposed by the policy and results in no worsening of the 
existing situation.  

37. The Mayor’s London View Management Framework (LVMF) is 
Supplementary Planning Guidance to the London Plan. The LVMF 
sets out the strategic context for the protection of identified 
landmarks. The development falls within the policy area for a number 
of the geometrically protected views of St Paul’s Cathedral from 
various locations but does not rise sufficiently high to have any 
impact on any of these long distance protected vistas 

Onsite and offsite landscaping works 
38. The proposed development would extend over land (246sq.m) which 

is currently used as open space classified as public highway to the 
west of the building. To mitigate the loss of this area caused by the 
encroachment of the building into it, works are proposed to improve 
the open space on site and to the off-site public realm. The Applicant 
would carry out and complete the on-site landscaping works (within 
the red line). These works would be carried out by the developer and 
a condition is proposed requiring details of these works before any 

Page 497



such works are commenced. In addition the condition would require 
the works to be complete prior to occupation. 

39. The proposed off-site public realm works are in the form of a master 
plan for the locality which has been agreed in principle by the Streets 
and Walkways Sub Committee. The City of London Corporation 
would deliver the off-site landscaping according to an agreed 
framework and at the cost of the developer. 

40. The proposed off site public realm works are considered to be 
essential to mitigate the loss of the area of City Highway laid out as 
open space and the impact of the proposed development. In 
particular the proposed enhancement of the existing City Walkway 
area to the south of the site is a key component in this mitigation. It is 
required in order to link the newly created open space at lower level 
within the site through to Queen Victoria Street. By enhancing this 
City Walkway area, by reducing the carriageway width of Distaff Lane 
and by landscaping the remaining pedestrian area, an equivalent 
quality of environment could be created.  

41. Therefore it is proposed that Section 106 covenants would require all 
necessary agreements, permissions and consents to be in place to 
secure delivery of the enhancement of the existing City Walkway area 
prior to the implementation of the planning permission (including 
demolition). The necessary agreements and consents would include 
those required from the owners of the existing City Walkway. 
Planning permission for the enhancement works may be required, 
and nothing in this report or recommendation prejudges the outcome 
of the planning application for that development. If this cannot be 
delivered the matter would be brought back to your Committee for 
further consideration. 

Sustainability & Energy  
42. The Proposed building is likely to achieve a BREEAM score of 

72.12% leading to a rating of BREEAM Excellent and provides a 
25.53% reduction in CO2 emissions through energy efficiency 
measures over the Part L 2013 Building Regulations. The ability to 
provide a significant reduction in CO2 emissions based on efficiency 
measures is constrained by the site, as it is in a sensitive location 
near St Paul’s Cathedral. The building is located in a densely 
populated area and the orientation of the building is constrained by 
roads and existing buildings adjacent to the site. Therefore it is not 
possible to optimise the orientation for passive heating and cooling.  

Transport  
43. The Proposed Development does not provide any car parking on site.  
44. The Development incorporates 140 cycle spaces. The level of 

provision of the cycle facilities reflects the sustainable aspirations of 
the Proposed Development and the anticipated level of demand for 
the local area. The provision exceeds the cycle parking standards in 
the emerging Local Plan of one cycle parking space per 125m² GEA 
and exceeds the cycle parking standards in the Revised Early Minor 

Page 498



Alterations (REMA) of the London Plan 2013 and BREEAM 2013 
standards. The proposals are providing 24 spaces in excess of the 
minimum City of London requirements and 44 spaces in excess of 
the minimum REMA requirements. 

45. It is proposed that the cycle parking spaces for the office will be 
located in the basement and will be secure and provided with 
associated showers and changing facilities. Access to these spaces 
will be possible using a direct bicycle wheeling ramp and stairs using 
the entrance from Distaff Lane (east). Access from the cycle spaces 
to the lobby will be possible via one dedicated passenger lift or the 
stairs located to the south-west corner of the proposed development. 

Servicing 
46. The Core Strategy and emerging Local Plan Policy CS16 and DM 16. 

5 require that developers demonstrate through delivery and servicing 
plans the provision of sufficient servicing area on site for the delivery 
of goods and collection of waste. 

47. A loading bay situated on the east side of the building would provide 
sufficient visibility and queuing for following vehicles to enable a 
reverse entry movement. This would enable forward exit to Distaff 
Lane (east) with reasonable visibility and replicates the current 
operations for Bracken House located immediately opposite. 

48. The proposed loading bay is compatible with that for Bracken House 
opposite and given the anticipated trip generation, would result in little 
interaction between the opposing loading bay operations and would 
not result in significant delay or congestion for other road users. 

Daylight/Sunlight 
49. A daylight, sunlight, shadow and solar glare study has been included 

as part of this application. There are no neighbouring residential 
properties in the locality that would be affected by the development. 
The shadow analysis shows that the neighbouring public amenity 
areas assessed will continue to be adequately lit in line with BRE 
permanent shadow criteria and the solar glare analysis shows that 
the sensitive receptor locations identified within the assessment will 
experience a negligible impact as a result of the proposed 
development. 

Archaeology 
50. The site is in an area of significant archaeological potential where 

remains from the Roman to medieval periods may be expected to 
survive. Archaeological recording on the site in the 1950’s when the 
present building was built, includes records of a substantial Roman 
wall along the southern boundary of the site. An Historic Environment 
Assessment of the buried archaeological potential of the site has 
been submitted with the application.  

51. The assessment concludes that archaeological remains are likely to 
have been removed down to the level of the deepest existing 
basement. There is a moderate potential for fragmentary remains to 

Page 499



survive in the southern part of the site however any substantial 
remains are considered to have been removed by the construction of 
the existing building. 

52. The proposed development would remove all surviving remains on 
the site. Conditions are attached to cover a programme of 
archaeological work and foundation design. 

Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
53. Under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 an 

agreement or planning obligation can be made between parties, 
usually the developer and the local authority, or a unilateral 
undertaking can be submitted by a prospective developer: 

• restricting the development or use of land in any specified way; 

• requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on or 
under or over the land; 

• requiring the land to be used in any specified way; or 

• requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified date 
or dates or periodically. 

54. Planning obligation arrangements were modified by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended (‘the CIL 
Regulations’). The Regulations introduce statutory restrictions on the 
use of planning obligations to clarify their proper purpose, and make 
provision for planning obligations to work alongside any Community 
Infrastructure Levy (‘CIL’) arrangements which local planning 
authorities may elect to adopt. 

55. Regulation 122 states that it is unlawful for a planning obligation to 
constitute a reason to grant planning permission when determining a 
planning application if the obligation does not meet all the following 
tests: 

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
directly related to the development; and 
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 
Regulation 123 states that a planning obligation may not constitute a 
reason to grant planning permission to the extent that it provide 
funding for infrastructure included in the regulations “Regulation 123” 
list as the type of infrastructure on what CIL will be spent on  

56. The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) stated that 
planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. The 
policy repeated the tests set out above and states that where 
planning obligations are being sought or revised, local planning 
authorities should take account of changes in market conditions over 
time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent 
planned development being stalled. (NPPF paragraphs 203-206). 

Page 500



Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
57. London Plan Policy 8.3 requires the Mayoral CIL to be paid by 

developers to help fund strategically important infrastructure, initially 
focussing on Crossrail until 2019. The Mayor has set a charge of £50 
per sq.m and this applies to all development over 100sq.m (GIA) 
except social housing, education related development, health related 
development and development for charities for charitable purposes.  

Mayoral Planning Obligations   
58. Since April 2010 the Mayor of London has sought contributions 

towards the cost of funding Crossrail through the negotiation of 
planning obligations in accordance with London Plan Policy 6.5. 
Mayoral planning obligations are payable by developers according to 
an indicative level of charges for specific uses set out in the Mayoral 
SPG (April 2013): offices (£140 per sq.m net gain in GIA floorspace), 
retail (£90) and hotels (£61) provided there is a net gain of 500sq.m.  

59. Developments that are liable for both Mayoral CIL and Mayoral 
planning obligations payments for Crossrail, the Mayor will not double 
charge. His approach is to treat Mayoral CIL payment as a credit 
towards Mayor planning obligation liability. Therefore the Mayoral 
planning obligation liability can be reduced by the Mayoral CIL.  

60. At the time of preparing this report the Mayoral CIL has been 
calculated to be £66,300. The full Mayoral planning obligation has 
been calculated to be £216,840. This would be reduced to £150,540 
after deduction of the Mayoral CIL. It should be noted that these 
figures may be subject to change should there be a variation in the 
CIL liability at the point of payment and should therefore only be 
taken as indicative figures at this point. 

61. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 4% of 
the Mayoral CIL income as an administration fee; the remainder will 
be forwarded to the Mayor of London. The whole of the Mayoral 
planning obligation income received will be forwarded to the Mayor. 
However, the developer will also be liable to pay an additional £3,500 
Mayoral planning obligation administration and monitoring charge to 
the City Corporation. The total contributions due in accordance with 
the Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning obligation policies are 
summarised below:   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 501



Liability in 
accordance 
with the Mayor 
of London’s 
policies 

Contribution 
£ 

Forwarded 
to the 
Mayor 

Retained by 
City 

Corporation 

Mayoral 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy payable 

66,300 63,648 2,652 

Mayoral 
planning 
obligation net 
liability* 

150,540 150,540 Nil 

Mayoral 
planning 
obligation 
administration 
and monitoring 
charge 

3,500 Nil 3,500 

Total liability in 
accordance 
with the Mayor 
of London’s 
policies 

220,340 
 

214,188 6,152 

*Net liability is on the basis of the CIL charge remaining as reported 
and could be subject to variation. 

City of London’s Planning Obligations SPG policy 
City Planning Obligations 
City CIL  
62. The City introduced its CIL on 1st July 2014 and will be chargeable in 

addition to the Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning obligations. CIL will 
be charged at a rate of £75 per sq.m for Offices, £150 for Residential 
Riverside, £95 for Residential rest of the City and £75 for all other 
uses. At the time of preparing this report the City CIL has been 
calculated to be £99,450. It should be noted that these figures may 
be subject to change should there be a variation in the CIL liability at 
the point of payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative 
figures at this point. 

63. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 5% of 
the CIL income as an administration fee. The contributions collected 
will be used to fund the infrastructure required to meet the 
requirements of the City’s Development Plan.  

64. On 1st July 2014 the City’s Supplementary Planning Document on 
Planning Obligations was adopted. City Planning Obligations would 
be payable by developers in accordance with the Planning 

Page 502



Obligations SPD on new commercial developments where there is a 
net increase of 500sq.m or more of Gross Internal Area. The policy 
seeks contributions towards Affordable Housing (£20 per sq.m), Local 
Training, Skills and Job Brokerage (£3 per sq.m) and Carbon 
Offsetting (£46 per tonne of carbon offset). The section 106 
agreement would normally follow the agreement template available 
on the City of London website. 

65. In this case the proposed net increase in floorspace would be 
1,326sq.m. On the basis of the figure indicated in the Supplementary 
Planning Document, the planning obligation figure would be £30,498. 
It is the City’s practice that all financial contributions should be index-
linked with reference to the appropriate index from the date of 
adoption of the 1st July 2014 to the date of permission.  

66. The applicant has agreed a breakdown which accords with the 
Supplementary Planning Document as follows: 
 

Liability in accordance 
with the City of 

London’s policies 

Contribution  
£ 

Available for 
Allocation 

£ 

Retained for 
Monitoring 
Charge £ 

City Community 
Infrastructure Levy  

99,450 94,477.50 4,972.50 

City Planning Obligation 
Affordable Housing 

26,520 26,254.80 265.20 

City Planning Obligation 
Local, Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage 

3,978 3,938.22 39.78 

City Planning Obligation 
Monitoring Charge 

2,500 Nil 2,500 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

132,448 214,670.52 7,777.48 

 
67. I have set out below the details that I am recommending concerning 

the planning obligations. All of the proposals are considered to be 
necessary to make the application acceptable in planning terms, 
directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related 
in scale and kind to the development and meet the above tests 
contained in the CIL Regulations and in government policy. I would 
also request that I be given delegated authority to continue to 
negotiate and agree the terms of the proposed obligations as 
necessary. 

 

Page 503



 
Affordable Housing  
68. The Affordable Housing contribution will be used for the purpose of 

off-site provision of affordable housing in suitable locations in or near 
to the City of London in accordance with the London Plan. The 
applicant will be required to pay this contribution on or before the 
implementation of the planning permission. 

Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage 
69. The Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage contribution will be 

applied to the provision of training and skills initiatives, including job 
brokerage, in the City or City fringes. The Developer will be required 
to pay this contribution on or before the implementation of planning 
permission.  

Highway Reparation and other Highways obligations 
70. The cost of any reparation works required as a result of the 

development will be the responsibility of the Developer.  
71. If required, prior to implementation and based on the City’s standard 

draft, the developer will be obligated to enter into an agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to meet the cost of highway 
works that are necessary to meet the burden placed on the highway 
network by the development.  

Utility Connections 
72. The development will require connection to a range of utility 

infrastructure. Early engagement by the applicant about utilities 
infrastructure provision will allow for proper co-ordination and 
planning of all works required to install the utility infrastructure, 
particularly under public highway, so as to minimise disruption to 
highway users. A s106 covenant will therefore require the submission 
of draft and final programmes for ordering and completing service 
connections from utility providers in order that the City's comments 
can be taken into account, and will require that all connections are 
carried out in accordance with the programme. Details of the utility 
connection requirements of the Development including all proposed 
service connections, communal entry chambers, the proposed 
service provider and the anticipated volume of units required for the 
Development will also be required. 

Method Statement, Plans and Audits 
Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) 
73. The applicant will be required to submit for approval details of the 

Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Construction) in 
line with the aims of the City Corporation’s Employment Charter for 
Construction. This Charter aims to maximise job opportunities in the 
City for residents of the City fringes and offer employment and 
training opportunities to local people wishing to begin a career in 
construction. The Strategy will be submitted in two stages: one to be 

Page 504



submitted prior to the First Preparatory Operation Date in respect of 
the Preparatory Operations; the second to be submitted prior to 
Implementation in respect of the Main Contract Works Package.  

74. The Economic Development Office is able to introduce the Developer 
or its Contractor and Sub-Contractors to local training providers and 
brokerage agencies to discuss their site-specific skills needs and to 
identify suitable local people to fill opportunities on site. The 
Developer is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development 
Office at the earliest stage in the development process in order that 
the strategy can be submitted prior to commencement. 

Local Procurement 
75. The developer has agreed to submit for approval a Local 

Procurement Strategy prior to commencement of demolition. The 
Local Procurement Strategy shall include details of: initiatives to 
identify local procurement opportunities relating to the construction of 
the development; initiatives to reach a 10% target for local 
procurement, from small to medium sized enterprises in the City and 
City fringes; the timings and arrangements for the implementation of 
such initiatives; and suitable mechanisms for the monitoring of the 
effectiveness of such initiatives e.g. a local procurement tracker can 
be used to capture this information. 

76. The developer will be required at the 6 month stage, or half way 
through the project (whichever is earliest), to report to the City of 
London Corporation’s Economic Development Office on their 
performance against the 10% local procurement target. 

77. The Economic Development Officer is able to provide information and 
guidance to the Developer its Contractor and Sub-Contractors. The 
Developer is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development 
Officer at the earliest stage in the development process in order that 
the strategy can be submitted prior to implementation 

Carbon Offsetting 
78. The London Plan sets a target for major developments to achieve an 

overall carbon dioxide emission reduction of 40% from 2013-2016, 
through the use of on-site renewable energy generation. A detailed 
assessment will be required and if the assessment demonstrated that 
the target is not met on site the applicant will be required to meet the 
shortfall through a cash in lieu contribution. The contribution will be 
secured through the section 106 agreement, at an initial cost of £60 
per tonne of carbon to be offset, calculated over a 30 year period. 
The financial contribution for carbon off-setting will be required on 
completion or prior occupation of development.  

Monitoring and Administrative Costs 
79. A 10 year repayment period would be required where by any 

unallocated sums would be returned to the developer 10 years after 
practical completion of the development. Some funds may be set 
aside for future maintenance purposes. 

Page 505



80. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs incurred in the 
negotiation and execution of the legal agreement and the City 
Planning Officer’s administration costs in respect of the same. 1% of 
the total contribution (secured under the City’s SPG) will be allocated 
to the monitoring of the agreement. 

81. Separate additional administration and monitoring fees will be applied 
in relation to the Crossrail Contribution. 

Offsite Public Realm Works 
82. The developer has agreed to pay £1,100,000 for the Offsite Public 

Realm Works, which is considered to be essential to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development and make it acceptable in 
planning terms. The Offsite Public Realm Works Contribution will be 
used for the enhancement of the areas illustrated on the attached 
plan including the existing City Walkway area to the south of the site 
which is a key component of these works. The applicant will be 
required to pay this contribution on or before the implementation of 
the planning permission. Should the costs of the Offsite Public Realm 
Works exceed the estimated costs; the City will require additional 
sums to cover these costs.  

Maintenance Costs of Offsite Public Realm Works  
83. The S106 Supplementary Planning Obligation states, where 

necessary planning obligations will be used to ensure that developers 
deliver the necessary improvements and provide for maintenance 
where feasible. The developer has agreed to pay £85,000 for 20 
years maintenance costs of this open space.  

84. The applicant will be required to pay this contribution on completion 
but prior to occupation of the development.  

Prior Consents 
85. The proposed enhancement of the existing area to the south of the 

site is a key component of mitigation and is required to make the 
redevelopment acceptable in planning terms. The developer will be 
required to secure all necessary agreements, permissions and 
consents to secure delivery prior to the implementation of the 
planning permission (including demolition).  

Site Specific Mitigation 
86. The City Corporation will principally seek to mitigate the impact of 

development and provide necessary infrastructure through the use of 
CIL but, in some circumstances, it may be necessary additionally to 
seek site specific mitigation to ensure that a development is 
acceptable in planning terms. Other matters requiring mitigation are 
still yet to be fully scoped 

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan  
87. The developer would be required to submit for approval a Delivery 

and Servicing Management Plan prior to occupation. In the event of 
any breach of the Management Plan, the developer will be required to 

Page 506



resubmit a revised document, and should the developer default on 
this requirement, the City will be given the ability to provide a 
replacement plan. The operation of the Delivery and Servicing 
Management Plan will be subject to an annual review. 

Travel Plan 
88. The developer would be required to submit both interim and full 

Travel Plans prior to occupation and six months after occupation 
respectively. The obligations in relation to this shall apply for the life 
of the building. 

Conclusion 
89. The proposed building would provide an increase in good quality 

office, in accordance with development plan policies.  
90. The design of the proposed building would relate satisfactorily to the 

general townscape, the setting of nearby listed buildings including the 
Cathedral and the local view of St. Nicholas Cole Abby.   

91. The proposed servicing arrangements would be acceptable subject to 
compliance with conditions and S.106. 

92. The proposed on site landscaping and the new garden adjacent to 
the building at the Distaff Lane level is considered to be a significant 
enhancement to the provision of public open space in the locality. 
However, the proposed off site public realm works are considered to 
be essential to mitigate the proposed loss of the existing area of City 
Highway laid out as open space and the impact of the proposed 
development.  

93. It is concluded that the proposal is acceptable subject to conditions 
and to a Section 106 agreement being entered into to cover the 
matters set out in the report. 

 
 
 

Page 507



Background  Papers 
Internal 
Email 12.08.14  Open Spaces Department 
Email 19.08.14  Thames Water 
Memo 01.09.14  Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 
External 
The Design and Access Statement 29.07.14  
Planning Statement 29.07.14. 
Transport Statement 29.07.14. 
Sustainability Statement 29.07.14.  
The Energy Statement and BREEAM Pre-Assessment  29.07.14. 
BREEAM 2011 Flood Risk Assessment  29.07.14. 
Landscape and Habitat Management Plan 29.07.14. 
BREEAM 2011 New Construction Ecology Assessment  29.07.14.  
The Environmental Report 29.07.14. 
Daylight, Sunlight, Shadow & Solar Glare Study 29.07.14. 
 
 
 
 

Page 508



 
Appendix A 
London Plan Policies 
The London Plan policies which are most relevant to this application are set 
our below:  
Policy 2.10 and 4.3 Enhance and promote the unique international, national 
and London wide roles of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and as a 
strategically important, globally-oriented financial and business services 
centre. 
Policy 2.11  Ensure that developments proposals to increase office 
floorspace within CAZ include a mix of uses including housing, unless such a 
mix would demonstrably conflict with other policies in the plan. 
Policy 4.1  Promote and enable the continued development of a strong, 
sustainable and increasingly diverse economy; 
Support the distinctive and crucial contribution to London’s economic success 
made by central London and its specialist clusters of economic activity; 
Promote London as a suitable location for European and other international 
agencies and businesses. 
Policy 4.2  Support the management and mixed use development and 
redevelopment of office provision to improve London’s competitiveness and to 
address the wider objectives of this Plan, including enhancing its varied 
attractions for businesses of different types and sizes. 
Policy 4.8  Support a successful, competitive and diverse retail sector which 
promotes sustainable access to the goods and services that Londoners need 
and the broader objectives of the spatial structure of this Plan, especially town 
centres. 
Policy 5.2  Development proposals should make the fullest contribution to 
minimising carbon dioxide emissions. 
Policy 5.3  Development proposals should demonstrate that sustainable 
design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction and 
operation. Major development proposals should meet the minimum standards 
outlined in supplementary planning guidance. 
Policy 5.6  Development proposals should evaluate the feasibility of 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) systems, and where a new CHP system is 
appropriate also examine opportunities to extend the system beyond the site 
boundary to adjacent sites. 
Policy 5.7  Major development proposals should provide a reduction in 
carbon dioxide emissions through the use of on-site renewable energy 
generation, where feasible. 
Policy 5.9  Reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect in London and 
encourage the design of places and spaces to avoid overheating and 
excessive heat generation, and to reduce overheating due to the impacts of 
climate change and the urban heat island effect on an area wide basis. 

Page 509



Policy 5.11 Major development proposals should be designed to include 
roof, wall and site planting, especially green roofs and walls where feasible. 
Policy 5.13 Development should utilise sustainable urban drainage systems 
(SUDS) unless there are practical reasons for not doing so. 
Policy 6.3  Development proposals should ensure that impacts on transport 
capacity and the transport network are fully assessed. 
Policy 6.5  Contributions will be sought from developments likely to add to, 
or create, congestion on London’s rail network that Crossrail is intended to 
mitigate. 
Policy 6.9  Developments should provide secure, integrated and accessible 
cycle parking facilities and provide on-site changing facilities and showers for 
cyclists, facilitate the Cycle Super Highways and facilitate the central London 
cycle hire scheme. 
Policy 6.13  The maximum standards set out in Table 6.2 should be applied 
to planning applications. Developments must:  

ensure that 1 in 5 spaces (both active and passive) provide an electrical 
charging point to encourage the uptake of electric vehicles  
provide parking for disabled people in line with Table 6.2  
meet the minimum cycle parking standards set out in Table 6.3  
provide for the needs of businesses for delivery and servicing. 

Policy 7.2  All new development in London to achieve the highest standards 
of accessible and inclusive design. 
Policy 7.3  Creation of safe, secure and appropriately accessible 
environments. 
Policy 7.4  Development should have regard to the form, function, and 
structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of 
surrounding buildings. It should improve an area’s visual or physical 
connection with natural features. In areas of poor or ill-defined character, 
development should build on the positive elements that can contribute to 
establishing an enhanced character for the future function of the area. 
Policy 7.5  London’s public spaces should be secure, accessible, inclusive, 
connected, easy to understand and maintain, relate to local context, and 
incorporate the highest quality design, landscaping, planting, street furniture 
and surfaces. 
Policy 7.6  Buildings and structures should:  
a. be of the highest architectural quality 
b. be of a proportion, composition, scale and orientation that enhances, 
activates and appropriately defines the public realm  
c. comprise details and materials that complement, not necessarily replicate, 
the local architectural character  
d. not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and 
buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, 

Page 510



overshadowing, wind and microclimate. This is particularly important for tall 
buildings  
e. incorporate best practice in resource management and climate change 
mitigation and adaptation  
f. provide high quality indoor and outdoor spaces and integrate well with the 
surrounding streets and open spaces  
g. be adaptable to different activities and land uses, particularly at ground 
level  
h. meet the principles of inclusive design 
i. optimise the potential of sites. 
Policy 7.8  Development should identify value, conserve, restore, re-use 
and incorporate heritage assets, conserve the significance of heritage assets 
and their settings and make provision for the protection of archaeological 
resources, landscapes and significant memorials.  
 
 
 

Page 511



Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy Policies 
 
CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS4 Seek planning contributions 

To manage the impact of development, seeking appropriate 
contributions having regard to the impact of the contributions on the 
viability of development. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
UTIL6 Provision for waste collection 

To require adequate provision within all developments for the storage, 
presentation for collection, and removal of waste, unless exceptional 
circumstances make it impractical; to encourage provision to allow for 
the separate storage of recyclable waste where appropriate. 

 
TRANS15 Seek off-street servicing 

To seek, where appropriate, the provision of off-street servicing facilities 
in such a way as: 
 
i. to ensure that the location and design of vehicular access and 
servicing arrangements minimise the adverse effects on the adjoining 
highway and pay due regard to the environment and the convenience 
and safety of pedestrians; 
 

Page 512



ii. to ensure that vehicular servicing and servicing access is avoided on 
or onto Tier 1-3 roads, except where a practical alternative cannot be 
provided; and 
 
iii. to enable vehicles to enter and leave premises in a forward direction. 

 
TRANS22 Require cycle parking 

To provide cycle parking facilities by: 
 
i. requiring the provision of private parking space for cycles in 
development schemes; 
 
ii. maintaining an adequate overall number of spaces for cycles in public 
off-street car parks; and 
 
iii. providing an adequate supply of cycle parking facilities on-street. 

 
ENV28 Design of building services 

To ensure that building services are satisfactorily integrated into the 
architectural design of the building (with particular reference to its roof 
profile) and to resist installations which would adversely affect the 
character, appearance or amenities of the buildings or area concerned. 

 
ENV35 To protect daylight and sunlight 

To resist development which would reduce noticeably the daylight and 
sunlight available to nearby dwellings and open spaces to levels which 
would be contrary to the Building Research Establishment's guidelines. 

 
ARC1 Archaeology - evaluation and impact 

To require planning applications which involve excavation or 
groundworks on sites of archaeological potential to be accompanied by 
an archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site including the 
impact of the proposed development. 

 
ARC2 To preserve archaeological remains 

To require development proposals to preserve in situ, protect and 
safeguard important ancient monuments and important archaeological 
remains and their settings, and where appropriate, to require the 
permanent public display and/or interpretation of the monument or 
remains. 

 
ARC3 Recording of archaeological remains 

To ensure the proper investigation, recording of sites, and publication of 
the results, by an approved organisation as an integral part of a 
development programme where a development incorporates 
archaeological remains or where it is considered that preservation in situ 
is not appropriate. 

 

Page 513



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 14/00780/FULMAJ 
 
2 - 6 Cannon Street London EC4M 6YH 
 
The demolition of the existing building and construction of a new office 
building (Class B1) comprising 7 storeys plus basement and associated 
hard and soft landscaping, roof top plant, accessible terrace, access and 
servicing, ancillary cycle parking and other associated works. 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
demolition taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based on the 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for 
Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison set 
out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be submitted in 
respect of individual stages of the demolition process but no works in 
any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme of 
protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The demolition shall not be carried out other 
than in accordance with the approved scheme    

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15. 

 
 3 A scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 

from noise, dust and other environmental effects shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
construction work taking place on the site. The scheme shall be based 
on the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of 
Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements 
for liaison set out therein. A staged scheme of protective works may be 
submitted in respect of individual stages of the construction process but 
no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the related 
scheme of protective works has been submitted to and approved in 

Page 514



writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved scheme.   

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: 
CS15.  

 
 4 Demolition works shall not begin until a Deconstruction Logistics Plan 

to manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site identifying 
efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken during site 
deconstruction of the existing buildings has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with 
Transport for London). The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved Deconstruction 
Logistics Plan or any approved amendments thereto as may be agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport 
for London).  

 REASON: To ensure that deconstruction works do not have an adverse 
impact on the transport network in accordance with London Plan Policy 
6.14. 

 
 5 Construction works shall not begin until a Construction Logistics Plan to 

manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site identifying 
efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken during site 
construction of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport 
for London). The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved Construction Logistics Plan or any 
approved amendments thereto as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport for London). 
REASON: To ensure that construction works do not have an adverse 
impact on the transport network in accordance with London Plan Policy 
6.14. 

 
 6 Before any piling or construction of basements is commenced a 

scheme for the provision of sewer vents within the building shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority the 
agreed scheme for the provision of sewer vents shall be implemented 
and brought into operation before the development is occupied and 
shall be so maintained for the life of the building.  

 REASON: To vent sewerage odour from (or substantially from) the 
development hereby permitted and mitigate any adverse air pollution or 
environmental conditions in order to protect the amenity of the area in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
 7 No works except demolition to basement slab level shall take place 

until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work to be carried out in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in 

Page 515



writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include all on site 
work, including details of any temporary works which may have an 
impact on the archaeology of the site and all off site work such as the 
analysis, publication and archiving of the results. All works shall be 
carried out and completed as approved, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to allow an opportunity for investigations to be made 
in an area where remains of archaeological interest are understood to 
exist in accordance with the following policies of the Unitary 
Development Plan: ARC2, ARC3 

 
 8 No works except demolition to basement slab level shall take place 

before details of the foundations and piling configuration, to include a 
detailed design and method statement, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such details to 
show the preservation of surviving archaeological remains which are to 
remain in situ.  

 REASON: To ensure the preservation of archaeological remains 
following archaeological investigation in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan: ARC2, ARC3. 

 
 9 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) particulars and samples of the materials to be used on all external 
faces of the building including external ground and upper level 
surfaces;  

 (b) details of the proposed new facade(s) including typical details of the 
fenestration and entrances;  

 (c) details of a typical bay of the development;  
 (d) typical details of stonework;  
 (e) details of ground floor elevations;  
 (f) details of windows;  
 (g) details of the service yard, gates and internal treatment;  
 (h) details of soffits, hand rails and balustrades;  
 (i) details of the integration of cleaning equipment, cradles and the 

garaging thereof;  
 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 

with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: CS10, 
CS12, ENV28, ENV29. 

 
10 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life 
of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Unitary Development Plan 
and Core Strategy: UTIL 6, CS10, CS17. 

Page 516



 
11 Prior to the occupation of the building all unbuilt surfaces shall be 

treated in accordance with a landscaping scheme to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
such works are commenced to include the re-siting of the statue of 
Icarus. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details not later than the end of the first 
planting season following completion of the development. Trees and 
shrubs which die or are removed, uprooted or destroyed or become in 
the opinion of the Local Planning Authority seriously damaged or 
defective within 5 years of completion of the development shall be 
replaced with trees and shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally approved, or such alternatives as may be agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the 
following policies of the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: 
ENV 8, ENV 9, CS10, CS15, CS19. 

 
12 The development shall be designed to allow for the retro-fit of heat 

exchanger rooms to connect into a district heating network if this 
becomes available during the lifetime of the development.  

 REASON: To minimise carbon emissions by enabling the building to be 
connected to a district heating and cooling network if one becomes 
available during the life of the building in accordance with the following 
policy of the Core Strategy: CS15. 

 
13 A post construction BREEAM assessment demonstrating that a target 

rating of 'Excellent' has been achieved (or such other target rating as 
the local planning authority may agree provided that it is satisfied all 
reasonable endeavours have been used to achieve an 'Excellent' 
rating) shall be submitted as soon as practicable after practical 
completion.  

 REASON: To demonstrate that carbon emissions have been minimised 
and that the development is sustainable in accordance with the 
following policy of the Core Strategy CS15. 

 
14 Details of the construction, planting irrigation and maintenance regime 

for the proposed green wall(s)/roof(s) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority before any works 
thereby affected are begun. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with those approved details and maintained as approved 
for the life of the development unless otherwise approved by the local 
planning authority.   

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and provide a habitat that will encourage biodiversity in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS10, 
CS15, CS18, CS19. 

 

Page 517



15 The building must conform to new building lines, levels and site 
boundaries as confirmed on the site by the Director of the Built 
Environment.  

 REASON: To ensure compliance with the proposed building lines, 
levels and site boundaries in accordance with the following policies of 
the Unitary Development Plan and Core Strategy: TRANS 7, CS16. 

 
16 No doors or gates shall open over the public highway.  
 REASON: In the interests of public safety 
 
17 No part of the proposed development including plant structures to 

which this permission relates shall infringe or exceed the heights 
specified on the St. Paul's Heights code.  

 REASON: To ensure compliance with St. Paul's Heights restrictions 
and to ensure protection of the view of St. Paul's Cathedral in 
accordance with the following policy of the Core Strategy: CS13. 

 
18 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 

23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS16, CS21. 

 
19 (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than 

the existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be 
determined at one metre from the nearest window or facade of the 
nearest premises.  

 The measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance 
with B.S. 4142. The background noise level shall be expressed as the 
lowest LA90 (10 minutes) during which plant is or may be in operation. 
Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design 
requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 (b) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and 
replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance 
with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, CS21. 

 
20 A clear unobstructed minimum headroom of 4.5m must be maintained 

for the life of the building in the refuse skip collection area as shown on 
the approved drawings and a clear unobstructed minimum headroom of 

Page 518



4.5m must be provided and maintained over the remaining areas and 
access ways.  

 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory servicing facilities are provided 
and maintained in accordance with the following policies of the Unitary 
Development Plan: TRANS15, UTIL6. 

 
21 Except as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

the loading and unloading areas must remain ancillary to the use of the 
building and shall be available at all times for that purpose for the 
occupiers thereof and visitors thereto.  

 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory servicing is maintained in 
accordance with the following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: 
TRANS15. 

 
22 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 

23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Core Strategy: CS15, 
CS21. 

 
23 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and 

maintained on the site throughout the life of the building sufficient to 
accommodate a minimum of one pedal cycle per 250sq.m. of 
floorspace (minimum 147 spaces). The cycle parking provided on the 
site must remain ancillary to the use of the building and must be 
available at all times throughout the life of the building for the sole use 
of the occupiers thereof and their visitors without charge to the 
individual end users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and that the 
cycle parking remains ancillary to the use of the building and to assist 
in reducing demand for public cycle parking in accordance with the 
following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS22. 

 
24 Changing facilities and showers shall be provided adjacent to the 

bicycle parking areas and maintained throughout the life of the building 
for the use of occupiers of the building in accordance with the approved 
plans.  

 REASON: To make travel by bicycle more convenient in order to 
encourage greater use of bicycles by commuters in accordance with 
the following policy of the Unitary Development Plan: TRANS22. 

 
25 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission: A-020, A-023, A-100-98, A-100-

Page 519



99, A-100-00, A-100-01, A-100-05, A-100-10, A-201, A-202, A-210, A-
211,A-212, A-213, A-214, A-252,A-255  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 

Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 2 The Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of £50 per 

sq.m on "chargeable development" and applies to all development over 
100sq.m (GIA) or which creates a new dwelling.  

   
 The City of London Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of 

£75 per sq.m for offices, £150 per sq.m for Riverside Residential, £95 
per sq.m for Rest of City Residential and £75 on all other uses on 
"chargeable development".   

   
 The Mayoral and City CIL charges will be recorded in the Register of 

Local Land Charges as a legal charge upon "chargeable development" 
when development commences. The Mayoral CIL payment will be 
passed to Transport for London to support Crossrail. The City CIL will 
be used to meet the infrastructure needs of the City.   

   
 Relevant persons, persons liable to pay and owners of the land will be 

sent a "Liability Notice" that will provide full details of the charges and 
to whom they have been charged or apportioned. Please submit to the 
City's Planning Obligations Officer an "Assumption of Liability" Notice 
(available from the Planning Portal website: 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil).   

   
 Prior to commencement of a "chargeable development" the developer 

is required to submit a "Notice of Commencement" to the City's 
Section106 Planning Obligations Officer. This Notice is available on the 

Page 520



Planning Portal website. Failure to provide such information on the due 
date may incur both surcharges and penalty interest. 

 
 3 This permission must in no way be deemed to prejudice any rights of 

light which may be enjoyed by the adjoining owners or occupiers under 
Common Law. 

 
 4 This permission is granted having regard to planning considerations 

only and is without prejudice to the position of the City of London 
Corporation as ground landlords; and the work must not be instituted 
until the consent of the City of London Corporation as freeholders has 
been obtained by the Head Lessee. 

 
 5 The correct street number or number and name must be displayed 

prominently on the premises in accordance with regulations made 
under Section 12 of the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939. 
Names and numbers must be agreed with the Department of the Built 
Environment prior to their use including use for marketing. 

 
 6 The Department of the Built Environment (Highways and Streetworks 

Team) must be consulted on the following matters which require 
specific approval:  

   
 (a) Hoardings, scaffolding and their respective licences, temporary road 

closures and any other activity on the public highway in connection with 
the proposed building works. In this regard the City of London 
Corporation operates the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  

   
 (b) The incorporation of street lighting and/or walkway lighting into the 

new development. Section 53 of the City of London (Various Powers) 
Act 1900 allows the City to affix to the exterior of any building fronting 
any street within the City brackets, wires, pipes and apparatus as may 
be necessary or convenient for the public lighting of streets within the 
City.  

   
 (c) Connections to the local sewerage and surface water system.  
   
 (d) Carriageway crossovers.  
   
 (e) Means of escape and constructional details under the Building 

Regulations and London Building Acts (District Surveyor).  
   
 (f) The provision of City Walkway drainage facilities and maintenance 

arrangements thereof. 
 
 7 The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection (Environmental 

Health Team) advises that:  
   
  
 

Page 521



Noise and Dust  
   
 (a)  
 The construction/project management company concerned with the 

development must contact the Department of Markets and Consumer 
Protection and provide a working document detailing steps they 
propose to take to minimise noise and air pollution for the duration of 
the works at least 28 days prior to commencement of the work. 
Restrictions on working hours will normally be enforced following 
discussions with relevant parties to establish hours of work for noisy 
operations.  

   
 (b)  
 Demolition and construction work shall be carried out in accordance 

with the City of London Code of Practice for Deconstruction and 
Construction. The code details good site practice so as to minimise 
disturbance to nearby residents and commercial occupiers from noise, 
dust etc. The code can be accessed through the City of London 
internet site, www.cityoflondon.gov.uk, via the a-z index under Pollution 
Control-City in the section referring to noise, and is also available from 
the Markets and Consumer Protection Department.  

   
 (c)  
 Failure to notify the Markets and Consumer Protection Department of 

the start of the works or to provide the working documents will result in 
the service of a notice under section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 
l974 (which will dictate the permitted hours of work including noisy 
operations) and under Section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 
l990 relating to the control of dust and other air borne particles. The 
restrictions on working hours will normally be enforced following 
discussions with relevant parties to establish hours of work for noisy 
operations.  

   
 (d)  
 Construction work shall not begin until a scheme for protecting nearby 

residents and commercial occupiers from noise from the site has been 
submitted to and approved by the Markets and Consumer Protection 
Department.  

   
 Air Quality  
   
 (e)  
 Compliance with the Clean Air Act 1993  
   
 Any furnace burning liquid or gaseous matter at a rate of 366.4 

kilowatts or more, and any furnace burning pulverised fuel or any solid 
matter at a rate of more than 45.4 kilograms or more an hour, requires 
chimney height approval. Use of such a furnace without chimney height 
approval is an offence. The calculated chimney height can conflict with 

Page 522



requirements of planning control and further mitigation measures may 
need to be taken to allow installation of the plant.  

   
 Boilers and CHP plant  
   
 (f)  
 The City is an Air Quality Management Area with high levels of nitrogen 

dioxide. All gas boilers should therefore meet a dry NOx emission rate 
of <40mg/kWh in accordance with the City of London Air Quality 
Strategy 2011.  

   
 (g)  
 All gas Combined Heat and Power plant should be low NOX 

technology as detailed in the City of London Guidance for controlling 
emissions from CHP plant and in accordance with the City of London 
Air Quality Strategy 2011.  

   
 (h)  
 When considering how to achieve, or work towards the achievement of, 

the renewable energy targets, the Markets and Consumer Protection 
Department would prefer developers not to consider installing a 
biomass burner as the City is an Air Quality Management Area for fine 
particles and nitrogen dioxide. Research indicates that the widespread 
use of these appliances has the potential to increase particulate levels 
in London to an unacceptable level. Until the Markets and Consumer 
Protection Department is satisfied that these appliances can be 
installed without causing a detriment to the local air quality they are 
discouraging their use. Biomass CHP may be acceptable providing 
sufficient abatement is fitted to the plant to reduce emissions to air.  

   
 (i)  
 Developers are encouraged to install non-combustion renewable 

technology to work towards energy security and carbon reduction 
targets in preference to combustion based technology.  

   
 Standby Generators  
   
 (j)  
 Advice on a range of measures to achieve the best environmental 

option on the control of pollution from standby generators can be 
obtained from the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection.
   

 (k)  
 There is a potential for standby generators to give out dark smoke on 

start up and to cause noise nuisance. Guidance is available from the 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection on measures to avoid 
this.  

 
 
 

Page 523



Cooling Towers  
   

(l)  
 Wet cooling towers are recommended rather than dry systems due to 

the energy efficiency of wet systems.  
   
 Noise Affecting Residential Properties  
   
 (m)  
 The proposed residential flats are close to busy roads and are in an 

existing commercial area which operates 24 hours a day. The scheme 
should include effective sound proofing of the windows and the 
provision of air conditioning or silent ventilation units to enable the 
occupants to keep their windows closed to benefit from the sound 
insulation provided. This may need additional planning permission.  

   
 (n)  
 The proposed residential units are located in a busy City area that 

operates 24 hours a day and there are existing road sweeping, 
deliveries, ventilation plant and refuse collection activities that go on 
through the night. The units need to be designed and constructed to 
minimize noise disturbance to the residents. This should include 
acoustic treatment to prevent noise and vibration transmission from all 
sources. Sound insulation treatment needs to be provided to the 
windows and either air conditioning provided or silent ventilation 
provided to enable the windows to be kept closed yet maintain 
comfortable conditions within the rooms of the flat. This may need 
additional planning permission.  

   
 Ventilation of Sewer Gases  
   
 (o)  
 The sewers in the City historically vent at low level in the road. The 

area containing the site of the development has suffered smell 
problems from sewer smells entering buildings. A number of these 
ventilation grills have been blocked up by Thames Water Utilities. 
These have now reached a point where no further blocking up can be 
carried out. It is therefore paramount that no low level ventilation 
intakes or entrances are adjacent to these vents. The Director of 
Markets and Consumer Protection strongly recommends that a sewer 
vent pipe be installed in the building terminating at a safe outlet at roof 
level atmosphere. This would benefit the development and the 
surrounding areas by providing any venting of the sewers at high level 
away from air intakes and building entrances, thus allowing possible 
closing off of low level ventilation grills in any problem areas.  

   
  
 
 
 

Page 524



Food Hygiene and Safety  
   
 (p)  
 Further information should be provided regarding the internal layout of 

the proposed food/catering units showing proposals for staff/customer 
toilet facilities, ventilation arrangements and layout of kitchen areas.  

   
(q)  

 If cooking is to be proposed within the food/catering units a satisfactory 
system of ventilation will be required. This must satisfy the following 
conditions:  

   
 Adequate access to ventilation fans, equipment and ductwork should 

be provided to permit routine cleaning and maintenance;  
   
 The flue should terminate at roof level in a location which will not give 

rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or adjacent buildings. 
It cannot be assumed that ductwork will be permitted on the exterior of 
the building;  

   
 Additional methods of odour control may also be required. These must 

be submitted to the Markets and Consumer Protection Department for 
comment prior to installation;  

   
 Ventilation systems for extracting and dispersing any emissions and 

cooking smells to the external air must be discharged at roof level and 
designed, installed, operated and maintained in accordance with 
manufacturer's specification in order to prevent such smells and 
emissions adversely affecting neighbours.  

   
 (r)  
 From the 1 July 2007, the Health Act 2006 and associated Regulations 

prohibited the smoking of tobacco products in all enclosed or partially 
enclosed premises used as workplaces or to which the public have 
access. All such premises are required to provide signs prescribed by 
Regulations. Internal rooms provided for smoking in such premises are 
no longer permitted. More detailed guidance is available from the 
Markets and Consumer Protection Department (020 7332 3630) and 
from the Smoke Free England website: www.smokefreeengland.co.uk. 

 
 8 You are advised to contact Thames Water in respect of the following 

matters:  
   
 1. Waste Comments  
 Thames Water requests that the Applicant should incorporate within 

their proposal, protection to the property by installing for example, a 
non-return valve or other suitable device to avoid the risk of backflow at 
a later date, on the assumption that the sewerage network may 
surcharge to ground level during storm conditions.   

   

Page 525



 2. Surface Water Drainage - With regard to surface water drainage it is 
the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for drainage 
to ground, water courses or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface 
water it is recommended that the applicant should ensure that storm 
flows are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public network 
through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a 
combined public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and 
combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are 
not permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer 
proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames 
Water Developer Services will be required. They can be contacted on 
0845 850 2777. Reason - to ensure that the surface water discharge 
from the site shall not be detrimental to the existing sewerage system. 
  

 3. Legal changes under The Water Industry (Scheme for the Adoption 
of private sewers) Regulations 2011 mean that the sections of pipes 
you share with your neighbours, or are situated outside of your property 
boundary which connect to a public sewer are likely to have transferred 
to Thames Water's ownership. Should your proposed building work fall 
within 3 metres of these pipes we recommend you contact Thames 
Water to discuss their status in more detail and to determine if a 
building over / near to agreement is required. You can contact Thames 
Water on 0845 850 2777 or for more information please visit our 
website at www.thameswater.co.uk  

   
 4. Thames Water would advise that with regard to sewerage 

infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above 
planning application.  

   
 5. No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement 

(detailing the depth and type of piling to be undertaken and the 
methodology by which such piling will be carried out, including 
measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to 
subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be 
undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method 
statement. Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to 
underground sewerage utility infrastructure. Piling has the potential to 
impact on local underground sewerage utility infrastructure. The 
applicant is advised to contact Thames Water Developer Services on 
0845 850 2777 to discuss the details of the piling method statement. 
  

 6. Where a developer proposes to discharge groundwater into a public 
sewer, a groundwater discharge permit will be required. Groundwater 
discharges typically result from construction site dewatering, deep 
excavations, basement infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site 
remediation. Groundwater permit enquiries should be directed to 
Thames Water's Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 8507 
4890 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. 

Page 526



Application forms should be completed on line via 
www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality. Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under 
the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.  

 
7. Water Comments  

 On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise that 
with regard to water infrastructure capacity, we would not have any 
objection to the planning application.   

   
 8. Thames Water recommend the following informative be attached to 

this planning permission. Thames Water will aim to provide customers 
with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 
9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The 
developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design 
of the proposed development.  

   
 9. Supplementary Comments  
 In reviewing the Councils' weekly list for planning applications, Thames 

Water has identified this application as one of interest to us. Whilst we 
recognise that there is no statutory requirement for you to consult us, 
we would respectfully ask to be pro-actively consulted on all similar 
applications in future, so that the adequate provision of water industry 
infrastructure can be assessed and considered as part of the decision 
process.  

  
 
 

Page 527



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 528



 

 

Committee(s): Date(s):  

   

Planning & Transportation 1 December 2014  

   

Subject: 

Delegation of Powers to Officers in relation to S106 
Agreements relating to schemes otherwise within Officer 
delegated powers. 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Chief Planning Officer and 

Director of the Department of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

 

 
Summary 

 
 

The Court of Common Council has delegated to Planning and 
Transportation Committee responsibility for the City‟s local planning 
authority functions. To facilitate the carrying out and administration of 
these functions, some of them have been delegated down to Chief 
Officers as set out in the Scheme of Delegations approved by Court of 
Common Council on 1 May 2014. Recent changes due to the introduction 
of CIL have given rise to further delegation issues.    
 

Recommendations 

I recommend that you agree the amendment to the Scheme of 
Delegations in respect of local planning authority functions as set out in 
paragraph 7 and 8 of this report. 

 

Main Report 

Background 
The Court of Common Council has delegated to Planning and Transportation 
Committee responsibility for the City‟s local planning authority functions. To facilitate 
the carrying out and administration of these functions, some of them have been 
delegated down to Chief Officers as set out in the Scheme of Delegations approved 
by Court of Common Council on 1 May 2014.  Recent changes due to the 
introduction of CIL have given rise to further delegation issues 
 
Current Position 
In July 2014 the City of London Corporation adopted its Community Infrastructure 
Levy „CIL‟. As a result there were a number of consequential changes to the City‟s 
policy in relation to the collection of S106 monies and to the thresholds which trigger 
payment.  
1. Infrastructure matters are now dealt with through CIL and S106 covenants are 

limited to training and skills, affordable housing, site specific mitigation and any 
other matters. 

Page 529

Agenda Item 7



 

 

2. The thresholds where S106 covenants are applicable have been reduced in line 
with the Mayor of London‟s Crossrail Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
so that it becomes payable on an increase in floor space of 500 m2 whereas 
previously the trigger was in increase on a minimum of 2,000 m2 on floor space 
of 10,000 m2 and residential development where it delivers 10 or more housing 
units. 

3. At present there is not officer delegation to approve S106 covenants without 
reference to the Committee.  

4. The lower thresholds mean that cases which would otherwise be dealt with 
under delegated authority cannot now be delegated because the lowered 
threshold for S106 covenants means that committee authority must be obtained 
to enter into the S106 covenants.  

5. There are now other applications which are suitable for delegation except for 
the fact that they trigger a S106 covenant. 

Proposals 
6. In order to avoid delays and a possible need for more committee meetings it is 

proposed that those applications that could previously have been dealt with 
under delegated powers but are now no longer able to be dealt with in this way 
continue to be dealt with under delegated powers even though they trigger S106 
covenants. 

7. It is proposed that Section A, item 60 in the scheme approved by Common 
Council on 1 May 2014 be amended to include the additional words underlined , 
as follows: “To agree minor variations to agreements pursuant to sections 106 
and 106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to authorise section 
106 covenants in respect of planning applications (and where the planning 
application is such that it may be determined by the Chief Officer (or other 
appropriate officer authorised by him) under this Scheme of Delegation)”.  

8. Should the S106 covenant not be in substantial compliance with your policy the 
application would not be determinable under the existing delegated authority as 
it would breach policy and consequently would fall outside the proposed 
additional delegation. It would therefore be reported to your Committee for 
decision. 

9. An annual report will be presented to your Committee advising you of the 
annual sum negotiated. 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 
10. This proposal links the following themes of the City Together Strategy: is 

competitive and promotes opportunity; supports our communities; protects, 
promotes and enhances our environment; is vibrant and culturally rich; is safer 
and stronger. 

Consultees 
 The Town Clerk, the Chamberlain and the Comptroller & City Solicitor have been 
consulted in the preparation of this report and their comments have been 
incorporated.  
 

Page 530



 

 

Conclusion 
11. To ensure that the City can expedite planning decisions which the Committee 

has hitherto delegated it is recommended that Committee delegates to 
appropriate officers of the Department of Built Environment authority to enter 
into section S106 covenants in the circumstances where but for the S106 
covenant the decision would otherwise be delegated to officers.  

Recommendation 
12. That the Committee agrees to the amendment to the Scheme of Delegation. 

Background Papers: 

Appendix 
Planning & Transportation Committee report 4 February 2014 Corporate 
Governance – Scheme of Delegations and Standing Orders, of the Town Clerk at 
pages 193-197 
 
Contact: 
Annie.hampson@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
Telephone number: 020 7332 1700 

Page 531

mailto:Annie.hampson@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 532



 

 

 

 

CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION 

 

 

SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS 

 

 
 

Page 189Page 533



1 

 

 

DIRECTOR OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT 

 

The following general powers are delegated to the Director of the Built Environment. 

  

 

Authorisations 
1. To authorise duly appointed officers to act under any enactments, regulations or orders 

relating to the functions within the purview of the Committee and of Department. 

2. To sign the necessary warrants of authorisation for the above officers. 
 

Charges 
3. Setting miscellaneous hourly-based charges subject to agreement with the Chamberlain. 

 

Transportation & Public Realm 
 

4. To implement, waive or vary charges relating to traffic management and /or the Public Highway 

and/or pipe subways such as parking dispensations, private apparatus in the highway, temporary 

road closures and traffic orders, scaffolding hoarding and fencing licenses, and charges for pipe 

subways (including under S.73 of the London Local Authorities Act 2007).   

5. To grant permission or consent with or without conditions or refusing to grant permission or 

consent as the case may be with respect to applications made to the City of London Corporation: 

a. under Part II of the Road Traffic Act 1991, relating to dispensations from, or, the 

temporary suspension of, waiting and loading regulations or parking places 

regulations made in accordance with the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; 

b. under Section 7 of the City of London (Various Powers) Act 1973, relating to new 
buildings; 

6. To sign appropriate notices indicating that consent or refusal has been given, as the case may be 

under (a) above. 

7. To sign and serve notices or granting of consents under the Highways Act 1980, City of London 
Various Powers Act 1900 and the City of London Sewers Act 1848 relating to the management 

and maintenance of streets within the City. 

8. To exercise powers under  the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 in respect of temporary traffic 

orders 

9. To issue notices and, as necessary discharge the City of London Corporation’s obligations under 
Part III of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, relating to the co-ordination and 

execution of street works by public utility companies and other licensed operators. 

10. To enter into agreement with companies and statutory companies to allow the placement of 

plant within the pipe subways inherited from the Greater London Council in accordance with 

the London County Council (General Powers) Act 1958 and to determine applications for 

consent to place electricity substations in the street pursuant to the Electricity Act 1989 

11. To enter into agreements with other traffic authorities to jointly exercise the City’s traffic order 

making functions or to delegate those functions to them in accordance with S.101 Local 

Government Act 1972 

Page 190Page 534



2 

 

12. To enter into agreements with other highway authorities under section 8 of the Highways Act 

1980   

Water and Sewers 
13. The requisition of sewers under Sections 98 to 101 inclusive of the Water Industry Act 1991 

(relating to the powers to exercise and discharge the functions of the Undertaker within the 

City to adopt sewers). 

14. The adoption of sewers under Sections 102 to 105 inclusive of the Water Industry Act 1991 

(relating to the powers to exercise and discharge the functions of the Undertaken within the 

City to adopt sewers). 

15. To authorise and/or approve works under Section 112 of the Water Industry Act 1991 

(relating to the power to exercise and discharge the requirements of the Undertaker within 

the City). 

16. The closure or restriction of sewers under Section 116 of the Water Industry Act 1991, 

relating to the powers to exercise and discharge the functions of the Undertaker within the 

City to close or restrict the use of a public sewer. 

17. The alteration or removal of pipes or apparatus of the Undertaker under Section 185 of the 

Water Industry Act 1991, relating to the power to exercise and discharge the functions of the 

Undertaker within the City to alter or remove any relevant pipe or apparatus. 

 

Highways and Transport 
18. To make all Traffic Orders under sections 6, 9, 10, 23 and 45 of the Road Traffic Regulation 

Act 1984, and to make modifications to or to revoke any experimental Traffic Regulation 

Order (following consultation with the Commissioner of Police for the City of London) 

where deemed necessary in the interests of safety, convenience or the expeditious movement 

of traffic. 

19. To exercise powers under Part V of the Highways Act 1980 dealing with highway 
improvements.  

20. To make representation or lodge objection, as appropriate, to applications for a Public 

Service Vehicle Operator’s Licence, under Section 14A of the Public Passenger Vehicles 

Act 1981 or for a London Local Service Licence, under section 186 of the Greater London 

Authority Act 1999 and authorising in writing the appropriate officers in his Department to 

put forward objection or recommendation on behalf of the City of London Corporation at 

any Inquiry or Appeal arising out of an application for either of the recited licences. 

21. To agree details of railway works in the City of London under the Transport and Works Act 

1992.  

22. To issue projection licences on, over or under streets pursuant to schemes where planning 

permission has already been agreed or renewing existing licences.  

23. To be responsible for all functions under the Traffic Management Act 2004 and Regulations 

made thereunder that relate to the City of London as a local highway and local traffic authority. 

24. To agree consents for temporary highway activities pursuant to the Crossrail Act 2009  

Page 191Page 535



3 

 

25. To exercise through Civil Enforcement  amongst other things, parking management and parking 

enforcement functions, under the Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984, the Road Traffic Act 

1991, the London Local Authorities Acts 1996 – 2008 (LLAA), and the Traffic Management 

Act 2004 (TMA)  

City Walkway 
26. 25. Power to licence the temporary hoarding or enclosure of City Walkway pursuant to 

Section 162 of the City of London Sewers Act 1848 and Section 21 and Schedule 2 Part II to 

the City of London (various Powers) Act 1967.  

Cleansing 
 

27. The institution of proceedings and other enforcement remedies in respect of offences under 

the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part II, Part III and Part IV. 

28. To institute proceedings and other enforcement remedies in respect of the Health Act 2006, 

section 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10. 

29. To institute proceedings and other enforcement remedies in respect of offences under the 

Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act. 1978. 

30. To institute proceedings and other enforcement remedies in respect of offences under the 

City of London (Various Powers) Act 1987. 

31. To institute proceedings and enforcement remedies in relation to part VI of the Anti-Social 

Behaviours Act 2003. 

32. To institute proceedings in relation to Town and Country Planning Act 1990 section 224 and 
225. 

33. To institute proceedings in relation to Regulatory Investigator Powers Act 2000  

34. To institute proceedings in relation to Control of Pollution Act 1974  

35. To issue notices under section 6 London Local Authorities Act 2004 (abandoned vehicles). 

 

Delegations to other Officers 
The following authorities are also delegated to the specified Deputies or Assistants: 

Transportation and Public Realm Director – Items 4-35 

Assistant Director (Highways) –5 -17 and Items 23 – 26 

 

CITY PLANNING OFFICER 
 

The following functions are delegated to the City Planning Officer: 

 

Development Management 
 

Page 192Page 536



4 

 

Planning 
36. To determine applications for outline, full and temporary planning permission under Part III 

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 subject to the applications being in accordance 

with policy, not being of broad interest and there being no more than 4 planning objections.  

37. To make non-material changes to planning permission pursuant to Section 96A of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990.  

38. To determine applications for Listed Building Consent under the Planning (Listed Buildings 

& Conservation Areas) Act 1990; subject to the applications not being of broad interest and 

there being no more than 4 planning objections.  

39. To advise the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government of what decision 

the City of London Corporation would have made on its own applications for listed building 

consent if it had been able to determine them subject to the same criteria as 41. 

40. To grant applications for Conservation Area Consent under the Planning (Listed Buildings 
& Conservation Areas) Act 1990; subject to the applications not being of broad interest and 

there being no more than 4 planning objections.  

41. To determine submissions pursuant to the approval of conditions, under the Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 and in relation to clauses set out in approved Section 106 Agreements.  

42. To make minor changes to conditions in respect of planning permissions, listed building 

consents and conservation area consents which have been conditionally approved by the 

Planning & Transportation Committee  

43. To determine applications for planning permission, listing building consent and 

conservation area consent to replace an extant permission/consent granted on or before 1
st
 

October 2010, for development which has not already begun with a new permission/consent 

subject to a new time limit pursuant to Article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 and Regulation 3 of the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 and provided no more than 4 

planning objections have been received.  

44. To determine applications for Certificates of Lawfulness of existing and proposed use or 

development in accordance with sections 191 and 192 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990.  

45. To determine applications for Advertisement Consent pursuant to Regulations 12, 13, 14, 15 

and 16 of the Town & Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007.  

46. To determine applications for prior approval under the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995. 

47. To make observations in respect of planning and related applications submitted to other 

Boroughs, where the City of London’s views have been sought and which do not raise wider 

City issues.  

48. To serve notices under Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2010.  

Page 193Page 537



5 

 

49. To determine the particulars and evidence to be supplied by an applicant for planning 

permission pursuant to section 62 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

50. To serve Planning Contravention Notices under Section 171C of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

51. To serve Planning Contravention Notices under Section 171C of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

52. To issue and serve Enforcement Notices under Section 172 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and Section 38 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990. 

53. To issue a letter of assurance under Section 172A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

54. To serve notices under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

55. To serve Breach of Condition Notices under Section 187A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  

56. To decline to determine a retrospective application for planning permission under Section 

70C of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

57. To seek information as to interests in land under Section 330 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990, and as applied by Section 89 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & 

Conservation Areas Act) 1990, and Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976.  

58. To institute proceedings pursuant to Section 224 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

59. To serve Notice of Intention to remove or obliterate placards and posters pursuant to Section 

225, 225A, 225C and 225F of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

60. To agree minor variations to agreements pursuant to sections 106 and 106A of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990  

61. To determine applications made under section 106BA of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 (concerning the modification or discharge of affordable housing obligations) and 

to agree viability assessments submitted in support of such applications. 

62. To agree minor variations to agreements pursuant to section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. 

63. To make payments to other parties where required by the terms of an agreement made under 

section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or section 278 of the Highways 

Act 1980.  

64. To determine City Community Infrastructure Levy contributions pursuant to the Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

65. To pass Community Infrastructure Levy contributions to other parties pursuant to section 

216A of the Planning Act 2008 and regulations made thereunder.  

Page 194Page 538



6 

 

Trees 
66. To authorise works, including their removal, to trees in Conservation Areas and works in 

relation to a tree the subject of a Tree Preservation Order (T.P.O.), subject to them being 

seen and agreed by the Chairman of the Planning & Transportation Committee or Deputy 

Chairman in his or her absence.  

67. To determine applications made under sections 206 (2) and 213 (2) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, to dispense with the duty to plant replacement trees, subject to 

notification to the Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the Planning & Transportation 

Committee except in urgent cases.  

Churches 
68. To respond to consultation made under the provisions of the Pastoral Measure 1983, the 

Faculty Jurisdiction Rules 2000 and 2013, the Care of Churches and Ecclesiastical 

Jurisdiction Measure 1991, the Care of Cathedrals Measure 1990 and the Code of Practice 

relating to exempted denominations procedures agreed by the Secretary of State.  

69. The City of London Corporation’s functions under the City of London (St. Paul’s Cathedral 
Preservation) Act 1935.  

 

Environmental Impact 
70. To carry out the following functions under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 

Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations of 2011 and Circular 02/99:  

a. formulating “screening opinions” under Regulation 5;  

b. requiring developers to submit an environmental statement to validate an application 

under Regulation 10;  

c. formulating “scoping opinions” under Regulation 13;  

d. providing relevant information to developers who propose to prepare an 

environmental statement under the provisions of Regulation 15 (4);  

e. requiring the submission of further information pursuant to regulation 22 

f. requiring the local authority to submit an environmental statement in respect of 

applications for local authority development under Regulation 25;  

g. formulating a “screening opinion” in matters of planning enforcement under 

Regulation  

 

Crossrail 
 

71. To agree Crossrail contributions, agree viability assessments and instruct the Comptroller & 

City Solicitor to secure any necessary planning obligations in respect of Crossrail 

contributions pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

72. To review Section 106 agreements for planning permission already considered by the 

Planning & Transportation Committee, but not yet issued prior to the policy being adopted, 

and re-determine the application to ensure that appropriate consideration is given to relevant 

policy on the Crossrail contribution (subject to there being no reduction in any S.106 

contributions previously envisaged). 

73. To make payments of Crossrail contributions received by the City to the Mayor and/or 

Transport for London on the basis of the Implementation Protocol between the Mayor, 

Transport for London and the local planning authorities, subject to such payment being 

agreed by the Chamberlain. 

Page 195Page 539



7 

 

Local Plans, Naming and Numbering   
 

74. To carry out sustainability appraisal of Local Development Documents under Section 19(5) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and to exercise functions under the 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 including carrying 

out strategic environmental assessment (including assessments under the Habitats Directive 

(Council Directive 92/43/EEC)), preparing, publishing and consulting upon screening 

reports, scoping reports, sustainability commentaries and sustainability appraisal reports. 

75. To carry out public consultation in the preparation of Local Development Documents in 

accordance with the Statement of Community Involvement and the duty cooperate in 

Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

76. To carry out surveys under Section 13 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

77. To provide any documents necessary to support consultations on Local Development 

Documents and submission of Local Plans. 

78. To prepare and publish monitoring reports on an annual basis in accordance with Section 35 

of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

79. To make observations on consultation documents issued by central and local government, 

statutory bodies etc., where the observations are in accordance with the City’s general policy 

position.  

80. To carry out public consultation in the preparation of the Community Infrastructure Levy, in 

accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and the 

Statement of Community Involvement. 

81. To exercise powers under the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939 – Part II 

relating to street naming and numbering of property.  

 

Land Charges 
82. To maintain a register and index of Local Land Charges pursuant to section 3 of the Local 

Land Charges Act 1975, including the amendment and cancellation of registrations pursuant 

to the Local Land Charges Rules 1975 and to set search fees pursuant to Section 8 of the 

Local Land Charges Act 1975 and Section 150 of the Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 and relevant Rules and Regulations made there under. 

83. To make searches and issue search certificates pursuant to section 9 of the Local Land 

Charges Act 1975. 

Delegations to other Officers 
 

The following functions are also delegated to the following Officers:  

 

Director of the Built Environment – Section A to F 

 

Planning Services & Development Director - Sections A to E 

 

Page 196Page 540



8 

 

Policy & Performance Director - Section F, and  in the absence of the City Planning Officer 

and the Planning Services and Development  Director, Sections A to E  

 

Statutory Authorities 
 

 82. Officers of the department are authorised to exercise the following  powers in 

accordance with the responsibilities of the post: 

 

a. Sections 178(1), 196A(1), 196B, 209(1), 214B(1)(3), 214C, 219(1) and 225, 324 

and 325 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), 

 

b. Sections 42(1), 88(2), (3), (4) and (5) and 88(A) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) 

 

c. Sections 36 and 36A of the Hazardous Substances Act 1990.  

 

 

 

DISTRICT SURVEYOR 
 

 

The following functions are delegated to the District Surveyor:  

 

83. To grant permission or consent, with or without conditions or, refuse to  grant  permission or 

consent, as the case may be, with respect to applications made to the City of London 

Corporation under the London Building Acts 1930-1982, The Building Act 1984 and The 

Building Regulations 2010 (as amended). 

  84. To sign and serve any notices required to be given by the City of  London Corporation under 

the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939, Part VII, Section 62 relating to 

dangerous structures within the City of London. 

 

Delegation to other Officers 
 

The functions of the District Surveyor are also delegated to the Director of the Built Environment 

and the Deputy District Surveyor 

 

 

 

Relevant Legislation  
 

 Legislation Delegated Function 

1. City of London (Various Powers) Act 1967 – 

Sections 11, 12 and 18 

Byelaws 

 

 

i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Granting of consents 

iii) Making of temporary Prohibition or 

Restriction Orders 

iv) Section 11(1) - Serving of notices 

 

Page 197Page 541



9 

 

2. City of London (Various Powers) Act 1969 – 

Section 6 

 

To exercise the powers in extinguishing rights of 

burial 

3. Tourism (Sleeping Accommodation Price 

Display) Order 1977, made under Section 18 

of the Development of Tourism Act 1969 

 

i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Authorisation of officers under paragraph 5 

 

4. European Community Act 1972, 

Section 2(2) 

Including all Regulations made thereunder 

 

Power to appoint inspectors; authorise officers; 

issue notices, approvals, authorisations, 

registrations and permissions; institute 

proceedings and other enforcement methods in 

respect of the regulations made under Section 

2(2) of the Act that are applicable to the 

functions of the City of London Corporation 

acting as a Port Health Authority, a Food 

Authority, a Feed Authority, an Animal Health 

and Disease Control Authority and a Local 

Weights and Measures Authority 

 

5. Greater London Council (General Powers) Act 

1974 

 

 

i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods  

ii) Issue of Notices 

6. Highways Act 1980 

 

 

i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Issue of Notices 

iii) Authorisation of Officers. 

iv) Entering into Agreements. 

v) Granting of Permissions and Licences. 

vi) Issue of Fixed Penalty Notices. 

vii) Making requisite applications 

 

7. London Building (Amendment) Act 1939 i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Granting of consents 

ii) Issue of Notices 

iii) Authorisation of officers 

iv) Granting of Exemptions and Licences 

 

8. London County Council (General Powers) Act 

1958 

Section 27 – Agreeing level of Charge between 

City of London and Undertakers in respect of 

apparatus in subways 

 

9. London Local Authorities Act 1995, Part II Issue of Penalty Charge Notices 

10. London Local Authorities Act 1996, Part II Issue of Penalty Charge Notices 

11. London Local Authorities Act 2000 

 

 

i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Issue of Penalty Charge Notices. 

Page 198Page 542



10 

 

12. London Local Authorities Act 2004 Authorisation of Officers 

 

13. London Local Authorities & Transport for 

London Act 2003 

i) Issue of Notices 

ii) Issue of Penalty Charge Notices 

14. New Roads & Streetworks Act 1991 

 

i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Granting of licences 

iii) Issue of notices 

iv) Serving Fixed Penalty Notices 

 

15. Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods. 

ii) Authorisation of Officers 

iii) Issuing Fixed Penalty Notices 

iv) Removal of abandoned vehicles 

v) Disposal of removed vehicles 

 

16. Road Traffic Act 1991 i) Institution of Proceedings and other 

enforcement methods 

ii) Issue of Penalty Charge Notices 

iii) Issue of Notices 

iv) Consideration of Representations 

 

17. Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 

 

i) Making temporary prohibition or restriction 

orders 

ii) Granting of suspensions and dispensations 

iii) Appointment of Parking Attendants 

 

18. Traffic Management Act 2004 All functions required of a local Highway and 

local Traffic authority 

 

19. Other functions, not Specific to an Enacted 

Power 

(i) Authority to write off debts arising in the 

Department up to a limit of £1,000, subject to 

concurrence of the Chamberlain 

ii) Authority to pay up to £1,000 in any one case 

of exclusion from work under the provisions 

of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 

1984 – Section 20. 

 

 

NB (i) In each instance above, the Institution of Proceedings and other enforcement methods to be 

subject to the proviso that, in each case, the Comptroller & City Solicitor has advised that the 

evidence is sufficient to justify a prosecution. 

 (ii) All of the Officers so authorised are indemnified against all claims made against them, including, 

awards of damages and costs arising out of acts done by them in the bona fide discharge or 

purported discharge of functions delegated to them by the Port Health & Environmental Services 

Committee (formerly the Port & City of London Health and Social Services Committee) or any of 

its Sub Committees (see report to Common Council of 2.11.1995). 

 

 

Page 199Page 543



Page 200

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 544



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Planning & Transportation Committee  

Policy & Resources Committee 

Common Council 

  1st December 2014 

11th December 2014 

15th January 2014 

Subject:  

City of London Local Plan: adoption 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Director of the Built Environment  

For Decision 

Summary 

The City of London Local Plan was published for its final stage of public 
consultation between December 2013 and February 2014 and was 
subsequently examined by an independent planning inspector.  The inspector 
has issued his report on the examination, which finds that the Local Plan is 
sound and recommends that it is adopted.  It is recommended that the Court of 
Common Council adopts the Local Plan by resolution, subject to the 
modifications listed in the appendix to this report. Once adopted the Local Plan 
will replace the Core Strategy 2011 and the saved policies of the Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) 2002. 

Recommendation 

 That the Common Council be recommended to adopt by resolution the 
City of London Local Plan subject to the modifications in Appendix 1 to 
this report. 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 

1. The City of London Local Plan was published for its last stage of public 
consultation between December 2013 and February 2014.  In May 2014 the 
Plan and the public‟s representations were submitted for public examination 
by an independent planning inspector.  The inspector held a public hearing in 
October 2014.  The inspector has now issued his report on the examination 
and the final step is to adopt the Local Plan. 

 
Current Position 

2. The preparation of the Local Plan has involved several stages of public 
consultation since 2011.  The final consultation version of the Plan was 
reported to the Planning & Transportation Committee on 5th November 2013.  
It was subsequently referred to the Policy & Resources Committee on 21st 
November and Common Council on 5th December 2013. 

3. The Local Plan was published for consultation on 8th December 2013.  The 
consultation period was originally set to close on 17th February 2014.  
However, during January it was decided to make some refinements to four of 
the policies for hotels and housing to improve their consistency with the policy 

Page 545

Agenda Item 8



for the protection of offices.  The consultation period was extended to 28th 
February to allow the public extra time to consider these amendments. 

4. During January the draft „Office Use‟ supplementary planning document 
(SPD) was agreed by the Planning & Transportation Committee and also 
issued for consultation.  The consultation period for this was timed to end on 
28th February to allow the public to consider the Local Plan and the SPD 
concurrently, in view of the close relationship between them.  Following 
consultation on the draft SPD, it was adopted as Interim Planning Guidance 
by the Planning & Transportation Committee on 30th July 2014, pending 
approval of the Local Plan.  The formal adoption of the Office Use SPD will be 
the subject of a report to the next meeting of the Planning & Transportation 
Committee. 

Public examination 

5. During the consultation period on the Local Plan responses were received 
from 27 organisations.  On 21st May 2014 the Local Plan and the public‟s 
responses were submitted to the Secretary of State, who appointed a 
planning inspector to examine the Plan. 

6. In order, where possible, to resolve objections to the Plan and avoid 
unnecessary discussion at the examination a list of proposed modifications to 
the Plan was prepared.  These modifications are mainly for clarification and 
do not materially affect the policies of the Plan.  In accordance with a 
recommendation in my earlier reports, this list was agreed in consultation with 
the Chairman of the Planning & Transportation Committee.  The list was 
submitted to the planning inspector alongside the Plan.  In response to 
continuing discussions with objectors, some further modifications were 
subsequently added to the list.  The full list of modifications is in Appendix 1 to 
this report. 

7. As part of the examination of the Plan a public hearing was held on 7th 
October.  At the hearing objectors and City officers had the opportunity to 
explain their cases in a discussion led by the inspector. 

8. The inspector has now issued his report on the examination, which is shown 
in Appendix 2.  The inspector concludes that the Local Plan is sound.  He is 
content for the Local Plan to be adopted subject to the list of proposed 
modifications proposed by the City Corporation and does not recommend any 
additional modifications.  The inspector‟s report and recommendation have 
been published and made available in accordance with the statutory 
requirements. 

Proposals 

9. It is recommended that the Local Plan be adopted subject to the modifications 
in Appendix 1 to this report.  A copy of the full text of the Local Plan, showing 
the modifications as tracked changes, is available in the Members‟ Reading 
Room and has been distributed to Members electronically.  

10. The Plan must be referred to Common Council for adoption by resolution. 

11. When adopted, the Local Plan, adoption statement and sustainability 
appraisal report must be made publicly available on the City‟s web site and for 
inspection, and those who asked to be notified of the Local Plan‟s adoption 

Page 546



must be sent a copy of the adoption statement.  An adoption statement must 
also be sent to the Secretary of State.  

12. Currently the Core Strategy, adopted in 2011, and the 55 saved policies of the 
Unitary Development Plan, 2002 are in force in the City.  Upon its adoption 
the Local Plan will supersede both these documents. 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

13. The Local Plan has been prepared with regard to all the City‟s other plans and 
strategies, including the Corporate Plan and The City Together Strategy.  The 
Local Plan is considered to be fully in alignment with these strategies. 

Next steps 

14. It is a statutory requirement that the City‟s Local Plan should be in general 
conformity with the Mayor‟s London Plan.  The Local Plan was prepared with 
regard to the current version of the London Plan, adopted in 2011.  In 2013 
the Mayor issued „Further Alterations to the London Plan‟ (FALP) which were 
subject to examination by a planning inspector during September 2014 and 
are expected to be adopted in February 2015.  The FALP include revised 
targets for housing provision, updated employment projections and other 
significant changes.  However, the inspector‟s conclusions on the FALP have 
not yet been issued, so it was not possible at this stage to take account of the 
FALP in the Local Plan.  It is considered that, following its adoption, an early 
review of the Local Plan will be necessary to take account of the FALP and 
other new policy developments.  This approach was noted by the inspector in 
his report and he also commented that he had no doubts that the Local Plan 
can be made consistent with the altered London Plan.   

 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Local Plan: Schedule of Modifications. 

 Appendix 2 – Inspector‟s report    (Report of the examination into the City 
of London Local Plan) 

 

Background Papers: 

Report to Planning & Transportation Committee, Policy & Resources Committee and 
Common Council: “City of London Local Plan: publication and examination”  
(5th Nov/21st Nov/5th Dec 2013) 
 
 
Derek Read 
 
T: 020 7332 1846 
E: derek.read@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 547



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 548



APPENDIX 1  

 

City of London Local Plan: Schedule of Modifications 
 

Modifications are shown in bold text with underlining for additions and strikethrough for deletions. 

 
Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

1a Introduction 1.1 … It takes account of projected changes in the economy, 

employment, housing need, transport demand, and seeks to maintain 

the quality of the City‟s environment and its historic environment 

heritage. It provides the strategy and policies for shaping the City until 

2026 and beyond. 

Response to English 

Heritage, 

Comment ID 62  

1 Introduction 1.8 … These bodies include the Mayor of London, the Greater London 

Authority and its “family” of authorities, including Transport for London, 

London Boroughs (especially the neighbouring boroughs: Westminster, 

Camden, Islington, Hackney, Tower Hamlets, Southwark and Lambeth), 

and local authorities beyond London, together with agencies 

responsible for transport, health and the environment. 

Response to request 

from Wokingham 

Borough Council 

under Duty to Co-

operate 

2 Introduction 1.19 The City Corporation will update the evidence base and Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan and monitor progress towards meeting the Local Plan‟s 

strategic objectives.  Key areas where changing trends or uncertainty 

may result in a need to change policy include:  

• Future levels of economic and employment growth;  

• Future levels of population growth and housing need; 

 Transport and infrastructure capacity; ... 

Updating to reflect 

London Plan and 

National Planning  

Policy Framework 

3 Spatial 

Strategy, 

Vision and 

Strategic 

Objectives 

City Culture 

and Heritage  

The 

Challenge 

(paragraph 

2) 

… The City has 26 conservation areas, over 600 listed buildings, and is 

one of the most archaeologically important areas in the country.  

Further development must not detract from these historic heritage 

assets and their settings, or adversely affect significant views, especially 

of St Paul‟s Cathedral and the Tower of London. 

Response to English 

Heritage,  

Comment ID 66 

4 A World 

Financial and 

3.1.11 The City Office Use Supplementary Planning Document provides further 

guidance on the evidence that would be required to support an 

Response to various 

comments to clarify 

P
age 549



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

Business 

Centre 

3.1 Offices 

application for the loss of existing office accommodation and sites. In 

particular, applicants will need to provide robust evidence to 

demonstrate that the building has depreciated such that office use 

would not be viable or suitable in the long term, having regard to the 

physical state of the building and its functional and locational 

obsolescence. office use in the City including the criteria for Marketing 

evidence will which would be required to show that there is no recent 

or likely future demand for continued office use on a site or building. 

purpose of Office 

Use SPD,  

Comment ID 59; 96; 

104; 107; 116; 136; 

150. 

 

5 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.1 Offices 

New 

Paragraph 

3.1.12 

3.1.12  The protection of office accommodation will be applied City-

wide, including within or near the residential areas identified in this 

Plan. Where the City Corporation is satisfied that sufficient evidence 

has been presented to justify the loss of office accommodation 

located within or near one of these residential areas, then the City 

Corporation will consider the potential for a change of use to 

residential use. 

Response to various 

comments, 

Comment ID 174; 

12; 152; 157.  

6 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.2 Utilities 

Infrastructure 

Policy CS2: 

Utilities 

Infrastructure 

Add new policy point 4 and renumber subsequent points: 

 

4. Promoting the improvement and extension of utilities and 

telecommunications infrastructure that is designed and sited to 

minimise adverse impact on the visual amenity, character and 

appearance of the City and its heritage assets. 

Response to Mobile 

Operators 

Association, 

Comment ID 48 

7 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.2 Utilities 

Infrastructure 

Policy DM2.1:   

Infrastructure 

provision and 

connection 

2)  Utility infrastructure and connections must be designed into and 

integrated with the development wherever possible.  As a 

minimum, developers should identify and plan for: 

 

Amend 4th bullet point: 

• telecommunications network demand, including wired and wireless 

infrastructure, planning for dual entry provision, where possible, 

through communal entry chambers, and  flexibility to address future 

technological improvements; 

 

Response to CPA, 

Comment ID 176 &  

Mobile Operators 

Association, 

Comment ID 48. 

P
age 550



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

8 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.2 Utilities 

Infrastructure 

3.2.9 Best practice in the field of infrastructure provision is constantly 

evolving and the City Corporation will encourage the improvement 

and extension of utilities networks to ensure that the City is at the 

forefront of the Smart City agenda and continues to provide high 

quality services for business, residents, students and visitors has a role 

to play in facilitating „Smart Cities‟ infrastructure. The City Corporation 

has… 

Response to Mobile 

Operators 

Association, 

Comment ID 48 

9 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.2 Utilities 

Infrastructure 

New 

paragraph 

3.2.13 

3.2.13 Rapidly changing technology and infrastructure needs may 

impact on the visual amenity, character and appearance of the City. 

The City Corporation will work with utility providers to ensure that new 

infrastructure is designed and sited to minimise any adverse impacts. 

Clarification to 

reflect modifications 

to Policy CS2 and 

DM2.1 

10 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.3 Security 

and Safety 

Policy CS3: 

Security and 

Safety 

 

Amend policy point 6:  

 

6.  Building a resilient society to ensure the Ensuring that development 

takes account of the need for resilience so that the residential and 

business communities are better prepared for, and able to recover 

from, emergencies (including the promotion of business continuity 

measures).  

Response to 

Haberdashers 

Company, 

Comment ID 109 

11 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.3 Security 

and Safety 

3.3.8 All applications should be accompanied by a Design & Access 

Statement which meets Design & Access Statements accompanying 

applications should meet the recommendations of the ALO and set 

out how security matters have been considered at the design stage…   

Response to City 

Property 

Association, 

Comment ID 177 

12 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.4 Planning 

Community 

Infrastructure 

Levy 

3.4.2 

… The City Corporation has adopted a CIL Charging Schedule and 

published the Charging Schedule on its website along with will publish 

on its website a list of the types of infrastructure or infrastructure 

projects that may be funded in part or in whole by CIL (the Regulation 

123 List). This list will reflects the infrastructure needs set out in this Plan. 

Updating 

P
age 551



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

Contributions  

3.4.4 Details of the CIL rates applied in the City of London and any 

exemptions from CIL will be set out on the City of London‟s website and 

in its Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule. 

13 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.4 Planning 

Contributions 

3.4.7 In line with legislative and regulatory requirements … and to ensure 

delivery of non-financial benefits, including requirements set out in this 

Plan and such as the City Corporation‟s Local Procurement Initiative…  

Clarification 

14 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.4 Planning 

Contributions 

3.4.8  The planning obligation thresholds and required levels of contribution 

will be are set out in a Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 

Document. 

Updating 

15 A World 

Financial and 

Business 

Centre 

3.4 Planning 

Contributions 

Who will 

deliver table:  

when: 

CIL Charging Schedule and Planning Obligations SPD Adopted 2014 

(date to be confirmed) 

Updating 

16 Key City 

Places 

3.8 Aldgate 

Policy CS8: 

Aldgate 

Amend policy point 3(iii): 

 

3. (iii) improving signage for visitors from Liverpool Street Station to 

Tower Hill and from Aldgate to Cheapside.  

Response to TfL, 

Comment ID 160 

17 Key City 

Places 

3.9 Thames 

and the 

Riverside 

Policy CS9: 

Thames and 

the Riverside 

Amend policy point 4(vi): 

 

4. (vi) resisting the permanent mooring of vessels; if moored vessels are 

exceptionally permitted they must be of national importance, have 

a special connection with the City and the River Thames,  and be 

Response to Port of 

London Authority, 

Comment ID 1 

P
age 552



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

used for a river related purpose and not have a detrimental impact 

on navigation, river regime or environment;   

18a City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.10 Design 

Policy DM 

10.1: New 

development 

Amend bullet point 1: 

 

• the bulk and massing of schemes are appropriate in relation to their 

surroundings and have due regard to the general scale, height, 

building lines, character, historic interest and significance, urban grain 

and materials of the locality and relate well satisfactorily to the 

character of streets, squares, lanes, alleys and passageways;  

Response to English 

Heritage,  

Comment ID 86 

18 City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.10 Design 

Who will 

deliver table: 

How we will 

make it 

happen: 

Amend Improved environment: 

 

… Ensuring the highest quality street furniture and street environment 

through the use of the Street Scene Manual City Streets Manual SPD. 

Updating to 

reinstate original 

Core Strategy 

wording.  

19 City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.12 Historic 

Environment 

3.12.1 … In addition, the Tower of London, which lies just outside the City 

boundary, is inscribed by UNESCO as a World Heritage Site of universal 

significance outstanding universal value and its protection includes a 

defined local setting which is partly within the City. The Mayor‟s 

Supplementary Planning Guidance “World Heritage Sites – Guidance 

on Settings” provides guidance on how the setting of the World 

Heritage Site can be positively managed, protecting heritage while 

encouraging change, in accordance with the NPPF. 

Response to Historic 

Royal Palaces, 

Comment ID 9 

 

Response to English 

Heritage,  

Comment ID 88 

20 City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.12 Historic 

Environment 

3.12.5 Development proposals will be required to include supporting 

information describing the significance of any heritage assets whose 

fabric or setting would be affected and the contribution made by their 

setting to their significance and the potential impact of proposals on 

that significance. 

Response to Historic 

Royal Palaces, 

Comment ID 9 

20a City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.12 Historic 

Environment 

3.12.9 The designation of a conservation area carries with it the statutory duty 

to consider how an area or areas can be preserved and enhanced.  

Conservation areas are defined as designated heritage assets within 

the NPPF and therefore the settings and significance of conservation 

Response to English 

Heritage, 

Comment ID 92 

P
age 553



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

areas should be sustained and enhanced. The City Corporation will … 

21 City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.12 Historic 

Environment 

3.12.24 Development proposals that may affect the City‟s historic parks and 

gardens will be assessed to ensure that overshadowing does not occur 

cause undue harm, that their historic character is maintained, and that 

the setting, enjoyment, and views into and from these gardens are 

respected. 

Response to City 

Property 

Association, 

Comment ID 185 

22 City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.12 Historic 

Environment 

Who will 

deliver table: 

When: 

Barbican Listed Building Management SPG adopted 2012; Golden 

Lane Listed Building Management Guidelines SPD due to be adopted 

2014 adopted 2013 

Updating 

23 City Culture 

and Heritage 

3.12 Historic 

Environment 

3.12.29 Circular 07/2009 “Protection of World Heritage Sites”, Planning Practice 

Guidance (2014) section “conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment” contains further guidance on World Heritage Sites. This 

has implications …  

Response to Historic 

Royal Palaces, 

Comment ID 9 

24 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.16 Public 

Transport, 

Streets and 

Walkways 

3.16.1 The City is served by an extensive public transport network with 6 six 

mainline railway stations, 12 underground and DLR stations and 54 bus 

routes within the City and stations such as London Bridge just outside its 

boundary serving large numbers of City commuters.  Public transport 

also links the City to the five London airports and the Channel Tunnel 

rail network for international travel. There are also two river bus stops, at 

Blackfriars and at Tower Pier just outside the City. 

Response to Port of 

London Authority, 

Comment ID 2 

25 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.16 Public 

Transport, 

Streets and 

Walkways 

Policy CS16: 

Public 

Transport, 

Streets and 

Walkways 

Amend policy points 1 and 3 (iv): 

 

1.  Securing increased public transport capacity through support for 

Crossrail, and the Northern Line/Bank Station upgrade, the DLR 

upgrade (including safeguarding land as shown on the Policies  

Map), and the completion of the Thameslink programme.  

 

3.  (iv) supporting London-wide cycling schemes such as the cycle hire 

scheme and cycle superhighways, in parallel with initiatives …  

 

Response to TfL, 

Comment ID 18 

P
age 554



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

26 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.16 Public 

Transport, 

Streets and 

Walkways 

Policy DM 

16.5   Parking 

and servicing 

standards 

Amend policy point 7: 

 

7)  Taxi ranks are encouraged at key locations, such as stations, and 

hotels and shopping centres.  The provision of taxi ranks should be 

designed to occupy the minimum practicable space, using a 

combined entry and exit point to avoid obstruction to other 

transport modes. 

Response to London 

Taxi and Private 

Hire, 

Comment ID 75 

27 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.16 Public 

Transport, 

Streets and 

Walkways 

Policy DM 

16.8   River 

transport 

Amend policy point 1: 

 

1)  River piers, steps and stairs to the foreshore, the Walbrook Wharf 

safeguarded site, and other river-based transport infrastructure will 

be safeguarded and improvements will be supported.   

 

Response to Port of 

London Authority, 

Comment ID 4 

 

28 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.17 Waste 

3.17.1 … Much of this commercial waste is collected and managed by 

private contractors, who work across local authority boundaries, so the 

exact amount of waste produced in the City is difficult to verify and 

commercial waste projections are complex and uncertain. The London 

Plan projects that the City‟s total waste arisings of municipal (MSW) 

and commercial and Industrial (C&I) waste for 2031 will be 565,000 

tonnes and the City of London Waste Arisings study 2013 estimates 

total (MSW) and (C&I) waste arisings for 2031 at between 509,000 and 

539,000 tonnes, but waste minimisation practices could reduce this to 

below 220,000 tonnes per annum by 2031. 

Updating to reflect 

uncertainty over 

future London Plan 

projections,  

 

28a Development 

affecting 

waste 

management 

sites 

3.17.13 Any proposed development which might prejudice the operation of 

the existing safeguarded site at Walbrook Wharf (Fig S) (Fig R) will be 

resisted … 

Response to Port of 

London Authority. 

September 2014. 

29 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.17 Waste 

Who will 

deliver table: 

How we will 

Waste Apportionment and duty to cooperate 

Joint working to meet the City‟s London Plan waste management 

apportionment target on sites elsewhere in London, through 

Response to Mayor 

of London, 

Comment ID 155 

P
age 555



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

make it 

happen: 

agreement with the London Borough of Bexley and ongoing 

contribution to the Southeast London Joint Waste Planning Group‟s 

waste technical paper. 

29a Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.18 Flood Risk 

3.18.7 From 2014 all proposals which affect surface water discharges must be 

approved by the SuDS Approval Body (SAB). The application for SAB 

approval can be made as a joint Planning/ SAB application. SuDS 

designs must comply with the SuDS National Standards. Pre application 

discussion with the SAB City Corporation and consultation with the 

Environment Agency, Thames Water and other interested parties will 

must ensure that SuDS designs are suitable for the proposed site. 

Designs should follow the SuDS management train Fig (T) and drainage 

hierarchy. 

Updating in 

response to 

DEFRA/DCLG 

consultation on 

„Delivering 

sustainable 

drainage systems‟ 

Sept 2014. 

30 Environmental 

Sustainability 

3.18 Flood Risk 

Who will 

deliver table:  

How we will 

make it 

happen: 

River Flood Risk  

Manage development to ensure adherence to the NPPF and 

associated technical guidance on flood risk Planning Practice 

Guidance and consult the Environment Agency according to current 

Standing Advice.   

Updating to refer to 

new online Planning 

Practice Guidance 

31 City 

Communities 

3.19 Open 

Spaces and 

Recreation 

3.19.15 When considering proposals for urban greening within and around 

conservation areas and other areas and buildings of heritage or other 

special character, affecting heritage assets, the City Corporation will 

have regard to the potential visual impact on its their architectural or 

special character.   

Response to City 

Property 

Association, 

Comment ID 192 

32 City 

Communities 

3.20 Retailing 

Policy DM 

20.1 Principal 

shopping 

centres 

Amend bullet point 1: 

 

• maintaining a clear predominance of A1 shopping frontage within 

PSCs, refusing changes of use where it would result in more than 2 in 

5 consecutive premises not in non-A1 or A2 deposit taker use; 

 

Updating to reflect 

the Town and 

Country Planning 

(General Permitted 

Development) 

(Amendment and 

Consequential 

Provisions) (England) 

Order 2014 

P
age 556



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

33 City 

Communities 

3.20 Retailing 

3.20.6 … To prevent significant breaks in A1 frontage, the City Corporation will 

also refuse proposals which would result in more than 2 in 5 

consecutive premises not in non-A1 or A2 deposit taker use. A2 deposit 

taker use is defined as a bank or building society in accordance with 

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(Amendment and Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2014. 

Updating to reflect 

the Town and 

Country Planning 

(General Permitted 

Development) 

(Amendment and 

Consequential 

Provisions) (England) 

Order 2014 

34 City 

Communities 

3.21 Housing 

3.21.11 To accord with policy DM1.1, applicants proposing new housing 

development will be expected to provide robust evidence to 

demonstrate that the site is not suitable for office use or an alternative 

commercial use in accordance with policy DM 1.1, providing robust 

evidence,. Within or near residential areas, where the City Corporation 

is satisfied that the loss of an office site or building is justified by the 

evidence provided, then redevelopment to provide residential use will 

be considered. Details are outlined in the City Office Use SPD.   

Response to various 

comments, 

Comment ID 39; 49; 

57: 130 

35 City 

Communities 

3.21 Housing 

Policy DM 

21.2   Loss of 

housing 

The net loss of existing housing units will not be allowed except where: 

… 

 

 

Response to 

Berkeley Homes, 

Comment ID 50 

36 City 

Communities 

3.21 Housing 

3.21.14 … Housing units outside identified residential areas are more likely to 

suffer noise nuisance and other disturbance due to other non-

residential uses being permitted in close proximity, including clubs and 

pubs. The loss of existing housing may be acceptable, provided it is 

replaced with an equivalent or greater number of units.    

Response to 

Berkeley Homes, 

Comment ID 50 

37 City 

Communities 

3.21 Housing 

3.21.18 In determining applications the City Corporation will have regard to 

the importance of the continued existence of a residential and office 

element in the Temples and of the contribution that this makes to their 

special character… 

Clarification: aim of 

policy is to protect 

both residential and 

office use within the 

Temples 

P
age 557



APPENDIX 1  

 

Ref Section Policy / 

Paragraph 

Proposed Modification Reason for 

Modification 

38 Policies Map  Amend boundary of Thames Tideway Tunnel Safeguarding Area. 

(See attached map) 

Revised safe-

guarding order, 24th 

Sept 2014. 

P
age 558



APPENDIX 1  

 
 

P
age 559



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 560



 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 
 

 
 
 

Report to the City of London Corporation 

by Douglas Machin BSC DipTP MRTPI 

 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government 

 
 
Local 

 
 

Local Government 

  Date 12 November 2014 

  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (AS 
AMENDED) 
SECTION 20 
 
REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO  
THE CITY OF LONDON LOCAL PLAN 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Document submitted for Examination on 21 May 2014 
Examination hearings held on 7 October 2014 

 

File Ref: PINS/K5030/429/3 

Page 561



 
 

-2- 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
Summary 

 
This report concludes that the City of London Local Plan provides a sound basis 

for the planning of the City.  Like the Core Strategy it replaces, the Local Plan 
aims to support the economic growth of the City of London.  It seeks to ensure 
that its role as the world’s leading financial, business and maritime centre is 

maintained.  I find that the Local Plan is justified by a sound evidence base.  I can 
see that it has been positively prepared with a high degree of engagement with 

stakeholders.  I am satisfied that it is in conformity with the London Plan and 
Government guidance.  Like its predecessors I am confident that it will be 
effective in delivering economic growth together with the high quality 

environment the City of London deserves.  The Local Plan is sound as submitted, 
and there are therefore no Main Modifications necessary before the Plan may be 

adopted. 

 

 
 

Page 562



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 3 - 

 

Introduction  

1. This report contains my assessment of the City of London Local Plan in terms 

of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended).  It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has complied with 

the Duty to Co-operate, in recognition that there is no scope to remedy any 
failure in this regard.  It considers whether the Local Plan is sound and 
whether it is compliant with the legal requirements.  The National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) (paragraph 182) makes it clear that to be sound a 
Local Plan should be positively prepared; justified; effective and consistent 

with national policy.  

2. The starting point for the Examination is the assumption that the City 
Corporation has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The basis for 

my Examination is the submitted draft plan (December 2013) together with 
the City Corporation’s Schedule of Proposed Modifications (2 October 2014).  

My report considers a number of issues in order to determine whether the 
Local Plan is legally compliant and sound or whether any Main Modifications 

are needed to make it so.  I have concluded that the Local Plan as submitted 
in regard to both soundness and legal compliance is sound.  It is capable of 
being adopted without modification.  Therefore no Main Modifications are 

recommended in this report.  As they do not raise soundness questions, I am 
content for the City Corporation to include its Schedule of Proposed 

Modifications in the adopted Local Plan, and to make any other necessary 
minor editing changes. 

3. This is a very brief report that reflects the fact that the Local Plan carries 

forward largely unchanged the Spatial Strategy, the Vision, the Strategic 
Objectives and the Strategic Policies of the adopted Core Strategy.  Having 

regard to the ample written responses received to my initial list of questions 
about soundness, I have not found it necessary to report on every aspect of 
the Local Plan.  The City Corporation has an excellent record of engaging with 

stakeholders.  This Local Plan reflects the process recommended by the 
Government of thorough preparation, front loading, consultation, review and 

amendment where necessary before an Examination of a Local Plan takes 
place.  Consequently there are few remaining potential soundness issues for 
me to consider.   

4. My overall conclusion is largely a repetition of the one I arrived at in 2011 
when I found the Core Strategy sound.  The Local Plan is succinct, sharply 

focused, and is locally distinctive and clear.  It is underpinned by a 
proportionate, appropriate and up to date evidence base.  Importantly it plans 
for growth in a key sector of the UK economy.  It is sound as submitted and 

can be adopted as soon as the City Corporation deems it appropriate to do so. 

Assessment of the Duty to Co-operate  

5. Section s20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the City 
Corporation has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A  of the 

2004 Act  in relation to the Local Plan’s preparation. 

Page 563



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 4 - 

6. The City Corporation is able to demonstrate a high degree of co-operation with 

the Greater London Authority (GLA), with neighbouring London Boroughs, with 
other local authorities and with prescribed bodies in the preparation of the 
Local Plan.  This is consistent with long standing consultation processes and 

procedures, which are especially important given the small size, constrained 
nature and national significance of the City of London.  The City Corporation’s 

Duty to Co-operate Monitoring Report (May 2014) elaborates and satisfactorily 
demonstrates how the duty has been complied with in the preparation of the 
Local Plan.  The City Corporation’s participation in the East London Housing 

Partnership Strategic Housing Market Assessment, and in the London wide 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment, are good examples of how the 

Duty has been complied with.  In relation to planning for waste, again the City 
Corporation can demonstrate that it has co-operated to ensure that its London 

Plan waste apportionment target can be met.  Furthermore, the delivery 
strategy elaborated throughout the Local Plan clearly acknowledges continuous 
co-operative working with stakeholders to ensure the Plan is effective.   

7. In conclusion the evidence is compelling that the Duty to Co-operate has been 
complied with. 

Assessment of Soundness  

Main Issues 

8. Taking account of all the representations, written evidence and the discussions 
that took place at the Examination Hearings I have identified five main issues 

upon which the soundness of the Local Plan depends.  

Issue 1 – Are the Spatial Strategy, the Vision and the Strategic Objectives 
sound?  

9. The Spatial Strategy, the Vision and the Strategic Objectives of this Local Plan 
are carried forward from the adopted Core Strategy.  There are only a few, 

minor changes proposed that do not raise soundness questions.  The Local 
Plan is structured around the five Strategic Objectives that reflect the most 
important challenges facing the City.  As with the Core Strategy, the Local 

Plan reflects the City of London’s uniqueness, and displays a locally distinctive 
approach to promoting growth and managing change in the urban 

environment of one of the world’s great cities. 

10. There is clear evidence, that like the Core Strategy it replaces, this is a 
positively prepared Plan.  The Sustainability Appraisal demonstrates that the 

Local Plan contains the most appropriate Strategy.  Undoubtedly the most 
important aspect of this Strategy is the provision to be made for the 

continuation of the City’s role as a world leading finance, business and 
maritime centre.  The Local Plan appropriately provides for the City to 
accommodate the level of employment and office floor space growth promoted 

in the London Plan.  Similarly, the London Plan housing target for the City can 
be comfortably met by the provisions of this Local Plan.   

11. However, the Plan also rightly emphasises the importance and contributory 
role of place making, including high quality design with some tall buildings, 
conservation of heritage assets, and the provision of open space, social and 

community facilities, and infrastructure.  These are recognised as supporting 

Page 564



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 5 - 

and enhancing economic growth and a strengthening of the City’s role and its 

national and international significance.  It is convincingly demonstrated that 
the Spatial Strategy, Vision and Strategic Objectives are justified by a 
comprehensive and up to date evidence base.  Furthermore, the period 

between the adoption of the Core Strategy and the submission of the Local 
Plan has been used to good effect in consulting with stakeholders, amending 

the draft Plan in an appropriate way in the light of comments received. 

12. A notable feature of this Local Plan is the emphasis on implementation and 
delivery of the Strategy.  The City Corporation can demonstrate a high degree 

of sophistication in recognising, monitoring and managing the demand for 
office floor space.  This is reflected in the Local Plan.  Each Policy topic 

contains a table setting down the responsibilities for delivering that part of the 
Plan.  Also evident is a good appreciation of the risks to delivery and the 

implications for the Strategy. 

13. As for conformity with national policy and guidance, the Mayor of London has 
confirmed that the Local Plan is in conformity with the London Plan 2011, and 

with the Revised Early Minor Alterations to the London Plan, which updated 
that Plan to ensure consistency with the NPPF.  This conformity, and the City 

Corporation’s self-assessment checklist, satisfies me that the Local Plan 
conforms with national policy and guidance, and with the London Plan.  I note 
that the City Corporation intends to carry out an early revision of the Local 

Plan once the Further Alterations to the London Plan are adopted.  However, 
there is nothing that raises any doubts in my mind that the Local Plan can be 

consistent with the altered London Plan, especially the likely increased housing 
target.  

14. In conclusion I am satisfied that the Spatial Strategy, the Vision and the 

Strategic Objectives meet the tests of soundness in paragraph 182 of the 
NPPF.  Accordingly, no Main Modifications are required. 

Issue 2 – Does the Local Plan set out the strategic priorities for the City of 
London, and satisfactorily address the “what, where, when and how” 
questions about significant change?  Is development viability and delivery 

at the heart of the Local Plan? 

15. The Local Plan adopts and takes forward the strategic priorities of the Core 

Strategy.   The Local Plan is just as clear over what, where, when and how 
significant change will be promoted and accommodated.  This is especially so 
in relation to office and other commercial development where levels and 

location of growth are set down in the Local Plan.  The Local Plan makes 
abundantly clear the importance of the City of London to the economies of 

London and of the United Kingdom, contributing some 3.1% to the Gross 
Domestic Product, and some £42 billion to the nation’s export earnings.   

16. To maintain the City’s pre-eminent role, the Local Plan provides for office floor 

space to increase by 1.15 million sq. m from 2011 to 2026.  The expected 
increase in employment of 55,000 will account for some 11% of the total 

increase in employment across the whole of London in that period.  The City of 
London is entirely within the London Central Activities Zone where commercial 
development is encouraged.  The Local Plan has a clear phasing and location 

specific approach in its strategy for office development.   

Page 565



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 6 - 

17. In relation to the planned increases in retail floor space and housing, the Local 

Plan is similarly clear about the rate and location of change.  The Local Plan 
continues with the same responsive approach to risk awareness and 
management contained in the Core Strategy.  However, the Local Plan will 

offer even greater confidence in its ability to deliver development by virtue of 
its comprehensive Development Management Policies.   

18. In relation to development viability, the Local Plan benefits from the thorough 
viability assessment supporting the City’s adopted Community Infrastructure 
Levy Charging Schedule.  That assessment demonstrates a high degree of 

awareness of development costs in the City and the effect of planning policy.  
The costs of the infrastructure needed to support growth are clearly set down 

in the City Corporation’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  This is regularly 
updated.  There is no evidence to suggest that development in the City, as 

promoted and managed by Local Plan Policies, will not be viable 

19. I have therefore no hesitation in concluding that the Local Plan does set out 
the strategic priorities for the City of London, and does satisfactorily address 

the “what, where, when and how” questions about significant change.  It is 
clear that development viability and delivery are at the heart of this Local Plan.  

It is therefore sound in this respect. 

Issue 3 – Is the Local Plan sound in the priority it gives to the protection 
of office floor space? 

20. The pre-eminent finance, business and maritime role of the City of London is 
supported by Core Strategic Policy CS1.  The Local Plan proposes an additional 

criterion to the Core Strategy version of the Policy.  This seeks to protect 
existing office accommodation where there are strong economic reasons why 
the loss of offices would be inappropriate.  This criterion is given effect in 

Policy DM 1.1 which seeks to refuse the loss of office accommodation to other 
uses where the building or its site is considered to be suitable for long term 

viable office use, and where there are strong economic reasons why the loss 
would be inappropriate.  Complementary Policies DM 1.2 and DM 1.3 seek to 
protect large office sites and small and medium sized offices respectively.  The 

City Corporation’s Draft Office Use Supplementary Planning Document (July 
2014) (SPD) elaborates on the justification for this approach.  It also states 

the type of evidence required to support a planning application that proposes a 
loss of existing office floor space. 

21. Doubts have been raised by a few as to whether this strengthening of CS1 is 

sound and sufficiently justified.  It is questioned whether CS1 and DM 1.1 
would be sympathetic to varying levels of viability in redevelopment schemes 

across the City.  However, on the basis of the evidence supporting the 
approach taken in the Local Plan, I find merit in its approach.  The following 
factors are compelling, in my judgement.  The City’s leading finance, business 

and maritime role relies to a large degree on maintaining a critical mass of 
office floor space within a defined cluster of commercial activity.  This is 

recognised and supported in the London Plan, and has been the basis of 
longstanding planning policy in the City of London.  The current total office 
floor space in the City is 8.6 million sq. m.  I agree with the City Corporation 

that any significant erosion of that critical mass and of the additional floor 
space expected over the Plan period, by changes of use away from offices, 

Page 566



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 7 - 

would be likely to undermine the City’s ability to function as successfully as it 

has been doing to date.   

22. The City Corporation has been granted a local exemption from permitted 
development rights to change from office to residential use.  Evidence put 

forward by the City Corporation in support of that application demonstrated 
that some 18% of the City’s office floor space could convert to residential use 

within five years without the exemption.  This is underpinned by evidence 
from the GLA in its response to the Government’s Technical Consultation on 
Planning that shows that across London, some 373,700 sq. m of occupied 

office floor space has gained prior approval for a change of use since June 
2013.  The City Corporation, and the GLA, point to the much higher land 

values for residential as opposed to office use as one of the main drivers of 
this trend.  I consider therefore that the City Corporation is correct to ensure 

that Local Plan Policies resist this trend in the City.  Accordingly, Policies CS1 
and DM 1.1, with the protection of existing office floor space they afford, are 
justified by the evidence. 

23. I have considered whether the Policies are sufficiently responsive to the 
constraints on redevelopment that are found throughout the City, such as the 

protection of strategic views, proximity of Listed Buildings, and considerations 
relating to design, scale and massing.  However, I am satisfied that these 
factors, that may affect the viability of redevelopment schemes, can all be part 

of the evidence that the City Corporation can take into account in determining 
applications that propose a change of use away from offices.  I am not 

persuaded that site specific considerations in themselves, which I accept will 
vary in different parts of the City, and will also no doubt vary over time, justify 
changing the approach in Policies CS1 and DM 1.1. 

24. The SPD supports the Policies by setting out the type of evidence required to 
justify a change from office to residential use.  It requires, amongst other 

matters, evidence that that there is no long term viable need for offices to 
remain available for that use before the City Corporation will agree to a 
change.  I have considered whether the Policies are unsound without a more 

specific term over which to assess viability. However, I consider that it is 
important to recognise that the Policies will apply throughout the Local Plan 

period, which will almost certainly contain several economic cycles of unknown 
length. The Policies, appropriately in my view, contain the flexibility for the 
City Corporation to be able to consider evidence about “long term” viability 

when it is presented, and to then form a judgement that is appropriate at any 
point in the Plan period.  This, and varying considerations in respect of each 

potential development site, leads me to the conclusion that the Policies are 
sound without stating a specific term in which to assess viability. 

25. Some argue that the office Policies are too restrictive because they could 

inhibit housing growth.  However, the Local Plan’s Housing Trajectory clearly 
demonstrates more than a five year supply of sites is immediately available.  

It also shows that the current London Plan annual housing requirement of 110 
dwellings can be met and indeed exceeded.   The City Corporation has 
evidence to demonstrate that the higher target being considered in the Further 

Alterations to the London Plan could also be met.  I note the reliance on 
windfall sites to deliver the required housing numbers.  However, consistent 

with my conclusion on the Core Strategy, I consider that this reliance is 

Page 567



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 8 - 

entirely appropriate for the City, given its densely developed nature and the 

pre-eminence of its finance, business and maritime role.  It is worthy of note 
that since the exemption from permitted development rights to change from 
office to residential use came into effect, over 270 residential units have been 

permitted on sites previously in office use in the City.  This is an indication to 
me that the City Corporation is willing to operate its office protection Policies 

flexibly where appropriate.   

26. The office Policies are intended to apply across the City of London.  I have 
considered whether there is any merit in a different approach being taken for 

specific parts, for example along the Thames Riverside.  I accept that the 
Riverside has a slightly different character to other parts of the City, not least 

due to the divisive effect of Lower Thames Street.  I can see that the Riverside 
in the City of London would be an attractive residential location as indeed it is 

in other parts of London.  It might be expected, in view of higher land values, 
that there would be additional pressure along the Riverside for the City 
Corporation to agree to changes of use away from offices.  However, I saw 

nothing that dissuades me that office use is also appropriate in that location.  
Indeed there is already significant office floor space there.   

27. I am convinced that for the Spatial Strategy for the City of London to be 
effective in delivering growth for the economies of both London and of the 
United Kingdom, a clear and consistent approach to the control of changes of 

use away from offices across the City is necessary.  Policy CS9, which gives 
more emphasis to office-led commercial development along the Riverside, 

than was the case in the Core Strategy, is sound in view of the likely pressures 
for residential development.  I am satisfied that the site specific viability 
considerations are able to be given due weight, and that the City Corporation 

has already demonstrated sufficient flexibility in that process.  Therefore I do 
not support any different approach for the Thames Riverside. 

28. In conclusion, I find that the Local Plan is sound in the priority it gives to the 
protection of office floor space across the City of London.  Accordingly, no Main 
Modifications are needed. 

Issue 4 – Are the Development Management Policies sufficiently 
comprehensive and supportive of the Spatial Strategy? 

29. The formulation of the Development Management Policies is well documented 
in the City Corporation’s Preparation Statement.  This describes how Policies 
have taken account of the various rounds of public consultation, the evidence 

base and the sustainability appraisal and equalities impact assessment.  It is 
evident that the Local Plan avoids wherever possible repeating London Plan 

Policies or statements of Government policy in the NPPF.  I note that the Local 
Plan contains far fewer Policies than the 2002 Unitary Development Plan.  Use 
is also to be made of Supplementary Planning Documents to give more 

detailed explanations of Policy requirements. 

30. Having reviewed all the Local Plan Policies, and taken account of the City 

Corporation’s response to this issue, I am satisfied that the Development 
Management Policies set out a precise and clear framework for development 
management in the City.  They are entirely appropriate to support the Spatial 

Page 568



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 9 - 

Strategy, and there are no deficiencies that might prevent the Strategy from 

being fully achieved.  Accordingly they are sound. 

Issue 5 - The remainder of the Local Plan 

31. I have considered all remaining parts of the Local Plan, together with the 

views of those who have contributed to its preparation.  The City Corporation 
has used its best endeavours to alter the draft Plan in minor ways to 

acknowledge and accommodate various points made.  There are some 
remaining areas of disagreement but I am satisfied that they do not challenge 
the soundness of the Local Plan.  For example, some argue for the 

identification of a further residential area around New Street where Policies 
CS21 and DM 21.1 could encourage new housing to be located, subject to 

Policy DM 1.1.  However, the City Corporation is committed to an early review 
of the Local Plan, and confirmed that it is willing to consider adding to the 

number of residential areas where the evidence justifies it.  It seems to me 
that such a comprehensive reassessment is a more sound approach.  Other 
matters such as the continuing discussions about, and potential changes to, 

the definition of the setting of the Tower of London can also be accommodated 
by such a review.  Neither these matters nor any of the others that have been 

raised cause me to question the soundness of the Local Plan. 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

32. My Examination of the compliance of the Local Plan with the legal 
requirements is summarised in the table below.  I conclude that the Local Plan 

meets them all.  

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

The Local Plan is identified within the approved LDS 
(April 2014), which sets out an expected adoption 
date of March 2015. The Local Plan’s content and 

timing are compliant with the LDS.  

Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) and 
relevant regulations 

The SCI was adopted in November 2012, and 

consultation has been compliant with the 
requirements therein.  

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) 

SA has been carried out and is adequate. 

Appropriate Assessment 
(AA) 

The Habitats Regulations AA Screening Report 
(November 2012) sets out why AA is not necessary 

National Policy and the 
London Plan 

The Local Plan complies with national policy and with 
the London Plan. 

Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS) 

Satisfactory regard has been paid to the SCS. 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

(PSED) 

The Local Plan complies with the PSED. 

2004 Act (as amended) 

and 2012 Regulations. 

The Local Plan complies with the Act and the 

Regulations. 

 

Page 569



City of London Corporation Local Plan - Inspector’s Report - November 2014 
 
 

- 10 - 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

33. In accordance with Section 20(7) I recommend that the submitted Local Plan 
is adopted on the basis that it meets in full the requirements of Section 20(5).   

My report covers the primary issues that have brought me to this conclusion.  

 

 

Douglas Machin 

Inspector 

 

Page 570



 

Committee(s): Date(s): Item no. 

Planning & Transportation Committee 

 

1 December 2014  

 

Subject: 

REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS - 2015/16 

Public 

 

Report of: 

The Chamberlain 

Director of the Built Environment 

Director of Culture, Heritage & Libraries 

 

For Decision 

 

 

 

Summary  

 

This report is the annual submission of the revenue and capital 

budgets overseen by your Committee. In particular it seeks approval 

to the provisional revenue budget for 2015/16, for subsequent 

submission to the Finance Committee.  Details of the Committee’s 

draft capital budget are also provided. The budgets have been 

prepared within the resources allocated to each Director. 

Business priorities for the forthcoming year include: 

 

Director of the Built Environment 

 Supporting the ongoing Service Based Reviews to deliver 

savings for 2015/16 and beyond; 

 2015/16 will be a year of delivering high profile external 

schemes, maintaining our high quality external services whilst 

continuing the improvement to our internal processes; 

 Developing our Road Danger Reduction Plan will be a high 

priority; and 

 Modernisation of the Planning Service. 

 

 

Director of Culture Heritage & Libraries 

 The department’s mission statement is to educate, entertain and 

inform, through discovery of our amazing range of resources. 

 

 

 
Page 571

Agenda Item 9



 

      
      Latest     
Summary Of Table 1   Approved Original    
  

 
  Budget Budget Movement 

  
 

  2014/15 2015/16   
      £'000 £'000 £'000 
            
Expenditure   31,002 28,303 (2,699) 
  

 
     

Income 
 

  (24,309) (22,144) 2,165 
  

 
  

   Support Services and Capital 
Charges 9,532 11,134 1,602 
Total Net 
Expenditure   16,225 17,293 1,068 
     

 

Overall, the 2015/16 provisional revenue budget totals £17.293m, an 

increase of £1,068,000 compared with the latest approved budget for 

2014/15. The main reasons for this increase are: 

     Variations between expenditure and income relate to the 2014/15 

Local Implementation Plan Programme of £880,000 and Street 

Scene works of £480,000, which were off-set by matching 

reductions in income contributions. 

     Reduction in transfers to reserve of £742,000 mainly as a result of 

reductions in Penalty Charge Notice income of £644,000 due to 

the ban on CCTV enforcement for on On-Street Parking. 

     One-off carry forwards from 2013/14 totalling £232,000 are 

included in the 2014/15 latest approved budget. 

     Effects of Service Based Review savings. 

     An increase in support services and capital charges of £1,570,000, 

relating mostly to increases in highway infrastructure asset 

depreciation costs, as a result of significant anticipated capital 

expenditure in 2014/15 in respect of the Aldgate project. 

 

 

Recommendations 

The Committee is requested to: 

     Review the provisional 2015/16 revenue budget to ensure that it 

reflects the Committee’s objectives and, if so, approve the budget 

for submission to the Finance Committee; 

     Review and approve the draft capital budget; 

 

 Page 572



     Authorise the Chamberlain to revise these budgets to allow for 

further implications arising from potential budget developments 

including changes to the Additional Works Programme and 

changes in respect of recharges. 

     Note that the Service Based Review changes reported to your 

Committee on 11
th
 November 2014 which were agreed, have been 

included in 2014/15 and 2015/16 budgets. 

 

Main Report 

Introduction 

1. This report sets out the proposed revenue and capital budgets for 2015/16.  

The revenue budget management arrangements are to; 

     Provide a clear distinction between local risk, central risk and recharge 

budgets. 

     Place responsibility for budgetary control on departmental Chief 

Officers. 

     Apply a cash limit policy to Chief Officers’ budgets. 

2. The provisional budget for 2015/16 has been analysed by the service 

expenditure and compared with the latest approved budget for the current 

year (see Table 1). 

3. The report also compares the current year’s budget with the forecast 

outturn. 

 

 

Business Planning Priorities 

Director of the Built Environment 

4. Over 2015/16 my Department will build on the cross-cutting objectives 

which were outlined in my 2014 business plan. These objectives will shape 

the City and our contribution as a department to City business in next few 

years. 

I. To deliver the Aldgate Highway Change and Public Realm Project. 

II. To contribute to the City’s Cultural Hub Working Party. 

III. To future-proof the City. 

Page 573



IV. Improve departmental and corporate data sharing and use of GIS 

(Graphical Information Systems). 

V. To Implement the City’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

5. Of course these objectives are in addition to the day to day work of the 

divisions, and the challenges these operations present, and will include: the 

Service Based Reviews; the Thames Tunnel Tideway; Road Danger 

Reduction Partnership; the Aldgate project; and our contribution to the 

Cultural Hub. 

6. Our highways team must manage the continuing demand on our highways, 

managing the demand for utilities and expectations of users. Across the 

Development Management service we must balance the need for new 

builds alongside the sensitivity of our heritage assets. Our District 

Surveyor is under continued pressure to deliver a first class service while 

competing against the private sector and on Planning Policy our 

engagement with the Mayor will be significant as the London Plan Further 

Alterations are the subject of consultation and examination. 

7. This budget supports the needs of my department to deliver our business 

and our key business objectives. 

Director of Culture, Heritage and Libraries 

8. The department’s mission statement is to educate, entertain and inform, 

through discovery of our amazing range of resources.  The four Strategic 

Aims are: 

 To refocus our services with more community engagement and 

partnerships with others. 

 To transform the sense of the City as a destination. 

 To continue to use technology to improve customer service and 

increase efficiency. 

 To further develop the City’s contribution to the life of London as a 

whole. 

Proposed Revenue Budget for 2015/16 

9. The proposed Revenue Budget for 2015/16 is shown in Table 1 below 

analysed between: 

     Local Risk budgets – these are budgets deemed to be largely within the 

Chief Officer’s control. 

 

Page 574



     Central Risk budgets – these are budgets comprising specific items 

where a Chief Officer manages the underlying service, but where the 

eventual financial outturn can be strongly influenced by external 

factors outside of his/her control or are budgets of a corporate nature 

(e.g. interest on balances and rent incomes from investment properties). 

     Support Services and Capital Charges – these cover budgets for 

services provided by one activity to another.  The control of these costs 

is exercised at the point where the expenditure or income first arises as 

local or central risk. 

10. The provisional 2015/16 budgets being presented to your Committee, and 

under the control of the Directors of the Built Environment and Culture, 

Heritage & Libraries, have been prepared within the resources allocated to 

each Director and in accordance with guidelines agreed by the Policy & 

Resources and Finance Committees.  These include: 

 2% uplift for inflation. 

 Proper control of transfers of non-staffing budget to staffing budgets. 

 The inclusion of the Service Based Review expenditure reductions 

of £492,000 and increased incomes of £500,000 that were agreed by 

the Policy and Resources Committee on 4
th
 September 2014. 

 

11. Income and favourable variances are presented in brackets. An analysis of 

this revenue expenditure by Service Managed is provided in Appendix 1. 

Only significant variances (generally those greater than £50,000) have 

been commented on in the following paragraphs. 

12. Overall there is an increase of £1,068,000 in the overall budget between 

the 2014/15 latest approved budget and the 2015/16 original budget. This 

movement is explained by the variances set out in the following 

paragraphs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 575



TABLE 1 
PLANNING & TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE SUMMARY – ALL FUNDS 
Analysis of Service Expenditure Local 

or 
Central 

Risk 

Actual 
2013-14 

 
 

£’000 

Latest 
Approved 

Budget 
2014-15 

£’000 

Original 
Budget 
2015-16 

 
£’000 

Movement 
2014-15 

to 
2015-16 

£’000 

Paragraph 
Reference 

EXPENDITURE       
Employees L 9,772 10,396 10,653 257 13 
Employees C 15 23 0 (23)  
Premises Related Expenses (see note i) L 5,985 6,095 5,188 (907) 14 
Premises Related Expenses (see note i) C 2,984 1,086 1,107 21  
City Surveyor – Repairs & Maintenance L 604 965 1,155 190 15/28 
Transport Related Expenses L 28 30 21 (9)  
Supplies & Services (see note ii) L 1,991 2,307 1,262 (1,045) 16 
Supplies & Services (see note ii) C (777) 55 55 0  
Third Party Payments L 4,166 3,275 3,323 48 17 
Transfer to Reserve C 5,364 5,256 4,514 (742) 18 
Contingencies L 0 582 384 (198) 19 
Contingencies C 0 15 15 0  
Supplementary Revenue Projects C 312 917 626 (291) 20 
Total Expenditure  30,444 31,002 28,303 (2,699)  
       
INCOME       
Other Grants, Reimbursements and  
Contributions 

L (1,867) (1,568) (179) 1,389 14, 16 &21 

Other Grants, Reimbursements and  
Contributions 

C (2,120) (896) (604) 292 20 

Customer, Client Receipts L (7,704) (7,675) (7,561) 114 22 
Customer, Client Receipts C (9,410) (8,995) (8,351) 644 23 
Transfer from Reserves L (81) (79) 0 79 24 
Transfer from Reserves C (1,994) (2,339) (2,613) (274) 25 
Recharges to Capital Projects L (1,518) (2,757) (2,836) (79) 26 
Total Income  (24,694) (24,309) (22,144) 2,165  
       
TOTAL EXPENDITURE/ (INCOME) BEFORE 
SUPPORT SERVICES AND CAPITAL CHARGES 

 5,750 6,693 6,159 (534)  

       
SUPPORT SERVICES AND CAPITAL CHARGES       
Central Support Services and Capital Charges  9,443 8,516 10,131 1,615 27 
Recharges within Fund  960 1,017 1,004 (13)  
Recharges Across Funds   (1) (1) (1) 0  
Total Support Services and Capital Charges  10,402 9,532 11,134 1,602  
TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE/(INCOME)  16,152 16,225 17,293 1,068  

 

Notes - Examples of types of service expenditure:- 

(i)
 
  Premises Related Expenses – includes repairs & maintenance, energy costs, rates, water services, cleaning and 

domestic supplies 

(ii)  Supplies and Services – Equipment, furniture, materials, uniforms, printing, stationery, professional fees, grants 

& subscriptions 

 

Page 576



13. A net increase of £257,000 in employee costs mainly relates to 

departmental provision for pay award, increments, re-gradings and 

vacancies in 2014/15 being filled in 2015/16. 

14. A reduction of (£907,000) from the 2014/15 premises related expenses 

budget is principally due to the one-off effects of additional spend of 

£100,000 for carriageway resurfacing repairs in 2014/15, and a reduction 

of £456,000 in highway schemes relating to the Local Implementation Plan 

(LIP) programme and Street Scene revenue works of £315,000. 

15. An increase of £190,000 relates to the additional works programme, 

reflecting changes in the composition and phasing of the works. 

16. A reduction of (£1,045,000) in supplies and services expenditure mainly 

relates to one-off spends in 2014/15 on externally funded projects 

including, the City’s LIP programme of £649,000; carry forward monies 

from 2013/14 of £207,000, Local Plan works programme of £79,000 and 

£137,000 reduction in spend on costs associated with the relocation of 

office staff at Tower Bridge. 

17. The increased third party payment costs of £48,000 principally relate to 

uplift in contract costs in 2015/16 for On-Street and Off Street parking 

contracts. 

18. A net decrease in the transfer to reserve of (£742,000) reflects anticipated 

income reductions of £890,000 mainly relating to penalty charge notice 

(PCN) fines as a result of a ban on CCTV enforcement, which were partly 

offset by decreases in the net operating costs for on-street parking 

activities, due to the reduction in the Parking Enforcement contract. 

19. The decrease relates to the balance of spend which the Director of Built 

Environment has yet to allocate and is currently in discussion with the 

Chamberlain on how best to deal with fluctuating income streams as a 

result of development activity which may not be sustainable in future 

years. 

20. The reduction in spend relates to revenue expenditure funded from capital 

under statute for Aldgate Highway changes, any spend is off-set by 

matching income contributions. 

21. The reduction in income from grants, reimbursements and contributions is 

mainly due to reduced funding of the LIP programme which has been 

offset accordingly with decreased scheme expenditure (see paragraphs 14 

and 16). 

22. The decrease in income mainly relates to the income loss for White’s Row 

car park closure and a drop in administration fee income of £31,000 for 

recoverable works in the Drain and Sewers service. 

Page 577



23. The reduction in income is mainly due to a drop in penalty charge notice 

fines of £890,000 as a result of banning the use of CCTV enforcement.  

This has been offset by an increase in parking meter income of (£242,000). 

24. The reduction in transfers from reserves was due to a one-off draw down in 

reserves in 2014/15 to fund costs relating to the Local Plan works 

programme (see paragraph 16). 

25. Increase in transfers from the Parking Meter Reserve relates to the need to 

fund increases in City Surveyor’s repairs and maintenance costs of 

£183,000 and cover a shortfall in car park fees of £58,000. 

26. The increase in recharges to capital projects reflects the increase in 

employee costs for staff working on capital projects which are fully 

recovered from TFL/S106/S278 monies. 

27. An increase in central support services and capital recharges reflects the 

net impact of changes in the budgets of central departments and their 

apportionment between committee, as shown in Appendix 2. The increase 

of £1,615,000 is mainly due to additional highway infrastructure asset 

depreciation costs, as a result of significant anticipated capital expenditure 

in 2014/15 in respect of the Aldgate project and other schemes including 

Riverside Walkway, various street scene and security enhancement 

schemes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 578



28. The increase of £190,000 in the budget for the City Surveyor’s additional 

works programme reflects changes in the composition and phasing of the 

works.  See Table 2 below. 

TABLE 2 - CITY SURVEYOR LOCAL RISK   Latest 
 

 
  

    
Approved Original Movement 

Repairs and Maintenance 
  

Budget Budget 2014/15 to  
  

    
2014/15 2015/16 2015/16 

          £'000 £'000 £,000 
               
Additional Works Programme 

  
  582 805  223 

        
Minor Improvements Planned Re-active 
& Cyclical Works 

   
    

 

Highways 
   

186 186  0 
Off Street Parking  

    
176 144 (32) 

Town Planning 
    

21 20 (1) 
               
Total City Surveyor       965 1,155 190 

 

29. Budgets have provisionally been included for the 2015/16 additional works 

programme based on bids considered by the Corporate Asset Sub 

Committee in June 2014. However, a decision on the funding of the 

programme is not due to be made by the Resource Allocation Sub 

Committee until December 2014.  It may therefore be necessary to adjust 

budgets to reflect the Resource Allocation Sub Committee’s decision. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 579



30. Analysis of the movement in manpower and related staff costs are shown 

in Table 3 below (see explanation of financial movement in paragraph 13). 

 
 

Table 3 - Manpower statement 

Latest Approved Budget 
2014/15 

Original Budget  
2015/16 

Manpower 
Full-time 

equivalent 

Estimated 
cost 
£000 

Manpower 
Full-time 

equivalent 

Estimated 
cost 
£000 

Director of Built Environment     
Town Planning 47.4 2,467 48.4 2,504 
Planning Obligations 2.2 116 2.2 117 
Transportation Planning 35.6 2,213 35.6 2,089 
Road Safety 2.0 121 2.0 105 
Building Control 24.0 1,412 26.6 1,484 
Structural Maintenance/Inspections 4.6 272 4.6 275 
Highways 21.8 1,234 23.8 1,293 
Traffic Management 14.3 577 15.3 648 
Off Street Parking 2.0 89 2.0 96 
On Street Parking 11.4 482 13.4 557 
Drains & Sewers 8.0 376 8.0 381 
Total Director of Built Environment 173.3 9,359 181.9 9,549 
     
     
Director of Culture, Heritage & 
Libraries 

    

Tower Bridge Operational 27 1,037 27 1,104 
Total Director of Culture, Heritage & 
Libraries 

27 1,037 27 1,104 

     

TOTAL PLANNNING & 
TRANSPORTATION 

200.3 10,396 208.9 10,653 

 

Potential Further Budget Developments 

31. The provisional nature of the 2015/16 revenue budget recognises that 

further revisions may be required, including in relation to: 

 Decisions on funding of the 2015/16 Additional Work Programme 

by the Resource Allocation Committee in December 2014; 

 Budget reductions to capture savings arising from the on-going 

Service Based Reviews; 

 Central and departmental recharges. 

 

Page 580



Revenue Budget 2014/15 

32. The forecast outturn for the current year is currently in line with the latest 

approved budget of £16.225m.  A budget of £597,000 is included in the 

forecast outturn for the Director of the Built Environment, for which he is 

currently in discussion with the Chamberlain on how best to deal with 

fluctuating income streams as a result of development activity which may 

not be sustainable in future years. 

33. It is anticipated that the Director of Culture, Heritage & Libraries will 

remain within his resource allocation. 

Bridges’ Repairs, Maintenance and Major Works Fund 

34. The Bridges Repairs, Maintenance and Major Works Fund is operated to 

provide sufficient resources to meet the maintenance costs of the five 

bridges over a period of 50 years. 

35. The balance of the Fund stood at £127.9m as at 1 April 2014, which 

comprised of property investments of £24.6m, managed investments of 

£84.8m and cash of £18.5m. In accordance with the management of the 

fund, the Director of Built Environment has reviewed and updated the 

schemes included in the 50 year projections to 2064/65.  A summary of the 

works projection and consequent contributions from Bridge House Estates 

is shown below in Table 4. 

 

Table 4: Thames Bridges’ Repairs, Maintenance and Major Works Fund  

50 Year Works and Required Contributions Projection to 2064/65 

 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought forward 1
st
 April 2014  (127,953) 

Planned Expenditure (inflated at 2% pa):   

- Blackfriars Bridge      46,863  

- Southwark Bridge 45,922  

- London Bridge    20,959  

- Millennium Bridge      26,672  

- Tower Bridge        96,798  

  237,214 

Forecast Income:   

- Managed Investments  (96,532)  

- Interest Accruing (4,368)  

- Rental Income from Bridge House Estates (58,741)  

  (159,641) 

Net balance before planned contributions    (50,380) 

   

Planned contributions to Fund  (92,158)      

Forecast Balance as at 31
st
 March 2065     (142,538) 

 

 
Page 581



36. Within the budgets provided for you as part of the overall Bridges Repairs 

Fund, there are a number of supplementary revenue projects which will be 

required to proceed through the gateway approval procedure. Over the last 

few years, there has been an underspend in supplementary revenue projects 

on the bridges as a result of the introduction of the gateway approvals 

process. These projects have now been re-programmed and will be 

completed over the coming years. 

37. The forthcoming projects which will be required to proceed through the 

gateway approval procedure are summarised in the table below: 

 

Table 5   

Bridge Project Starting Date 

Blackfriars Bridge Parapet repairs/strengthening 2015/16 – 2016/17 

Southwark Bridge Joint replacement & footway strengthening 2015/16 

London Bridge Bearing replacement 2015/16 – 2018/19 

Millennium Bridge Cable re-tensioning 

Paint touch-up 

2015/16 

2015/16 

Tower Bridge Window Repair/Replacement 

Insulation of Walkway Roofs 

High Voltage System replacement 

Bascule Deck Replacement 

2016/17 

2015/16 

2015/16 

2016/17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 582



Draft Capital and Supplementary Revenue Budgets 

38. The latest estimated costs for the Committee’s draft capital and 

supplementary revenue projects are summarised in the Table below.  

Capital & Supplementary Revenue projects - latest estimated costs

Service Managed Project

Exp. Pre 

01/04/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Later 

Years Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

CITY FUND

Pre-implementation

Street lighting strategy 42 8 50

Roads 712 177 889

Security & landscaping 

schemes 66 25 91

Street scene enhancements 466 126 17 609

Cheapside strategy 129 57 20 206

Riverside Walk enhancement 

strategy 75 71 146

Barbican area strategy 197 300 241 738

Eastern City cluster 140 225 365

Bank area strategy 261 292 202 755

Fenchurch/Monument strategy 17 96 113

West Smithfield strategy 0 30 90 120

Aldgate & Tower area strategy 2,068 889 102 101 102 3,262

Chancery Lane area 

enhancement 27 53 80

Fleet Street area strategy 67 104 171

Liverpool area strategy 228 146 374

Authority to start work granted

Information technology 804 143 947

Roads 6,656 521 7,177

Security,Walkways & 

landscaping schemes 2,710 712 3,422

Street scene enhancements 6,446 1,899 746 54 9,145

Cheapside strategy 2,151 502 2,653

Riverside Walk enhancement 

strategy 739 2,193 407 3,339

Barbican area strategy 410 1,530 1,940

Eastern City cluster 207 171 765 579 1,722

Bank area strategy 3 266 269

Fenchurch/Monument strategy 188 576 764

Aldgate & Tower area strategy 0 8,516 8,037 763 767 18,083

Liverpool area strategy 29 1,907 20 1,956

Temple & Whitefriars strategy 320 364 684

TOTAL CITY FUND 25,158 21,899 10,647 1,497 869 0 60,070

 

Page 583



Capital & Supplementary Revenue projects - latest estimated costs

Service Managed Project

Exp. Pre 

01/04/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Later 

Years Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES

Authority to start work granted

Bridges Repairs 

Fund

Bridgemaster's 

accommodation 0 552 552

TOTAL BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES 0 552 0 0 0 0 552

CITY'S CASH

Pre-implementation

St Paul's external lighting 18 7 25

TOTAL CITY'S CASH 18 7 0 0 0 0 25

 
TOTAL PLANNING & TRANSPORTATION 25,176 22,458 10,647 1,497 869 0 60,647

 

 

39. Pre-implementation costs comprise feasibility and option appraisal 

expenditure which has been approved in accordance with the project 

procedure, prior to authority to start work. 

40. It should be noted that the above figures exclude the indicative costs of 

schemes which have not yet received authority to start work, such as the 

capital costs of implementing the street lighting strategy or the later phases 

of the Eastern City cluster. 

41. Schemes in the pipeline include the externally funded Bank Junction 

improvements and the Museum of London Gyratory scheme. 

42. The latest Capital and Supplementary Revenue Project budgets will be 

presented to the Court of Common Council for formal approval in March 

2015. 

 

 

Contact: 

Dipti Patel - dipti.patel@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Simon Owen – simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

    Chamberlain’s Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 584

mailto:dipti.patel@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1  

 

Analysis by Service Managed Actual 
 

2013-14 
£’000 

Latest 
Approved  

Budget  
2014-15 

£’000 

Original 
 

Budget 
2015-16 

£’000 

Movement 
2014-15 

to 
2015-16 

£’000 

Report 
Paragraph  
Reference
and Notes 

CITY FUND      
Town Planning 2,148 2,246 2,108 (138) (i) 
Transportation Planning 1,157 1,143 993 (150) (ii) 
Planning Obligations 16 32 0 (32)  
Road Safety 336 271 274 3  
Street Scene 0 0 0 0  
Building Control 594 443 526 83 (iii) 
Structural Maintenance/Inspections 0 537 506 (31)  
Highways 7,713 7,728 9,175 1,447 27 
Rechargeable Works 0 0 0 0  
Traffic Management (612) (787) (706) 81 (iv) 
Off- Street Parking 645 0 0 0  
On – Street Parking 0 0 0 0  
Drains & Sewers 395 406 433 27  
Contingency 0 597 399 (198) 19 
TOTAL CITY FUND 12,392 12,616 13,708 1,092  
      
BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES      
Bridges 1,819 1,839 1,873 34  
Tower Bridge Operational 1,806 1,770 1.712 (58) (v) 
TOTAL BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES 3,625 3,609 3,585 (24)  
      
CITY’S CASH      
Off-Street Parking 135 0 0 0  
TOTAL CITY’S CASH  135 0 0 0  
      
TOTAL 16,152 16,225 17,293 1,068  

Notes: 

(i) The proposed Planning Service restructure, effects of the Service Based 

Review savings and one-off carry forward monies from 2013/14 of £41,000 

has resulted in this reduction. 

(ii) The reduction is mainly due to one-off carry forward monies from 2013/14 of 

£125,000. 

(iii) An increase of £72,000 mainly relates to two new trainee posts and a vacant 

post being filled in 2015/16. 

(iv) The increase is due to vacancies in 2014/15 being filled in 2015/16. 

(v) A reduction in costs of (£137,000) associated with the relocation of office staff 

is off-set by increase in employee costs of £67,000 due to the provisional 2% 

pay and price increase, anticipated incremental rises and a reapportionment of 

staff costs part-way thorough 2014/15 between Operational and Tourism. 

 

 

 Page 585



 
APPENDIX 2 

 
Support Service and Capital Charges 

from/to 
Planning & Transportation Committee 

Actual 
 
 

2013/14 
£000 

Latest 
Approved 

Budget 
2014/15 

£000 

Original 
Budget 

 
2015/16 

£000 

Paragraph 
Reference 

Support Service and Capital Charges     
City Surveyor’s Employee Recharge 591 357 352  
Insurance 563 562 587  
IS Recharges – Chamberlain 226 192 174  
Capital Charges 6,306 5,756 7,326 27 
Admin Buildings 542 561 621  
Film Liaison Staff Costs 58 0 0  
Support Services -     
   Chamberlain 501 432 446  
   Comptroller and City Solicitor 238 245 234  
   Town Clerk 222 224 214  
   City Surveyor 100 104 105  
   Other 96 83 72  
     
Total Support Services and Capital Charges 9,443 8,516 10,131  
     
Recharges Within Funds     
Corporate and Democratic Core – Finance 
Committee 

(58) (58) (58)  

Directorate Recharge – Port Health & 
Environmental Services Committee 

1,045 1,102 1,089  

Tables & Chairs – Licensing Committee (27) (27) (27)  
Recharges Across Funds     
City’s Cash - Statues (1) (1) (1)  
     
TOTAL SUPPORT SERVICE AND CAPITAL 
CHARGES 

10,402 9,532 11,134  

 

Page 586



 

Committee(s): Date(s): Item no. 

Finance 

Planning & Transportation 

Streets and Walkways Sub 

Court of Common Council 

9th December 2014 

1st December 2014 

19th January 2015 

15th January 2015 

 

 

Subject: Annual On-Street Parking Accounts 2013/14 and Utilisation 
of Accrued Surplus on Highway Improvements and Schemes 

For Information 

Report of : 
The Chamberlain Public  

 

Summary 

1. The City of London in common with other London authorities is required to report to 
the Mayor for London on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in its On-
Street Parking Account for a particular financial year. 

2. The purpose of this report is to inform Members that: 

 the surplus arising from on-street parking activities in 2013/14 was £5.290m; 

 a total of £4.137m, was applied in 2013/14 to fund approved projects; and 

 the surplus remaining on the On-Street Parking Reserve at 31st March 2014 
was £15.653m, which will be wholly allocated towards the funding of various 
highway improvements and other projects over the medium term. 

3. It is recommended that Members note the contents of this report for their information 
before submission to the Mayor for London. 

 

 
 
 

MAIN REPORT 

Background 

1. Section 55(3A) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as amended), 
requires the City of London in common with other London authorities (i.e. 
other London Borough Councils and Transport for London), to report to the 
Mayor for London on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in their 
On-Street Parking Account for a particular financial year. 

2. Legislation provides that any surplus not applied in the financial year may 
be carried forward. If it is not to be carried forward, it may be applied by the 
City for one or more of the following purposes:  

 

Page 587

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

a) making good to the City Fund any deficit charged to that Fund in the 4 
years immediately preceding the financial year in question; 

b) meeting all or any part of the cost of the provision and maintenance by the City of 
off-street parking accommodation whether in the open or under cover; 

c) the making to other local authorities, or to other persons, of 
contributions towards the cost of the provision and maintenance by 
them, in the area of the local authority or elsewhere, of off-street parking 
accommodation whether in the open or under cover; 

d) if it appears to the City that the provision in the City of further off-street 
parking accommodation is for the time being unnecessary or undesirable, 
for the following purposes, namely:  

 meeting costs incurred, whether by the City or by some other 
person, in the provision or operation of, or of facilities for, public 
passenger transport services; 

 the purposes of a highway or road improvement project in the City; 

 meeting the costs incurred by the City in respect of the maintenance 
of roads at the public expense; and 

 for an “environmental improvement” in the City. 

e) meeting all or any part of the cost of the doing by the City in its area of 
anything which facilitates the implementation of the Mayor‟s Transport 
Strategy, being specified in that strategy as a purpose for which a 
surplus can be applied; and 

f) making contributions to other authorities, i.e. the other London Borough 
Councils and Transport for London, towards the cost of their doing 
things upon which the City in its area could incur expenditure upon 
under (a)-(e) above. 

 

2013/14 Outturn 

3. The overall financial position for the On-Street Parking Reserve in 2013/14 
is summarised below: 

 £m 

Surplus Balance brought forward at 1st April 2013 (14.500) 

Surplus arising during 2013/14 (5.290) 

Expenditure financed during the year 4.137 

Funds remaining at 31st March 2014, wholly allocated towards the funding  
of future projects 

(15.653) 

      
 

Page 588



 

 

 

4. Total expenditure of £4.137m in 2013/14 was financed from the On-Street 
Parking Reserve, covering the following approved projects: 

Revenue Expenditure : £000 

Highway Resurfacing and Maintenance 1,892 

 

 

Concessionary Fares and Taxi Card Scheme 495 
Parking Enforcement Plan 56 
Special Needs Transport 37 
Cheapside Area Strategy/Stage 4A 29 
Beech Street Tunnel 27 
Barbican Area Strategy 26 
Planting Maintenance 18 
New Roads and Transport  10 
Off Street Parking Surplus (74) 

Total Revenue Expenditure 2,516 

Capital Expenditure : 

 

 
  
Farringdon Street Bridge 551 
Barbican Podium Waterproofing 418 
Transport Improvements – Milton Court 271 
Holborn Circus Area Enhancement 168 
Silk Street 107 
St Giles Terrace 54 
Cheapside Stage 4A 52 

Total Capital Expenditure 1,621 

  

Total Expenditure Funded in 2013/14 4,137 

 

5. The surplus on the On-Street Parking Reserve brought forward from 
2012/13 was £14.500m. After expenditure of £4.137m funded in 2013/14, a 
balance of £1.153k was carried forward to future years to give a closing 
balance at 31st March 2014 of £15.653m.  

6. Currently total expenditure of some £31.7m is planned over the medium 
term up to 31st March 2018, by which time it is anticipated that the existing 
surplus plus those estimated for future years will be mostly utilised. This 
total includes expenditures of £13.7m, £9.3m, £4.6m and £4.1m planned 
from 2014/15 until 2017/18 respectively, which are anticipated to reduce 
significantly the surpluses arising in those years. The total programme 
covers a number of major schemes including funding towards the Barbican 
Podium Waterproofing, Aldgate Gyratory  Scheme, repairs to Farringdon 
Street Bridge and Snow Hill  Bridge, Barbican Area Strategy, Holburn 
Circus Area Enhancement, Holburn Viaduct and various street scene 
projects (e.g. around Milton Court) as well as ongoing funding of highway 
resurfacing and road maintenance projects. The progression of each 
individual scheme is, of course, subject to the City‟s normal evaluation 
criteria and Standing Orders. 

Page 589



 

 

7. A forecast summary of income and expenditure arising on the On-Street 
Parking Account and the corresponding contribution from or to the On 
Street Parking Surplus, over the medium term financial planning period, is 
shown below: 

 

On-Street Parking Account 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total 

Reserve Projections 2013/14 to 2017/18 Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast  
 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Income (8.3) (8.1) (7.4) (7.4) (7.5) (38.7) 
Expenditure (Note 1) 3.0 2.9 2.9 2.9 3.0 14.7 

Net Surplus arising in year (5.3) (5.2) (4.5) (4.5) (4.5) (24.0) 
       
Capital, SRP and Revenue Commitments 4.1 13.7 9.3 4.6 4.1 35.8 

Net in year contribution from/(to) the surplus (1.2) 8.5 4.8 0.1 (0.4) 11.8 

       
Deficit/(Surplus) carried forward at 1

st
 April (14.5) (15.7) (7.2) (2.4) (2.3)  

       

Deficit/(Surplus) carried forward at 31
st
 March (15.7) (7.2) (2.4) (2.3) (2.7)  

 
Note 1:  On-Street operating expenditure relates to direct staffing costs, repair & maintenance of 

meters, VINCI contractor costs, fees & services (covering cash collection, pay by phone, 
postage & legal), IT software costs for enforcement systems, provision for bad debts for on-
street income and central support recharges. 

 
 

8. There is now a combined service for „Civil Parking & Traffic Enforcement, 
including the Cash Collection Contract‟ which has resulted in on-going 
savings to the operating costs of the On-Street Parking Account.  

Conclusion 

9. So that we can meet our requirements under the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 (as amended), we ask that the Court of Common Council notes 
the contents of this report, which would then be submitted to the Mayor of 
London. 

Consultees 

10. The Comptroller & City Solicitor has been consulted in the preparation of 
this report and his comments have been included. 

Background Papers 

11. Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984; Road Traffic Act 1991; GLA Act 1999 
sect 282. 

12. Final Accounts 2013/14 

Contact Officer 

Chamberlain‟s Department – simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
           
        

Page 590



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Planning & Transportation   01 Dec 2014 

Subject:  

City Fund Surplus Highway – Barts Square, EC1 

Public 

Report of: 

City Surveyor (CS.375/14) 

For Decision 

Summary 

Approval is sought to declare an area totalling 576 ft2 of City Fund highway land at 
Bartholomew Close, Little Britain and West Smithfield, EC1 to be surplus to 
highway requirements, to allow its disposal and enable the development scheme 
which is being proposed by Helical Bar. 

The highway land is to be encompassed and built upon by the permitted mixed use 
development scheme, to be known as Barts Square, for which you granted planning 
permission at your meeting of the 20th November 2012. 

In order to grant third party interests in City Fund highway land, the affected parts 
first need to be declared surplus to highway requirements. 

The highway parcels will require stopping-up, which is to be subject to a separate 
statutory procedure. 

The terms for the highway disposal are to be separately reported for approval of the 
Property Investment Board subject to your approval to declare the affected area 
surplus to highway requirements.  

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 

 Resolve to declare the areas of City Fund highway land at Bartholomew 
Close, Little Britain and West Smithfield, EC1 with a combined total of 576 ft² 
(53.50 m²) as described in Appendix 2 and upon which the Barts Square 
permitted development scheme is to be built (consent no. 12/00256/FULEIA) 
to be surplus to highway requirements to enable its disposal upon terms that 
are to be subject to the approval of the Property Investment Board. 

 
Main Report 

Background 

1. Helical Bar plc has received planning consent to construct a mixed use six 
storey scheme comprising 229,000 ft2 offices, 23,800 ft2 retail, 215 flats and 
associated car parking, which will incorporate renovated existing buildings 
alongside of new at Little Britain and Bartholomew Close, EC1. The scheme is 
known as Barts Square. 

Page 591

Agenda Item 11



2. You approved planning consent (no.12/00256/FULEIA) for the scheme at your 
meeting dated the 20th November 2012, and have subsequently approved 
amendments pursuant to a further application. 

3. The development will be built on the affected highway land, largely entailing 
stopping-up, which is to be subject to a separate statutory procedure. 

4. The parcels of affected highway are shown on the plan and on the separate 
schedule, as Appendix 1 & 2 respectively. 

Current Position 

5. Helical Bar plc has approached the City seeking to acquire a permanent 
interest in highway land affected by its approved development scheme. 

6. Buildings where the construction and retention of habitable accommodation 
would be governed or is governed solely by a highway licence can be 
compromised as investments. Therefore for the purpose of promoting long 
term development, the City regularly grants suitable permanent interests 
where permitted schemes encompass City owned highway land. The disposal 
of the highway land would secure works needed for the proper planning of the 
area. 

7. Where City Fund highway is involved, before the City is able to dispose of any 
interests in it, the affected land must first be declared surplus to highway 
requirements.  

8. Although the City can dispose of its highway land as a property owner, the 
highway stratum will nevertheless remain vested in the City as the highway 
authority until such time as it is stopped-up. In this instance stopping-up will 
be needed, and will be subject to a separate statutory procedure. The 
proposed stopping-up arrangement will entail small parcels of Helical Bar land 
being given over and dedicated for highway purposes. 

9. Affected Highway - The area of City Fund highway land affected by the 
permitted scheme is situated at Bartholomew Close, Little Britain and West 
Smithfield, EC1 and amounts to 576 ft2 (53.49 m2). 

Proposals 

10. Subject to your agreement to declare the area of City Fund highway surplus to 
requirements, it is proposed that the City disposes of a suitable interest in the 
highway land upon terms to be approved by the Property Investment Board. 

Implications 

11. The disposal of highway land will support development and investment in the 
City, which inter alia ensures the supply of first class business 
accommodation in the City (A World Class City). 

12. Financial - The financial implications of any disposal will be considered by the 
Property Investment Board. 

Page 592



13. Stopping-up – While the highway land that required to be built, to construct 
the approved scheme, it will be subject to the stopping-up order being made. 

14. Power of Disposal - The transaction involves the disposal of City Fund and 
City's Estate land, both being subject to the highway interest. No statutory 
power is required to dispose of land held by City's Estate. 

15. The City Fund parcels are held by the City of London for planning purposes. 
Disposal of land held for planning purposes is authorised by Section 233 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure the best use of land or to 
secure the carrying out of works for the proper planning of the area. 

16. Property Investment Board - The terms of the negotiated highway disposal 
transaction are to be reported to the Property Investment Board for 
consideration, subject to you first declaring that the affected City Fund 
highway land will become surplus to requirements. 

Conclusion 

17. The necessary declaration confirming the highway to be surplus to 
requirements excluding the highway stratum, will enable development of the 
property according to the planning permission that has been granted for the 
Barts Square mixed use scheme.  

Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Highway Plan 

 Appendix 2 – Schedule of Highway Parcels 

Background Papers: 

Planning Consent no. 12/00256/FULEIA (20 November 2012). 

 
Roger Adams, Corporate Property Group 
T: 020 7332 1661 
E: roger.adams@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 593

mailto:roger.adams@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – Highway Plan (Barts Square, EC1) 

 

14 November 2014 

  

Page 594



Appendix 2 – Schedule of Highway Parcels (Barts Square, EC1) 

 

Parcel 1  City Fund 
highway land acquired and held under planning 
powers. 

2.62 m2 

Parcel 2  City Fund 
highway land acquired and held under planning 
powers. 

4.80 m2 

  City's Estate 
subject to highway interest. 

1.62 m2 

Parcel 3  City's Estate 
subject to highway interest (required for a low level 
step access). 

0.32 m2 

Parcel 4  City's Estate 
subject to highway interest. 

0.17 m2 

Parcel 5  City's Estate 
subject to highway interest. 

0.48 m2 

Parcel 6  City Fund 
highway land acquired and held under planning 
powers  

2.56 m2 

 
(including an area required at basement only level - 
leaving surface intact as highway). 

1.19 m2 

Parcel 7  City's Estate 
subject to highway interest. 

1.24 m2 

Parcel 8  City Fund 
highway land acquired and held under planning 
powers (including part acquired under the 'ad 
medium filum' rule). 

42.33 m2 

  City's Estate 
subject to highway interest. 

2.46 m2 

note; metric measurements rounded to two decimal places 

 
 

Page 595



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 596



 

To: Planning and Transportation 
Committee 

 
 
From: Police Committee  

 

 
1

st
 December 2014 

 
 
 

31
st
 October 2014 

 

Barbican Highwalk CCTV 
 
The Committee conducted a detailed discussion of the issue of provision of CCTV on 
the Barbican Highwalk. It was noted that this Committee needed to consider this issue 
from a public safety perspective. There were significant public safety concerns 
regarding the Highwalk in the wake of a number of recent incidents, and the Highwalk 
was a public highway and therefore the responsibility of the City as a whole to ensure 
that it was made safe for the public, rather than being solely the responsibility of the 
Barbican Centre. It was also noted that the Highwalk was the largest area of the City 
without significant CCTV coverage. However, it was also noted that it was vital that the 
City took a consistent approach to public safety at all residential estates across the City 
and should not be seen to be providing preferential treatment to the Barbican Estate. 
 
Members discussed proposals to ensure that there was CCTV coverage at all 
entrances and exits to the Highwalk. It was also noted that there was currently a 
development application for the property at 21 Moorfields, which was ideally placed to 
provide CCTV coverage of an entrance to the Highwalk. The Committee therefore 
discussed and resolved that a resolution should be put to the Planning and 
Transportation Committee that: 
 
“The Police Committee requests that the Planning and Transportation Committee, 
during their consideration of the development application in relation to 21 Moorfields, 
gives consideration to including a planning condition such that any planning consent 
which may be granted is contingent upon the development providing sufficient CCTV 
coverage of the nearby entrances to the Barbican Highwalk on the grounds that this 
would have a significant benefit to public safety.” 
 
The Assistant Director of Street Scene and Strategy explained that this issue had 
evolved into a significant area of work and it was intended that a full investigation of the 
issues would be undertaken, including consultation with residents, with the intention to 
present a proposed solution to the Committee at its meeting in March 2015. 
 
 

Page 597

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 598



Document is Restricted

Page 599

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 601

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 607

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 609

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 613

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Town Planning and Development Applications
	5 Valid planning applications received by Department of the Built Environment
	6a 160 Aldersgate Street, EC1A 4DD
	14-00878-FULMAJ - draft committee report
	00206B812824141119092655_Redacted

	6b Farringdon East Crossrail Oversite Development
	ufm3
	13-00605-FULEIA background papers

	6c 6 Carmelite Street EC4Y 0BS
	14-00998-FULL
	00206B88277A141118162156

	6d 14 - 17 Carthusian Street EC1M 6AD
	ufm2
	00206B812824141119155612

	6e Bevis Marks House 24 Bevis Marks EC3A 7JB
	14-00433-FULMAJ
	00206B812824141119103000

	6f 2 - 6 Cannon Street EC4M 6YH
	7 Amendment to the Scheme of Delegation
	140109 Scheme of Delegation 4

	8 City of London Local Plan: adoption
	Appendix 1 - Schedule of Modifications
	Appendix 2 - Inspectors Report Nov 2014

	9 Revenue and Capital Budgets - 2015/16
	10 Annual On-Street Parking Accounts 2013/14 and Utilisation of Accrued Surplus on Highway Improvements and Schemes
	11 City Fund Surplus Highway - Barts Square, EC1
	12 Resolution from the Police Committee
	16 Non-public minutes
	17 Debt Arrears
	Summary Analysis

	18 Delegation of Additional Powers to London Councils Transport & Environment Committee - Delivery of the Parking on Private Land Appeals Service
	19 Farringdon Street Bridge - Gateway 7 Final



